The design of a reliable musculoskeletal pre-participation screening and the establishment of normative data, epidemiology of injury and risk factors for injury in adolescent and collegiate Gaelic footballers and hurlers

A thesis submitted for the Degree of Doctor of Philosophy by Siobhán O Connor (MSc.)

> School of Health and Human Performance Dublin City University

Supervisors: Dr. Kieran Moran and Dr. Noel McCaffrey

September 2014

Authors Declaration

I hereby certify that this material, which I now submit for assessment on the programme of study leading to the award of Doctor of Philosophy is entirely my own work, and that I have exercised reasonable care to ensure that the work is original, and does not to the best of my knowledge breach any law of copyright, and has not been taken from the work of others save and to the extent that such work has been cited and acknowledged within the text of my work.

 Signed:
 Student ID No.: 55482755
 Date:

Authors Declarationi
Table of Contentsii
Abstractxiii
List of Figuresxiv
List of Tablesxviii
List of Equationsxxiv
List of Abbreviationsxxv
Acknowledgementsxxvi
Chapter 1. Introduction1
1. 1. Background and Rationale for Research2
Chapter 2. Literature Review7
2. 1. Introduction to Literature Review
2. 2. Epidemiology in Gaelic Games9
2. 2. 1. The design of epidemiological studies in Gaelic games
2. 2. 1. 1. Age of Population
2. 2. 1. 2. Severity of Injury
2. 2. 1. 3. Injury rate
2. 2. 2. The injury Description
2. 2. 2. 1. Onset of injury
2. 2. 2. 2. Injury Mechanism
2. 2. 2. 3. Body Part Injured
2. 2. 2. 4. Nature of Injury
2. 2. 2. 5. Further tests and surgery
2. 3. Risk Factors for injury in Gaelic games
2. 3. 1. Possible risk factors from the injury event in Gaelic games
2. 3. 1. 1. Position on pitch
2. 3. 1. 2. Relative age
2. 3. 1. 3. Level of Playing
2. 3. 1. 4. Time of Season
2. 3. 1. 5. Time of Injury
2. 3. 1. 6. Playing Surface

Table of Contents

2. 3. 1. 7. Weather conditions	34
2. 3. 1. 8. Protective equipment	34
2. 3. 1. 9. Foul Play	35
2. 4. The musculoskeletal pre-participation screening	35
2. 4. 1. Components of the musculoskeletal pre-participation screening	37
2. 4. 1. 1. Reliability and validity in a musculoskeletal pre-participation	on
screening	38
2. 4. 1. 2. The Functional Movement Screen	40
2. 4. 1. 3. Anthropometric Data	44
2. 4. 1. 4. Dominance	46
2. 4. 1. 5. Hamstring Flexibility	47
2. 4. 1. 6. Shoulder Mobility	55
2. 4. 1. 7. Foot function	61
2. 4. 1. 8. Balance	66
2. 4. 1. 9. Squatting Techniques	71
2. 4. 1. 10. Scapular Control	76
2. 4. 1. 11. Core stability	84
2. 5. Summary of literature review chapter	92
2. 6. Primary aim of Research	92
2. 7. Aims and Objectives of Research	92
Chapter 3. The musculoskeletal pre-participation screening in adolescent an	d
collegiate Gaelic footballers and hurlers	95
3. 1. Introduction	96
3. 2. Method	98
3. 2. 1. Subjects	98
3. 2. 2. Development of the musculoskeletal pre-participation screening	98
3. 2. 3. Pilot Study	99
3. 2. 3. 1. Findings from the Pilot Study	100
3. 2. 4. Reliability of developed and adapted tests	104
3. 2. 5. Experimental Protocol	104
3. 2. 5. 1. Testers	105
3. 2. 5. 2. Testing Protocol	105
3. 2. 5. 3. Tests used in musculoskeletal pre-participation screening	106
3. 2. 6. Data Processing and Statistical Analysis:	112
3. 2. 6. 1. Normative data for adolescent and collegiate participants	112

3. 2. 6. 2. Analysis between the sport and level played	4
3. 2. 6. 3. Analysis between adolescent and collegiate participants114	4
3. 2. 6. 4. Analysis of the relationship between tests	4
3. 2. 6. 5. Effect sizes	4
3. 3. Results	6
3. 3. 1. Adolescent Pre-Participation Screening Results	6
3. 3. 1. 1. Anthropometric Data and participant information	6
3. 3. 1. 2. Flexibility	6
3. 3. 1. 3. Navicular Drop Test11	7
3. 3. 1. 4. Y balance test	7
3. 3. 1. 5. Overhead squat and single leg squat11	8
3. 3. 1. 6. Scapular control12	0
3. 3. 1. 7. Alternative push up test12	1
3. 3. 2. Collegiate Pre-Participation Screening12	2
3. 3. 2. 1. Anthropometric data and participant information	2
3. 3. 2. 2. Flexibility	2
3. 3. 2. 3. Navicular drop12	3
3. 3. 2. 4. Y balance test	3
3. 3. 2. 5. Overhead squat and single leg squat124	4
3. 3. 2. 6. Scapular control12	6
3. 3. 2. 7. Alternative push up test12	7
3. 3. 3. Analysis between Gaelic football and hurling and between fresher and	
senior players in the collegiate participants12	8
3. 3. 3. 1. Anthropometric data and participant information (Table 3.30-31)12	8
3. 3. 3. 2. Flexibility (Table 3.32-33)12	8
3. 3. 3. 3. Navicular Drop (Table 3.34-3.35)12	9
3. 3. 3. 4. Y balance test (Table 3.36-3.37)	0
3. 3. 3. 5. Overhead squat and single leg squat (Table 3.38-3.43)132	2
3. 3. 3. 6. Scapular Control (Table 3.44-3.45)130	6
3. 3. 4. Analysis between adolescent and collegiate participants	8
3. 3. 5. Analysis between tests	2
3. 3. 5. 1. Relationship between age and the pre participation screening tests14	2
3. 3. 5. 2. Relationship between BMI and the pre participation screening tests14	3
3. 3. 5. 3. Significant difference between hand dominance and both rotation	
of the shoulder and scapular control of the shoulder	4

3. 3. 5. 4. Significant difference between lower limb dominance and both the
single leg squat and Y balance test144
3. 3. 5. 5. Relationship between rotation of the shoulder and the scapular
control test145
3. 3. 5. 6. Relationship between the overall impression and balance scores for
the overhead squat and right and left single leg squat tests with the Y balance
test145
3. 3. 5. 7. Relationship between the overhead squat overall impression and
both the right and left single leg squat overall impression147
3. 3. 5. 8. Relationship between the individual criteria of the overhead squat
and single leg squat on the right and left legs with the overall impression
scores of the three tests148
3. 3. 5. 9. Relationship between the active knee extension test and hip flexion
and knees over toes in the overhead squat and single leg squat on the right
and left legs148
3. 3. 5. 10. Relationship between the alternative push up test and the overall
impression score in the overhead squat and single leg squat on the right and
left legs149
3. 3. 5. 11. Relationship between the alternative push up test and the Y
balance test
3. 4. Discussion
3. 4. 1. Anthropometric data
3. 4. 1. 1. Height, Weight and BMI150
3. 4. 1. 2. Dominance
3. 4. 2. Hamstring flexibility
3. 4. 3. Shoulder flexibility
3. 4. 4. Foot function
3. 4. 5. Balance
3. 4. 6. Squat and Single leg squat158
3. 4. 7. Scapular control
3. 4. 8. Core
3. 4. 9. Limitations to the study
3. 4. 10. Conclusion
Chapter 4. Epidemiology of injury in adolescent and collegiate Gaelic footballers
and hurlers163

4. 1. Introduction	164
4. 2. Method	166
4. 2. 1. Subjects	166
4. 2. 2. Development of the injury report form	166
4. 2. 3. Pilot study	167
4. 2. 4. Experimental protocol	168
4. 2. 4. 1. Testers	170
4. 2. 4. 2. Injury assessments	170
4. 2. 4. 3. Daily training diary	171
4. 2. 5. Data processing and Statistical Analysis	171
4. 3. Results	175
4. 3. 1. Epidemiological Results for school adolescents	175
4. 3. 1. 1. Sport played by school adolescents	175
4. 3. 1. 2. Injury Incidence in school adolescents	175
4. 3. 1. 3. The Injury Description	176
4. 3. 1. 3. 1 . The Onset of Injury	176
4. 3. 1. 3. 2 . Side of Injury	176
4. 3. 1. 3. 3. Body Part Injured	177
4. 3. 1. 3. 5 . Severity of Injury	178
4. 3. 1. 4. The Injury Event	181
4. 3. 1. 4. 1 . Mechanism of Injury	181
4. 3. 1. 4. 2 . Time of Injury	182
4. 3. 1. 4. 3 . Foul Play	183
4. 5. 1. 5. Factors Surrounding the injury	105
4. 3. 1. 5. 1. Relationship between time of year and injury	183 184
4. 3. 1. 5. 3. Relationship between playing position and injury	184
4. 3. 1. 5. 4 . Relationship between playing surface and injury	185
4. 3. 1. 5. 5 . Relationship between weather conditions and injury	186
4. 3. 1. 5. 6 . Protective Equipment worn	186
4. 3. 1. 6. The injury assessment	186
4. 3. 1. 6. 1 . Injury examination	186
4. 3. 1. 6. 2. Further Investigations completed	197
4. 5. 2. Epidemiological Results for adolescent Gaene footbaners and numers	10/
4. 3. 2. 1. Epidemiological Results for adolescent Gaelic footballers and	1
hurlers	187
4. 3. 2. 1. 1 . Primary sport played by adolescent Gaelic footballers and	197
4. 3. 2. 1. 2. Injury Incidence in adolescent Gaelic footballers and	10/
hurlers	187

4. 3. 2. 2. The Injury Description	188
4. 3. 2. 2. 1 . The Onset of Injury	188
4. 3. 2. 2. 2 . Side of Injury	
4. 3. 2. 2. 3 . Body Part Injured	189
4. 3. 2. 2. 4 . Nature of Injury	190
4. 3. 2. 2. 5 . Severity of Injury	191
4. 3. 2. 3. The Injury Event	192
4. 3. 2. 3. 1 . Mechanism of Injury	192
4. 3. 2. 3. 2 . Time of Injury	193
4. 3. 2. 3. 3 . Foul play	194
4. 3. 2. 4. Factors Surrounding the Injury	194
4. 3. 2. 4. 1. Relationship between time of year and injury	194
4. 3. 2. 4. 2. Relationship between relative age group and injury	195
4. 3. 2. 4. 3 . Relationship between playing position and injury	195
4. 3. 2. 4. 4. Relationship between a free taking role and injury	197
4. 3. 2. 4. 5. Relationship between playing surface and injury	197
4. 3. 2. 4. 6. Relationship between weather conditions and injury	197
4. 3. 2. 4. 7 . Protective Equipment worn	198
4. 3. 2. 5. The injury assessment	198
4. 3. 2. 5. 1 . Injury examination	198
4. 3. 2. 5. 2 . Further Investigations completed	198
4. 3. 3. Epidemiological Results for collegiate participants	199
4. 3. 3. 1. Sport played by collegiate participants	199
4. 3. 3. 2. Injury Incidence in collegiate participants	199
4. 3. 3. 3. The Injury Description	200
4, 3, 3, 3, 1. The Onset of Injury	200
4. 3. 3. 3. 2. Side of Injury	200
4. 3. 3. 3. 3. Body Part Injured	200
4. 3. 3. 3. 4. Severity of Injury	203
4. 3. 3. 4. The Injury Event	204
4 3 3 4 1 Mechanism of Injury	204
4. 3. 3. 4. 2. Foul play	200
 4. 3. 3. 4. 2. Foul play	
 4. 3. 3. 4. 2. Foul play 4. 3. 3. 5. Factors Surrounding the Injury	206
 4. 3. 3. 4. 2. Foul play	206
 4. 3. 3. 4. 2. Foul play 4. 3. 3. 5. Factors Surrounding the Injury 4. 3. 3. 5. 1. Relationship between time of year and injury 4. 3. 3. 5. 2. Relationship between relative age group and injury	206 206 207 207
 4. 3. 3. 4. 2. Foul play	206 206 207 207 208
 4. 3. 3. 4. 2. Foul play	206 206 207 207 208 209
 4. 3. 3. 4. 2. Foul play	206 206 207 207 208 208 209 209
 4. 3. 3. 4. 2. Foul play	206 206 207 207 208 209 209 209
 4. 3. 3. 4. 2. Foul play	206 206 207 207 207 208 209 209 209 209
 4. 3. 3. 4. 2. Foul play	206 206 207 207 207 208 209 209 209 209 209
 4. 3. 3. 4. 2. Foul play	206 206 207 207 207 207 209 209 209 209 209 209
 4. 3. 3. 4. 2. Foul play	206 206 207 207 207 209 209 209 209 209 209 209 209 209 209 210
 4. 3. 3. 4. 2 . Foul play	206 206 207 207 207 207 209 209 209 209 209 209 209 209 210 s211

4. 3. 4. 2. The Injury Description	211
4. 3. 4. 2. 1 . Onset of injury	211
4. 3. 4. 2. 2 . Side of injury	211
4. 3. 4. 2. 3 . Body parts injured	211
4. 3. 4. 2. 4 . Nature of injury	212
4. 3. 4. 2. 5 . Severity of Injury	213
4. 3. 4. 3. The Injury Event	214
4 3 4 3 1 Mechanism of Injury	
4. 3. 4. 3. 2. Time of Injury	
4. 3. 4. 3. 3 . Foul Play	
4. 3. 4. 4. Factors Surrounding the Injury	215
4 3 4 4 1 Relationship between time of year and injury	215
4 3 4 4 2 Relationship between relative age group and injury	
4 3 4 4 3 Relationship between playing position and injury	
4. 3. 4. 4. Relationship between a free taking role and injury	
4, 3, 4, 4, 5, Relationship between playing surface and injury	
4. 3. 4. 4. 6. Relationship between weather conditions and injury	
4. 3. 4. 4. 7 . Protective Equipment worn	218
4. 3. 4. 5. The injury assessment	218
4 3 4 5 1 Injury examination	
4. 3. 4. 5. 2. Further Investigations completed	
4. 3. 5. Comparison between Gaelic football and hurling injuries in colle	giate
norticipants	220
	220
4. 3. 5. 1. Injury Incidence in collegiate Gaelic footballers and hurlers	220
4. 3. 5. 2. The Injury Description	220
4. 3. 5. 2. 1 . Onset of injury	220
4. 3. 5. 2. 2 . Side of injury	220
4. 3. 5. 2. 3 . Body parts injured	220
4. 3. 5. 2. 4 . Nature of injury	222
4. 3. 5. 2. 5 . Severity of Injury	222
4. 3. 5. 3. The Injury Event	223
4. 3. 5. 3. 1. Mechanism of Injury	
4. 3. 5. 3. 2 . Time of Injury	224
4. 3. 5. 3. 3 . Foul Play	224
4. 3. 5. 4. Factors Surrounding the Injury	224
1 3 5 1 1 Relationship between time of year and injury	224
4 3 5 4 2 Relationship between relative age group and injury	
4 3 5 4 3 Relationship between playing position and injury	
4. 3. 5. 4. 4. Relationship between a free taking role and injury	
4. 3. 5. 4. 5. Relationship between playing surface and injury	
4. 3. 5. 4. 6 . Relationship between weather conditions and injury	
4. 3. 5. 4. 7 . Protective Equipment worn	226
4. 3. 5. 5. The injury assessment	226
1 3 5 5 1 Injury examination	226
4.3.5.5.2 Further Investigations completed	·····220 227
4.3.6 Comparison between fresher and senior injuries in Gaelic footballers	·····227 279
1. 5. 6. Comparison between resper and senior injuries in Gaene 1000aners	

4. 3. 6. 1. Injury Incidence in fresher and senior Gaelic footballers	229
4. 3. 6. 2. The Injury Description	229
4. 3. 6. 2. 1 . Onset of injury	229
4. 3. 6. 2. 2 . Side of injury	229
4. 3. 6. 2. 3 . Body parts injured	229
4. 3. 6. 2. 4 . Nature of injury	230
4. 3. 6. 2. 5 . Severity of Injury	231
4. 3. 6. 3. The Injury Event	232
4, 3, 6, 3, 1, Mechanism of Injury	232
4. 3. 6. 3. 2. Time of Injury	232
4. 3. 6. 3. 3 . Foul Play	233
4. 3. 6. 4. Factors Surrounding the Injury	233
A = 5 $A = 1$ Palationship between time of year and injury	233
4. 3. 6. 4. 7. Relationship between relative age group and injury	233
4. 3. 6. 4. 3 Relationship between playing position and injury	237 734
4. 3. 6. 4. 4. Relationship between a free taking role and injury	235
4 3 6 4 5 Relationship between playing surface and injury	
4, 3, 6, 4, 6, Relationship between weather conditions and injury	
4. 3. 6. 4. 7. Protective Equipment worn	235
4. 3. 6. 5. The injury assessment	235
4.2.6.5.1 Injury examination	225
4. 5. 0. 5. 1. Injuly examination	235
4 3 7 Analysis of senior hurling injuries	238
4. 3. 7. 1. Injury Incidence in senior hurlers	238
4. 3. 7. 2. The Injury Description	238
4. 3. 7. 2. 1 . Onset of injury	238
4. 3. 7. 2. 2 . Side of injury	238
4. 3. 7. 2. 3 Body parts injured	238
4. 3. 7. 2. 4 . Nature of injury	239
4. 3. 7. 2. 5 . Severity of Injury	240
4. 3. 7. 3. The Injury Event	240
4. 3. 7. 3. 1 . Mechanism of Injury	240
4. 3. 7. 3. 1 . Mechanism of Injury4. 3. 7. 3. 2 . Time of Injury	240 241
 4. 3. 7. 3. 1 . Mechanism of Injury 4. 3. 7. 3. 2 . Time of Injury 4. 3. 7. 3. 3 . Foul Play 	240 241 241
 4. 3. 7. 3. 1 . Mechanism of Injury 4. 3. 7. 3. 2 . Time of Injury 4. 3. 7. 3. 3 . Foul Play 4. 3. 7. 4. Factors Surrounding the Injury 	240 241 241 241
 4. 3. 7. 3. 1. Mechanism of Injury 4. 3. 7. 3. 2. Time of Injury 4. 3. 7. 3. 3. Foul Play 4. 3. 7. 4. Factors Surrounding the Injury	240 241 241 241
 4. 3. 7. 3. 1 . Mechanism of Injury 4. 3. 7. 3. 2 . Time of Injury 4. 3. 7. 3. 3 . Foul Play 4. 3. 7. 4. Factors Surrounding the Injury 4. 3. 7. 4. 1 . Relationship between time of year and injury 4. 3. 7. 4. 2 . Relationship between relative age group and injury 	240 241 241 241 241 241 242
 4. 3. 7. 3. 1 . Mechanism of Injury 4. 3. 7. 3. 2 . Time of Injury	240 241 241 241 241 241 242 242
 4. 3. 7. 3. 1 . Mechanism of Injury	240 241 241 241 241 241 242 242 242 242
 4. 3. 7. 3. 1. Mechanism of Injury	240 241 241 241 241 242 242 242 242 242
 4. 3. 7. 3. 1. Mechanism of Injury	240 241 241 241 241 241 242 242 242 242 242 243
 4. 3. 7. 3. 1 . Mechanism of Injury	240 241 241 241 241 242 242 242 242 243 243
 4. 3. 7. 3. 1. Mechanism of Injury	240 241 241 241 241 242 242 242 242 243 243
 4. 3. 7. 3. 1. Mechanism of Injury	240 241 241 241 241 241 242 242 242 243 243 243 243
 4. 3. 7. 3. 1 . Mechanism of Injury	240 241 241 241 241 241 242 242 242 243 243 243 243 243
 4. 3. 7. 3. 1 . Mechanism of Injury	240 241 241 241 241 241 242 242 242 242 243 243 243 243 243 245

4. 4. 1. Sports Played	245
4. 4. 2. Injury Incidence	245
4. 4. 3. The injury description	248
4. 4. 3. 1. Onset of injury	248
4. 4. 3. 2. Side of injury	249
4. 4. 3. 3. Body part injured	249
4. 4. 3. 4. Nature of injury	253
4. 4. 3. 5. Severity of injury	256
4. 4. 4. The injury event	258
4. 4. 4. 1. Mechanism of injury	258
4. 4. 4. 2. Time of injury	260
4. 4. 4. 3. Foul Play	262
4. 4. 5. Factors surrounding the injury	263
4. 4. 5. 1. Relationship between time of year and injury	263
4. 4. 5. 2. Relationship between age group and injury	264
4. 4. 5. 3. Relationship between playing position and injury	265
4. 4. 5. 4. Relationship between free taking role and injury	266
4. 4. 5. 5. Relationship between playing surface and injury	267
4. 4. 5. 6. Relationship between weather conditions and injury	268
4. 4. 5. 7. Protective equipment	268
4. 4. 6. The injury assessment	269
4. 4. 6. 1. Injury examination and further investigations completed	269
4. 4. 7. Limitations to the study	270
4. 4. 8. Conclusion	270
Chapter 5. Risk factors for injury in adolescent and collegiate Gaelic footballers	
and hurlers	271
5. 1. Introduction	272
5. 2. Methods	274
5. 2. 1. Subjects	274
5. 2. 2. Experimental protocol	274
5. 2. 3. Data Processing and statistical analysis	275
5. 3. Results	279
5. 3. 1. Risk factors for region of injury	279
5. 3. 1. 1. Lower body Injuries	279
5. 3. 1. 1. 1 . School adolescents	279

5. 3. 1. 1. 2 . Adolescent Gaelic footballers and hurlers5. 3. 1. 1. 3 . Collegiate Gaelic footballers and hurlers	279 279
5. 3. 1. 2. Upper body Injuries	280
5. 3. 1. 2. 1 . School adolescents	280
5. 3. 1. 2. 2 . Adolescent Gaelic footballers and hurlers	280
5. 3. 1. 2. 3. Collegiate Gaelic footballers and hurlers	280
5. 3. 1. 3. Trunk Injuries	281
5. 3. 1. 3. 1 . School adolescents	281
5. 3. 1. 3. 2. Adolescent Gaelic footballers and hurlers	281
5. 3. 2 Risk factors for commonly injured body parts	201
5. 2. 1. Hometring Lainning	202
5. 5. 2. 1. Hanisung injunes	282
5. 3. 2. 1. 1. School adolescents	282
5. 3. 2. 1. 2. Adolescent Gaelic footballers and nurlers	282
5. 3. 2. 2. Knee Injuries	
5 2 2 2 1 School addressents	202
5. 3. 2. 2. 1. School addresscents	202 283
5. 3. 2. 3. Ankle Injuries	283
5 3 2 3 1 School adolescents	283
5. 3. 2. 3. 2 . Adolescent Gaelic footballers and hurlers	
5. 3. 2. 3. 3 . Collegiate Gaelic footballers and hurlers	284
5. 3. 2. 4. Lower back Injuries	284
5. 3. 2. 4. 1 . School adolescents	284
5. 3. 2. 4. 2 . Adolescent and Collegiate Gaelic footballers and hurlers	284
5. 3. 2. 5. Pelvis and Groin Injuries	284
5. 3. 2. 5. 1 . School adolescents	284
5. 3. 2. 5. 2 . Adolescent and Collegiate Gaelic footballers and hurlers	285
5. 3. 2. 6. Quadriceps injuries	285
5. 3. 2. 6. 1 . School adolescents, Adolescent Gaelic footballers and	205
hurlers and Collegiate Gaelic footballers and hurlers	285
5. 3. 2. 7. 1. School adolescents	285
5. 3. 2. 7. 3. Collegiate Gaelic footballers and hurlers	
5. 3. 3. Summary of Risk factors for injury	286
5. 3. 3. 1. Summary of Risk factors for injury in the Lower body	286
5. 3. 3. 2. Summary of Risk factors for injury in the Upper body and Shoulder	288
5. 3. 3. 3. Summary of Risk factors for injury in the Trunk and Lower back	288
5. 4. Discussion	289
5. 4. 1. Risk factors for injury in the lower body	289
5. 4. 2. Risk factors for Upper body Injury	293
	//

5. 4. 4. Limitations to the study	295
5. 4. 5. Conclusion	
Chapter 6. Thesis Summary, Conclusion and Directions for Future Research	
6. 1. Thesis summary	
6. 2. Conclusion	
6. 3. Directions for future research and recommendations	
Bibliography	
Appendices	

Abstract

Author: Siobhán O Connor

Background: An inherent risk of injury exists when partaking in sport. There is currently a lack of epidemiological and risk factor for injury studies in Gaelic games, particularly in the adolescent and collegiate populations, which is essential in developing strategies for managing injuries. In addition, there is very little normative data for screenings in these populations.

Aim: For adolescent and collegiate Gaelic footballers and hurlers: (i) design a reliable screening, (ii) establish normative data, (iii) investigate the epidemiology of injury and (iv) assess possible risk factors for injury.

Methods: A screening was designed and the reliability assessed. The screening was implemented and the epidemiology of injury was captured prospectively. Risk factors for injury were identified based on the screening and epidemiology information.

Findings: Hamstring flexibility, balance, scapular control and squatting technique were identified as areas requiring improvement in Study 1. Screening tests designed by the current researchers displayed good-to-excellent absolute and relative inter-tester and intra-tester reliability. Study 2 observed 4.873 and 14.512 injuries per 1,000 hours in adolescent and collegiate Gaelic footballers and hurlers, respectively. Injuries to the lower body were predominant (hamstring, knee and ankle). Injuries to the lower back were common in adolescent participants. Poor squatting technique was identified as a risk factor for lower body and hamstring injuries, with reduced internal rotation of the shoulder and a higher BMI a predisposing factor for upper body and shoulder injuries. A navicular drop of ≥ 10 mm was found to predispose to knee injuries; however in adolescents a lower cut off point of between 6-7mm may be more appropriate.

Conclusion: Adolescent and collegiate Gaelic footballers and hurlers are susceptible to numerous risk factors for injury and injuries have been shown to be prevalent, therefore the design of injury prevention strategies in future research is critical.

List of Figures

Figure 2.1: "Sequence of prevention" model for injury prevention studies adapted
from van Mechelen et al. (1992)
Figure 2.2: The Meeuwisse et al. (2007) Dynamic, Recursive model of Sport Injury 29
Figure 3.1: Schematic diagram of testing procedure
Figure 3.2: Active knee extension test
Figure 3.3: Internal range of motion test107
Figure 3.4: External range of motion test108
Figure 3.5: Navicular drop test108
Figure 3.6: Y balance test
Figure 3.7: Overhead squat test110
Figure 3.8: Single leg squat test
Figure 3.9: Scapular control test
Figure 3.10: Alternative push up test
Figure 4.1: Experimental protocol for adolescents
Figure 4.2: Experimental protocol for collegiate participants169
Figure 4.3: General distribution of injuries
Figure 4.4: Regional distribution of injury
Figure 4.5: Body part injured
Figure 4.6: General nature of injury179
Figure 4.7: Specific nature of injury
Figure 4.8: Visual representation of the nature of injuries in different body parts
injured
Figure 4.9: Severity of injury
Figure 4.10: Severity of injury in relation to the nature of injury
Figure 4.11: Mechanism of injury
Figure 4.12: Time of injury
Figure 4.13: Monthly profile of injury
Figure 4.14: Monthly profile of injury with regard to acute and overuse injuries184
Figure 4.15: Injury prevalence of players in different positions
Figure 4.16: Distribution of body part injured by position
Figure 4.17: Distribution of nature of injury by position
Figure 4.18: Playing Surface
Figure 4.19: Primary sport played by injured participants
Figure 4.20: General distribution of injuries

Figure 4.21: Regional distribution of injury	189
Figure 4.22: Body part injured	190
Figure 4.23: General nature of Injury	190
Figure 4.24: Specific nature of injury	191
Figure 4.25: Visual representation of the nature of injuries in different body parts	
injured	191
Figure 4.26: Severity of injury	192
Figure 4.27: Severity of injury in relation to the nature of injury	192
Figure 4.28: Mechanism of injury	193
Figure 4.29: Time of injury	194
Figure 4.30: Quarter of injury	194
Figure 4.31: Monthly profile of injury	195
Figure 4.32: Monthly profile of injury with regard to acute and overuse injuries	195
Figure 4.33: Injury prevalence of players in different positions	196
Figure 4.34: Distribution of body part injured by position	196
Figure 4.35: Distribution of nature of injury by position	197
Figure 4.36: Playing Surface	197
Figure 4.37: General distribution of injuries	200
Figure 4.38: Regional distribution of injury	201
Figure 4.39: Body part injured	201
Figure 4.40: General nature of injury	202
Figure 4.41: Specific nature of injury	202
Figure 4.42: Visual representation of the nature of injury in different injured body	
parts	203
Figure 4.43: Severity of injury	203
Figure 4.44: Severity of injury in relation to the nature of injury	204
Figure 4.45: Mechanism of injury	205
Figure 4.46: Time of injury	205
Figure 4.47: Quarter of injury	206
Figure 4.48: Monthly profile of injury	206
Figure 4.49: Monthly profile of injury with regard to acute and overuse injuries	207
Figure 4.50: Injury prevalence of players in different positions	208
Figure 4.51: Distribution of body part injured by position	208
Figure 4.52: Distribution of nature of injury by position	208
Figure 4.53: Playing Surface	209

Figure 4.54: Regional distribution of injuries in adolescent Gaelic footballers and	
hurlers	212
Figure 4.55: Body parts injured in adolescent Gaelic footballers and hurlers	212
Figure 4.56: General nature of injury in adolescent Gaelic footballers and hurlers	213
Figure 4.57: Nature of injury in adolescent Gaelic footballers and hurlers	213
Figure 4.58: Mechanism of injury in adolescent Gaelic footballers and hurlers	214
Figure 4.59: Quarter of injury in adolscent Gaelic footballers and hurlers	215
Figure 4.60: Monthly profile of injury in adolescent Gaelic footballers and hurlers	216
Figure 4.61: Distribution of injuries in different positions in adolescent Gaelic	
footballers and hurlers	217
Figure 4.62: Playing surface in adolescent Gaelic footballers and hurlers	217
Figure 4.63: Regional distribution of injuries in collegiate Gaelic footballers and	
hurlers	221
Figure 4.64: Body parts injured in collegiate Gaelic footballers and hurlers	221
Figure 4.65: General nature of injury in collegiate Gaelic footballers and hurlers	222
Figure 4.66: Nature of injury in collegiate Gaelic footballers and hurlers	222
Figure 4.67: Mechanism of injury in collegiate Gaelic footballers and hurlers	223
Figure 4.68: Quarter of injury in collegiate Gaelic footballers and hurlers	224
Figure 4.69: Monthly profile of injury in collegiate Gaelic footballers and hurlers	225
Figure 4.70: Distribution of injuries in different positions in collegiate Gaelic	
footballers and hurlers	225
Figure 4.71: Playing surface in collegiate Gaelic footballers and hurlers	226
Figure 4.72: Regional distribution of injuries in fresher and senior Gaelic	
footballers	230
Figure 4.73: Body parts injured in fresher and senior Gaelic footballers	230
Figure 4.74: General nature of injury in fresher and senior Gaelic footballers	231
Figure 4.75: Nature of injury in fresher and senior Gaelic footballers	231
Figure 4.76: Mechanism of injury in fresher and senior Gaelic footballers	232
Figure 4.77: Quarter of injury in fresher and senior Gaelic footballers	233
Figure 4.78: Monthly profile of injury in fresher and senior Gaelic footballers	234
Figure 4.79: Distribution of injuries in different positions in fresher and senior	
Gaelic footballers	234
Figure 4.80: Playing surface in fresher and senior Gaelic footballers	235
Figure 4.81: General distribution of injuries in senior hurlers	239
Figure 4.82: Body parts injured in senior hurlers	239

Figure 4.83: General nature of injury in senior hurlers	.240
Figure 4.84: Nature of injury in senior hurlers	.240
Figure 4.85: Mechanism of injury in senior hurlers	.241
Figure 4.86: Quarter of injury in senior hurlers	.241
Figure 4.87: Monthly profile of injuries in senior hurlers	.242
Figure 4.88: Distribution of injury in different positions in senior hurlers	.242
Figure 4.89: Summary epidemiology results in senior hurlers	.244

List of Tables

Table 2.1: Epidemiological Studies in Gaelic games
Table 2.2: Severity of injury in Gaelic games
Table 2.3: Injury rate in Gaelic games
Table 2.4: Top four most frequent mechanism of injury reported in studies on
Gaelic games
Table 2.5: Top four most frequent sites of injury reported in studies in Gaelic
games25
Table 2.6: Nature of injury reported in epidemiological studies in Gaelic games27
Table 2.7: BMI Category cut off points in adult and adolescent 15.5 year old
populations
Table 2.8: Anthropometric data of Gaelic footballers and Hurlers
Table 2.9: Hamstring Flexibility Tests
Table 2.10: Shoulder mobility tests (passive internal and external range of motion)58
Table 2.11: Normative data for external, internal and total rotation movement of
the shoulder in different sports
Table 2.12: Navicular drop tests 64
Table 2.13: Balance tests
Table 2.14: Normative data for the Y balance test
Table 2.15: Squat and Single leg squat
Table 2.16: Scapular Asymmetry and Control (motion) tests
Table 2.17: Core stability Tests 88
Table 3.1: Issues surrounding tests in the musculoskeletal pre-participation
screening
Table 3.2: Anthropometric Data for adolescent participants (n=426)116
Table 3.3: Dominance 116
Table 3.4: Hamstring flexibility and Shoulder mobility tests; Mean, standard
deviation, significant difference and effect size117
Table 3.5: Navicular Drop Test
Table 3.6: Y Balance test; Mean, standard deviation, 95% confidence interval,
significant difference between legs and the effect size118
Table 3.7: Y balance test; Percentage of participants at risk with asymmetries of
greater than 4cm
Table 3.8: Y balance test; Participants at risk using cut off points with percentage
leg length

Table 3.10: Individual criteria for the overhead squat 119 Table 3.11: Individual criteria for the single leg squat: 120 Table 3.12: Individual criteria for single leg squat: Mean, standard deviation, significant difference and effect size (scoring ranged from 0 – 4) 120 Table 3.13: Scapular control 121 Table 3.14: Scapular control test: Mean, standard deviation, significant difference and effect size (Scoring ranged from 0-3) 121 Table 3.15: Alternative push up test 121 Table 3.16: Anthropometric Data 122 Table 3.17: Dominance 122 Table 3.18: Hamstring flexibility and shoulder mobility: Mean, standard deviation, significant difference and effect size 123 Table 3.20: Y balance test; Mean, standard deviation, 95% confidence interval, significant difference and the effect size 124 Table 3.21: Y balance test: Percentage of participants with asymmetries of greater and less than 4cm 124 Table 3.22: Y balance test: Participants at risk using cut off points with percentage leg length 125 Table 3.26: Individual criteria for the overhead squat 125 Table 3.26: Individual criteria for the single leg squat: 126 Table 3.26: Individual criteria for single leg squat: 126 Table 3.26: Individual criteria for the single leg squat: 12	Table 3.9: Overall impression for overhead squat and single leg squat	119
Table 3.11: Individual criteria for the single leg squat 120 Table 3.12: Individual criteria for single leg squat: Mean, standard deviation, significant difference and effect size (scoring ranged from 0 – 4) 120 Table 3.13: Scapular control 121 Table 3.14: Scapular control test: Mean, standard deviation, significant difference and effect size (Scoring ranged from 0-3) 121 Table 3.15: Alternative push up test 121 Table 3.16: Anthropometric Data 122 Table 3.17: Dominance 122 Table 3.18: Harnstring flexibility and shoulder mobility: Mean, standard deviation, significant difference and effect size 123 Table 3.19: Navicular drop Test. 123 Table 3.20: Y balance test; Mean, standard deviation, 95% confidence interval, significant difference and the effect size 124 Table 3.21: Y balance test: Percentage of participants with asymmetries of greater and less than 4cm 124 Table 3.22: Y balance test: Participants at risk using cut off points with percentage leg length 125 Table 3.25: Individual criteria for the overhead squat 126 Table 3.26: Individual criteria for the single leg squat: Mean, standard deviation, significant difference and effect size (Scoring ranged from 0-3) 126 Table 3.26: Individual criteria for the single leg squat: Mean, standard deviation, significant difference and effect size (Scoring ranged from	Table 3.10: Individual criteria for the overhead squat	119
Table 3.12: Individual criteria for single leg squat: Mean, standard deviation, significant difference and effect size (scoring ranged from $0 - 4$)120Table 3.13: Scapular control121Table 3.14: Scapular control test: Mean, standard deviation, significant difference and effect size (Scoring ranged from $0-3$)121Table 3.15: Alternative push up test121Table 3.16: Anthropometric Data122Table 3.17: Dominance122Table 3.18: Hamstring flexibility and shoulder mobility: Mean, standard deviation, significant difference and effect size123Table 3.19: Navicular drop Test123Table 3.20: Y balance test; Mean, standard deviation, 95% confidence interval, significant difference and the effect size124Table 3.21: Y balance test: Percentage of participants with asymmetries of greater and less than 4cm124Table 3.22: Y balance test: Participants at risk using cut off points with percentage leg length125Table 3.23: Overall impression for overhead squat and significant difference and effect size (Scoring ranged from 0-3)126Table 3.26: Individual criteria for the single leg squat126Table 3.27: Scapular Control127Table 3.28: Scapular control test; Mean, standard deviation, significant difference and effect size (Scoring ranged from 0-3)126Table 3.28: Scapular control test; Mean, standard deviation, significant difference and effect size (Scoring ranged from 0-3)126Table 3.29: Alternative push up test127Table 3.20: Anthropometric data; Mean and standard deviation of fresher and senior Gaelic football and hurling participants. <t< td=""><td>Table 3.11: Individual criteria for the single leg squat</td><td>120</td></t<>	Table 3.11: Individual criteria for the single leg squat	120
significant difference and effect size (scoring ranged from 0 – 4) 120 Table 3.13: Scapular control test: Mean, standard deviation, significant difference 121 Table 3.14: Scapular control test: Mean, standard deviation, significant difference 121 Table 3.15: Alternative push up test 121 Table 3.16: Anthropometric Data 122 Table 3.17: Dominance 122 Table 3.18: Hamstring flexibility and shoulder mobility: Mean, standard deviation, significant difference and effect size 123 Table 3.19: Navicular drop Test 123 Table 3.20: Y balance test; Mean, standard deviation, 95% confidence interval, significant difference and the effect size 124 Table 3.21: Y balance test: Percentage of participants with asymmetries of greater 124 Table 3.22: Y balance test: Participants at risk using cut off points with percentage 126 leg length 124 Table 3.23: Overall impression for overhead squat 125 Table 3.26: Individual criteria for the overhead squat 126 Table 3.26: Individual criteria for single leg squat 126 Table 3.26: Individual criteria for single leg squat 126 Table 3.27: Scapular Control 127 Table 3.28: Scapular control test; Mean, standard deviation, s	Table 3.12: Individual criteria for single leg squat: Mean, standard deviation,	
Table 3.13: Scapular control 121 Table 3.14: Scapular control test: Mean, standard deviation, significant difference 121 Table 3.15: Alternative push up test 121 Table 3.15: Alternative push up test 121 Table 3.16: Anthropometric Data 122 Table 3.17: Dominance 122 Table 3.18: Hamstring flexibility and shoulder mobility: Mean, standard deviation, significant difference and effect size 123 Table 3.19: Navicular drop Test. 123 Table 3.20: Y balance test; Mean, standard deviation, 95% confidence interval, significant difference and the effect size 124 Table 3.21: Y balance test: Percentage of participants with asymmetries of greater 124 Table 3.22: Y balance test: Participants at risk using cut off points with percentage 125 Table 3.23: Overall impression for overhead squat 125 Table 3.26: Individual criteria for the single leg squat 126 Table 3.26: Individual criteria for single leg squat 126 Table 3.27: Scapular Control 127 Table 3.28: Scapular control test; Mean, standard deviation, significant difference and effect size (Scoring ranged from 0-3) 126 Table 3.29: Alternative push up test 127 Table 3.29: Alternative push up test 127	significant difference and effect size (scoring ranged from $0-4$)	120
Table 3.14: Scapular control test: Mean, standard deviation, significant difference 121 Table 3.15: Alternative push up test 121 Table 3.16: Anthropometric Data 122 Table 3.17: Dominance 122 Table 3.18: Hamstring flexibility and shoulder mobility: Mean, standard deviation, 123 Table 3.19: Navicular drop Test. 123 Table 3.20: Y balance test; Mean, standard deviation, 95% confidence interval, 123 Significant difference and the effect size 124 Table 3.21: Y balance test: Percentage of participants with asymmetries of greater 124 Table 3.22: Y balance test: Participants at risk using cut off points with percentage 124 Table 3.22: Y balance test: Participants at risk using cut off points with percentage 124 Table 3.23: Overall impression for overhead squat and single leg squat. 125 Table 3.26: Individual criteria for the single leg squat. 126 Table 3.26: Individual criteria for single leg squat. 126 Table 3.27: Scapular Control 127 Table 3.28: Scapular control test; Mean, standard deviation, significant difference 126 Table 3.26: Individual criteria for single leg squat: 126 Table 3.27: Scapular Control 127 Table 3.28: S	Table 3.13: Scapular control	121
and effect size (Scoring ranged from 0-3)	Table 3.14: Scapular control test: Mean, standard deviation, significant difference	
Table 3.15: Alternative push up test 121 Table 3.16: Anthropometric Data 122 Table 3.16: Anthropometric Data 122 Table 3.17: Dominance 122 Table 3.18: Hamstring flexibility and shoulder mobility: Mean, standard deviation, significant difference and effect size 123 Table 3.19: Navicular drop Test. 123 Table 3.20: Y balance test; Mean, standard deviation, 95% confidence interval, significant difference and the effect size 124 Table 3.21: Y balance test: Percentage of participants with asymmetries of greater 124 Table 3.22: Y balance test: Participants at risk using cut off points with percentage 124 Table 3.23: Overall impression for overhead squat and single leg squat 125 Table 3.24: Individual criteria for the overhead squat 125 Table 3.25: Individual criteria for single leg squat 126 Table 3.26: Individual criteria for single leg squat: 126 Table 3.27: Scapular Control 127 Table 3.28: Scapular control test; Mean, standard deviation, significant difference 127 Table 3.29: Alternative push up test 127 Table 3.29: Alternative push up test 127 Table 3.30: Anthropometric data; F value, significant difference and effect size 128	and effect size (Scoring ranged from 0-3)	121
Table 3.16: Anthropometric Data 122 Table 3.17: Dominance 122 Table 3.18: Hamstring flexibility and shoulder mobility: Mean, standard deviation, 123 significant difference and effect size 123 Table 3.19: Navicular drop Test. 123 Table 3.20: Y balance test; Mean, standard deviation, 95% confidence interval, 124 Table 3.21: Y balance test: Percentage of participants with asymmetries of greater 124 Table 3.22: Y balance test: Participants at risk using cut off points with percentage 124 Table 3.23: Overall impression for overhead squat and single leg squat. 125 Table 3.24: Individual criteria for the overhead squat 126 Table 3.25: Individual criteria for single leg squat. 126 Table 3.26: Individual criteria for single leg squat: 126 Table 3.26: Scapular Control 127 Table 3.27: Scapular Control 127 Table 3.29: Alternative push up test 127 Table 3.29: Alternative push up test 127 Table 3.29: Alternative push up test 127 Table 3.20: Anthropometric data; Mean and standard deviation of fresher and senior Gaelic football and hurling participants. 128 Table 3.31: Anthropometric data; F value, significant difference and effect	Table 3.15: Alternative push up test	121
Table 3.17: Dominance 122 Table 3.18: Hamstring flexibility and shoulder mobility: Mean, standard deviation, 123 significant difference and effect size 123 Table 3.19: Navicular drop Test 123 Table 3.20: Y balance test; Mean, standard deviation, 95% confidence interval, 124 significant difference and the effect size 124 Table 3.21: Y balance test: Percentage of participants with asymmetries of greater 124 Table 3.22: Y balance test: Participants at risk using cut off points with percentage 124 Table 3.23: Overall impression for overhead squat and single leg squat 125 Table 3.24: Individual criteria for the overhead squat 125 Table 3.25: Individual criteria for the single leg squat 126 Table 3.26: Individual criteria for single leg squat: 126 Table 3.26: Scapular Control 127 Table 3.27: Scapular Control 127 Table 3.28: Scapular control test; Mean, standard deviation, significant difference 127 Table 3.29: Alternative push up test 127 Table 3.29: Alternative push up test 127 Table 3.30: Anthropometric data; Mean and standard deviation of fresher and senior Gaelic football and hurling participants. 128 Table 3.31: Anth	Table 3.16: Anthropometric Data	122
Table 3.18: Hamstring flexibility and shoulder mobility: Mean, standard deviation, significant difference and effect size. 123 Table 3.19: Navicular drop Test. 123 Table 3.20: Y balance test; Mean, standard deviation, 95% confidence interval, significant difference and the effect size. 124 Table 3.21: Y balance test: Percentage of participants with asymmetries of greater and less than 4cm 124 Table 3.22: Y balance test: Participants at risk using cut off points with percentage 129 leg length 124 Table 3.23: Overall impression for overhead squat and single leg squat 125 Table 3.26: Individual criteria for the overhead squat 126 Table 3.26: Individual criteria for single leg squat 126 Table 3.26: Individual criteria for single leg squat 126 Table 3.27: Scapular Control 127 Table 3.28: Scapular control test; Mean, standard deviation, significant difference 127 Table 3.29: Alternative push up test 127 Table 3.29: Alternative push up test 127 Table 3.30: Anthropometric data; Mean and standard deviation of fresher and senior Gaelic football and hurling participants 128 Table 3.31: Anthropometric data; F value, significant difference and effect size 128	Table 3.17: Dominance	122
significant difference and effect size	Table 3.18: Hamstring flexibility and shoulder mobility: Mean, standard deviation,	
Table 3.19: Navicular drop Test. 123 Table 3.20: Y balance test; Mean, standard deviation, 95% confidence interval, significant difference and the effect size. 124 Table 3.21: Y balance test: Percentage of participants with asymmetries of greater and less than 4cm 124 Table 3.22: Y balance test: Participants at risk using cut off points with percentage leg length. 124 Table 3.22: Y balance test: Participants at risk using cut off points with percentage leg length. 124 Table 3.23: Overall impression for overhead squat and single leg squat. 125 Table 3.24: Individual criteria for the overhead squat 126 Table 3.25: Individual criteria for the single leg squat. 126 Table 3.26: Individual criteria for single leg squat: Mean, standard deviation, significant difference and effect size (Scoring ranged from 0-3) 126 Table 3.27: Scapular Control 127 Table 3.28: Scapular control test; Mean, standard deviation, significant difference and effect size (Scoring ranged from 0-3) 127 Table 3.29: Alternative push up test 127 Table 3.30: Anthropometric data; Mean and standard deviation of fresher and senior Gaelic football and hurling participants. 128 Table 3.31: Anthropometric data; F value, significant difference and effect size between fresher and senior Gaelic football and hurling participants. 128 Table 3.32: Flexibility	significant difference and effect size	123
Table 3.20: Y balance test; Mean, standard deviation, 95% confidence interval, significant difference and the effect size. 124 Table 3.21: Y balance test: Percentage of participants with asymmetries of greater 124 Table 3.22: Y balance test: Participants at risk using cut off points with percentage 124 Table 3.22: Y balance test: Participants at risk using cut off points with percentage 124 Table 3.22: Y balance test: Participants at risk using cut off points with percentage 124 Table 3.23: Overall impression for overhead squat and single leg squat. 125 Table 3.24: Individual criteria for the overhead squat 125 Table 3.25: Individual criteria for the single leg squat 126 Table 3.26: Individual criteria for single leg squat: Mean, standard deviation, significant difference and effect size (Scoring ranged from 0-3) 126 Table 3.27: Scapular Control 127 Table 3.28: Scapular control test; Mean, standard deviation, significant difference 127 Table 3.29: Alternative push up test 127 Table 3.30: Anthropometric data; Mean and standard deviation of fresher and 128 Table 3.31: Anthropometric data; F value, significant difference and effect size 128 Table 3.32: Flexibility; Mean and standard deviation of fresher and senior Gaelic	Table 3.19: Navicular drop Test	123
significant difference and the effect size	Table 3.20: Y balance test; Mean, standard deviation, 95% confidence interval,	
Table 3.21: Y balance test: Percentage of participants with asymmetries of greater and less than 4cm 124 Table 3.22: Y balance test: Participants at risk using cut off points with percentage 124 Table 3.22: Overall impression for overhead squat and single leg squat. 125 Table 3.23: Overall impression for overhead squat and single leg squat. 125 Table 3.24: Individual criteria for the overhead squat 126 Table 3.25: Individual criteria for the single leg squat. 126 Table 3.26: Individual criteria for single leg squat. 126 Table 3.27: Scapular Control 127 Table 3.28: Scapular control test; Mean, standard deviation, significant difference and effect size (Scoring ranged from 0-3) 127 Table 3.29: Alternative push up test 127 Table 3.30: Anthropometric data; Mean and standard deviation of fresher and senior Gaelic football and hurling participants. 128 Table 3.31: Anthropometric data; F value, significant difference and effect size between fresher and senior Gaelic football and hurling participants. 128 Table 3.32: Flexibility; Mean and standard deviation of fresher and senior Gaelic football and hurling participants. 128	significant difference and the effect size	124
and less than 4cm124Table 3.22: Y balance test: Participants at risk using cut off points with percentage124Ieg length124Table 3.23: Overall impression for overhead squat and single leg squat125Table 3.24: Individual criteria for the overhead squat125Table 3.25: Individual criteria for the single leg squat126Table 3.26: Individual criteria for single leg squat126Table 3.27: Scapular Control127Table 3.28: Scapular control test; Mean, standard deviation, significant difference127and effect size (Scoring ranged from 0-3)127Table 3.29: Alternative push up test127Table 3.31: Anthropometric data; Mean and standard deviation of fresher and senior Gaelic football and hurling participants128Table 3.32: Flexibility; Mean and standard deviation of fresher and senior Gaelic128Table 3.32: Flexibility; Mean and standard deviation of fresher and senior Gaelic128	Table 3.21: Y balance test: Percentage of participants with asymmetries of greater	
Table 3.22: Y balance test: Participants at risk using cut off points with percentageleg length124Table 3.23: Overall impression for overhead squat and single leg squat125Table 3.24: Individual criteria for the overhead squat125Table 3.25: Individual criteria for the single leg squat126Table 3.26: Individual criteria for single leg squat:Mean, standard deviation,significant difference and effect size (Scoring ranged from 0-3)126Table 3.27: Scapular Control127Table 3.28: Scapular control test; Mean, standard deviation, significant difference127Table 3.29: Alternative push up test127Table 3.30: Anthropometric data; Mean and standard deviation of fresher and128Table 3.31: Anthropometric data; F value, significant difference and effect size128Table 3.32: Flexibility; Mean and standard deviation of fresher and senior Gaelic football and hurling participants.128Table 3.32: Flexibility; Mean and standard deviation of fresher and senior Gaelic128	and less than 4cm	124
leg length124Table 3.23: Overall impression for overhead squat and single leg squat.125Table 3.24: Individual criteria for the overhead squat125Table 3.25: Individual criteria for the single leg squat126Table 3.26: Individual criteria for single leg squat:Mean, standard deviation,significant difference and effect size (Scoring ranged from 0-3)126Table 3.27: Scapular Control127Table 3.28: Scapular control test; Mean, standard deviation, significant difference127Table 3.29: Alternative push up test127Table 3.30: Anthropometric data; Mean and standard deviation of fresher and128Table 3.31: Anthropometric data; F value, significant difference and effect size128Table 3.32: Flexibility; Mean and standard deviation of fresher and senior Gaelic football and hurling participants.128Table 3.32: Flexibility; Mean and standard deviation of fresher and senior Gaelic football and hurling participants.128	Table 3.22: Y balance test: Participants at risk using cut off points with percentage	
Table 3.23: Overall impression for overhead squat and single leg squat.125Table 3.24: Individual criteria for the overhead squat125Table 3.25: Individual criteria for the single leg squat126Table 3.26: Individual criteria for single leg squat: Mean, standard deviation,126Significant difference and effect size (Scoring ranged from 0-3)126Table 3.27: Scapular Control127Table 3.28: Scapular control test; Mean, standard deviation, significant difference127Table 3.29: Alternative push up test127Table 3.30: Anthropometric data; Mean and standard deviation of fresher and128Table 3.31: Anthropometric data; F value, significant difference and effect size128Table 3.32: Flexibility; Mean and standard deviation of fresher and senior Gaelic football and hurling participants.128Table 3.32: Flexibility; Mean and standard deviation of fresher and senior Gaelic football and hurling participants.128	leg length	124
Table 3.24: Individual criteria for the overhead squat125Table 3.25: Individual criteria for the single leg squat126Table 3.26: Individual criteria for single leg squat: Mean, standard deviation,126significant difference and effect size (Scoring ranged from 0-3)126Table 3.27: Scapular Control127Table 3.28: Scapular control test; Mean, standard deviation, significant difference127Table 3.29: Alternative push up test127Table 3.30: Anthropometric data; Mean and standard deviation of fresher and128Table 3.31: Anthropometric data; F value, significant difference and effect size128Table 3.32: Flexibility; Mean and standard deviation of fresher and senior Gaelic football and hurling participants.128Table 3.32: Flexibility; Mean and standard deviation of fresher and senior Gaelic football and hurling participants.128Table 3.32: Flexibility; Mean and standard deviation of fresher and senior Gaelic128	Table 3.23: Overall impression for overhead squat and single leg squat	125
Table 3.25: Individual criteria for the single leg squat126Table 3.26: Individual criteria for single leg squat: Mean, standard deviation,126significant difference and effect size (Scoring ranged from 0-3)126Table 3.27: Scapular Control127Table 3.28: Scapular control test; Mean, standard deviation, significant difference127and effect size (Scoring ranged from 0-3)127Table 3.29: Alternative push up test127Table 3.30: Anthropometric data; Mean and standard deviation of fresher and128Table 3.31: Anthropometric data; F value, significant difference and effect size128Table 3.32: Flexibility; Mean and standard deviation of fresher and senior Gaelic football and hurling participants128	Table 3.24: Individual criteria for the overhead squat	125
Table 3.26: Individual criteria for single leg squat: Mean, standard deviation,significant difference and effect size (Scoring ranged from 0-3)126Table 3.27: Scapular Control127Table 3.28: Scapular control test; Mean, standard deviation, significant difference127and effect size (Scoring ranged from 0-3)127Table 3.29: Alternative push up test127Table 3.30: Anthropometric data; Mean and standard deviation of fresher and128Table 3.31: Anthropometric data; F value, significant difference and effect size128Table 3.32: Flexibility; Mean and standard deviation of fresher and senior Gaelic football and hurling participants.128	Table 3.25: Individual criteria for the single leg squat	126
significant difference and effect size (Scoring ranged from 0-3)	Table 3.26: Individual criteria for single leg squat: Mean, standard deviation,	
Table 3.27: Scapular Control127Table 3.28: Scapular control test; Mean, standard deviation, significant differenceand effect size (Scoring ranged from 0-3)127Table 3.29: Alternative push up test127Table 3.30: Anthropometric data; Mean and standard deviation of fresher andsenior Gaelic football and hurling participants.128Table 3.31: Anthropometric data; F value, significant difference and effect sizebetween fresher and senior Gaelic football and hurling participants.128Table 3.32: Flexibility; Mean and standard deviation of fresher and senior Gaelic	significant difference and effect size (Scoring ranged from 0-3)	126
Table 3.28: Scapular control test; Mean, standard deviation, significant differenceand effect size (Scoring ranged from 0-3)	Table 3.27: Scapular Control	127
and effect size (Scoring ranged from 0-3)	Table 3.28: Scapular control test; Mean, standard deviation, significant difference	
Table 3.29: Alternative push up test127Table 3.30: Anthropometric data; Mean and standard deviation of fresher andsenior Gaelic football and hurling participants.128Table 3.31: Anthropometric data; F value, significant difference and effect sizebetween fresher and senior Gaelic football and hurling participants.128Table 3.32: Flexibility; Mean and standard deviation of fresher and senior Gaelic	and effect size (Scoring ranged from 0-3)	127
Table 3.30: Anthropometric data; Mean and standard deviation of fresher and senior Gaelic football and hurling participants.128Table 3.31: Anthropometric data; F value, significant difference and effect size between fresher and senior Gaelic football and hurling participants.128Table 3.32: Flexibility; Mean and standard deviation of fresher and senior Gaelic128	Table 3.29: Alternative push up test	127
senior Gaelic football and hurling participants	Table 3.30: Anthropometric data; Mean and standard deviation of fresher and	
Table 3.31: Anthropometric data; F value, significant difference and effect sizebetween fresher and senior Gaelic football and hurling participants	senior Gaelic football and hurling participants.	128
between fresher and senior Gaelic football and hurling participants	Table 3.31: Anthropometric data; F value, significant difference and effect size	
Table 3.32: Flexibility; Mean and standard deviation of fresher and senior Gaelic	between fresher and senior Gaelic football and hurling participants	128
	Table 3.32: Flexibility; Mean and standard deviation of fresher and senior Gaelic	
football and hurling participants	football and hurling participants	129

Table 3.33: Flexibility; F value, significant difference and effect size between
fresher and senior Gaelic football and hurling participants
Table 3.34: Navicular drop test; Mean, standard deviation, significant difference
and effect size between Gaelic football and hurling participants
Table 3.35: Navicular drop test; F value, significant difference and effect size
between fresher and senior Gaelic football and hurling participants
Table 3.36: Y balance test; Mean and standard deviation of fresher and senior
Gaelic football and hurling participants
Table 3.37: Y balance test; F value, significant difference and effect size between
fresher and senior Gaelic football and hurling participants
Table 3.38: Overall impression of Squat and single leg squat; Mean and standard
deviation of fresher and senior Gaelic football and hurling participants (Scoring
ranged from 1-3)
Table 3.39: Overall impression of squat and single leg squat; F value, significant
difference and effect size between fresher and senior Gaelic football and hurling
participants (Scoring ranged from 1-3)
Table 3.40: Individual criteria for overhead squat; Mean and standard deviation for
fresher and senior Gaelic football and hurling participants (Scoring ranged from 0-
3)
Table 3.41: Individual criteria for the overhead squat; F value, significant
difference and effect size between fresher and senior Gaelic football and hurling
participants
Table 3.42: Individual criteria for the single leg squat; Mean and standard deviation
of fresher and senior Gaelic football and hurling participants (scoring ranged from
0-3)
Table 3.43: Individual criteria of the single leg squat between both legs; F value,
significant difference and effect size between fresher and senior Gaelic football and
hurling participants (Scoring ranged from 0-3)
Table 3.44: Scapular control test; Mean and standard deviation for fresher and
senior Gaelic football and hurling participants (Scoring ranged from 0-3)136
Table 3.45: Scapular control test; Mean, standard deviation, significant difference
and effect size between fresher and senior participants (Scoring ranged from 0-3)137
Table 3.46: Alternative push up test; Mean and standard deviation for fresher and
senior Gaelic football and hurling participants (Scoring ranged from 1-3)

Table 3.47: Alternative push up test; F value, significant difference and effect sizes Table 3.48: Anthropometric data; Mean, standard deviation, significant difference Table 3.49: Flexibility tests; Mean, standard deviation, significant difference and Table 3.50: Navicular drop test; Mean, standard deviation, significant difference Table 3.51: Y balance test; Mean, standard deviation, significant difference and Table 3.52: Overall impression overhead squat and single leg squat on the right and left legs; Mean, standard deviation, significant difference and effect size between Table 3.53: Individual criteria of the overhead squat; Mean, standard deviation, significant difference and effect size between adolescent and collegiate participants......140 Table 3.54: Individual criteria for the single leg squat on the right and left legs; Mean, standard deviation, significant difference and effect size between adolescent and collegiate participants (Scoring ranged from 0-3)......140 Table 3.55: Scapular control test; Mean, standard deviation, significant difference and effect between adolescent and collegiate participants (Scoring ranged from 0-3).141 Table 3.56: Alternative push up test; Mean, standard deviation, significant difference and effect size between adolescent and collegiate participants141 Table 3.57: Significant correlations between age and other pre participation tests......143 Table 3.58: Significant correlations between BMI and other pre participation tests....144 Table 3.59: Relationship between external rotation of the shoulder on the left side and the scapular control test......145 Table 3.60: Correlation between the overhead squat, right single leg squat and left Table 3.61: Correlation between the overhead squat, right single leg squat and left Table 3.62: Relationship between the overhead squat overall impression and right

Table 3.63: Relationship between the overall impression of the overhead squat,
right single leg squat and left single leg squat with the individual criteria for each
test
Table 3.64: Relationship between the active knee extension and the individual
criteria of hip flexion and knees over toes in the overhead squat and right and left
single leg squat149
Table 3.65: Relationship between the alternative push up test and overall
impression in the overhead squat and the single leg squat on the right and left leg 149
Table 4.1: Information captured by the Injury Report Form 167
Table 4.2: Variables where frequency of results was assessed 174
Table 4.3: Incidence Proportion, Clinical Incidence and Incidence Rate in school
adolescents
Table 4.4 Incidence rate of Training and Match injuries 176
Table 4.5: New and Recurrent injuries 176
Table 4.6: Incidence Proportion, Clinical Incidence and Incidence Rate in
adolescent Gaelic footballers and hurlers188
Table 4.7: Incidence rate of Training and Match injuries 188
Table 4.8: New and Recurrent injuries 188
Table 4.9: Incidence Proportion, Clinical Incidence and Incidence Rate in
collegiate participants199
Table 4.10: Incidence rate of Training and Match injuries 199
Table 4.11: New and Recurrent injuries 200
Table 4.12: Injury incidence in adolescent Gaelic footballers and hurlers 211
Table 4.13: Summary epidemiology results between adolescent Gaelic football and
hurling
Table 4.14: Injury incidence in collegiate Gaelic footballers and hurlers 220
Table 4.15: Summary epidemiology results between collegiate Gaelic football and
hurling
Table 4.16: Injury incidence in fresher and senior Gaelic footballers 229
Table 4.17: Summary epidemiology results between fresher and senior collegiate
Gaelic footballers
Table 4.18: Injury incidence in senior hurlers 238
Table 5.1: Cross-tabulation for sensitivity and specificity analysis
5.2: Summary of Risk factors for injury in the Lower body, Hamstring, Knee,
Ankle, Quadriceps and Pelvis and Groin

5.3: Summary of Risk factors for injury in the Upper body and Should	er288
5.4: Summary of Risk factors for injury in the Trunk and Lower back.	

List of Equations

Equation 3.1: Calculation of the composite score109
Equation 3.2: Calculation of Eta squared112
Equation 4.1: Calculation of Incidence Proportion171
Equation 4.2: 95% Confidence Interval for Incidence Proportion
Equation 4.3: Standard Error for Incidence Proportion172
Equation 4.4: Calculation of Repeat Incidence Proportion172
Equation 4.5: Calculation of Incidence Rate per 1,000 hours172
Equation 4.6: Calculation of Training Incidence Rate per 1,000 hours172
Equation 4.7: Calculation of Match Incidence Rate per 1,000 hours
Equation 4.8: Standard Error for Incidence Rate
Equation 4.9: 95% Confidence Interval for Incidence Rate
Equation 4.10: Calculation of Clinical Incidence
Equation 5.1: Calculation of Sensitivity
Equation 5.2: Calculation of Specificity
Equation 5.3: Calculation of Positive Likelihood Ratio
Equation 5.4: Calculation of Positive Likelihood Ratio using Sensitivity and
Specificity
Equation 5.5: Calculation of Negative Likelihood Ratio
Equation 5.6: Calculation of Negative Likelihood Ratio using Sensitivity and
Specificity

List of Abbreviations

ACL	Anterior Cruciate Ligament
AICc	Corrected Akaike's Information Criterion
AKE	Active Knee Extension
ANOVA	Analysis of Variation
AUC	Area Under the Curve
BMI	Body Mass Index
СТ	Computed Tomography
FMS	Functional Movement Screen
GAA	Gaelic Athletic Association
ICC	Intraclass Correlation Coefficient
К	Kappa Coefficient
MRI	Magnetic Resonance Imaging
PKE	Passive Knee Extension
ROC	Receiver Operating Characteristic
RR	Relative Risk
SE	Standard Error
SEM	Standard Error of Measurement
SLS	Single Leg Squat
TRIPP	Translating Research into Injury Prevention Practice
2D	Two dimensional
3D	Three dimensional
%LL	Percentage Leg Length

Acknowledgements

To my supervisors Dr Kieran Moran and Dr. Noel McCaffrey. I greatly appreciate your invaluable support, guidance and words of advice throughout this PhD.

To the staff and postgraduates in the School of Health and Human Performance. Thank you for all your help and support throughout my time in DCU. You all made my time in DCU so enjoyable.

To the DCU and AIT students that assisted in the testing over the years. This project would have been impossible without you. Thanks to David Kelly, Jonny Cooper, Michael Donoghue, Anna Postawa and Ciaran O Cathain for their assistance with the testing. I greatly appreciate the time and effort you put into this project.

To the schools and colleges that took part in this project. A special thanks to the DCU and AIT GAA clubs, in particular Michael Kennedy, Dr. Niall Moyna and Garry Salmon for assistance and support in the recruitment phase.

To the Irish Research Council for Science, Engineering and Technology (IRCSET) and AIT for their funding to complete the project.

To all my friends, especially Aine, Niamh, Grace, Ruth, Nobby and Ailbhe. Thank you for your many distractions, you have no idea how much it helped me.

To the staff in Athlone Institute of Technology, especially Dr. Niamh Nic Cheilleachair and Diane Cooper. It would have been impossible to finish this without you both. Your constant motivation got me here in the end ©

To Andy, thank you for all your help over the course of this PhD, between the Excel tutorials and dinners made for me your support has been invaluable. I am so grateful to have met you and you have never failed to cheer me up no matter what the stress levels

 \odot

Finally, thanks to all my family, in particular Mam and Deirdre for their constant moral support and daily motivation phonecalls. I will forever be appreciative of your help and advice, especially over the last few months. I'm finally all grown up ;)

Chapter 1. Introduction

1. 1. Background and Rationale for Research

Gaelic football and hurling (collectively known as Gaelic games) are Ireland's national sports and are overseen by the governing body, the Gaelic Athletic Association (GAA). While Gaelic games are primarily played in Ireland they also have a presence in Europe, North America, Australia and Asia (Blake et al., 2009). Gaelic football and hurling can last up to 70 minutes and consists of two opposing teams of 15 players (Wilson et al., 2007, Murphy et al., 2012a). Each team comprises of a goalkeeper, six defenders, two midfielders and six forwards. Both Gaelic football and hurling are played on a rectangular field of the following dimensions: 130-145m in length and in 80-90m in width. The aim of both games is to score more points than the opposition, a point is received if the ball goes over the crossbar, a goal if the ball goes under the crossbar, with a goal is equalling three points (Murphy et al., 2012b). Gaelic football and hurling are said to be multidirectional contact games that necessitates its players to perform at a high level of intensity and velocity (McIntyre, 2005). Gaelic football has been described as a mixture of soccer and rugby and is similar to Australian Rules football. Movements and skills essential to Gaelic football include sprinting, tackling, kicking, soloing (kicking the ball to yourself when running), shouldering (shoulder to shoulder charge when making a play for the football or tackling), jumping, turning and catching (Murphy et al., 2012b). Hurling on the other hand is similar to shinty, field hockey or lacrosse and participants use a stick called a hurley to hit a small hard leather ball known as a slioter (Murphy et al., 2012a). Movements and skills essential to hurling include sprinting, catching, striking (throwing the slioter into the air and hitting it using the hurley), shouldering, blocking the slioter with the hurley, soloing (running while keeping the slioter balanced or bouncing on the hurley) and hooking (using the hurley to prevent the opposition from swinging their hurley to hit the slioter) (Murphy et al., 2012a).

Approximately 2,000 GAA parish-based clubs exist throughout Ireland. Each club plays within their own county divisions, and depending on the team's success, can compete at provincial and all-Ireland levels. There are also elite inter-county teams, which consist of players from clubs throughout the county, who play each other on a league and championship basis (Blake et al., 2009). Players are divided into teams based on their chronological age. In the juvenile section, teams are divided into Under 10's, 12's, 14's, 16's and 18's (Minor). In the adult section, teams are divided into under 21's, Junior, Intermediate and Senior. Players aged above 21 are differentiated by standard and skill

level with the lowest to highest standards the Junior, Intermediate and Senior teams, respectively. Players can also simultaneously play in school and collegiate competitions whilst participating with their parish based club. Thus whilst Gaelic games are considered amateur sports some of the elite teams can train and follow match schedules approaching professional standards (Blake et al., 2009, Murphy et al., 2012b). In addition, talented players may compete with numerous teams at different levels and competitions throughout the year.

Partaking in sport provides numerous benefits including: reducing the risk of developing and assisting the management of a number of hypokinetic diseases (including cardiovascular disease, diabetes, cancer and osteoporosis), preventing obesity, increasing self-esteem and providing a social platform for participants (Warburton et al., 2006, Schneider et al., 2006). However sport has an inherent risk of injury to the participant. Injury occurs when mechanical energy is placed on the body's tissues in rates or levels that exceed the human threshold for damage i.e. relative excessive force compared to the strength of the tissue (Meeuwisse et al., 2007, McGinnis, 2013). The trauma, pain and loss of function accompanying injury can be considerably detrimental to the participant, the team and the GAA and may cause time loss from sport, time loss from work, negative psychological effects, incur a cost to both the participant and the GAA due to medical and treatment costs and place additional pressure on accident and emergency rooms in hospitals due to serious injuries requiring out of hours scans (Junge and Dvorak, 2000, Murphy et al., 2012b). Injuries have been found to be prevalent in Gaelic games and have also been shown to have a long term effect on players with 20% of elite players on a single team forced into retirement from the game of Gaelic football due to a career ending injury and 17.5% forced to change their work career due to injury (El-Gohary et al., 2009). Nonetheless, the occurrence and magnitude of the effects of many injuries may be reduced with the implementation of injury prevention techniques and programmes (Schneider et al., 2006, Meeuwisse et al., 2007).

Only recently has sports medicine professionals begun to publish epidemiological data on Gaelic games and these studies reported injury rates of between 51.2-64.0 injuries per 1000 hours of matches and 4.1-5.8 injuries per 1000 hours of training in Gaelic football, and 102.5 and 5.3 injuries per 1000 hours in matches and training, respectively in hurling (Murphy et al., 2012a, Wilson et al., 2007, Murphy et al., 2012b, Newell et al., 2013). However the amount of epidemiological studies specific to Gaelic games is

relatively little in comparison to other sports. In Gaelic football six studies have evaluated injury rates, however these have been retrospective in nature (Cromwell et al., 2000, Brown et al., 2013) or else prospective over a short duration (Wilson et al., 2007, Newell et al., 2013, Watson, 1996b). Only a single study assessed epidemiological data in Gaelic footballers for more than one season (Murphy et al., 2012b). In relation to hurling only two studies have assessed injury incidence and both of these have been prospective over a single season (Murphy et al., 2012a, Watson, 1996a). Thus further data is clearly needed to conclusively assess the epidemiology of injury in both Gaelic football and hurling. Epidemiological data is primarily available for elite adult players (Murphy et al., 2012b, Murphy et al., 2012a, Newell et al., 2013, Cromwell et al., 2000) with a severe lack of data available for non-elite, adolescent or collegiate players. No epidemiological data is available specific to hurling injuries in the adolescent population and only a single study on Gaelic football injuries in adolescents has been published (Watson, 1996b). Given the large number of adolescents participating in these sports it is essential we have information on the epidemiology of injuries in this population. In addition, there is a lack of information on the epidemiology of injury in non-elite and collegiate participants in Gaelic games. Thus this PhD will examine the injury incidence of both Gaelic football and hurling injuries in adolescent and collegiate players in order to provide critical data in this area. Present literature highly recommends the standardisation of injury definition, methods of data collection, and methods of reporting data to ensure comparison not only between studies in specific sports but also between sports and countries (Chalmers, 2002). However at present this is not the case, both in epidemiology studies in Gaelic games and internationally in other sports with no clear consensus in literature on any aspects of methodological design and definition of injury which leads to serious inconsistencies in reported epidemiological data (Junge and Dvorak, 2000, Fuller et al., 2007c, Fuller et al., 2006, Brooks and Fuller, 2006). Therefore another aim of this PhD is to implement a high quality standardised epidemiological study to prospectively examine the injury incidence in Gaelic games.

Current literature in Gaelic football and hurling has focused on the epidemiology of injuries and have not as of yet followed on from this by comprehensively defining the injury mechanism and identifying possible risk factors to injury which is necessary in order to develop injury prevention programmes. Whilst the injury mechanism has been somewhat examined in three epidemiological studies (Murphy et al., 2012b, Wilson et

al., 2007, Cromwell et al., 2000) they have not assessed the mechanism of injury to the recommended high standard. It is recommended that the injury mechanism definition includes information on the sport specific movement, the interaction between the player and opponent and both gross and specific biomechanical movements (Bahr and Krosshaug, 2005). Thus with regard to Gaelic games researchers should ideally note the sport specific movements that the player was undertaking during the injury (tackling, soloing, blocking, shouldering), whether foul play was involved and if this was punished by the referee (athlete becoming injured while committing or receiving a foul) the specific movement the player completed during the inciting event and whether it was contact or non-contact (e.g. landing, jumping, sprinting) and finally a precise description of that movement anatomically at the joint (e.g. valgus motion of knee, inversion of ankle) (Bahr and Krosshaug, 2005). Thus this study will aim to fully assess and examine the mechanism of injury in adherence with recommended standards in both adolescent and collegiate participants. Identifying the causative factors that could possibly contribute to injury is essential, however, in present literature on Gaelic football and hurling this is not addressed comprehensively. Only five studies have looked at possible risk factors for injury in Gaelic games and these studies are limited as they focused on a small number of possible risk factors for injury in a single particular injury (ankle, hamstring and hand injuries) (Watson, 1999, O'Sullivan et al., 2008, Lowther et al., 2012, Falvey et al., 2013). Only a single study assessed a larger number of risk factors for injury (flexibility, posture, clinical defects and previous injury) to all possible injuries however this study was not limited to Gaelic games and assessed soccer players which may have affected the results (Watson, 2001). Implementing a musculoskeletal pre-participation screening is a suggested method of identifying possible risk factors for injury in sport. Screenings are based on the premise that by implementing tests at the beginning of the season that evaluate an athlete's ability to perform a certain task that assesses a specific risk factor for injury, it may identify possible modifiable risk factors for injury by demonstrating that those who perform poorly on this test would correspondingly sustain an injury in the following season (Maffey and Emery, 2006). However to date, there has been no standard musculoskeletal pre-participation screening developed to be used across all sports or specifically for Gaelic football and hurling (Maffey and Emery, 2006). Normative data is an essential component of any pre-participation screening as it is a standardised reference of results for each specific test in a comparable population and allows clinicians to compare their results with a similar population (Corkery et al., 2007) To date there has been no published normative data on the musculoskeletal preparticipation screening in Gaelic footballers or hurlers of any age group. Additionally there is a lack of normative data on the musculoskeletal pre-participation screening internationally in adolescent teenagers, especially within the Irish context. Furthermore the reliability (or the consistency of a test or measurement when the test is repeated or completed by a different tester) of specific tests within a musculoskeletal preparticipation is quite varied and differs greatly depending on testing protocol and equipment used (Cowley and Swensen, 2008, Hopkins, 2000). Therefore an additional aim of this study was to develop, provide normative data and assess the reliability of certain tests within a musculoskeletal pre-participation screening specific to Gaelic football and hurling in order to identify possible risk factors for injury in Gaelic games. **Chapter 2. Literature Review**

2. 1. Introduction to Literature Review

As outlined in the previous chapter there is a clear need for further research examining the incidence of injury and possible modifiable risk factors for injury in adolescent and collegiate Gaelic footballers and hurlers. There is a lack of high quality research studies investigating the epidemiology of injury in Gaelic games which can have far reaching consequences on the standard of epidemiological data collected. This literature review will initially examine the injury description conveyed in Gaelic games research. Identifying possible modifiable causative factors for injury is an essential component of the both the TRIPP and van Mechelen models of injury prevention (Finch, 2006, van Mechelen et al., 1992) and so this literature review aims to examine potential risk factors for injury in Gaelic games. In light of the importance of risk factors for injury, musculoskeletal pre-participation screenings will be discussed. This chapter will evaluate the common tests included in screenings and establish their appropriateness, effectiveness and reliability. Disparity between gender/sex has been observed for injury incidence and performance in screening tasks due to differences in flexibility (Wang et al., 1993), strength (Lephart et al., 2002), biomechanics (Kerrigan et al., 1998, Kernozek et al., 2005) inherent anatomical differences such as greater q-angle (Woodland and Francis, 1992). Therefore a clear delimitation of this PhD research and therefore the review of literature is to consider male adolescents and collegiate Gaelic players only.

Injury prevention research should ideally utilise a six stage sequence of studies proposed by Finch (2006) called the "Translating Research Into Injury Prevention Practice" (TRIPP) model which is based on the original and most commonly used "sequence of prevention" model by Van Mechelen et al. (1992) (Figure 2.1). Initially researchers should gain an idea of the magnitude of the injury in the specific sport and population by identifying the incidence, prevalence and severity of injuries (van Mechelen et al., 1992, van Mechelen, 1997, Finch, 2006). Next the aetiology and mechanisms of sustaining injury in the sport is examined to identify risk factors for injury (van Mechelen et al., 1992, van Mechelen, 1997, Finch, 2006). Stage 3 is the development of the injury prevention strategy based on the risk factors for injury identified previously, stage 4 evaluates the effectiveness of the prevention strategy in an ideal scenario and stage 5 then assesses how these prevention strategies can be practically implemented into the sporting environment so that it is easily adopted by players and coaches alike (Finch, 2006). Finally the epidemiology of injury should be

re-evaluated to assess the effectiveness of the injury prevention strategies (van Mechelen et al., 1992, van Mechelen, 1997, Finch, 2006). Thus the current study will abide by best practise suggested by these models by undertaking the first two steps in this sequence.



Figure 2.1: "Sequence of prevention" model for injury prevention studies adapted from van Mechelen et al. (1992)

2. 2. Epidemiology in Gaelic Games

2. 2. 1. The design of epidemiological studies in Gaelic games

Epidemiological studies in Gaelic games vary in their design, definition of injury, methods of data collection and observation periods, all of which can influence the epidemiological data collected (Junge and Dvorak, 2000). Table 2.1 highlights these differences in the seven prospective and two retrospective studies in Gaelic games and demonstrates the lack of standardisation in these studies. The method of data collection can greatly affect the standard and accuracy of the injury information collected. Medical examinations by a medical professional are considered the gold standard method of collecting injury data (Junge and Dvorak, 2000, Grossman et al., 1990), and at present, only three studies in Gaelic games epidemiology have utilised this method (Table 2.1). Ideally an injury report form accompanies the medical examinations to standardise the information gathered and ensure all aspects of the injury description is assessed (Hägglund et al., 2005).

The definition of injury should ideally be clear, well defined and standardised however no specific definition has been proposed or adopted by a large number of studies in any sport (Brooks and Fuller, 2006). In Gaelic games the definitions of injury vary greatly which can prevent direct comparisons of injury rate and injury descriptions (Table 2.1).
Two broad categories have been suggested in order to group the vast number of injury definitions: Medical Treatment definitions and Loss of Time definitions (Brooks and Fuller, 2006). Medical Treatment definitions include any injuries that necessitate treatment by a medical individual and include studies where insurance claims have been submitted, participants have been treated in hospital or by therapists associated with the team (Brooks and Fuller, 2006, Junge and Dvorak, 2000). These definitions are commonly utilised to measure the epidemiology of injury in short-term competitions (Clarsen and Bahr, 2014). The main advantage of a comprehensive Medical Treatment definition is that it incorporates all injuries that require treatment regardless of how minor the injury is and so is more likely to capture far more injury events than other injury definitions (Clarsen and Bahr, 2014). The Medical Treatment definition may misreport the true injury rate as some players may miss playing time in sport due to an injury but may not attend a medical assessment or session as they believe the injury will get better over time or may not have the finances to pay for an assessment. Loss of Time definitions are utilised more commonly in recent studies, in particular in team sports, long term prospective studies and can be further subdivided into "Loss of Time fully inclusive" and "Loss of Time - semi inclusive" (Junge and Dvorak, 2000, Brooks and Fuller, 2006). "Loss of Time - fully inclusive" definitions include injuries that require the participant to miss training or competition and are frequently used in Gaelic games epidemiological studies. "Loss of Time - semi inclusive" definitions include injuries that require the participant to miss competition only (Brooks and Fuller, 2006). The frequency of matches, individual player pain thresholds and psychological factors may all contribute to a player's likelihood of being noted as injury using this definition (Brooks and Fuller, 2006, Junge and Dvorak, 2000, Clarsen and Bahr, 2014). In addition, players that continue training and playing matches but have a reduction in performance or modify their training in order to continue are not noted as injured (Clarsen and Bahr, 2014). Consensus statements in the area of epidemiology including soccer (Fuller et al., 2006) and rugby (Fuller et al., 2007c) propose the utilisation of an "all complaints" approach to defining injury; however this has not been utilised frequently in studies (Clarsen and Bahr, 2014). This definition requires the recording of all complaints including injuries that do not require medical treatment (Clarsen and Bahr, 2014). Thus as a larger proportion of injuries is captured using this definition, it is the ideal definition for use in an epidemiological study in adolescent and collegiate Gaelic footballers and hurlers.

Sport	Authors	Research Design	Participant Details	Injury Definition
Gaelic football	Murphy et al.	Prospective	Elite Adults	Injury that prevents a player from taking a full part in all training and
	(2012b)	Medical	Male	match play activities typically planned for that day, where the injury has
	``´´´	Assessment	851	been there for a period greater than 24 hours from midnight at the end of
		4 seasons		the day that the injury was sustained
	Wilson et al.	Prospective	Adult	Injury that caused a player to miss one training or match or that required
	(2007)	Telephone	Male	at least one treatment
		Interview	83	
		6 months		
	Newell et al.	Prospective	Elite Adults	Injury that caused player to be unable to participate fully in training or
	(2013)	Medical	Male	games for a period of at least forty-eight hours after the injury was
		Assessment	511	sustained
		1 season		
	Watson (1996b)	Prospective	Adolescents	Any injury that occurred during Gaelic Football that restricted activity to
		Questionnaire	Male	any significant specified extent.
		7 months	150	
	Cromwell et al.	Retrospective	Elite Adults	Injury sustained during training or competition resulting in restricted
	(2000)	Questionnaire	Male	performance or time lost from play
		6 months	107	
	Brown et al.	Retrospective	Adult	Any injury that occurred during match or training in Gaelic football
	(2013)	Questionnaire	Female	
		Over playing career	74	
Hurling	Murphy et al.	Prospective	Elite Adults	Any injury that prevents a player from taking full part in training and
	(2012a)	Medical	Male	match play activities typically planned for that day, where the injury has
		Assessment	127	been there for a period greater than 24 h from midnight at the end of the
		1 season		day that the injury was sustained
	Watson	Prospective	Elite and non-	An injury occurring as a result of training for or participation in the game
	(1996a)	Medical	elite Adults	of hurling that resulted in incapacity to train or compete normally

Table 2.1: Epidemiological Studies in Gaelic games

		Assessment	Male	
		8 months	74	
Hurling & Camogie	Crowley et al.	Prospective	Adolescents	Injury noted when athlete presented to the accident and emergency centre
	(1989)	Emergency	and Adults	in the Cork Regional Hospital
		Department	Male &	
		1 year	Female	
			817	
All sports	Watson	Prospective	10-18 year olds	An incident resulting in at least 1 day of incapacity or necessitating
(including Gaelic	(1984)	Questionnaire filled	Male &	medical treatment
football and		in by PE teacher	Female	
hurling)		1 academic year	6,799	

2. 2. 1. 1. Age of Population

Epidemiological data is primarily available for adult players in Gaelic games (Murphy et al., 2012b, Murphy et al., 2012a, Newell et al., 2013, Cromwell et al., 2000, Wilson et al., 2007, Brown et al., 2013) or older retired players (El-Gohary et al., 2009) with a severe lack of data available for adolescent or collegiate players (Table 2.1). No epidemiological data is available specific to hurling injuries in the adolescent population and only a single study on Gaelic football injuries in adolescents (mean=16.94 years) over one season has been published (Watson, 1996b). As the process of maturation is incomplete in adolescents, this may leave them susceptible to different types or an increased amount of injuries compared to adults (Yde and Nielsen, 1990). In addition, there are certain injuries occur specifically in adolescent populations including: Osgood-Schlatter disease at the knee, Sever's disease at the heel and Little league elbow (Adirim and Cheng, 2003), and the incidence of these injuries has not been identified in Gaelic games. During puberty an adolescent's height, weight and body composition changes substantially and this process begins typically aged 13 in adolescent males (Rogol et al., 2002). Male adolescents gain approximately 28cm during the pubertal growth spurt with peak height velocity commonly reached by 14 years (Rogol et al., 2002). Adolescents undergoing a growth spurt may have a rapid increase in bone length and male adolescents have been shown to accumulate substantial bone mineral after their growth spurt (between 15-18 years) and may only reach full bone mass in adulthood; this inherent weakness of adolescent bones has been suggested as a possible reason why adolescents are prone to developing fractures and avulsion fractures during sporting activity (Michaud et al., 2001, Rogol et al., 2002). In fact, fractures were found to be the second most common cause of injury in a study assessing school aged participants taking part in all sport in Ireland (Watson, 1984). The increase in bone length causes subsequent longer levers and possibly increases torque at the joints which can increase risk of joint injury in particular to ligaments (Quatman et al., 2006). This growth spurt has also been attributed to a loss of coordination which has been linked to an increased likelihood of developing injury (Michaud et al., 2001). Weight also increases substantially during puberty with male adolescents gaining 50% of their adult body weight during this time and peak weight velocity is similarly achieved by 14 years (Rogol et al., 2002). A change in body composition is also noted, with a maximal decrease in adipose tissue and increase in muscle mass occurring alongside peak height and weight velocity. This increase in skeletal size and muscle mass causes a consequential increase in strength in adolescent males (Rogol et al., 2002). In fact, a

15

"neuromuscular spurt" is found in adolescent males, whereby their power, strength and coordination increase during maturation (Quatman et al., 2006). This increased power, strength, and coordination can affect the neuromuscular control of their lower extremities which may improve their sporting performance and performance in certain pre-participation screening tasks such as squatting techniques and balance tests. Knee valgus during functional tasks is considered a risk factor for injury, and it has been demonstrated that as male adolescents matured, they exhibited reduced knee valgus during the drop jump due to increased neuromuscular control (Schmitz et al., 2009). This indicates that adolescents who have undergone their neuromuscular spurt may be at reduced risk of knee injury. The influence of maturation on sporting performance has been assessed, with Malina (2005) reporting that male adolescents aged between 13-15 in advanced maturation perform better in four of the six soccer specific sporting tasks assessed, however the difference found was small. This increased sporting performance may be due to the increase in strength, power and coordination that was previously mentioned, but may also be associated with: increased aerobic capacity which occurs alongside peak height and weight velocity (Meylan et al., 2010, Pearson et al., 2006, Philippaerts et al., 2006), sprint speed (Pearson et al., 2006), speed of limb movement (Philippaerts et al., 2006), upper body muscular endurance (Philippaerts et al., 2006), agility (Philippaerts et al., 2006) and jump performance (Meylan et al., 2010, Pearson et al., 2006). These differences due to maturation stages may also correspondingly affect the players' performance in a pre-season screening. Older male adolescents have been identified as at a greater risk of injury than younger males as their body size and muscular strength tends to be higher which consequentially causes them to be faster, heavier and stronger and so generate more force on impact which may increase the likelihood of injury (Caine et al., 2008). Parents, coaches and clinicians may worry that injury may damage the growing skeleton and tissues, and may possibly lead to permanent lasting damage, thus identifying the injury incidence and risk factors for injury is critical in adolescent Gaelic footballers and hurlers (Yde and Nielsen, 1990).

Conversely older players have also been theorised to be more prone to injury due to age related deficits, including the depletion of skeletal muscle mass as age progresses (Gabbe et al., 2006). Reduced range of motion due to repeated stress placed on the tissue over time may also contribute to a higher injury rate. The increased likelihood of previous injury in an older player may cause consequential deficits in strength, range of motion and proprioception and may increase the risk of sustaining another injury in the

injured or different area (Maffey and Emery, 2006, Garrick, 2004). In fact, Arnason et al. (2004) found that older soccer players had a significantly increased risk of sustaining an injury in general and also injury specifically to the hamstring, which is a predominant injury in Gaelic football and hurling.

2. 2. 1. 2. Severity of Injury

The severity of injury is important to quantify as it can indicate the effect the injury has on the participant due to time loss from sport, work and cost of medical treatment (Junge and Dvorak, 2000). In Gaelic games, time lost from sport definitions have primarily been used, however the classification of severity varies between studies (Table 2.2). The majority of studies differentiate injuries into minor, moderate and severe, however the cut off points between moderate and severe varies. Minor injuries are classified as occurring between 1-7 days (Murphy et al., 2012b, Wilson et al., 2007, Newell et al., 2013, Cromwell et al., 2000, Murphy et al., 2012a), with moderate injuries defined as injuries that last between 8-21 days (Wilson et al., 2007, Newell et al., 2013) or 8-28 days (Murphy et al., 2012b, Cromwell et al., 2000, Murphy et al., 2012a) and severe injuries have been identified as greater than 21 or 28 days. Watson (1996b, 1996a) reported severity of injury as a mean amount of days lost from sport by all participants, which is not ideal, as it does not provide a comprehensive view of the severity of injury. Moderate injuries are by far the most common severity of injury reported accounting for between 42-56% of injuries in Gaelic games (Table 2.2) (Murphy et al., 2012b, Newell et al., 2013, Cromwell et al., 2000, Murphy et al., 2012a, Wilson et al., 2007).

Study	Severity classification	Severity definition	Severity reported						
Gaelic football									
Murphy et al. (2012b)	Mild	1-7	13.2%						
	Moderate	8-27 days	45.2%						
	Severe	>28 days	41.6%						
Wilson et al. (2007)	Mild	1-7 days	4.3 per 1000/h						
	Moderate	8-21 days	6.4 per 1000/h						
	Severe	>21 days	2.5 per 1000/h						
Newell et al. (2013)	Mild	1-7 days	10.0%						
	Moderate	8-21 days	56.0%						
	Severe	>21 days	34.0%						
Watson (1996b)	Mean time off sport	Mean±SD days	34.3±37.1						
Cromwell et al. (2000)	Minor	1-7 days	38.0%						
	Moderate	8-27 days	42.0%						
	Major	>28 days	20.0%						
Brown et al. (2013)	NM	NM	NM						
	Hurling	5							
Murphy et al. (2012a)	Mild	1-7 days	45.0%						
	Moderate	8-27 days	45.5%						
Severe >28 days 9.5%									
Watson (1996a)	Mean time off sport	Mean±SD days	20.3±19.3						

Table 2.2: Severity of injury in Gaelic games

NM; Not measured. Per 1000 h; per 1000 hours

2. 2. 1. 3. Injury rate

There are three broad methods of reporting injury rates in epidemiology studies: absolute number, prevalence and incidence of injuries (Knowles et al., 2006). The prevalence of injury details the proportion of participants in a sport that are injured at a particular time and incidence indicates the number of injuries that occur during a specified time in a study (Knowles et al., 2006). The incidence is beneficial to note as it takes into account the exposure of different players (Brooks and Fuller, 2006). Injury incidence is analysed to help athletes, researchers and clinicians understand the amount of injuries that occur in sport. Incidence proportion measures the risk of injury or the probability that an injury will occur and this measurement is easily understood and explained to an athlete (Knowles et al., 2006). However, if a participant receives more than one injury throughout the testing period, it is only noted as one injured participant in this method and so repeat incidence proportion should ideally also be calculated (Knowles et al., 2006). Thus repeat incidence proportion could help an athlete already injured what is their risk of having another injury that season (Knowles et al., 2006). Incidence rate captures the rate of injury with respect to exposure to the sport and is usually expressed with respect to hours or athletic exposures (Knowles et al., 2006). This measurement can be of benefit to researchers and clinicians (Knowles et al., 2006). Clinical incidence measures neither injury risk or injury rate but is beneficial as it assesses the frequency of injuries that occur within a given amount of participants (Knowles et al., 2006). Clinical incidence can assist clinicians and therapists, as it can help them understand the amount of injuries that will occur and may need to be dealt with during a specified time from a resource aspect (Knowles et al., 2006). Overuse injuries can be challenging to capture using these methods, as they are chronic in nature and have periods of worsening or lessening pain. In fact, athletes with jumper's knee have symptoms for an average of 32 months and only 25% developed the problem during the same season; this would lead to a misrepresentation with overuse injuries underreported by injury incidence (Lian et al., 2005).

While there is a wide variance of measures for incidence of injury in sport (Brooks and Fuller, 2006), injuries per 1,000 hours has been identified as the most common, ideal and useful method of assessing injury incidence (Bailey et al., 2010, Fuller et al., 2006) and is the predominant method used in Gaelic games (Table 2.3). Hurlers (102.5 per 1000 hours) display a higher incidence of injury in matches than Gaelic footballers (51.2 -64.0 per 1000 hours) (Table 2.3) (Murphy et al., 2012a, Wilson et al., 2007, Murphy et al., 2012b, Newell et al., 2013). This could be due to the increased physicality in hurling or that hurlers are not as physically fit as Gaelic footballers, and so the increased demands of the game may cause a higher risk of injury in hurling (Murphy et al., 2012a, McIntyre, 2005). In fact, hurlers have been found to have a higher percentage body fat, lower aerobic fitness, speed endurance and upper body strength than Gaelic footballers (McIntyre, 2005). There was an increased risk of injury in matches (17.5-64.0 injuries per 1000 hours) compared to training (3.1-5.8 injuries per 1000 hours) (Table 2.3) in Gaelic football (Watson, 1996b, Wilson et al., 2007, Murphy et al., 2012b), even though players spent 11 times more playing time in training than in matches (Murphy et al., 2012b). Similarly, injuries in hurling occurred more commonly in matches (102.5 and 34.2 injuries per 1000 hours) than training (5.5 and 4.3 injuries per 1000 hours) (Murphy et al., 2012a, Watson, 1996a). In fact, hurling matches were found to have 19 times a greater risk of injury compared to training (Murphy et al., 2012a). This is expected as there is an increased intensity during matches with larger physical and physiological stresses placed on the athlete which could increase the risk of injury (Yung et al., 2007). Foul play could also contribute as it would be expected to occur at a higher level during matches (Murphy et al., 2012a). Players could also put themselves in positions where an injury might occur, because of their desire to win the match (Wilson et al., 2007). Training is a controlled aspect of Gaelic games and while the low training injury rate is expected, injuries still occur during training. If players are training at a high level and playing a large amount of matches they may be at risk of overtraining and developing overtraining syndrome (Borresen and Lambert, 2009). Poor training techniques and unsupervised individual skill and gym sessions outside of normal trainings may also increase their risk of injury.

Gaelic football has a higher reported match injury rate than community level Australian rules football (20 injuries per 1000 hours) (Braham et al., 2004), professional soccer players (27.7 injuries per 1,000 hours) (Hawkins and Fuller, 1999) and high school soccer players (7.15 injuries per 1,000 hours) (Yard et al., 2008b). As mentioned previously hurling is alike to shinty, lacrosse and field hockey. Unfortunately limited information on shinty and men's field hockey is available to date, with only a single emergency department based epidemiological study completed in 1989 in shinty and no epidemiological analysis in men's field hockey. Hurling has a higher match injury rate than male collegiate lacrosse players (12.58 injuries per 1,000 hours) (Dick et al., 2007).

Study	Injury rate							
	Total	Match	Training					
Gaelic football								
Murphy et al. (2012b)	NR	61.86 per 1000 h	4.05 per 1000 h					
Wilson et al. (2007)	13.5 per 1000 h	51.2 per 1000 h	5.8 per 1000 h					
Newell et al. (2013)	11.8 per 1000 h	64 per 1000 h	5.5 per 1000 h					
Watson (1996b)	106.8 per 10,000h	175.98 per 10,000 h	31.06 per 10,000 h					
Cromwell et al. (2000)	1.78 per player per year	NR	NR					
Brown et al. (2013)	1.88 per injured player	NR	NR					
	Hurling							
Murphy et al. (2012a)	NR	102.5 per 1000 h	5.3 per 1000 h					
Watson (1996a)	NR	342.47 per 10,000 h	43.83 per 10,000 h					

 Table 2.3: Injury rate in Gaelic games

NR; Not reported. Per 1000 h; per 1000 hours. Per 10,000 h; per 10,000 hours

2. 2. 2. The injury Description

2. 2. 2. 1. Onset of injury

Acute injuries are more prominent in Gaelic games with only 17.4% and 19% of injuries, overuse in nature in adult Gaelic footballers and hurlers, respectively (Murphy et al., 2012b, Murphy et al., 2012a). Only 0.5% of injuries were found to be chronic in nature in Gaelic footballers (Murphy et al., 2012b). Wilson et al. (2007) found that overuse injuries were the sixth most common type of injury and accounted for approximately 6% of injuries in adult Gaelic footballers. However, Cromwell et al.

(2000) did not report the injury rates for overuse injuries and Newell et al. (2013) actually removed the term overuse as an option in their study as they found the term vague and difficult to define, which is a serious limitation to both papers. New injuries were predominant in Gaelic games, accounting for 74.7% and 65% injuries in Gaelic football (Murphy et al., 2012b, Cromwell et al., 2000) and 85.4% of injuries in hurling (Murphy et al., 2012a). In Gaelic footballers, late recurrent injuries (2-12 months after initial return to full participation) were prevalent and accounted for 10.6% of all injuries, followed by early recurrent (<2 months) (6.9%) and delayed recurrent (>12 months) (6.3%). Structural damage like scar tissue or reduced proprioception of the injured area may last a lot longer than two months after the player returns to the sport. In fact, some injured tissues may never return to the pre-injured structural integrity and have an increased risk of injury for life, as is the case with players that undergo ACL reparative surgery (Hägglund et al., 2005). Further research on the incidence of overuse and recurrent injuries in adolescent Gaelic footballers and hurlers is essential as no information is currently available in this population.

2. 2. 2. 2. Injury Mechanism

Information surrounding the inciting event of an injury is essential to capture as it provides critical clues that indicate possible risk factors for injury that may assist with the development of injury prevention strategies. Non-contact injuries are predominant in Gaelic football accounting for 60% and 67.8% of injuries (Newell et al., 2013, Murphy et al., 2012b). Running, twisting, accelerating and decelerating were the most common non-contact mechanisms of injury, with collision with another player, being tackled and being struck by the opposition player the most common contact mechanisms of injury noted by Newell et al. (2013), however no indication of the percentage of injuries related to each mechanism was provided. No information on the mechanism of injury in hurling has been analysed to date, however in collegiate lacrosse players, a sport most similar to hurling with available epidemiological studies, noted that contact with another player accounted for 45.9% of all match injuries (Dick et al., 2007). Other contact with the ball, ground or stick and non-contact match injuries accounted for a similar percentage of injuries (26.7%, 26.4%) (Dick et al., 2007). In contrast, noncontact injuries (50%) were far more predominant during training. Table 2.4 demonstrates the top four mechanisms of injury reported in Gaelic games. Tackling (27.8%, 12.5%) has been proposed as a common mechanism of injury in Gaelic games (Wilson et al., 2007, Cromwell et al., 2000). One of the biggest attractions to Gaelic games is the physicality of the sports where players are allowed to aggressively tackle the opposition in order to win possession of the ball. In fact, players are allowed to shoulder (shoulder to shoulder hit) another player if the player is in possession of the ball or if both players are competing to win possession of the ball (Murphy et al., 2012b). Sprinting (26.8%, 14.4%, 13.0%), turning (12.0%, 13.3%, 18%) and landing (7.1%) have also been identified as common mechanisms of injury in Gaelic football (Murphy et al., 2012b, Wilson et al., 2007, Cromwell et al., 2000). During sprinting the sudden acceleration/deceleration or the excessive loading placed on the body's tissues during this high intensity movement may lead to an increased likelihood of injury (Newell et al., 2013, Murphy et al., 2012b). In addition, players with poor strength or flexibility may have a lower threshold for injury and so the high intensity sprinting motion may further lead to an increased likelihood of injury (Gabbe et al., 2006, Woods et al., 2007). Players with poor landing or cutting technique may have an increased valgus motion occurring at their knee which may lead to an increased likelihood of injury occurring during landing or turning (Weeks et al., 2012). In addition, poor balance and landing techniques could increase the likelihood of ankle injuries during landing (Plisky et al., 2006, Clark et al., 2010). Collisions have also been identified as a common mechanism of injury. While no specific epidemiological data on common mechanisms of injury in hurling is available, in male high school lacrosse players cutting or dodging accounted for 15% of injuries, legal body-to-body contact (i.e. tackling) was the mechanism for injury in 12% of injuries, followed by falling (11%) (Hinton et al., 2005). Thus further research on the mechanism of injury in hurling is needed.

Tuble 200 Top four most inequent meenumbin of mjury reported in studies on Suche Sumes										
Authors	Mechanism of Injury									
	1	%	2	%	3	%	4	%		
	Gaelic football									
Murphy et al. (2012b)	Sprinting	26.8%	Turning	12.0%	Landing	7.1%	Kicking	4.5%		
Wilson et al. (2007)	Being tackled	17.8%	Sprinting	14.4%	Turning	13.3%	Tackling opposition	10.0%		
Newell et al. (2013)	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR		
Watson (1996b)	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR		
Cromwell et al. (2000)	Collision	23.0%	Twist/Turn	18.0%	Running	13.0%	Tackle	12.5%		
Brown et al. (2013)	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR		
	Hurling									
Murphy et al. (2012a)	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR		
Watson (1996a)	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR		
Crowley et al. (1989)	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR		

Table 2.4: Top four most frequent mechanism of injury reported in studies on Gaelic games

NR; Not reported

2. 2. 2. 3. Body Part Injured

Lower limb injuries were found to be much more common in Gaelic games, with 70-77% of injuries occurring in the lower limb in Gaelic football and 70.1% in hurling (Cromwell et al., 2000, Murphy et al., 2012b, Wilson et al., 2007, Newell et al., 2013, Murphy et al., 2012a). Table 2.5 displays the top five most frequent sites of injury reported in epidemiology studies in Gaelic games. The hamstring, ankle, knee and groin were the most common sites of injury reported in Gaelic football and hurling (Murphy et al., 2012b, Wilson et al., 2007, Newell et al., 2013, Watson, 1996b, Cromwell et al., 2000, Brown et al., 2013, Murphy et al., 2012a, Watson, 1996a). The hamstring was the most commonly reported site of injury making up between 6.5-24% of injuries in Gaelic games (Murphy et al., 2012b, Wilson et al., 2007, Newell et al., 2013, Watson, 1996b, Cromwell et al., 2000, Brown et al., 2013, Murphy et al., 2012a, Watson, 1996a). The possible mechanisms of hamstring, ankle and knee injuries are outlined in Section 2.2.2.2. Groin injuries have been shown to be common in sports that require quick acceleration and sudden changes in direction which are inherent skills necessary in both Gaelic football and hurling (Maffey and Emery, 2007).

Only 5-34.7% of injuries occurred in the upper limb in Gaelic football and 15.2% in hurling (Brown et al., 2013, Cromwell et al., 2000, Murphy et al., 2012b, Newell et al., 2013, Murphy et al., 2012a). In contrast, the majority of injuries occurring in adolescent Gaelic footballers that presented to the emergency department occurred in the upper body (68%), in particular the hand (O'Rourke et al., 2007). Similarly, in an analysis of emergency department presentations in hurling and camogie players, the hand (36%) and face (22%) were the most common injuries (Crowley and Condon, 1989). The higher percentage of upper body injuries is because emergency department based studies inherently capture more serious injuries, and not the most common injuries in a sport, as predominantly suspected fractures or serious injuries present to the hospital. The most common site of injury in the upper limb was the shoulder (12%, 7% and 6.2% of injuries) (Cromwell et al., 2000, Newell et al., 2013, Murphy et al., 2012b). Injuries to the shoulder could be related to the high physicality of the game and may occur during the sport specific action of shouldering or else could be due to overuse during high catching and carrying of the ball during games (Cromwell et al., 2000).

Tuble Let Top Tour mobelie	que sites er				,					
Authors	Site of Injury									
	1	1 % 2		%	3	%	4	%		
Gaelic football										
Murphy et al. (2012b)	Hamstring	24.0%	Knee	11.3%	Ankle	10.0%	Pelvis & groin	9.4%		
Wilson et al. (2007)	Ankle	13.3%	Posterior thigh	12.2%	Anterior thigh	12.2%	Knee, Groin, Lower leg	8.0%		
Newell et al. (2013)	Hamstring	22%	Knee	13%	Ankle	11%	Groin	9%		
Watson (1996b)	Ankle	15.1%	Back	10%	Fingers	9.5%	Hamstring	6.5%		
Cromwell et al. (2000)	Ankle	21%	Hamstring	13%	Knee	13%	Shoulder	12%		
Brown et al. (2013)	Fingers	22.5%	Ankle & foot	19.4%	Knee	10.2%	Hamstring	8.2%		
			Hu	ırling						
Murphy et al. (2012a)	Hamstring	16.5%	Ankle	9%	Groin	9%	Quadriceps	9%		
Watson (1996a)	Finger	13%	Hamstring	12%	Back	9%	Knee/ankle, Back	9%		
Crowley et al. (1989)	Hand	36%	Face	22%*	Leg	10%*	Ankle	9%*		

Table 2.5: Top four most frequent sites of injury reported in studies in Gaelic games

NR; Not reported. *Computed from data in the study

2. 2. 2. 4. Nature of Injury

The most common tissues damaged during injury in Gaelic games and the different classifications of the nature of injury between studies are displayed in Table 2.6. Muscle injuries accounted for 33-49.1% of injuries, with muscle strains (23-42.2%) and bruises and contusions (6-27.8%) commonplace (Murphy et al., 2012a, Murphy et al., 2012b, Brown et al., 2013, Cromwell et al., 2000, Newell et al., 2013, Wilson et al., 2007, Watson, 1996a). The high incidence of muscle injuries could be related to the high incidence of hamstring and groin injuries reported in Gaelic games. Both muscle strains (p<0.001) and bruises and contusions (p=0.01) occurred more often in matches than training, with muscle strains three times more likely to occur in a match; this could be due to the increased physicality and higher intensity in matches (Newell et al., 2013). Ligaments were also susceptible to injury and ligament sprains could be related to ankle or knee injuries that are also common in Gaelic games. Fractures were not as common as other less severe injuries (Murphy et al., 2012b, Wilson et al., 2007, Cromwell et al., 2000, Murphy et al., 2012a) and were also statistically significantly more likely to occur in a match than a training session (p<0.001) (Newell et al., 2013).

Nature of Injury	Murphy et al.	Wilson et al.	Newell et al.	Cromwell et al.	Brown et al.	Murphy et al.	Watson
	(2012b)	(2007)	(2013)	(2000)	(2013)	(2012a)	(1996a)
Classification	GF	GF	GF	GF	GF	Н	H
Muscle	42.6	NR	NR	33.0%	35.5%	49.1%	NR
Ligament	13.2	NR	NR	32.0%	16.1%	15.2%	NR
Tendon	9.2	NR	NR	16.0%	6.1%	6.9%	NR
Bone	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR	17.2%	NR
Cartilage/meniscus	NR	NR	NR	3.0%	3.5%	0.4%	NR
Muscle strain	NR	23.3%	42%	NR	NR	42.2%	24.4%
Ligament sprain	NR	17.8%	26%	NR	NR	NR	15.6%
Bruises/contusion	NR	27.8%	17%	6.0%	13.0%	6.9%	16.3%
Fractures	4.4%	10.0%	NR	5.0%	12.9%	7.4%	NR

 Table 2.6: Nature of injury reported in epidemiological studies in Gaelic games

NR; Not reported. GF; Gaelic football. H; Hurling

2. 2. 2. 5. Further tests and surgery

The presentation of athletes to emergency departments places a huge burden on staff and resources. It has been shown that recreational sports injuries account for approximately 12.3% of all emergency department injuries and 68% of these required operative management. In fact, 10% of all operations in the hospital studied were due to sports injuries (Delaney et al., 2009). There has been no definitive studies completed on the amount and type of further tests required in injured Gaelic footballers and hurlers. It is commonplace for medical professionals to refer injured players for further tests to confirm the diagnostic evaluation or degree of severity of the injury. In a study on adolescent sports injuries presenting to the emergency department in a number of sports including Gaelic football, plain X-rays were ordered in 91% of cases. CT scans (0.6%) and blood tests (0.5%) were also required however no MRI or ultrasound examinations were ordered (O'Rourke et al., 2007). However since this evaluated injuries presenting in an emergency department the lack of MRI referral is expected. Thus a comprehensive assessment on the amount and type of further tests completed due to Gaelic football and hurling injuries, and the amount and type of operative and surgical interventions completed, may provide essential information on the burden of GAA related sporting injuries in Irish hospitals.

2. 3. Risk Factors for injury in Gaelic games

A risk factor for injury is any entity that contributes to the occurrence of a sporting injury (Maffey and Emery, 2006). Various research designs are utilised to assess injury risk, but two main categories exit; descriptive (case reports, cross sectional studies and correlational studies) or analytical studies (case control (case series), intervention and cohort studies) (Brooks and Fuller, 2006, Chalmers, 2002, Bahr and Holme, 2003). However, a cohort study is considered the gold standard method of assessing injury risk, as it is a prospective method of confirming a cause/effect relationship (Goldberg et al., 2007, Brooks and Fuller, 2006, Bahr and Holme, 2003). Meeuwisse et al. (2007) proposed a dynamic recursive model of sports injury that demonstrates the effects intrinsic (i.e. age, gender, previous injury) and extrinsic (protective equipment, playing environment, weather) risk factors for injury have on increasing injury risk (Figure 2.2). This model highlights the many risk factors that integrate to cause an athlete to become injured (Meeuwisse et al., 2007). It is essential to identify modifiable risk factors for injury in sport for the development of injury prevention strategies. Possible modifiable risk factors for injury are balance (Plisky et al., 2006), flexibility (Bradley and Portas,

28

2007), core stability (Cowley and Swensen, 2008), low fitness levels (McIntyre, 2005), poor technique (Meeuwisse et al., 2007), biomechanical factors (Meeuwisse et al., 2007) etc. To date a comprehensive examination of causative factors in Gaelic games has not been completed. Only five studies have looked at possible risk factors for injury in Gaelic games and these studies are limited as they focused on a small number of possible risk factors for injury in a single particular injury (ankle, hamstring and hand injuries) (Watson, 1999, O'Sullivan et al., 2008, Lowther et al., 2012, Falvey et al., 2013). Only a single study assessed a larger number of risk factors for injury (flexibility, posture, clinical defects and previous injury) to all possible injuries however this study was not limited to Gaelic games and also analysed soccer players which may have affected the results (Watson, 2001). In addition, three of these studies were completed in adult males (Watson, 2001, Falvey et al., 2013, Watson, 1999) and two with collegiate participants (O'Sullivan et al., 2008, Lowther et al., 2012), with no studies in the adolescent population. Thus it is essential that a comprehensive analysis of a large number of possible risk factors for injury in Gaelic games is needed, particularly in the adolescent population.





2. 3. 1. Possible risk factors from the injury event in Gaelic games

2. 3. 1. 1. Position on pitch

Certain playing positions may predispose to an increased risk of injury in Gaelic games. No statistically significant difference was found between injury rate due to playing position in Gaelic footballers or hurlers (p>0.05) (Watson, 1996b, Newell et al., 2013, Brown et al., 2013). No significant difference was found between outfield players in adult Gaelic footballers, however goalkeepers (7.14 per 1000 hours) were found to have a higher injury rate than half forwards (6.06 per 1000 hours) and half backs (5.05 per 1000 hours) in Gaelic footballers (Wilson et al., 2007). In contrast, midfielders had the highest and goalkeepers had the lowest proportion of injuries in relation to other playing positions in a prospective study on Gaelic football (Murphy et al., 2012b). A study on the physiological profile of elite Gaelic footballers found that midfielders were taller, had significantly higher body mass, higher maximal oxygen consumption and higher vertical jumping ability than backs and forwards. This suggests that their aerobic capacity, strength and power is enhanced compared to other positions (McIntyre, 2005). These physiological enhancements could be related to the nature of the game as midfielders in Gaelic football would be relied on to jump and catch high balls numerous times during a match, cover larger portions of the field and be a lot more physical by "shouldering" other players (McIntyre, 2005). Thus this high level of intensity and physicality may lead to an increased risk of injury in this playing position.

2. 3. 1. 2. Relative age

The age group in which a player competes and trains is important to categorise, especially in younger participants. Players are divided into teams and competitions based on their chronological age in Gaelic games which theoretically allows fair competition and a fair chance of success (Helsen et al., 2005). Unfortunately, there are no restrictions placed on young players to prevent them from playing at higher age levels, for example, a talented young under-16 Gaelic footballer may be required to play minor, under 21 and even senior standard depending on the club and player. This can greatly affect the development of a player which could predispose to injury or overtraining (Helsen et al., 2005). Even the restriction of separating players from under 12 to under 14 may be too general and there may be a significant difference in body type between a child just turned 12 and one who is just under the age restriction for under 14. The risk of playing outside a player's relative age has yet to be assessed in Gaelic games.

2. 3. 1. 3. Level of Playing

There is inconclusive consensus on the effect level of playing has on the risk of sustaining an injury in field sports. In rugby union it has been found that professional level rugby has the highest injury rate of all levels of competitions and that the injury rate increases as the competition grade increases (Bathgate et al., 2002, Bird et al., 1998). Similarly, elite high school rugby players were at a higher risk of injury in comparison to less elite players (odds ratio=2.12) (Richmond et al., 2012). In Australian rules football, which is similar to Gaelic football, elite players were found to have an increased risk of hamstring injuries compared to non-elite (Verrall et al., 2001). This increased risk of injury could be attributed to the longer and more frequent training sessions and higher match intensities (Verrall et al., 2001, Takemura et al., 2007) and the higher level of skill, fitness and experience required in elite players (Takemura et al., 2007). In contrast, lower level soccer players had a higher rate of injury despite their lower exposure rates as undertook on average half the amount of training hours (Peterson et al., 2000). A similar match exposure time was reported between both levels of play which may explain the discrepancy as injuries predominantly occur during matches (Peterson et al., 2000). Lower level players would have lower skill levels, less experienced in the sport, may not have the fitness levels required and may have higher body mass levels which may predispose to injury (Takemura et al., 2007, Richmond et al., 2012).

No direct comparisons in the same study have been made between level of playing and injury risk in Gaelic games. Elite Gaelic footballers were found to have higher match injury rates of 64.0 (Newell et al., 2013) and 61.8 injuries per 1000 hours (Murphy et al., 2012b) in comparison to non-elite players 51.2 injuries per 1000 hours (Table 2.3) (Wilson et al., 2007). Similarly, elite hurlers were found to have a higher incidence of injury (102.5 injuries per 1000 hours) (Murphy et al., 2012a) than non-elite players (34.2 injuries per 1000 hours) (Table 2.3) (Watson, 1996a). Further research to directly compare elite versus non-elite Gaelic footballers and hurlers is necessary to confirm these trends.

2. 3. 1. 4. Time of Season

Injury rates have been shown to change over the course of a season in field sports (Takemura et al., 2007). Seasonal bias in field sports suggests an increased amount of injuries in the preseason/early season (Takemura et al., 2007). This could be due to more enthusiastic play because of greater motivation early on in the season, insufficient match fitness levels and also decreased motivation in reporting injuries later on in the season (Takemura et al., 2007). In fact, players would tend to be under conditioned and playing an increased number of games with higher intensity. Thus if the body isn't fit and able to handle the increased demands placed on it, it is more likely to become

injured in response to these demands. However in Gaelic games the highest incidence of injuries occurred during April and June (Cromwell et al., 2000, Wilson et al., 2007, Murphy et al., 2012a, Crowley and Condon, 1989). Elite Gaelic footballers were found to have increased incidence of injury in June (Cromwell et al., 2000) and April and June (Wilson et al., 2007). Elite hurlers and hurling and camogie injuries that presented in the emergency department found the highest percentage of injuries occurring in April (Murphy et al., 2012a, Crowley and Condon, 1989). This is significant as April (Murphy et al., 2012a, Crowley and Condon, 1989). This is significant as April corresponds to the beginning of the competitive season and June corresponds to the beginning of the championship (Wilson et al., 2007). Consequently during these months enhanced demands are placed on the body which can lead to soft tissue failure and injury (Cromwell et al., 2000). During May the amount of injuries reported reduced and researchers theorised that this was due to a decrease in under-age matches during this month (Crowley and Condon, 1989). However, data on this is not conclusive and it is necessary to further prospectively analyse time of season and its likelihood for an increased risk of injury in both adults and adolescent players to clarify this issue.

2. 3. 1. 5. Time of Injury

The risk of injury has been shown to increase as the session progresses in Gaelic games. The majority of injuries occurred in the second half (56.9-60.8%) (Wilson et al., 2007, Murphy et al., 2012b, Murphy et al., 2012a) with significantly more injuries occurred in the final quarter (p<0.05) (Newell et al., 2013). In fact, 29.3%-38% of injuries were found to occur in the final quarter (Wilson et al., 2007, Murphy et al., 2012a, Newell et al., 2013) however, in contrast, Murphy et al. (2012b) found that the majority of injuries occurred in the third quarter (35.9%), followed by the second (29.1%) and the final quarter (23.1%). Fatigue is considered the primary contribution to the increased injury risk as it has been shown to reduce motor coordination, neuromuscular control and affect muscle mechanics of a participant (Wilson et al., 2007, Hawkins et al., 2001, Bahr and Holme, 2003). This injury risk may be further enhanced, when a fatigued player increases their efforts in order to compete in the last few minutes of a close game (Wilson et al., 2007). Anecdotally it has been suggested that a large amount of coaches include speed work and sprints at the end of a training session; thus an already fatigued player is required to complete a number of high intensity activities which can predispose to injury (Newell et al., 2013). A rule change to divide the game into four quarters rather than the two halves at present may be beneficial, as it would introduce more breaks and possibly reduce fatigue (Wilson et al., 2007). Introducing rolling

substitutes (as seen in basketball) may also help reduce fatigue, as currently only a set number of substitutions may be made throughout a match in Gaelic games (Wilson et al., 2007). Coach education on appropriate methods of training and advice to introduce high intensity sprint sessions earlier in a training session may also reduce injury rates (Newell et al., 2013).

2. 3. 1. 6. Playing Surface

Gaelic games are played on two major different types of surfaces: natural grass and artificial turf. Grass is the traditional and most used surface, however as some astroturf pitches can be used in all weathers they are increasingly being utilised. Artificial turf has been shown to be harder than natural grass (Orchard, 2002) and a major review article found a 30-50% increased risk of lower limb injury on artificial turf (Skovron et al., 1990). In addition, it was also concluded that there is an increase in less serious injuries, a possible enhanced risk of severe knee and ankle injuries and found no difference in severe injuries on artificial turf when compared to grass (Nigg and Segesser, 1988). A higher incidence rate of 15.2 injuries per 10 games on field turf was found in high school athletes compared to 13.9 injuries per 10 games on natural grass, however this didn't correspond to a longer time loss from sport and was associated with a higher incidence of surface or epidermal injuries (Meyers and Barnhill, 2004). Wounds, burns and friction injuries were also found to be more common on artificial turf in elite soccer (Ekstrand et al., 2006). However no major differences were noted between the incidence, severity, nature or cause of training or match injuries received on artificial turf or grass by male or female university soccer teams. (Fuller et al., 2007a, Fuller et al., 2007b).

Ground condition and ground hardness has been suggested as possible predisposing factors to injury. Ground hardness is a combination of soil structure, soil compaction and grass type and each of these factors can be moderated by weather conditions and usage of the pitch (Takemura et al., 2007). Some studies have shown an increased risk of injury with ground hardness including a study on non-contact ACL injuries (Orchard, 2001). Hard ground produces faster running speeds, quicker movements and greater external force placed on the body if a player falls which has been suggested as the reasons why it causes an enhanced injury risk (Orchard, 2002, Takemura et al., 2007). In Gaelic football the condition of the pitch was reported as being a factor in sustaining an injury in 29% of all cases (Cromwell et al., 2000). Dry/hard pitch contributed to the injury in 43% of cases, wet/soft in 39% and uneven in 18% of cases (Cromwell et al.,

2000). In addition, poor state of the pitch was the most common cause of minor injury in school Gaelic football and accounted for 17.42% of injuries (Watson, 1996b). Thus the surface Gaelic games is played on could be a predisposing factor to injury and must be further assessed in Gaelic games.

2. 3. 1. 7. Weather conditions

Weather conditions have been suggested as a possible risk factor for injury however this has not been conclusively supported in literature (Orchard, 2002, Orchard and Powell, 2003, Gabbett et al., 2007). While weather itself may be statistically linked to reduced incidence of injury, it is not thought to directly affect the injury rate (Gabbett et al., 2007), as it is theorised that it is the weathers effect on ground conditions that directly influences injury rate (Gabbett et al., 2007, Orchard, 2002). Higher rainfall over the year was found to be significantly associated with lower injury rates, due to the softer ground conditions it produced (Gabbett et al., 2007). Orchard & Pollard (2003) found that cold weather was associated with a lower incidence of ACL injuries in both grass and artificial turf in American football. This was due to the fact that during warmer weather there was less rainfall and greater evaporation of water from the pitch surface which lead to harder ground surfaces and greater shoe-surface friction (Orchard and Powell, 2003). In addition, in hurling the majority of injuries occurred during dry conditions (66.7%) (Murphy et al., 2012a).

2. 3. 1. 8. Protective equipment

Protective equipment can be used to help prevent injury or re-injury in sport (Crowley et al., 1995). Recently the GAA implemented rule changes whereby there is a mandatory use of helmets in all levels of hurling and gum shields in Gaelic football. While these are positive steps taken by the GAA, they provide a relatively small amount of protection for the high physicality of these sports. In order for an injury prevention strategy to be effectively implemented and adopted by all in the Gaelic games community, the strategy must not alter the nature of the game or cause negative perceptions for players (Finch, 2006). Anecdotally it is suggested that players consider protective equipment to be quite restricting and some players believe it will reduce their performance due to this restriction in motion. With regard to helmets, 78% of players reported that comfort was paramount with 60.5% reporting the look of the helmet was vital (Hennessy et al., 2007). Significantly, only 40.6% reported the safety of the helmet as an important factor (Hennessy et al., 2007). The current usage of protective equipment among players in Gaelic games is essential, in order to understand current

uptake of protective equipment. In a study completed before the rule change in Gaelic football, Cromwell et al (2000) found that 49% of footballers did not wear any form of protective equipment with gum shields (29%) and ankle supports (22%) the most popular type of protective equipment.

2. 3. 1. 9. Foul Play

Foul play is extensive across all cultures, levels and types of sport (Fields et al., 2007, Fields et al., 2010) and has been found to predispose to injury to various degrees in adolescent and adult soccer (Peterson et al., 2000, Chomiak et al., 2000) and high school soccer, American football, basketball, softball, volleyball and baseball (Collins et al., 2008). Foul play has been related to 35% of injuries in school Gaelic footballers, 10% in adult club level Gaelic footballers and 41% in adult hurlers (Watson, 1996b, Wilson et al., 2007, Watson, 1996a). In fact, foul play and recklessness were found to be the highest contributors to injury in Irish adolescents in sport (Watson, 1984). The behaviour players exhibit when fouling is commonly dismissed as part of the game and some coaches even encourage such play, despite the fact that if behaviour similar to this was to occur outside of a sporting event it would be deemed as violence (Fields et al., 2010). Therefore the attitudes of players and coaches to foul play can be a strong contributing factor in its related link to injury. Further research on the relationship between foul play and injury in Gaelic football and hurling is essential in order to develop injury preventative strategies to reduce the risk of injury due to foul play in the Irish context.

2. 4. The musculoskeletal pre-participation screening

Predisposing factors to injury may be identified not only from the injury event itself, but also from a musculoskeletal pre-participation screening (also known as a preparticipation examination, pre-season examination or a screening examination) completed by a therapist prior to the season commencing. The musculoskeletal preparticipation screening is purported to assist with the identification of possible modifiable risk factors for injury, and so, aid the development of a suitable injury prevention strategy and injury prevention programme to reduce the likelihood of an athlete receiving an injury in the impending season (Maffey and Emery, 2006). This musculoskeletal pre-participation screening differs from a medical screening or a physician based pre-participation screening as it does not include a cardiac assessment, a review of medications being taken by an athlete or an assessment of underlying medical conditions that may predispose an athlete to injury or require medical treatment before participation in sport (e.g. asthma, diabetes, eyesight, hearing, mental status etc) (Maffey and Emery, 2006, Carek and Mainous, 2003). Whilst the musculoskeletal pre participation screening is commonly completed internationally, as teams are under legal and insurance obligations to do so in the USA and Canada, in Ireland this is not an essential requirement (Carek and Mainous, 2003). In fact, in the United Kingdom the musculoskeletal pre-participation screening mainly occurs in elite teams and even then, fewer than 50% of soccer clubs (premiership and championship) and rugby union clubs (premiership) completed the screening (Fuller et al., 2007d).

There are significant costs associated with diagnosing and treating injuries and this places a huge financial burden on individual athletes, sporting bodies and emergency and surgery departments. In addition, sporting injuries may provide additional pressures on employers and individual athletes due to time loss from work. However the introduction of a screening and the resulting injury prevention programme may reduce the injury rates in sports and so decrease the negative aspects associated with injury. The screening may positively affect performance by optimising athletes' musculoskeletal health and ensuring athletes are at their physiological and biomechanical peak (Maffey and Emery, 2006). By interacting with the athletes prior to the season commencing, it is also possible for the therapist to develop a professional relationship and rapport with the athletes and coaches. Additionally it gives an excellent opportunity for the therapist to educate the team on injury prevention and injury treatment strategies (Maffey and Emery, 2006). It is imperative that the Irish healthcare system, sporting bodies and team therapists in this country begin to introduce means to prevent injuries in the sporting population and the screening is one method to accomplish this.

At present, no standardised musculoskeletal pre-participation screening has been developed specifically for Gaelic games or indeed generically for use across all sports (Maffey and Emery, 2006). At present, therapists are advised to examine the injury rates, mechanisms of injury, common locations of injury, biomechanical and physiological requirements of the sport to identify possible risk factors for injury (Maffey and Emery, 2006). Using this information, therapists are then instructed to research evidence based practice to identify adequate and reliable tests to examine these possible predisposing factors to injury (Maffey and Emery, 2006). Normative data is an essential component of any screening as it is a standardised reference of results for each specific test in a comparable population (Corkery et al., 2007). To date, there has only

been a single published study on normative data in Gaelic footballers and hurlers (Fox et al., 2013), however, this was completed on adult players only and utilised the FMS protocol which has inherent serious limitations (Section 2.4.1.2). Thus, there is a clear need for research on normative data in adolescent and collegiate Gaelic footballers and hurlers. Additionally, there is a lack of normative data in screenings internationally in adolescent teenagers.

2. 4. 1. Components of the musculoskeletal pre-participation screening

The musculoskeletal pre-participation screening is composed of many different components depending on the sport, playing level of the team, time constraints, financial constraints, equipment available and gualifications and experience of the therapist completing the screening (Maffey and Emery, 2006). Garrick (2004) proposed that the screening should be accurate (high in sensitivity and specificity), practical in nature, suitable to apply to a large number of players, and the tests utilised must be safe to administer and acceptable to players. In addition, Miller & Callister (2009) suggested screening tests that are easily executed; measured, cost effective and utilise transportable equipment. Maffrey & Emery (2006) recommended that the screening should be completed within 45 minutes, a similar timeframe to an injury assessment by a therapist in a clinic. As time constraints are clearly evident with a screening, therapists may have to prioritize the most essential and sport specific components of the screening in order to provide a cost effective service and ensure compliance by players (Maffey and Emery, 2006). Various differing components of the screening has been suggested including: a neurological examination, range of motion, muscle strength, articular testing (joint glides), muscle recruitment and inhibition tests, ligamentous stability/laxity, posture, balance, core stability and functional assessments (assessing contralateral imbalances, muscle inhibition and compensatory strategies in squat, landing tests, lunge etc.) (Maffey and Emery, 2006, Chorba et al., 2010). There is a lack of consensus on aspects of the screening including: the included tests, the threshold for abnormality, the predictive value an abnormality has on the development of an injury and whether corrective exercises as an intervention actually prevents injuries occurring (Carek and Mainous, 2003) Furthermore, the reliability of a large number of commonly used clinical screening tests has not been established as of yet (Gabbe et al., 2004). Gabbe et al (2004) proposed that the tests chosen should be simple to execute, able to be implemented in various settings and utilise minimal and inexpensive equipment.

2. 4. 1. 1. Reliability and validity in a musculoskeletal pre-participation screening

Ideally any test utilised in a screening should have minimal measurement error (Atkinson and Nevill, 1998, Hopkins, 2000). Measurement error is the difference between the true and observed result (Hopkins, 2000). Poor reliability and validity contributes to increased measurement error (Hopkins, 2000) Reliability is the consistency of a test or measurement; is the observed value reproducible if the test is repeated or completed by a different tester (Cowley and Swensen, 2008, Hopkins, 2000). Validity is the ability of the test to actually measure what it is intended to measure; the agreement between the true and observed result (Kivlan and Martin, 2012, Hopkins, 2000). It is essential the reliability and validity of a test is established to accurately interpret the outcome of the test; if this is not completed, the test results may not only be dependent on the performance of the participant during the test, but also possibly due to bias and error (Cowley and Swensen, 2008, Cowley et al., 2009). High reliability and validity of all tests included in the screening is essential to accurately assess the susceptibility of injury of an athlete and to compare results between athletes in the same team and between teams, seasons and sports (Maffey and Emery, 2006). Unfortunately, Hopkins (2000) has noted that reliability and validity studies in the sports medicine context are rarely completed with a high methodological and statistical standard. In addition, Garrick (2004) highlighted the fact that studies have shown sensitivity of tests in the screening area that has only approached 50% and have commonly reported false positives and false negatives. It is recommended that all reliability and validity studies should utilise a sample group from a similar population to those who will complete the tests in any following studies in order to accurately generalise the results to the population to be tested (Kivlan and Martin, 2012).

A certain amount of error exists in any measurement and a measure should be deemed reliable if it has an acceptable level of measurement error (Hopkins, 2000). Error in measurement is usually attributed to two complications, systematic bias and random error (Hopkins, 2000). Systematic bias pertains to changes in a measure over time; three common sources of systematic bias are learning effect, training effect and motivation. Learning effect occurs when participants acquire the skills and movement required in the test in their initial testing session; thus in the following testing sessions their score may increase due to these acquired movement patterns and would not accurately reflect an increase in the measure being tested (Atkinson and Nevill, 1998). Training effect refers to tests that may be physically challenging; if inappropriate recovery time is

38

provided between tests, fatigue may affect the results and so affect reliability (Atkinson and Nevill, 1998, Hopkins, 2000). Motivation may also contribute to systematic bias with participant's motivation to complete the test to the best of their ability affected by mood, athletic success or failure and interest or understanding of the relevance of the test or in fact the musculoskeletal pre-participation screening itself (Tse et al., 2005, Atkinson and Nevill, 1998). Random error on the other hand is due to biological or mechanical variation e.g. calibration error with equipment, changes in how the equipment functions, error in the implementation of the testing protocol by the tester and natural biological variability in tissues dependant on time (Cowley and Swensen, 2008, Shultz et al., 2013, Atkinson and Nevill, 1998, Hopkins, 2000). It is crucial that all researchers minimise and control for systematic bias and random error prior to and during all testing sessions (Atkinson and Nevill, 1998, Hopkins, 2000, Eliasziw et al., 1994).

Reliability studies in current literature utilise a number of different statistical measures including: pearson's product correlation, paired t-test, analysis of variation (ANOVA), intraclass correlation coefficient (ICC), regression analysis, standard error of measurement (SEM), limits of agreement, coefficient of variation, kappa, weighted kappa, Krippendorff's alpha (Atkinson and Nevill, 1998, Hopkins, 2000, Eliasziw et al., 1994, Fleiss, 1971, Hayes and Krippendorff, 2007). Reliability can be further subdivided in three different ways. Firstly, Baumgarter (1989) divided reliability into absolute and relative reliability (Atkinson and Nevill, 1998). Absolute reliability refers to the degree of variation between repeated results in a group of participants and is expressed either in the units of measurement of the variable itself or else a dimensionless ratio of that variable e.g. SEM, coefficient of variation, limits of agreement (Atkinson and Nevill, 1998). Relative reliability on the other hand is the degree that a participant maintains the same position in the group during repeated testing e.g. ICC, pearson's correlation coefficient, ANOVA, regression etc (Atkinson and Nevill, 1998). Within sports medicine research the most commonly used and recommended measures to assess absolute and relative reliability are the ICC and SEM statistics (Hayen et al., 2007). The ICC assesses the variation between cases in relation to the total variation in all observations in a sample; i.e. the greater the variation between or within testers the smaller the ICC value (Frohm et al., 2012). If no reliability exists, the ICC value will equate to 0, if there is no variation within or between testers an ICC value of 1 will occur (Frohm et al., 2012). SEM on the other hand looks at the

repeated measurements and their relationship with the mean of the results. The SEM is beneficial as it is expresses in the units of the tested variable which allows researchers to understand the magnitude of measurement error within the test (Atkinson and Nevill, 1998). Secondly reliability may be subdivided into internal consistency and stability reliability which are differentiated by the timing of repeated testing (Atkinson and Nevill, 1998). When testing internal consistency, testing consists of a number of measures occurring during a single day (Atkinson and Nevill, 1998) Stability reliability on the other hand looks at the day to day variation in results and is the most commonly tested form of reliability (Atkinson and Nevill, 1998). Finally and most importantly in a clinical scenario, reliability may be assessed on its objectivity or ability of the tester/s to accurately capture the result of the test. When assessing reliability in this manner researchers evaluate the inter-tester (between tester) and intra-tester (within tester) reliability (Eliasziw et al., 1994). Inter-tester reliability measures the degree of similarity between the measurements taken by different testers (Hayen et al., 2007, Eliasziw et al., 1994). In contrast intra-tester reliability evaluates how consistent a tester is when repeatedly capturing a test's result (Eliasziw et al., 1994, Hayen et al., 2007).

2. 4. 1. 2. The Functional Movement Screen

Originally screenings were sport specific and aimed to identify specific factors that may predispose an athlete to injury. However, a popular screening system is The Functional Movement Screen (FMSTM) (Cook, 2010, Cook et al., 2006a, Schneiders et al., 2011). In fact, the only normative data on a screening published in Gaelic games utilises the FMS screen on male adult Gaelic footballers and hurlers. The FMS is based on the assumption that identifiable alterations in the biomechanics of fundamental movement patterns can predispose to injury and that a participants ability to complete these movement patterns is dependent on integration of their muscle strength, flexibility, range of motion, coordination, proprioception and balance (Schneiders et al., 2011). The FMS consists of seven tests (deep squat, hurdle step, in-line lunge, shoulder mobility, active straight leg raise, trunk stability push up and rotatory stability) that identify restrictions or changes in movement (Appendix Q). The aim of this screening is to challenge the mobility and stability of the body as a whole and the joint by joint interactions during fundamental functional movement patterns (Chorba et al., 2010, Schneiders et al., 2011, Cook et al., 2010). The FMS aims to capture the movement pattern quality with a grading system that can be used to demonstrate limitations of stability and mobility within the body (Cook et al., 2006a). The FMS tests necessitate a

controlled neuromuscular movement and those who perform poorly in these tests have adapted inefficient movement strategies which may reinforce their poor movement patterns which may cause repetitive microtrauma and lead to an increased likelihood of developing an injury (Chorba et al., 2010). Each of the tests is marked out of a maximum score of 3 and the highest score for the three trials was recorded in each test, with a composite score is then produced by adding the results of each of the seven tests with the maximum value of 21. The lowest score was used in any of the tests that assess bilaterally e.g. hurdle step, in-line lunge, active straight leg raise (Cook et al., 2010). While the FMS is commonly used both in a clinical and research setting there is a lack of comprehensive inter and intra- tester reliability studies (Shultz et al., 2013). In fact, six studies assessed the reliability of these tests and the majority of these have been published quite recently; five studies examined inter-tester reliability and four studies also looked at intra-tester reliability (Appendix R). Within these limited studies consensus in reliability was not reached with excellent inter-tester reliability of 0.97 found in trained testers (Schneiders et al., 2011), 0.91 in untrained testers (Jade and Street, 2013) and 0.87-0.89 in a mixture of trained and untrained testers (Smith et al., 2013), good reliability of 0.74 found in novice testers (Teyhen et al., 2012) however Shultz et al. (2013) reported poor inter-tester reliability of (K α =0.38) for the composite score for testers assessing the FMS. The intra-tester reliability ranged from excellent, with ICC's of 0.81-0.91 (Smith et al., 2013) and 0.75 (Gribble et al., 2013) to good with ICC's of 0.74 (Teyhen et al., 2012) and 0.60 (Shultz et al., 2013). Therefore consensus on the reliability of the FMS yet to be reached (Shultz et al., 2013).

A poor result in the FMS screening has been purported to lead to an increased risk of developing a lower extremity injury in the following season (Kiesel et al., 2007, Kiesel et al., 2011, Chorba et al., 2010, O'Connor et al., 2011). However there are few prospective large scale research studies completed on this topic in the sporting population. Kiesel et al. (2007) examined the relationship between FMS preseason composite scores and occurrence of injury in the following season found that those who scored 14 or below were at an eleven-fold higher risk of sustaining an injury. Kiesel et al. (2007) also noted that the probability of sustaining an injury increased from 15% to 51% if a participant received a score of 14 or less. Since this study additional research studies and clinicians worldwide have adopted this cut off point value of 14 proposed by Kiesel et al. (2007) in female collegiate athletes (Chorba et al., 2010), marine officer

candidates (O'Connor et al., 2011) and firefighters (Butler et al., 2013a). Chobra et al. (2010) found a strong correlation (r=0.952) between the composite FMS score and lower limb extremity injury when the shoulder mobility test was removed. Subjects with a composite score of less than or equal to 14 were found to be significantly four times more likely to sustain an injury, with 69% of subjects sustaining an injury in the following season (Chorba et al., 2010). Both O' Connor et al. (2011) in marine officer candidates and Butler et al. (2013) in firefighters found that a score of 14 or lower in the FMS had the ability to predict injury with O'Connor et al. (2011) identifying the tests had the sensitivity of 0.45 and the specificity of 0.71 in marine officer candidates (O'Connor et al., 2011) In addition to the three prospective studies an off season intervention programme was shown to increase the percentage of American football players who score greater than 14 in the FMS from 11% to 63% which perhaps indicates that an injury prevention programme can substantially reduce the risk of injury in players as the issues identified in the FMS are modifiable.

Researchers have identified a number of serious limitations with the FMS. The cut off value determined by Kiesel et al. (2007) has been, as mentioned previously, adopted by researchers and clinicians worldwide based on this single study, however, Kiesel et al. (2007) completed this research with a small sample size of 45 and with athletes of a single sport (American football). Thus the capability of generalising this cut off point to other sports is seriously questionable and researchers note that this cut off point should be used with caution (Schneiders et al., 2011). Three studies found that their mean composite normative results were under or very close to the 14 cut off point (Gribble et al., 2013, Smith et al., 2013, Schneiders et al., 2011). There is also a lack of research on sporting populations as studies were completed on convenience sample populations e.g. military, university students and fire fighters with a single study completed on Gaelic games in an adult population only. An additional serious limitation with the FMS is that no research has assessed the FMS scoring ability to predict injury with longitudinal follow up (Teyhen et al., 2012). Researchers have also identified concerns with the rotatory stability tests. Researchers and clinicians have noted that very few participants are able to complete this test with Teyhen et al. (2012) noting only 5 out of 68 participants were able to gain a score of 3 in this test. This indicates that this test is too difficult for participants to complete and so may reduce a large amount of participants' overall composite scores. In addition, it was found that firefighters could significantly improve their scores on the FMS from 14.1 to 16.7 when they were informed of the

specific grading criteria used in the FMS protocol (p<0.0001) (Frost et al., 2013). Thus, improvements on the FMS in the follow up sessions may be due to knowledge of the grading criteria rather than improvements in the tasks (Frost et al., 2013). Finally the scoring system itself is proposed as a further limitation to the FMS (Frost et al., 2012). The ordinal scoring system of 0-3 is quite general; researchers have shown that some tests have increased reliability than others and have suggested this could possibly be due to the definitions of each of the scales in the scoring system. For example, the hurdle step classification is more complicated than the more easily defined shoulder mobility test, and so the shoulder mobility test has demonstrated higher reliability than the hurdle step (Jade and Street, 2013). One of the biggest drawbacks to the FMS is that the 0-3 scoring system is quite crude in nature and does not differentiate between the different compensation strategies that the participant may have displayed during the test. Thus as a clinician from the scoring system alone, aside from knowledge of an asymmetry, it is challenging to identify the specific compensation strategy a participant has been utilising during functional movement. Take for example a participant who scored a 1 in the deep squat test, this score could be due to one or all of the following compensation strategies; the upper torso is not parallel with the tibia or toward vertical, the femur is not below horizontal, the knees are not aligned over the feet, the dowel is not aligned over the feet, and so this lack of distinguishing between the faults in the performance of the test limits the specificity of a subsequently developed injury prevention programme (Frost et al., 2012). To combat these major issues researchers have developed two new scales; the 100 point scale that weights specific compensations (research standard) and a modified 100 point scale where grades are allocated based on the number of compensations noted (Frost et al., 2012). Both scales rate both sides of the body separately and specific criteria in the tests are weighted in the scoring system (Frost et al., 2012). Appendix S displays the weightings and scoring system of the standard 21 point scale, 100 point research scale and 100 point modified scale. While these new scales are beginning to address the issues raised with the FMS further research is essential to standardise these scales and assess the reliability and relationship to injury in the sporting population. Finally the use of the FMS solely as the only tests included in a screening is questionable. Each different sport requires specific skills, movement patterns and has its own epidemiological injury rates and common injuries. Thus it would seem that the ideal scenario would involve a therapist looking at the injuries that commonly occur in the sporting population they are dealing with and then tailoring their screening to these injuries. This critique of the FMS questions the idea and

appropriateness of a universal screening whatsoever and perhaps raises the idea that these battery of tests may perhaps be a basic movement screening which can be supplemented with other sport specific and tests related to the common injuries that occur in epidemiological studies (Frohm et al., 2012).

2. 4. 1. 3. Anthropometric Data

Anthropometric data refers to the evaluation of body composition, usually completed by measuring height, weight and Body Mass Index (BMI) measurements. BMI has been used to classify adults and adolescents into four separate categories as per international guidelines (Janssen et al., 2002, Cole et al., 2000). Adult classifications and a sample categorisation of adolescents aged 15.5 years old are displayed in Table 2. (Janssen et al., 2002, Cole et al., 2002, Cole et al., 2000).

populations				
BMI Category	Adults Cut off Point	Adolescent Cut off Poin		
		Male	Female	
Underweight	<18.50	<17.26	<17.69	
Normal	18.50-24.90	17.27-23.59	17.70-24.16	
Overweight	25.00-29.90	23.60-28.59	24.17-29.28	
Obese	>30	>28.60	>29.29	

 Table 2.7: BMI Category cut off points in adult and adolescent 15.5 year old populations

Adapted from Janssen et al. (2002) and Cole et al. (2000)

BMI has been found to be a significant predictor of numerous injuries including running related injuries (Buist et al., 2010), knee injuries (Yard and Comstock, 2011), medial tibial stress syndrome (Plisky et al., 2007) and noncontact ankle sprains (McHugh et al., 2006, Fousekis et al., 2011). In the adolescent population those who were classified as obese had a 34% increased risk of injury than those in the normal BMI range in a large prospective cohort of physically active high school participants (Richmond et al., 2012). In contrast, Lowry et al. (2007) and Kemler et al. (2014) found that high BMI was not significantly related to an increased incidence of injury and suggested that this was due to this population's lack of exposure to physical activity. The overweight population did not take part in high levels of physical activity and so their injury risk was lower. However, these studies did not consider the effect of young adolescents or adults increasing their physical activity levels and its effect on injury and so further research is needed (Kemler et al., 2014).

BMI has been theorised to be a predictor of injury in a number of ways. Predominantly it is thought that high BMI places extra physical stress on body structures and these additional forces help contribute to injury as soft tissue and joints are required to absorb larger forces, especially in high impact, contact sports (Richmond et al., 2012) such as Gaelic games. If an individual has a high BMI over an extended period of time these excessive forces are constant and so could lead to overuse injuries and/or the development of degenerative injuries like osteoarthritis (Buist et al., 2010, Foss et al., 2012). Poor coordination has been identified as a predictor for injury and BMI has been shown to have an inverse relationship with coordination (Foss et al., 2012). Children with higher BMI were found to have lower motor coordination and a significant difference in motor coordination was shown between children in the normal BMI range and obese range children in motor coordination (p < 0.001) (Lopes et al., 2012). In addition, Ku et al. (2012) found that healthy young adults with higher BMI have reduced postural control which can predispose to injury. Higher BMI has been suggested to reduce balance due to uneven weight distribution which may affect the stable base, also the increased pressure and contact area on the feet due to the excess weight may reduce the somatosensory ability and so consequently reduce balance (Ku et al., 2012). Conversely it has been theorised that those with low BMI and in the underweight category also have an increased likelihood of injury due to possible lower bone density; this has been supported by Yard & Comstock (2011) where high school adolescents with low BMI sustained significantly more bone fractures than those in the normal BMI range (injury proportion ratio=1.45).

While BMI is a widely used tool to assess body composition, in the athletic population it is questionable (Richmond et al., 2012). BMI is a crude predictor of body fat with a prediction error of greater than 5.0% body fat (Heyward, 2006). This is especially the case if athletes have a greater than average lean body mass as it can cause misclassification of the athlete into the overweight or even obese category when in reality they have very little body fat (Richmond et al., 2012). Alternative methods of assessing body composition have been suggested, including skinfold measurements and Dual Energy X-Ray Absorptiometry (DEXA) scans however these methods are time consuming and require expensive equipment not readily available in the clinical setting (Richmond et al., 2012).

In general it is suggested that Gaelic footballers are alike in body composition to Australian Rules football players, smaller than rugby players and larger than soccer players (Reilly and Doran, 2001). Table 2.8 demonstrates the mean and standard deviation for height, weight and body mass index (BMI) in Gaelic footballers and hurlers of various ages and levels of playing. The majority of literature focuses on anthropometric data in elite adult Gaelic footballers, with merely a single study evaluating hurling and another on elite adolescent Gaelic footballers. Thus it is essential normative data on non-elite hurlers and adolescent Gaelic footballers and hurlers is measured. High reliability was reported in elite adolescent Gaelic footballers when measuring height using a portable stadiometer (ICC=0.99), weight using a calibrated scale (ICC=0.99) and the calculation of BMI (0.89) (Cullen et al., 2012).

Study	Age group	Level of	Sport	Height (cm) Mean+SD	Weight	$\frac{BMI}{(kg/m^2)}$
		piay		Witcan±5D	Mean±SD	Mean±SD
McIntyre	Adult	Elite	Gaelic	179±6.0	81±9.0	25.28*
(2005)		inter	football			
		county	Hurling	177±6.0	83±9.0	26.49*
Reilly	Adult	Elite	Gaelic	183±5.0	82.2±7.4	24.54*
(1990)		inter	football			
		county	Gaelic	182 ± 5.0	81.7±6.1	24.66*
			football			
Keane et al.	Adults	Elite	Gaelic	181 ± 4.0	82.6 ± 4.8	25.21*
(1997)		inter	football			
		county				
		Club	Gaelic	175±6.0	76.5 ± 6.7	24.68*
			football			
Reilly & Doran	Adult	Elite	Gaelic	179±7.0	79.9 ± 8.2	24.93*
(1999)		inter	football			
		county				
Watson	Adult	Elite	Gaelic	181.4 ± 8.2	81.9±6.9	24.7
(1995)		inter	football			
		county				
Florida-James	Under 21	Club	Gaelic	176 ± 5.8	70.7 ± 7.7	22.82*
& Reilly			football			
(1995)						
Kirgan &	Adults	Club	Gaelic	174 ± 5.0	73.3±9.3	24.21*
Reilly			football			
(1993)						
Cullen et al.	Adolescents	Elite	Gaelic	178.11±6.27	72.09 ± 8.68	22.69 ± 2.15
(2012)		inter	football			
		county				

 Table 2.8: Anthropometric data of Gaelic footballers and Hurlers

*computed by the primary researcher in this study

2.4.1.4. Dominance

Dominance is defined as a limb that displays increased dynamic control due to an imbalance in muscular strength and neural recruitment patterns (Jacobs et al., 2005). A dominant leg is most commonly defined as the preferred kicking leg (Witvrouw et al., 2003) but also the limb that can kick a football the furthest (Brown et al., 2009), the leg

used to regain balance when pushed from behind and also the leg you land on from in a one legged jump (Hoffman et al., 1998). Hand dominance on the other hand can be determined by observing which hand the participant uses to write with on the screening sheet (Schneiders et al., 2011). Dominance has been theorised as a possible predictor to injury and studies have shown that 43% and 59% of all injuries occurred on the dominant limb in elite Gaelic footballers and 56% of injuries occurred on the dominant hand in a study specifically dealing with hand injuries in hurlers (Cromwell et al., 2000, Newell et al., 2006, Kiely et al., 2003). Newell et al. (2006) found a significant difference between injury rates in the dominant and non-dominant limb in elite Gaelic footballers (p=0.001). In fact, it has been noted that a side-to-side strength difference of greater than 10% between limbs has been shown to enhance injury risk (Jacobs et al., 2005). Joints and tissues are placed under more intensive and frequent usage in the dominant limb; this higher activity level places increased stress on joints and tissues and even daily functional movements may lead to tissue adaptation which may increase the risk of injury (Jacobs et al., 2005). However this increased dependence on one limb compared to another has been suggested to be detrimental to both limbs (Jacobs et al., 2005). Dominant behaviour may cause weakness in tissues and structures in the nondominant limb, this lessens the ability of that limb to absorb large forces that occur in the sporting environment and may predispose the athlete to injury (Jacobs et al., 2005). Dominance has also been suggested to affect range of motion, especially in the upper limb (Conte et al., 2009). Increased external rotation and reduced internal rotation of the dominant shoulder has been demonstrated in men and women of all ages and this alteration in range of motion has been suggested as a possible cause of shoulder injury (Conte et al., 2009, Wang and Cochrane, 2001).

Thus establishing normative dominance data and examining dominance as a possible risk factor for injury is needed in Gaelic games.

2. 4. 1. 5. Hamstring Flexibility

Hamstrings are the most common site of injury in both Gaelic football and hurling (Murphy et al., 2012a, Murphy et al., 2012b). Almost a quarter of all injuries sustained in a four year study in Gaelic football were to the hamstring and 16.5% of all injuries in elite hurlers (Murphy et al., 2012b, Murphy et al., 2012a). Flexibility is defined as the ability to move joints fluidly through complete ranges of motion without injury and is measured by the range of motion (ROM) available at a joint (Heyward, 2006, Bradley and Portas, 2007). Poor muscle flexibility has been the most commonly hypothesised
link to an increased likelihood of sustaining a lower extremity injury however there is a lack of prospective research on this area (Bradley and Portas, 2007, Lowther et al., 2012, Witvrouw et al., 2003). No related studies have been completed in hurling and only a single retrospective study has been completed to assess this issue in Gaelic footballers; Lowther et al., (2012) found that Gaelic footballers who had previously sustained a hamstring muscle strain had a significantly lower hamstring flexibility in comparison to an uninjured group however this study did not control rehabilitation and flexibility of the injured group which may have confounded the results (p<0.05). Consensus in the literature with regard to the effects of poor muscle flexibility on injury rate in other related sports is not yet reached. In two prospective studies on soccer players comparing preseason hamstring flexibility (Witvrouw et al., 2003) and preseason knee flexor range of motion (Bradley and Portas, 2007) with the likelihood of sustaining a hamstring muscle strain during the consecutive season found that those who became injured (Witrouw et al: 88.1° & Bradley and Portas: 9.9±3.0°), had a significantly lower hamstring flexibility (or knee flexor range of motion) than the uninjured players (Witrouw et al: 96.1°,p=0.002 & Bradley and Portas: 12.9±4.2°, p=0.03). Conversely in two prospective studies on Australian rules footballers, both Orchard et al. (1997) and Gabbe et al. (2004) found that poor hamstring flexibility did not correlate to an increased likelihood of sustaining a hamstring muscle injury. Researchers have hypothesised that a lack of appropriate and standardized methodology can be attributed to the ambiguity in the research on the effect of flexibility on sustaining an injury (Lowther et al., 2012, Weldon and Hill, 2003). In particular the tests utilised and the functional relevance of the tests may have affected the outcome of these prospective studies.

There are numerous different proposed flexibility tests with varying inter and intra reliability, including: active knee extension (AKE), passive knee extension (PKE), sit and reach test and straight leg raise. Table 2.9 displays the variations and reliability of the tests. The majority of literature assessed concurrent validity which is considered inferior to comparing each test to a criterion gold standard test (Davis et al., 2008). While the active knee extension (AKE) and passive knee extension (PKE) tests have been found to be both accurate and reliable, the sit and reach test and straight leg raise have disputed accuracy and reliability due to the possibility that pelvic rotation and foot position may affect the results (Lowther et al., 2012, Gabbe et al., 2004, Orchard et al., 1997). Tight hip flexor muscles may reduce posterior rotation of the pelvis and so lower

the hamstring flexibility a participant may achieve (Gajdosik et al., 1993). Tight hip flexors on the limb not being tested may also interfere with the hamstring flexibility results and it has been suggested that the contralateral limb should be placed in slight flexion (Gajdosik et al., 1993). A foot placed in dorsiflexion during the straight leg raise elongates the sciatic nerve and so may cause reduced hamstring flexibility if a participant has neurological issues (Gajdosik and Lusin, 1983). Furthermore the straight leg raise test is a neurological test itself and so could be more of use in this capacity rather than as test to measure hamstring flexibility (Norris and Matthews, 2005). Differences between participants in leg, trunk and arm length may also compound results in the sit and reach test (Shimon et al., 2010). In fact, Orchard et al. (1997) attributed the lack of a significant correlation between poor flexibility and increased likelihood of sustaining a hamstring injury in his prospective study on Australian rules footballers to the nonspecific nature of the sit and reach test they utilised.

Gajdosik & Lusin (1983) proposed the AKE test to circumvent the complications that arise from completing the straight leg raise and sit and reach tests. The AKE test was proposed by Davis et al. (2008) as the criterion gold standard hamstring flexibility test based on the literature available presently. The AKE test was found to be accurate and reliable in various collegiate and sporting populations (Gabbe et al., 2004, Norris and Matthews, 2005, Sullivan et al., 1992, Gajdosik and Lusin, 1983, Gajdosik et al., 1993) and also in school aged children (Rakos et al., 2001). The AKE test is a quick assessment which has been found to take approximately 20 seconds to complete per test per leg (Shimon et al., 2010). The AKE test is a measure of hamstring muscle length in a position of hip flexion which is similar to running, kicking and striding activities (Gabbe et al., 2004). This is critical as it has been demonstrated that hamstring injuries commonly occur while the player is accelerating (Verrall et al., 2005). Therefore this test is highly functional and applicable to Gaelic football as the skill specific movements in Gaelic football are very similar to Australian Rules football. The AKE requires the participants to actively move into their full range of motion and so is suggested to be more sports specific than tests that require passive motion (the PKE or straight leg raise) as it tests the functional range of motion available to the athlete when completing sport specific activities. It is also deemed a safer test as the participants themselves control the full range of motion and the end point of the test (Norris and Matthews, 2005). In addition, if a tester passively assesses muscle length and moves the joint into its full range of motion, the force applied between tests (intra-tester) and

between testers (inter-tester) may vary greatly. Therefore variations in the results may not be due to a difference in hamstring flexibility but variances in the force applied during the passive test (Gajdosik and Lusin, 1983). In fact a significant difference in mean hamstring flexibility was found between the AKE and PKE tests on the same subjects (p<0.001) and may be due to these factors (Gajdosik et al., 1993). The AKE also consists of movement at the knee only as the hip is stationary throughout the testing procedure. This is beneficial as in the straight leg raise and sit and reach test movement occurs at the hip and knee (straight leg raise) and at the hip and lower back (sit and reach) which is more difficult to control (Norris and Matthews, 2005).

Starting	Directions	Measureme	nt Variations	Equipment	Placement	Relia	bility
Position and Test						Inter-tester	Intra-tester
				AKE			
-Supine -Hip and knee at 90°	-Straighten knee until point of	-Angle between the vertical and	Hamid et al. (2013)	Goniometer	Aligned from lateral joint line to apex of lateral	ICC=0.81, 0.87 SEM=3.8°, 3.5°	ICC=0.78-0.92 SEM=2.3°-3.9°
flexion -Participant	severe stretch	tibia			malleolus and greater trochanter		
actively extends knee	-Or first point of discomfort		Gabbe et al. (2004)	Inclinometer	Anterior tibial border below the tibial tuberosity	ICC=0.93 SEM=4°	ICC=0.94-0.96 SEM=3°
			Sullivan et al. (1992)			ICC=0.93 SEM=4.81°	ICC=0.99 SEM=1.75°
			Gajdosik & Lusin (1983)	Goniometer	Along longitudinal axis of leg (line from head of fibula to lateral malleolus)	NT	r=0.99
			Gajdosik et al. (1993)	Goniometer	Along longitudinal axis of leg (line from head of fibula to lateral malleolus)	NT	ICC=0.86
			Norris & Mathews (2005)	Goniometer	Axis at lateral joint line Line drawn from axis point to centre of greater	ICC=0.76	NT

Table 2.9: Hamstring Flexibility Tests

				1
		trochanter of		
		femur and second		
		line from axis to		
		lateral malleolus		
Rakos et al.	Goniometer		ICC=0.79	NT
(2001)				
Webright et al.	Video	Adhesive tape	ICC=0.98	ICC=0.98
(1997)		placed 5cm	SEM=1.67°	SEM=1.68°-1.70°
		proximal to		
		greater trochanter,		
		5cm proximal to		
		lateral femoral		
		epicondyle, 5cm		
		distal to fibular		
		head and 5cm		
		proximal to		
		inferior lip of		
		lateral malleolus		
Worrell & Perrin	Fluid filled	Velcro strap	ICC=0.93	ICC=0.96
(1992)	Goniometer	placed 1 inch	SEM=4.81°	SEM=1.82°
		inferior to head of		
		fibula with		
		goniometer		
		attached to Velcro		
		strap		
Shimon et al.	Lift and raise	Lift and raise	NT	ICC=0.944
(2010)	instrument with	instrument fixed		
	set angles	on wall		
	displayed on a			
	board			

				РКЕ			
-Supine	-Straighten	-Angle between	Gajdosik et al.	Goniometer	Along	NT	ICC=0.90
-Hip and	knee until	the vertical and	(1993)		longitudinal axis		
knee at 90°	resistance to	tibia			of leg (line from		
flexion	further				head of fibula to		
-Tester	motion felt				lateral malleolus)		
passively	by examiner		Davies et al.	Inclinometer	Distal anterior	NT	ICC=0.94
extends knee	-Or		(2008)		tibia		
	participant		Bandy & Irion	Goniometer	Axis on lateral	NT	ICC=0.98
	stated they		(1994)		aspect of knee		
	were unable				Greater trochanter		
	to allow				of femur, lateral		
	their knee to				epicondyle of		
	extend				femur and lateral		
	further				malleolus marked		
					to align the		
					goniometer		
	-		Stra	ight leg raise			
-Supine	-Lift leg	-Angle between	Gabbe et al.	Inclinometer	Anterior tibial	ICC=0.93	ICC=0.91
-Leg straight	until subject	leg and	(2004)		border 15cm	SEM=4°	SEM=4°
and relaxed	reports	horizontal using			below mid-point		
on plinth	severe	inclinometer			of tibial tuberosity		
-Tester	stretch	placed on	Gajdosik et al	Goniometer	Along	NT	ICC=0.83
passively lifts	-Or first	anterior tibial	(1993)		longitudinal axis		
the subjects	point of	border below the			of leg (line from		
leg off the	discomfort	tibial tuberosity			head of fibula to		
plinth with					lateral malleolus)		
the knee			Davis et al.	Inclinometer	Placed on distal	NT	ICC=0.92
extended			(2008)		thigh		

			Sit aı	nd Reach tests			
-Subject sits	-Reach	-Distance from	Davis et al.	Sit and reach	Distance from	NT	ICC=0.94
on floor with	forward over	plantar surface	(2008)	measuring box	plantar surface of		
both knees	the	of feet (0) to tip			feet to tip of		
extended and	measuring	of middle finger			middle finger		
feet flat	box until	to nearest 0.5cm	Gabbe et al.	Sit and reach	Distance from	ICC=0.97	ICC=0.98-0.99
against	severe		(2004)	measuring box	plantar surface of	SEM=2°	SEM=1°
measuring	stretch				feet to tip of		
box	-Or first				middle finger		
-Participant	point of						
reach	discomfort						
forward over	and hold for						
measuring	2 seconds						
device							

The starting position, test, directions and measurement are the usual directions reported in the literature. Variations are discussed within the main body of the text. In reliability ICC's of >0.75 is excellent, 0.40-) 0.75 is fair to good and 0-0.40 is poor (Landis & Koch, 1997)

Vast differences exist in the methodology utilised in the AKE test, principally in the attempt to keep the hip placed at 90° throughout the test as the thigh naturally moves into slight extension as the participant extends the knee (Gajdosik and Lusin, 1983). The most common method utilised to stabilise the thigh in this position is to place a metal or plastic cross bar on the anterior surface of the thigh (Lowther et al., 2012, Gajdosik and Lusin, 1983, Gajdosik et al., 1993, Worrell and Perrin, 1992) and straps and belts can be placed at the level of the hip and mid-thigh to minimise any compensatory lumbar or hip movements during the test (O'Connor et al., 2011, Gajdosik and Lusin, 1983). However, the methodology used in these studies are often not practical, as the apparatus used are complex, takes time to set up, is not available in most clinical settings, is difficult to transport, may require therapists to build the equipment themselves and may require two testers to conduct the test in some methodologies (Hamid et al., 2013). Normative data is severely lacking in present literature with a single study assessing AKE in collegiate participants aged 18-22 (Corkery et al., 2007). Corkery et al., (2007) reported a higher average in males $(right=35.0\pm11.3^{\circ}, left=37.1\pm9.1^{\circ})$ than females $(right=25.5\pm12.4^{\circ}, left=25.9\pm13.7^{\circ})$. Shimon et al. (2010) reported that knee extension measured within 20° of full extension (90°) is considered to be within normal limits of hamstring flexibility. Asymmetric differences between legs may also indicate an increased likelihood of injury (Corkery et al., 2007).

While the active knee extension test has been proposed as the gold standard test to assess hamstring flexibility, many variations of this test are employed, and many utilise complex apparatuses that are time consuming to set up, difficult to transport and not available in most clinical settings. Thus the development of a methodology that utilises minimal, inexpensive and readily available equipment is justified to facilitate the use of this test in the screening setting. The reliability and normative data for this methodology subsequently needs to be determined.

2. 4. 1. 6. Shoulder Mobility

While the majority of injuries occur in the lower limb in Gaelic games, upper limb injuries are still present with 17-23% occurring in Gaelic football and 15.9% in hurling (Wilson et al., 2007, Cromwell et al., 2000, Newell et al., 2013, Murphy et al., 2012a). The shoulder predominated (12% of 17%) the upper limb injuries which may be due to the nature of Gaelic football and hurling. The shoulder is involved in high catching,

hand passing, striking, blocking and a shoulder led charge called "shouldering" which is allowable in Gaelic games, all of which can leave the shoulder susceptible to injury (Cromwell et al., 2000). Several risk factors for injury have been highlighted, including shoulder mobility impairment and joint hyper-laxity (Wang and Cochrane, 2001) Internal rotation impairment and external rotation hyper-movement of the shoulder have been commonly measured to identify possible risk factors for injury. Internal rotation of $\geq 20^{\circ}$ less than the non-dominant shoulder or a total range of motion (internal and external rotation added together) difference between both sides greater than 5° has been proposed as a possible method of identifying athletes susceptible to a shoulder injury (Wilk et al., 2011). Research has demonstrated a reduction in internal rotation of the dominant or playing arm in various sports including baseball, swimming, volleyball and tennis (Wang and Cochrane, 2001, Torres and Gomes, 2009). In addition, it has shown a negative correlation between years of playing a sport that utilises the upper limb and internal rotation on the dominant limb (Wang and Cochrane, 2001). Torres & Gomes (2009) assessed asymmetry of range of motion and found a statistical significant difference between sides in tennis players (23.9°), swimmers (12°) and a physically active population who did not play an upper body sport (4.9°) . While the control group reached statistical significance between sides this was noted as not clinically significant and was possibly due to dominance alone (Torres and Gomes, 2009). A prospective study over 3 seasons found that baseball players with an internal rotation deficit of greater than 20° compared to the non-dominant arm were twice as likely to become injured, however this did not reach statistical significance (Wilk et al., 2011). In addition, pitchers with a total rotational deficit of greater than 5° had a higher injury rate (Wilk et al., 2011). Therefore asymmetry in motion between sides may have an impact on acquiring an injury in the shoulder. A reduction in internal range of motion may be due to chronic eccentric stress placed on the posterior capsule of the shoulder, this can consequently cause thickening of this capsule which in turn may alter the range of motion of the shoulder. In addition the eccentric loading may also cause tightness of the posterior rotator cuff muscles which may further restrict internal range of motion. Increased external range of motion may be due to stretching of the anterior capsule due to throwing activities (Thomas et al., 2010). Literature has focused on sports that primarily use the upper body (e.g. tennis, baseball, swimming, volleyball).

In a study comparing high school and collegiate baseball players it was found that high school players had significantly less internal rotation deficit, greater external rotation gain and less total motion deficit than collegiate players (Thomas et al., 2010). Therefore, teenagers possibly have more internal rotation available, as their training age is less than collegiate players and so may not have developed the consequential posterior capsule and muscle thickening and tightness that can reduce range of motion. A possible explanation for collegiate players having less external rotation may be due to a greater tightness of the pectoralis major muscle which would restrict external rotation (Thomas et al., 2010).

A variety of methods are available to assess range of motion including visual estimation, still photography and video analysis however a goniometer and inclinometer are the most extensively used (van de Pol et al., 2010, Hayes et al., 2001). Both inclinometers and goniometers have been proposed as non-invasive, inexpensive and simple methods to objectively assess range of motion (Torres and Gomes, 2009). The reliability of the tests used and equipment utilised is displayed in Table 2.10. Fair to good inter-reliability and intra-reliability was found for external rotation using visual estimation, still photography and goniometry (Hayes et al., 2001). Low inter-tester reliability has been reported for measuring internal rotation using a goniometer (Riddle et al., 1987) however a strong correlation (r=0.854) was reported between goniometers and an electromagnetic tracking device when assessing rotation of the shoulder (Torres and Gomes, 2009). Inclinometers have been suggested to be superior to goniometers as they allows a single examiner to complete the shoulder rotation range of motion test which would make it easily adapted in a clinical or testing setting (Awan et al., 2002). Error can be introduced to the testing procedure in a variety of ways including: inconsistent readings of markings and placement of the instruments, variable forces being placed on the participant during the passive rotational movements by the testers, participants relaxing their shoulder to different degrees in different trials, and error between different types of instruments (MacDermid et al., 1999).

Normative data for various sports can vary widely, which is more than likely due to differences between sports, gender, populations' studied and also from a lack of standardised methodology between studies (MacDermid et al., 1999). Table 2.11 displays normative data for shoulder range of motion in various different sports. Thus the establishment of normative data for both adolescent and collegiate Gaelic footballers and hurlers is essential. In addition, examining limited or excessive shoulder range of motion as a possible predisposing factor to injury in Gaelic games is needed.

Starting	Directions	Measurement	Study	Equipment	Placement	ROM	Reli	ability
position							Inter-tester	Intra-tester
-Supine with	-Passively move	-Range of	Wilks et al.	Bubble	Olecranon	Internal	NT	ICC=0.81
scapula	into external/	motion (°)	(2011)	goniometer and				
stabilised	internal range until			standard		External	NT	ICC=0.87
against plinth	an end point is felt			goniometer				
-Shoulder in 90°	-Or participant		Thomas et	Digital	Dorsal	Internal	NT	ICC=0.989
of abduction, in	complains of		al.	inclinometer	surface of			SEM=1.03°
the scapular	severe stretch/		(2010)		forearm	External	NT	ICC=0.943
plane, elbow	discomfort							SEM=2.55°
flexed to 90°	–Or compensatory		Ellenbecker	Goniometer		Internal	NT	ICC=0.34
	movement		et al.					r=0.89
	(including scapular		(1996)			External	NT	ICC=0.39
	motion) is							r=0.94
	visualised		Conte et al.	Goniometer	Not stated	Internal	NT	ICC=0.92-0.96
			(2009)			External	NT	ICC=0.92-0.97
			Riddle et al. (1087)	Goniometer	Not stated	Internal	ICC=0.43-0.55	ICC=0.93-0.94
			(1907)	large size)		External	ICC=0.88-0.90	ICC=0.98-0.99
			Awan et al.	Digital	Not stated	Internal	ICC=0.62,0.66	ICC=0.64,0.71
			(2002)	inclinometer		External	ICC=0.41,0.51	ICC=0.58,0.67
			Dwelly et	Inclinometer	Forearm	Internal	ICC=0.72-0.79	NT
			al.				SEM=2.57-2.75°	
			(2009)			External	ICC=0.94-0.96	NT
							SEM=1.66-2.94	
			de Winter et	Digital	Not stated	External	ICC=0.90	NT
			al.	inclinometer				
			(2004)					

 Table 2.10: Shoulder mobility tests (passive internal and external range of motion)

	Macdermid	Goniometer	Olecranon	External	ICC=0.85-0.86	ICC=0.89-0.94
	et al.		process.		SEM=7.5-8.0°	SEM=4.9-7.0°
	(1999)		Shoulder			
			placed in 20-			
			30° of			
			flexion			
	Hayes et al.	Goniometer	Olecranon	External	ICC=0.64	ICC=0.65
	(2001)		process of		SEM=14°	SEM=14°
			ulna			
		Visual		External	ICC=0.57	ICC=0.67
		Estimation			SEM=14°	SEM=11°
		Still	Perspective	External	ICC=0.62	ICC=0.60
		Photography	aligned with		SEM=15°	SEM=13°
			the axis of			
			joint motion			
	Terwee et	Visual	Sitting rather	External	ICC=0.73	NT
	al.	Estimation	than supine			
	(2005)		-			
	Nomden et	Visual	Sitting rather	External	ICC=0.70	NT
	al.	Estimation	than supine			
	(2009)					

In reliability ICC's of >0.75 is excellent, 0.40-0.75 is fair to good and 0-0.40 is poor (Landis & Koch, 1997). NT: Not tested

Sport	Age	Study	External		Internal		Total rotational movement	
			Dom	Non-dom	Dom	Non- dom	Dom	Non-dom
Baseball	Α	Wilks et al.	136.1±11.2	128.6±11.0	47.5±10.6	59.1±11.0	183.7±14.5	187.7±14.5
		(2011)						
Baseball	Α	Ellenbecker et al.	103.2±9.1	94.5±8.1	42.4±15.8	52.4±16.4	145.7±18.0	146.9±17.5
(pitchers only)		(2002)						
Tennis	Α	Torres & Gomes (2009)	104.7±9.0	100.7±6.9	42.9±7.7	66.8±10.1	147.6±6.6	167.5±8.3
	J	Ellenbecker et al. (2002)	103.7±10.9	101.8 ± 10.8	45.4±13.6	56.3±11.5	149.1 ± 18.4	158.2 ± 15.9
Swimming	А	Torres & Gomes (2009)	103.4±6.6	100.8±7.0	52.6±10.1	64.6±8.2	156.0±11.2	165.4±9.8
Baseball & softball sports	С	Dwelly et al.	96.2±12.7	92.0±10.0	45.5±11.1	52.7±11.8	141.7 ± 15.0	144.7 ± 14.4
		(2009)						
Physically active	A	Torres & Gomes (2009)	99.0±5.6	96.5±5.1	70.5±7.8	75.4±6.5	169.5±2.8	171.9±1.9
(not upper body sport)								

 Table 2.11: Normative data for external, internal and total rotation movement of the shoulder in different sports

A=adult, J=junior, C=collegiate, Dom; Dominant. Non-dom; Non-dominant

2. 4. 1. 7. Foot function

Poor foot function which predominantly presents as excessive pronation has been identified as a predisposing risk factor to a number of injuries including metatarsalgia, plantar fasciitis, stress fractures, medial knee pain, ACL tears, patellofemoral pain syndrome and running related injuries (Bonci, 1999, Picciano et al., 1993, Buist et al., 2010, Barton et al., 2010). Appropriate foot function and pronation allows forces to be absorbed and so reduces the forces that transfer upward through the ankle, shin, knee and hip that are produced during walking, running and sporting activities (Bonci, 1999). While pronation is an essential component to adequate gait, excessive or prolonged pronation during heel rise and lift-off of the foot causes the medial longitudinal arch to fall which alters foot structure and also allows abnormal forces be transmitted upwards through the kinetic chain which can predispose to injury (Bonci, 1999, Picciano et al., 1993). Excessive or prolonged pronation can also cause excessive internal tibial and femoral rotation which places the knee into a knee valgus position which places tension on the ACL and causes increased pressure on the lateral aspect of the patellofemoral joint due to the increased quadriceps angle (Bonci, 1999, Picciano et al., 1993, Barton et al., 2010).

There are numerous methods to assess pronation including: original navicular drop test, modified navicular drop test, dorsal arch height, foot posture index, cinematography during dynamic motion (2D motion analysis system), 3D electromagnetic motion analysis system and dynamic analysis using force plates (Brody, 1982, Buist et al., 2010, McPoil et al., 2008, Barton et al., 2010). While dynamic walking and running analysis utilising force plates and cinematography is proposed as the gold standard method, as it places high extrinsic loading onto the foot during movements that occur in the sporting setting; this equipment is expensive, not readily available and the tests can be somewhat time consuming (Bennett et al., 2001, Dicharry et al., 2009). Dorsal arch height is suggested as an alternative to the navicular drop test as it does not require palpation of the navicular tuberoisity which has been highlighted as a possible source of error in the test; however it also requires the use of expensive equipment or novel equipment that is not readily available in the clinical market (Barton et al., 2010, McPoil et al., 2008). The foot posture index is six item foot posture assessment tool that requires inexpensive equipment however it is time consuming (Barton et al., 2010). Therefore the navicular drop test is commonly utilised as it is a quick, minimally

invasive, reliable tool that requires simple readily available equipment (Barton et al., 2010, Bennett et al., 2001, Plisky et al., 2007, McPoil et al., 2009).

The navicular drop measures the amount of pronation that occurs at the subtalar joint and has been proposed as a clinical method to identify athletes who are predisposed to injury (Bennett et al., 2001, Plisky et al., 2007). Five main studies have analysed the predictive effect of the navicular drop on identifying athletes predisposed to injury. Firstly, a poor result in the navicular drop test was found to be the only significant predictor for sustaining a running related injury in female novice runners during a 8-13 week running study (hazards ratio=0.87; 95% CI=0.77-0.98) (Buist et al., 2010). With regard to patellofemoral pain syndrome, a significant difference in navicular drop results existed between the injured and non-injured groups (p=0.003, effect size=1.02) (Barton et al., 2010). Bennett et al. (2001) and Moen et al. (2012) found that a poor navicular drop result significantly predicted athletes that may sustain medial tibial stress syndrome in high school runners (p=0.003) and army recruits (p=0.03), however this was not supported by Plisky et al. (2007). In addition, the navicular drop test accurately predicted those who developed medial tibial stress syndrome in 68% of cases in high school runners (Bennett et al., 2001).

The original navicular drop test compares the reduction in navicular height between a participant in subtalar joint neutral foot position while standing when partially placing their weight on the foot, to a relaxed stance with equal weighting on both feet (Brody, 1982, Picciano et al., 1993, Bennett et al., 2001). The modified navicular drop test on the other hand compares the difference in navicular height an un-weighted sitting position to a weightbearing standing relaxed position (Bonci, 1999, Moen et al., 2012, Buist et al., 2010). Subtalar joint neutral is defined as the position of the foot where there is maximum congruency between the talus and calcanuous bones of the foot and so is identified as the optimal foot position (Bonci, 1999). The reliability of the original and modified navicular drop test has been reported in numerous studies and range from poor to excellent (Table 2.12). The two primary sources of error in this test is purported to be difficulty in placing the foot in a subtalar neutral position and marking the most prominent aspect of the navicular tuberosity (Picciano et al., 1993, McPoil et al., 2008, McPoil et al., 2009). Failure to normalise the results with regard to foot size of participants is also significant, as this test is suggested to be only meaningful in context with the size of the foot (Bennett et al., 2001, Barton et al., 2010).

Various cut off points to classify excessive pronation has been reported. Brody (1982) who proposed the original navicular drop test suggested a drop of greater than 15mm however cut off points of 5mm (Moen et al., 2012), 10mm (Plisky et al., 2007, Buist et al., 2010, McPoil et al., 2008, Bennett et al., 2001) and 13mm (Beckett et al., 1992) have also been proposed. Criticism of the original cut off point of 15mm is warranted as the author provided no data to support the claim that a difference of greater than 15mm could predispose to injury (Picciano et al., 1993). The most commonly used cut off point is 10mm (Plisky et al., 2007, Buist et al., 2010, McPoil et al., 2008). Side to side differences between feet has also been identified as a possible method of identifying those who are predisposed to injury, with differences of 3mm the most commonly used cut off point reported (Plisky et al., 2007).

There is lack of comprehensive normative data for the navicular drop test which has been suggested as a possible negative to the usage of this test in the clinical and screening setting (McPoil et al., 2008, Nielsen et al., 2009). However healthy males are reported to have a mean navicular drop of 5.3 ± 1.8 mm (Nielsen et al., 2009) and 5.06 ± 3.21 mm (McPoil et al., 2013), with a higher mean reported in collegiate cross-country runners by Bennett et al. (2012) (8.5 ± 4.1 and 8.7 ± 4.3). There is no available normative data for Gaelic footballers or hurlers in any age group which prevents comparison between players, teams and sports. Thus normative data using the navicular drop test should be developed and the number of possible at risk adolescent and collegiate Gaelic players should be measured to examine whether excessive foot pronation is a predisposing factor to injury in adolescent and collegiate Gaelic players.

Table 2.12: Navicular drop tests

Starting Position and Test	Directions	Measurement	Equipment	Study	Relia	bility
					Inter-tester	Intra-tester
		Original Navicular drop	p test			
-Mark the most prominent part	-Stand	-Difference between the	-Marker	Picciano et al.	ICC=0.57	ICC=0.61-0.79
of the navicular tuberosity	-Allow tester to move	unweighted and weighted	-Ruler/card	(1993)	SEM=2.72mm	SEM=1.92-
using a marker	your foot and hold your	navicular tuberosity				2.57mm
-While participant is standing	foot in the position the	position in standing is		Sell et al.	ICC=0.73	ICC=0.83
with most of weight on	testers places it in	noted in mm		(1994)	SEM=2.1mm	SEM=1.7mm
opposite leg but foot in contact	-Shift your weight so that	-Difference between the		Bennett et al.	NT	ICC=0.67
with the ground place the foot	your weight is equally	navicular drop in left and		(2001)		SEM=1.56mm
in subtalar joint neutral by	distributed onto both feet	right foot is noted in mm		Barton et al.	ICC=0.76-0.93	ICC=0.83-0.95
palpating medial and lateral	and stand with your feet in			(2010)		
talar depressions with thumb	a relaxed position			Piva et al.	ICC=0.93	NT
and forefinger, invert and				(2006)	SEM=0.7mm	
evert the foot until both talar						
heads are equal						
-Using a ruler/card note the						
level of the previously marked						
navicular tuberosity						
-Participant then stands in a						
relaxed bilateral stance with						
weight equally distributed						
between both sides						
-Note the height of navicular						
tuberosity in relaxed stance						
-Repeat on other foot						
		Modified Navicular dro	p test			

-Mark the most prominent part	-Sit with no weight on	-Difference between the	-Marker	Plisky et al.	NT	ICC=0.88-0.91
of the navicular tuberosity	legs in a position where	sitting and standing	-Ruler/card	(2007)		
using a felt tipped marker	you can stand without	navicular tuberosity	-Chair			
-While participant is sitting	moving your feet	position is noted in mm				
with no pressure on their feet,	-Allow tester to move	-Difference between the				
place the foot in subtalar joint	your foot and hold your	navicular drop in left and				
neutral by palpating medial	foot in the position the	right foot is noted in mm				
and lateral talar depressions	testers places it in					
with thumb and forefinger,	-Stand without moving					
invert and evert the foot until	your feet into a relaxed					
both talar heads are equal	position as you normally					
-Using a ruler/card note the	would with your weight					
level of the previously marked	equally distributed					
navicular tuberosity	between both feet					
-Participant stands without						
moving their feet into a						
relaxed stance with equal						
weight on both legs						
-Mark the level of the						
navicular tuberosity in the						
standing stance						
-Repeat on other foot						

2.4.1.8. Balance

Balance (postural control) is one of the foundation components in performance of functional movements and is defined as the ability to perform a dynamic functional movement while maintaining a stable position (Robinson and Gribble, 2008, Bressel et al., 2007, Plisky et al., 2006, Munro and Herrington, 2010).

Poor balance occurs from deficiencies in the somatosensory, visual and vestibular systems, which can lead to inaccurate sensory information transferring to the brain which may affect the ability of the brain to distinguish the current precise position of the body and limbs (Bressel et al., 2007, Martínez-Ramírez et al., 2010). Mechanical deficiencies may also contribute to poor balance due to damage to ligaments, proprioceptor receptors and cutaneous receptors (Martínez-Ramírez et al., 2010, Hoch et al., 2011). These deficiencies then affects the motor system and can cause a consequential reduction in the individual's ability to maintain a stable base, motor coordination, range of motion and strength of muscles (Bressel et al., 2007). Thus poor balance has been identified as a predictor for injury (Plisky et al., 2006, Clark et al., 2010) leading to twice as many injuries in elite Australian footballers (Hrysomallis et al., 2007) and seven times as many ankle injuries in high school basketball players (McGuine et al., 2000). Participants that displayed poor balance in the normalised composite reach distance of $\leq 94\%$ of leg length in the modified star excursion balance test were 6.5 times more likely to sustain a lower extremity injury (p<0.05) (Plisky et al., 2006). Participants with an asymmetrical difference between legs of greater than 4cm were 2.5 times more likely to sustain a lower limb injury (p < 0.05) (Plisky et al., 2006). Side to side differences are essential to assess as this difference may cause increased stress being placed on the more proficient limb with the opposite limb unable to effectively provide a stable base for sporting movements (Plisky et al., 2006).

Numerous balance tests are available including: star excursion balance test, modified star excursion balance test (Y balance test), single leg balance, rhomberg test, balance error scoring system, modified balance error scoring system, dynamic postural control index, time to stabilisation test and stabilometry (Clark et al., 2010, Plisky et al., 2006, Bressel et al., 2007, Martínez-Ramírez et al., 2010). Whilst stabilometry, dynamic postural control index and time to stabilisation test are considered gold standard tests for assessing balance, they are time consuming and require expensive equipment and a large amount of space (Clark et al., 2010, Bressel et al., 2007, Martínez-Ramírez et al., 2010). While the single leg balance, rhomberg and balance error scoring system are less

time consuming and require little if any equipment, they are quite static in nature and so do not provide an accurate evaluation of balance in a sporting environment (Martínez-Ramírez et al., 2010). Thus the original and modified star excursion balance test (Y balance test) are considered gold standard clinical and field balance measures as they are simple quick tests that utilise portable and inexpensive equipment (Clark et al., 2010, Plisky et al., 2006, Thorpe and Ebersole, 2008).

The star excursion balance test is a multidirectional test of balance where participants are required to maintain a single leg stance on one leg while maximally reaching with the contralateral leg in 8 different directions and the distance reached is measured (Cook, 2010, Robinson and Gribble, 2008), (Hoch et al., 2011, Thorpe and Ebersole, 2008). Adequate muscular strength, proprioception, neuromuscular control and range of motion of the joints of the lower limb is necessary to effectively execute this test (Munro and Herrington, 2010). However there are four main issues with the star excursion balance test. Firstly the starting placements of the stance foot has not been standardised and so studies have recorded starting positions at the most distal aspect of toes, the centre of the foot and at the bisection of the lateral malleolus which affects reliability and prevents direct comparisons between studies (Plisky et al., 2009). Secondly a standardised testing order has not been developed which may affect the reliability and performance of the test due to fatigue of limbs during testing (Plisky et al., 2009). Thirdly maximum reach is deciphered by touching down on the athletic tape on the floor; however support may be gained from this touching down (Plisky et al., 2009). Finally, to score the test the tester must mark the point of maximum reach with chalk on the floor and then using tape measure from the centre of the grid to the marked point on the floor which is time consuming (Plisky et al., 2009). The modified star excursion balance test was developed to reduce the time taken to complete the test by decreasing the amount of directions tested, thus the anterior, posteriomedial and posteriolateral directions were suggested as three directions that capture differing information on an individual's balance as the muscle activation during each direction is diverse (Plisky et al., 2006, Hoch et al., 2011). The vastus medialis and vastus lateralis were most active during the anterior reach, the anterior tibialis in the posteriomedial reach and the biceps femoris and anterior tibialis in the posteriolateral reach which ensures a comprehensive dynamic analysis of balance (Plisky et al., 2006). The Y balance test and Y balance testing kit was developed to increase the reliability and standardise the testing protocol of the modified star excursion balance test (Plisky et al.,

2009). The testing kit consists of a rectangle plastic platform for placement of the stance foot and three plastic pipes attached to the stance platform in the anterior, posteriomedial and posteriolateral directions with three mobile reach indicators on each plastic pipe. The posteriomedial and posteriolateral pipes are positioned 45° between each other and 135° from the anterior pipe (Plisky et al., 2009). The Y balance test and testing kit provide a standardised starting position for the foot where the most distal part of the foot must be behind the red line on the stance platform. The standardised testing order aims to prevent fatigue of each limb by alternating the stance foot between reach directions. The reach indicator slides along the pipe during the participant's maximum reach; this prevents the participant gaining support from the floor as they touch down during the reach movement in the Y balance test. In addition the Y balance test protocol is time efficient as the testing kit reduces set up time and allows for a more instantaneous measurement of maximal reach as the pipes are marked in 5mm increments (Plisky et al., 2009, Cook, 2010). It is strongly recommended in present literature to normalise the Y balance test scores for leg length as Gribble & Hertel (2003) has shown a significant correlation between leg length and reach distance (p<0.05) This is expected as this test assesses the distance a participant can reach and so the longer the leg, the further the reach and the higher the score.

The Y balance test has been proposed as a reliable method of evaluating balance in the athletic population during screenings (Table 2.13) (Plisky et al., 2006). The Y balance test has been shown to be influenced by the time of day, with the best scores occurring in the test in the morning; therefore it is essential that when re-testing athletes or undertaking reliability analysis to ensure the testing sessions occur consistently at the same time of day (Gribble et al., 2007). There is a lack of normative data in present literature using the Y balance test protocol and testing kit and Gorman et al. (2012) recommends future research should focus on normative data in differing sports and age groups. Therefore establishing normative data utilising the Y balance test in adolescent and collegiate Gaelic players is essential and further examination of balance as a possible risk factor for injury in this population would be beneficial. Table 2.14 displays the normative data adapted from Gorman et al. (2012) study on high school athletes in those who play a single and multiple sports.

Table 2.13: Balance tests

Starting position	Directions	Measurement	Equipment	Study	Relia	bility
					Inter-tester	Intra-tester
	Oriş	ginal star excursion	n balance test	•		
-Grid is laid out on floor with	-Remove shoes	-Distance from	-Tape measure	Munro &	NT	ICC=0.84-0.92
8 lines extending at 45° angles	-Stand with your heel on the	centre of grid to	-Scoring sheet	Herrington		SEM=2.21-94cm
from the centre of the grid	centre of the grid	point of	-Pen	(2010)		
-Participant stands barefoot in	-Reach as far forward as you	touchdown with		Hardy et al.	NT	ICC=0.94-98
single leg stance on dominant	can in each direction	tape measure		(2008)		
foot with heel at centre of grid	-Touch down with your toes	-Average of the 3		Lanning et al.	NT	ICC=0.84-0.97
and maximally reaches with	onto the tape	trials used		(2006)		SEM=1.64-3.70cm
the opposite limb	-Repeat this two more times	-All 8 directions		Kinzey &	NT	ICC=0.67-0.87
-Participant touches down	in this direction	were noted on		Armstrong		SEM=3.43-4.78cm
with most distal part of foot on		both feet		(1998)		
the tape				Hertel et al.	ICC=0.35-0.93	ICC=0.78-0.96
-Maximum reach distance				(2000)	SEM=2.33-4.96cm	SEM=1.78-3.38
marked with chalk						
immediately next to the tape						
that corresponded to site of						
touchdown						
	Modified st	ar excursion bala	nce test/Y balan	ce test		
-Participant stands in the	-Remove shoes	- Maximum reach	- Y balance	Clark et al.	ICC=0.91	ICC=0.98
centre of the platform with	-Stand with your right leg in	distance	test kit	(2010)		
their right foot behind the	the centre of the platform	measured by	-Scoring sheet	Plisky et al.	NT	ICC=0.84-0.87
starting line	with your foot just behind the	observing the	-Pen	(2006)		
-Participants push the reach	starting line	point where the		Plisky et al.	ICC=0.97-1.00	ICC=0.85-0.89
indicator anteriorly with their	-Reach forward with your	target stopped		(2009)	SEM=0.68-3.31cm	SEM=2.01-5.81cm
free foot as far as possible.	free leg and push the target	-Average of 3		Filipa et al.	NT	ICC=0.81-0.96
-Complete 6 practice trials in	as far forward as you can	trials used		(2010)		
the anterior, posteriormedial	-Do this 3 times.	-All 3 directions				

and posteriolateral directions	-Repeat in the forward	were noted on		
-For the test start on the right	direction with your left foot	both feet		
leg and complete 3 trials in	- Do the same motion 3 times			
each direction on both feet	to the side and backward on			
	both feet while maintaining			
	single leg stance			
	-You will fail if you touch			
	your foot on the ground,			
	kick, place foot on top of or			
	lean on the reach indicator to			
	stabilise yourself			

NT; Not tested

Variable	Single	sport	Multiple sport						
	Mean	SD	Mean	SD					
Anterior reach score (%LL)	75.5	7.1	76.4	7.9					
Posteriomedial reach score (%LL)	108.2	10.3	109.1	10.2					
Posteriolateral reach score (%LL)	107.4	11.04	105.8	11.1					
Composite rearch score (%LL)	97.1	8.2	97.1	8.4					
Anterior difference (cm)	2.8	2.2	3.6	3.8					
Posteriomedial difference (cm)	4.6	4.4	4.3	3.8					
Posteriolateral difference (cm)	4.3	4.3	5.0	4.2					

Table 2.14: Normative data for the Y balance test

%LL; Percentage leg length. Table adapted from Plisky et al. (2006).

2. 4. 1. 9. Squatting Techniques

Functional tests require the movement, control and integration of multiple joints in the body to complete a movement pattern (Alentorn-Geli et al., 2009). By assessing global movement patterns you are examining the participant's range of motion, strength, control, endurance, coordination, balance and neuromuscular control of all the individual joints working in synchrony to complete a functional movement (Kivlan and Martin, 2012, Butler et al., 2010). Neuromuscular control is an unconscious muscle activation and control of motion without which, joints may become more susceptible to injury due to reduced stability of the joint (Alentorn-Geli et al., 2009, Whatman et al., 2012). The squat motion is a movement pattern proposed as an essential component of daily activities, it is the most commonly used movement in sports and is termed the "athletic ready position" (Lamontagne et al., 2009, Cook, 2010, Cook et al., 2006b). It challenges the body's mobility and stability in order to control and move the ankle, knee and hip joints in a bilateral, symmetrical and functional manner (Cook et al., 2006a, Butler et al., 2010). Poor performance or kinematic patterns have been linked to an increased likelihood of sustaining ankle, knee and hip injuries (Weeks et al., 2012). Ankle dorsiflexion is necessary to effectively complete a squatting motion and at least 10° of dorsiflexion is needed for adequate gait in walking and running (Cook et al., 2006a, Malliaras et al., 2006, Brukner and Khan, 2006). Reduced dorsiflexion can occur due to tight calf muscles and/or ankle joint stiffness after sustaining an ankle injury (Brukner and Khan, 2006, Hoch et al., 2011). Participants with reduced dorsiflexion may implement compensation strategies to achieve adequate dorsiflexion to complete a squat which replicates gait where athletes tilt their feet outwards to pronate further and achieve more dorsiflexion. Reduced dorsiflexion is proposed to predispose to overuse injuries as the resulting excessive pronation places excessive loading on the shin, knee and hip joint (Brukner and Khan, 2006). In fact, Malliaras et al. (2006) found that dorsiflexion of less than 45° increased the risk of developing patellar tendinopathy by

1.8-2.8 times. In addition, if tight calves are contributing to the reduced dorsiflexion, the squat can highlight this compensation strategy and reduce the risk of a calf strain injury and/or Achilles tendinopathy (Brukner and Khan, 2006). In relation to the knee, increased knee valgus has been identified as a risk factor for knee injury (Weeks et al., 2012), including non-contact anterior cruciate ligament (ACL) tears (Alentorn-Geli et al., 2009) and patellofemoral pain syndrome (Weeks et al., 2012). Kinematic studies have demonstrated that reduced neuromuscular control and also both femoral adduction and internal rotation contribute to increased knee valgus, therefore if knee valgus is viewed during a squat, weakness of the hip abductors may be present and contributing to this issue (Claiborne et al., 2006, Weeks et al., 2012). This was supported by the fact that a high concentric hip abduction value was found to be a significant predictor of less knee valgus position when completing a single leg squat ($r^2=0.13$) (Claiborne et al., 2006, Weeks et al., 2012). With regard to the hip joint, reduced hip flexion range of motion in the squat could highlight mobility issues of the hip joint (Cook, 2010, Frohm et al., 2012). In fact, reduced depth of the squat occurred in those with femoroacetabular impingement (41.5%) in comparison to the uninjured control group (32.3%) (Lamontagne et al., 2009). Additionally a posterior to anterior tilt of the pelvis commonly occurs during the squatting motion which is commonly identified as the compensation strategy of excessive trunk flexion (i.e a forwardly tilted lower back). This is commonly due to tight hip flexor muscles which place the pelvis in the anterior tilted position (Brukner and Khan, 2006) and this poor flexibility may predispose the hip flexors to muscle tears. Consequently the anterior tilted position of the pelvis causes lengthening of the corresponding hamstring muscle as it attaches to the hip joint, this may predispose the hamstring to a muscle tear injury due to loading of the hamstring in a lengthened position over an extended period of time (Brukner and Khan, 2006). A unilateral problem of the ankle, knee and hip may be identified in a bilateral squatting movement which may indicate asymmetry between sides and is a commonly acknowledged risk factor for injury (Cook et al., 2006a, Cook, 2010).

The squat has been suggested to be superior than landing tasks as it is easier to assess as it is performed more slowly (Whatman et al., 2012). Numerous variations of the squat exist including: deep squat, maximal squat, small knee bend, partial squat, mini squat, squat jump etc (Whatman et al., 2012). However the most commonly used squat that assesses the functional movement pattern in totality is the deep squat as described by Cook et al. (2006a). The deeper the squat completed, the greater the joint moments and

so incremental stress is placed on the ankle, hip and knee throughout the motion; this demands greater stability and mobility of these joints and so highlight dysfunctions that may not be observed when completing a squat of less depth (Butler et al., 2010). The specific instructions and grading system of the deep squat utilised varies between studies (Frohm et al., 2012). The single leg squat is a similar lower extremity screening test that assesses an identical movement pattern of the squat but utilises a unilateral movement on one leg. The single leg squat assesses the same variables as the squat, however as it is a unilateral movement, certain subtle dysfunctions that may be passed over in the squat may be highlighted and side by side comparisons can be made (Whatman et al., 2012). Balance may also play a superior part in this unilateral movement than the squat.

Three dimensional kinematic analyses is considered gold standard for assessing movement patterns (Maclean et al., 2005). However while extremely accurate and reliable, it is expensive and so is not suitable for a screening (Poulsen and James, 2011). Two dimensional analysis utilising high definition cameras therefore has been suggested and has been validated against three-dimensional analysis for several functional movement tests (Miller & Callister, 2009). An alternative to two dimensional analysis is live visual assessments, while similar, live allow testers to view the squat motion from all angles in real time which is a limitation of two dimensional analysis (Poulsen and James, 2011).

The deep squat has been suggested as a valid method of assessing functional movement (Butler et al., 2010). Butler et al. (2010) aimed to validate the deep squat by comparing groups that scored the lowest (one), middle (two) and highest (three) score as graded by the FMS system in comparison to ankle, knee and hip motion while assessing the squat using three dimensional analysis. Butler et al. (2010) suggested that those who score higher in the deep squat would demonstrate greater joint excursion, peak joint motion and peak joint moments in comparison to those who score lower. Butler et al. (2010) found that those who scored the optimal result (three) displayed significantly greater peak dorsiflexion movement ($31.4\pm1.8^{\circ}$) and dorsiflexion excursion ($28.9\pm1.5^{\circ}$) than those who scored a one ($24.5\pm2.3^{\circ}$, p=0.03; $20.5\pm2.5^{\circ}$, p=0.04 respectively). No statistically significant difference was found between those who scored a two and a three in the grading system (p>0.05). This indicates that those with reduced dorsiflexion score poorer in the deep squat (Butler et al., 2010). With regard to the knee joint, significantly greater peak knee flexion ($130.7\pm3.8^{\circ}$) and joint excursion ($131.9\pm4.2^{\circ}$)

73

was observed in those that scored three in comparison with those who scored two (111.0±4.9°, 113.5±5.4°, p<0.01) or one (84.7±4.3°, 80.5±4.4°, p<0.01). Furthermore those who scored two had significantly greater knee extension joint moments (0.555±0.052 Nm/kg/m) than those who scored one (0.448±0.039 Nm/kg/m). In relation to the hip joint significantly greater peak hip flexion, hip flexion excursion and peak hip extension moments was displayed by those who scored three $(121.1\pm2.0^{\circ}, 122.6\pm2.1^{\circ}, -$ 0.545±0.044 Nm/kg/m) and two (117.1±4.0°, 119.2±4.2°, -0.556±0.047 Nm/kg/m) in comparison to those that scored one $(88.8\pm5.1^\circ, 91.0\pm3.9^\circ, -0.361\pm0.071 \text{ Nm/kg/m})$. Therefore this suggests the deep squat is a valid method of assessing functional movement of the ankle, knee and hip. The reliability of the deep squat according to FMS research and single leg squat studies that utilised ordinal scales is displayed in Table2.15. Normative data for the individual results for the deep squat is limited however Schneiders et al. (2011) found that the vast majority of young active males received an "average", followed by "excellent" and "poor". Thus normative data for squatting techniques is required for Gaelic games and further analysis of poor performance during the overhead squat and single leg squat and its effect on injury risk would be valuable.

Starting position	Directions	Measurement	Study	Equipment	Reliability		
					Inter-tester	Intra-tester	
Deep Squat							
-Stand tall with	- Press the dowel so	-0-3 ordinal scale according	Schneiders et al.	- FMS kit	к=1.00	NT	
feet approximately	that it is directly	to FMS criteria	(2011)		100% agreement		
shoulder width	above your head		Minick et al.	- FMS kit	Expert testers	NT	
apart and toes	-While maintaining		(2010)		к=0.64		
pointing forward	upright torso, and				76.9% agreement		
-Grasp dowel in	keeping heels and				Novice testers κ=0.80	NT	
both hands and	dowel in position,				87.2% agreement		
place it horizontally	descend as deep as		Schultz et al.	- FMS kit	Kα=0.41	NT	
on top of your head	possible		(2013)				
so shoulders and	-Hold position for a		Teyhen et al.	- FMS kit	к=0.68	к=0.76	
elbows are at 90°	count of one and		(2012)				
	return to starting		Smith et al.	- FMS kit	NT	ICC=0.82-0.90	
	point Demost 2 times		(2013)				
	-Repeat 5 times		Frohm et al.	-FMS kit	NT	ICC=0.73	
			(2012)				
Single Leg Squat							
-Stand on one leg	-Squat as far down	-0-5 ordinal point scale	Poulsen et al.	-None	к=0.68	к=0.38-0.94	
with the	as you can while	assessing alignment of each	(2011)				
contralateral leg	maintaining your	segment: trunk, pelvis, hips &					
bent and hip	balance on the	thigh				100 0 10	
slightly flexed	single leg	-1-3 ordinal point scale	Frohm et al.	-None	NT	ICC=0.53	
	-Repeat 3-5 times	assessing the following	(2012)				
	-Repeat on the	criteria					
	other leg	-Hip, knee and foot aligned					
		-Pelvis in horizontal line					
		-Upper body is vertical					

Table 2.15: Squat and Single leg squat

2. 4. 1. 10. Scapular Control

Adequate scapular control and symmetry is required for effective motion of the shoulder, to provide a stable base for activation of the rotator cuff muscles and is a vital link in the kinetic chain of the shoulder (Ellenbecker et al., 2012, Kibler and Sciascia, 2010). No consensus on normal scapular motion exists, however it is agreed that during shoulder elevation, the scapula upwardly rotates, externally rotates and tilts posteriorly with the bulk of the tilting and external rotation occurring after 90° of humeral elevation (Struyf et al., 2011). Previously it was thought that for every 2° of humeral elevation the scapula upwardly rotates 1° however it is now accepted that the movement is more complex than this simplified theory (Johnson et al., 2001). The presence of a setting phase during the first few degrees of shoulder elevation where there is a downward rotation of the scapula is disputed, however it is thought that the weight of the arm and the muscular forces that move the arm and scapula may attempt to pull the scapula inferiorly in order to create adequate length-tension relationships of the muscles (Struyf et al., 2011). Scapular dyskinesis is a qualitative collective term for dysfunctional scapulae with an observable alteration in the position or motion of the scapulae relative to the thoracic cage which may alter scapula-humeral rhythm and shoulder arthrokinematics (Thomas et al., 2010, Kibler and Sciascia, 2010, Uhl et al., 2009, Kibler et al., 2002). It has been identified as a risk factor for injury in upper limb sports (Wang and Cochrane, 2001, Thomas et al., 2010, Ellenbecker et al., 2012). A commonly observed dysfunction of the scapulae is scapular winging, where the medial border of the scapula protrudes and does not lie flat on the ribs (Kibler and Sciascia, 2010). Scapulae may also become depressed, become lateralised, have increased protraction, may tilt anteriorly, have decreased upward rotation and may be unstable, all of which may be due to weakness and imbalance of stabilisers in the thoracic spine and shoulder, alterations in muscle activation patterns, damage to nerves that innervate the scapular stabilisers (long thoracic, dorsal scapular and spinal accessory nerve), reduced pectoralis minor muscle length and adaptations in bony stabilisers (Thomas et al., 2010, Wang and Cochrane, 2001, Kibler and Sciascia, 2010, McClure et al., 2009). This malalignment and change in motion may affect the normal functioning of the shoulder complex and could cause narrowing of the subacromial space and prevent the acromion from rotating out of the way of the humeral head which may cause impingement and impaired motion of the upper limb (Wang and Cochrane, 2001, Thomas et al., 2010). Athletes with reduced internal rotation of the shoulder usually presented with protracted and internally rotated scapulae (Thomas et al., 2010). When an athlete with poor

internal rotation throws, the scapula must travel up and around the thoracic cage in order to achieve enough internal rotation to follow through effectively, which may lead to adaptation by the shoulder complex and abnormal positioning of the scapulae (Thomas et al., 2010). Poor posture like slouching, rounded shoulders and increased thoracic kyphosis may force the scapulae into increased upward rotation. Also, scapulae may lag or move slower compared to the corresponding scapula, this may be due to inhibition of the serratus anterior and lower trapezius which rotate the scapulae and so can alter motion of the shoulder complex and increase the likelihood of injury (Thomas et al., 2010). Scapulae position at rest and during dynamic motion are considered two separate entities, and ideally both should be assessed in a comprehensive scapular dyskinesis test (Kibler and Sciascia, 2010).

A single clinically feasible and reliable method of assessing scapular dyskinesis has not yet been established (Uhl et al., 2009, McClure et al., 2009). During dynamic motion, a complex three dimensional pattern occurs where testers must consider three rotational and two translations of movement simultaneously (Uhl et al., 2009, McClure et al., 2009). Proposed scapular assessment tests include: the lateral scapular slide test, posterior displacement test, scapular upward rotation test, visual assessment and three dimensional kinematics assessments using electromagnetic tracking devices (Uhl et al., 2009, McClure et al., 2009, Kibler et al., 2002) and their reliability is presented in Table 2.16. Scapular dyskinesis was originally assessed in the static position (Uhl et al., 2009). Kibler (1991) proposed the lateral scapular slide test which measures scapular position by comparing side to side scapular distances from the inferior angle of the scapulae to the parallel thoracic spinous process in the horizontal plane and a cut-off point of 1.5cm difference between sides indicates asymmetry (Odom et al., 2001). This measurement was completed in three separate positions to measure the ability of the scapular stabilizers to control the scapula during various positions of loading: position 1 in 0° of humeral elevation (i.e. with hands by the side), position 2 in 40° elevation, and position 3 places in 90° elevation (Odom et al., 2001). The posterior displacement test assess winging and tilting of the inferior angle of the scapula with respect to the posterior thorax using a large measurement tool termed the "Perry Tool" (Plafcan et al., 1997). This measurement was taken at the resting position with arms by their sides and in a weighted position while holding 10% of their body weight (Plafcan et al., 1997). While this test was found to be reliable (Table 2.16) the Perry Tool is not widely commercially available (Plafcan et al., 1997). The scapular upward rotation test

measures scapular rotation at rest, at 60°, 90° and 120° during abduction (Johnson et al., 2001). A guide pole positions the arm and a pin is inserted to ensure the arm is kept in position (Johnson et al., 2001, Thomas et al., 2010). This test was found to be reliable (Table 2.16), valid and demonstrated good to excellent (r=0.59-0.92) correlations between a digital inclinometer against a 3d electromagnetic tracking system in all arm positions (Johnson et al., 2001). Watson et al. (2005) modified the scapular upward rotation test by examining the intra-tester reliability in the full range of scapular abduction rather than stopping at 120° in order to increase the functionality and clinical relevance of the test.

Assessing scapular asymmetry in a static position does not capture the three dimensional movement patterns that occur during motion of the shoulder in sport (McClure et al., 2009). Furthermore scapular abnormalities were more apparent during dynamic rather than static assessments in an injured population (McClure et al., 2009). Therefore, both a static and dynamic motion using a visual examination or three dimensional kinematics assessment (using electromagnetic tracking devices) would be superior to other static scapular assessments (Uhl et al., 2009, Kibler et al., 2002, Oyama et al., 2008). However 3d kinematic analysis is time consuming, requires expensive equipment and is inapplicable in a field setting (Kibler et al., 2002). Visual observation during resting and dynamic motion is the ideal field based method of assessing scapular asymmetry despite its subjectivity. The downward motion is essential to assess as mal-alignment is more pronounced during the lowering phase as muscles are working eccentrically under an increased load (Kibler et al., 2002). Asymmetry, winging, stability and speed of the movement of the scapulae should be noted (Kibler and Sciascia, 2010, Kibler et al., 2002).

Kibler et al. (2002) developed a qualitative clinical evaluation system to quantify abnormal scapular motion which divided dyskinesis into four patterns. Participants were videotaped while they abducted and elevated both arms in scaption at a rate of 45°/s, however low to moderate reliability is reported (Table 2.16) (Kibler et al., 2002, Ellenbecker et al., 2012). In addition, participants can display more than one pattern of scapular dyskinesis and the clinician must pick the dominant pattern which is an inherent source of error (Kibler et al., 2002, Ellenbecker et al., 2012), additionally these may not be exclusive categories and could often occur concurrently (McClure et al., 2009). Kibler et al. (2002) only used a ten minute familiarisation presentation to testers which may be inadequate to fully explain the four patterns of motion described. Videotaping rather than live evaluation prevents testers viewing the scapulae from different angles which may cause further error (Kibler et al., 2002). Uhl et al. (2009) assessed the validity of the Kibler classification against 3 dimensional electromagnetic tracking device and found an inter-rater agreement of 69%, low sensitivity (10-54%), moderate to good specificity (62-94%) and variable positive predictive values which indicates the probability that the tests accurately predicts the 4 patterns of scapular dyskinesis (20-71%) (Uhl et al., 2009). The occurrence or severity of specific criteria in scapular dyskinesis can also be measured. Uhl et al. (2009) proposed and validated a yes/no method in a visual examination against a 3 dimensional electromagnetic tracking device which produced an inter-rater agreement of 79%, sensitivity of 76%, specificity of 30% and a positive predictive value of 74% (Uhl et al., 2009) While the test was deemed valid, poor specificity indicates that there may be an increased likelihood of false positive findings (Uhl et al., 2009). McClure et al. (2009) proposed a graded system that classifies participants based on the severity of scapular dyskinesis during shoulder flexion and abduction in the frontal plane while holding different weighted dumbbells depending on the participant's body weight (McClure et al., 2009). McClure et al. (2009) found that inter-tester reliability was increased by using standardised videotaped examples of normal and abnormal scapular movement shown to testers during the familiarisation stage instead of written descriptions (McClure et al., 2009). Tate et al. (2009) validated this test using an electromagnetic based motion capture system and participants rated in the obvious scapular dyskinesis group demonstrated less scapular upward rotation, less clavicular elevation and greater scapular clavicular protraction (p<0.05) (Tate et al., 2009). Participants in the scapular dyskinesis group displayed approximately 9° more downward rotation from 0-60° humeral elevation in the scapular plane, however while large differences were visible throughout the entire movement, they eventually caught up and achieved the same maximal amount of upward rotation as the normal group. This is clinically relevant as impingement symptoms commonly occur between 60-120° of elevation and the rotator cuff, subacromial bursa and long head of the biceps tendon that are commonly involved in impingement are more likely to become increasingly compressed with a reduction in upward rotation (Tate et al., 2009). Less clavicular elevation was also noted in the obvious scapular dyskinesis group at 30° and 60° of arm elevation which presents visually as a lower scapula than the other side. In addition, increased protraction of the scapula at rest and a more protracted position throughout the entire lifting and lowering

movement was noted in those with obvious scapular dyskinesis which may further compress the structures within the subacromial space (Tate et al., 2009).

No gold standard clinically feasible and reliable test is available to assess scapular dyskinesis. In fact, as previously mentioned, proposed tests tend to assess scapular asymmetry in the static position and do not capture the three dimensional movement patterns utilised in sport, require expensive equipment which may not be readily available in the clinical setting and have widely varying and complicated scoring systems with unclear definitions (McClure et al., 2009, Uhl et al., 2009, Kibler et al., 2002). Thus, a simple screening test that addresses these issues for scapular dyskinesis is necessary to be developed for use in the sporting population. This test should ideally be dynamic in nature and assess all components of scapular dyskinesis during the abduction movement. The inter-tester and intra-tester reliability and normative data for this developed screening test should then be established.

Starting position	Directions	Measurement	Study	Equipment	Reliability		
					Inter-tester	Intra-tester	
		Sc	apula lateral slide test	ţ			
-Stand in a normal	-Stand relaxed with	-Distance in cm	Odom et al.	String	ICC=0.43-0.74	ICC=0.75-0.80	
relaxed posture	hands at side	between tip of	(2001)		SEM=0.79-1.20	SEM=0.58-0.80	
-0°, 40° and 90° of	-Move your arms up	inferior angle of	Wang and	Not stated	NT	ICC=0.88-0.95	
glenohumeral	to 40°	scapula and	Cochrane (2001)			I	
abduction with	-Then move arms to	corresponding	Thomas et al.	Vernier caliper	NT	ICC=0.935-0.975	
maximal internal	90° elevation	thoracic spinous	(2010)	-		SEM=0.186-0.328cm	
rotation measured		process	Gibson et al.	String	ICC=0.18-0.69	ICC=0.81-0.95	
-Modified version the			(1995)	Ū.		l I	
hands are at the sides,						l I	
hands on hips and 90°						I	
abduction							
		Pos	terior displacement te	st			
-Stand in normal	-Stand relaxed with	-Degree of posterior	Plafcan et al. (1997)	Perry Tool	ICC=0.92-0.97	ICC=0.97-0.99	
relaxed position with	hands by your side	displacement of the			SEM=1.1-1.7°	$SEM=0.6-1.1^{\circ}$	
arms by side	-Stand relaxed while	inferior angle of the				l	
-Then participant holds	holding 10% of your	scapula				I	
10% of body weight	body weight					I	
with arms at side							
Scapular upward rotation							
-Stand in normal	-Abduct arm until it	-Lateral arm of	Thomas et al.	Digital inclinometer	NT	ICC=0.965-0.974	
relaxed posture	is positioned against	inclinometer placed	(2010)			SEM=0.70-0.89°	
-A guide pole positions	the pin	over posterior-lateral	Johnson et al.	Digital inclinometer	NT	ICC=0.89-0.96	
arm in 60°, then 90°,	-Hold until	acromion and medial	(2001)			SEM=2.0-2.8°	

Table 2.16: Scapular Asymmetry and Control (motion) tests

then 120° abduction -Once in position a pin is inserted into guide pole and measurement is taken	measurement completed	arm placed over root of scapular spine	Watson et al. (2005)	Bubble Inclinometer	r NT	ICC=0.81-0.94 SEM=1.7-5.2°		
	Visual Examination: static and dynamic motion assessment							
-Stand with normal posture with arms at sides, elbows in full extension and thumbs facing forward -Participants asked to elevate arms for 3-5 repetitions	-Slowly lift your arms as far as you can while keeping your elbows straight 3-5 times	-Scapular position -Winging -Asymmetry between sides -Scapular motion assessed	Tripp et al. (2006)	3d electromagnetic tracking device	NT	ICC=0.77-0.90 SEM=0.76-1.51°		
Visual Examination: Classification according to Kibler et al. (2002)								
-Abduct and elevate	-Slowly lift your	-Visual assessment	Kibler et al. (2002)	Video	к=0.31,0.42	К=0.49,0.59		
arms in scaption (45° anterior to the frontal	arms as far up as you can while	-Rated participants into 4 different	Ellenbecker et al. (2012)	Video	к=0.186,0.245	NT		
plane) 3 times in a randomized manner at a rate of 45°/s	keeping your elbows straight (randomise the abduction and elevation in scaption 3-5 times)	patterns of movement	Uhl et al. (2009)	Visual examination	κ=0.44 61% agreement	NT		
Visual Examination: Scapular Dyskinesis Test (SDT)								
Actively flex and abduct (in frontal	-Elevate arms overhead as far as	-Visual assessment -Rated participants	McClure et al. (2009)	Visual examination and	Visual: к=0.57	NT		

plane) the shoulder	possible to a 3	as normal, subtle or		Video	Video:		
while holding 2	second count while	obvious dyskinesis			к=0.54		
dumbbell 5 times	your thumbs face						
	upwards.						
	-Lower to a 3						
	second count						
Visual Examination: Yes/no method							
-Abduct and elevate	-Slowly lift your	-Visual assessment	Uhl et al. (2009)	Visual examination	к=0.41	NT	
arms in scaption (45°	arms as far up as	-Rated "yes" when			79% agreement		
anterior to the frontal	you can while	scapular dyskinesis					
plane) 3 times in a	keeping your elbows	is present					
randomized manner at	straight (randomise	-Rated "no" when					
a rate of 45°/s	the abduction and	scapular dyskinesis					
	elevation in scaption	is not present					
	3-5 times)						

NT: Not tested. In reliability ICC's of >0.75 is excellent, 0.40-0.75 is fair to good and 0-0.40 is poor (Landis & Koch, 1997) κ =Kappa coefficient used to measure agreement in categorical data
2.4.1.11. Core stability

Core musculature contract to support the lumbo-pelvic-hip complex and stabilise the spine, pelvis and kinetic chain during movement (Faries and Greenwood, 2007). The most widely accepted classification of muscles surrounding the lumbo-pelvic-hip complex and what constitutes the core musculature can be differentiated into local and global muscles (Liemohn et al., 2010, Faries and Greenwood, 2007, Bliven and Anderson, 2013). Local muscles (primarily the transversus abdominis and the multifidi) are shorter muscles and attach directly to the vertebrae of the spine which allows them to directly stabilise each segment of the spine and consequently are the principal stabilisers (Faries and Greenwood, 2007, Liemohn et al., 2010). The primary stabilisers activate prior to movement of the body in order to stabilise the spine to prevent injury and optimise performance. In fact during tests on the reaction of the core, the transversus abdominis has been shown to contract 100 milliseconds prior to any movement of the limbs in any direction, followed then by a contraction of the multifidus (Faries and Greenwood, 2007, Bliven and Anderson, 2013). The secondary local stabilisers (medial fibres of external oblique, iliocostalis and longissimus, diaphragm, pelvic floor muscles and quadratus lumborum) have a dual role in both stabilising and producing movement of the spine (Faries and Greenwood, 2007). Global muscles on the other hand are long muscles that focus on speed and power to create high torque rather than stabilisation (Faries and Greenwood, 2007, Liemohn et al., 2010). While this classification is the basis of the majority of definitions of core stability, researchers proposed that global muscles should be subdivided into two categories, the stabilisers (internal and external obliques) and the mobilizers (rectus abdominus and iliocostalis) (Bliven and Anderson, 2013). The stabilisers eccentrically work to control movement throughout the range of motion while mobilizers concentrically work and also act as shock absorbers.

Core stability and core strength are two differing entities, however these terms are often used interchangeably with terminology varying between papers (Hibbs et al., 2008, Liemohn et al., 2005). Core strength is the capability of muscles to create force through contractile forces and intra-abdominal pressure (Faries and Greenwood, 2007). Adequate core stability is defined as the ability to stabilise the spine through integration of the passive spinal column, active spinal muscles and the neural control unit during daily activities and sporting movements (Hibbs et al., 2008, Liemohn et al., 2005, Faries and Greenwood, 2007). Poor core stability causes an unstable proximal base, so when high loading occurs, the control of and positioning of the spine and lower extremity is lessened and altered which may lead to an increased injury risk (Bliven and Anderson, 2013, Cowley and Swensen, 2008, Cowley et al., 2009, Nesser et al., 2008). Few prospective studies identifying core stability as a risk factor for injury (Bliven and Anderson, 2013). Injured collegiate athletes had lower stability results than the uninjured however this did not reach statistical significance (Leetun et al., 2004). Abt et al. (2007) found that after cyclists completed a core stability fatigue protocol their cycling mechanics became altered, with increased knee valgus and altered position of the lower extremities which may put the knee under greater loading and stress, alter technique and so predispose to knee injuries. However research has demonstrated that it is the timing of muscle recruitement and not the strength of the core is essential in preventing injuries (Bliven and Anderson, 2013). In addition, there is no conclusive definition of core stability and core musculature, thus core stability tests may not be accurately measuring true core stability and so any links between core stability and injury rates would be expected to be tenuous at best (Hibbs et al., 2008). Good core stability has been theorized to improve performance as a strong core allows the transfer of forces generated from the ground through the lower limbs, trunk and upper limbs, however few studies have demonstrated a direct relationship between core stability and improved athletic performance (Sato and Mokha, 2009). Core stability was only low to moderately significantly correlated with performance in strength and performance tests in American footballers (Nesser et al., 2008). Sato and Mokha (2009) found that a six week core strength training programme improved 5000m running time in runners. Conversely, Tse et al. (2005) found no improved functional performance measures after an eight week core endurance training programme on collegiate rowers (p>0.05), however an improvement in core endurance was shown (p < 0.05). Thus programmes that emphasis core strength may directly improve performance, however core stability may reduce injury risk.

No gold standard core stability test is available and various core stability tests are proposed including: the front abdominal power test (FAPT), side abdominal power test (SAPT), McGill protocol isometric flexor endurance, McGill protocol isometric extensor endurance, McGill protocol isometric side bridge, plank to fatigue, double leg lowering test and trunk stability test (Cowley and Swensen, 2008, McGill et al., 1999, Cowley et al., 2009, Krause et al., 2005, Cook et al., 2006b). The reliability and explanations of these tests is presented in Table 2.17. However, these tests are not

considered ideal for use in a screening or clinical environment as some tests actually measure core strength not core stability (FAPT and SAPT), some test core stability in a single position which does not reflect the demands placed on the core during most sporting movements (isometric flexor endurance, isometric extensor endurance, isometric side plank, plank to fatigue), some take a significant amount of time to complete (isometric flexor endurance, isometric extensor endurance, isometric side bridge, plank to fatigue), some have vague or unclear scoring systems (isometric flexor endurance, isometric extensor endurance, isometric side bridge, plank to fatigue, double leg lowering test) or require expensive equipment or necessitate therapists to develop or build equipment (double leg lowering test, isometric flexor endurance, isometric extensor endurance) (Cowley and Swensen, 2008, Nesser et al., 2008, Cowley et al., 2009, Krause et al., 2005). The development of a gold standard test for core stability is challenging because not only is there no widely accepted definition of core stability, there are numerous different muscles that assist in core stability and the interaction between the muscles of the lumbo-pelvic-hip is complex, hence it is difficult for researchers to develop a single test that incorporates all muscles and structures (Cowley and Swensen, 2008, Cowley et al., 2009, Hibbs et al., 2008).

Current core stability measures tend to look at isolated aspects of core stability in stationary and uniplanar positions, however the trunk stability test in the FMSTM is purported to observe reflex core stabilisation by initiating movement with the upper extremities while completing a push up while not permitting any movement to occur in the spine or hips (Cook, 2010). This movement pattern aims to test the ability of the core to stabilise the spine in the sagittal and anterior/posterior plane during a closed kinetic chain, upper body symmetrical pushing movement (Cook, 2010). The trunk stability test has been tenuously linked to having more sensitivity to core stability issues rather than upper extremity strength problems. Chobra et al. (2010) found that when the trunk stability test was removed from the FMS screening, correlations between lower extremity injury and core stability reduced. Therefore the trunk stability test is proposed to test a person's movement pattern and core stability under functional loading during a dynamic movement which may be a more conclusive and relative test in the athletic population (Bliven and Anderson, 2013, Chorba et al., 2010). The trunk stability push up test has shown excellent reliability (Table 2.17), is quick to administer, has a clear and well defined scoring system, requires no equipment and demonstrates more functionality than other tests proposed in literature (Chorba et al., 2010, Schneiders et al., 2011). In a study identifying normative data in the FMS, the majority of participants scored the highest score (3) in the trunk stability push up test. When looking at males only, 76.2% scored a three in a young physically active population (Schneiders et al., 2011).

Thus this review of core stability literature indicates that the trunk stability test is the most applicable and reliable core stability measure, however its ability to differentiate between those with higher core stability results may be questionable due to the high percentage of participants that receive the highest score using published normative data. Therefore adapting this test to further challenge core stability may be beneficial in order to sub-classify participants' core stability capabilities. Following this evaluating adolescent and collegiate normative data for this adapted test would be needed, and an analysis of core stability as a risk factor for injury is required.

Table 2.17: Core stability Tests

Starting position	Directions	Measurement		Study Equipment		Reliability	
					Inter-tester	Intra-tester	
	McGil	l Protocol: Isometric flexor endu	rance				
-Sit on bench and place upper body against support angle of 60° -Flex knees and hips to 90° -Fold arms across chest with hands on opposite shoulders -Place toes under toe straps -Prone on bench with lower body	-Hold this position while supporting wedge is pulled back 10cm McGill -Lift upper body off the floor	-Time in seconds until upper body fell below 60° angle or hits the wedge Protocol: Isometric extensor end -Time in seconds from point	McGill et al. (1999) urance McGill et al.	-Stopwatch -Bench/plinth -Back support at a 60° angle -Strap for toes	NT	ICC=0.93 ICC=0.99	
fixed to bed at ankle, knees, hips and upper body extended off the plinth -Bench was 25cm above floor -Rest upper body on floor -Fold hands across chest with hands on shoulders	to lie horizontal to the floor -Hold position for as long as possible	participant reached horizontal until body came in contact with floor	(1999)	-Plinth -Straps for			
	Ma	Gill Protocol Isometric side brid	ge	P	1		
-Lie on a matt on sides with legs extended -Place top foot in front of other foot for support and place uninvolved arm across chest to the shoulders	 Support yourselves by lifting your hips off the mat and maintain a straight line over full body. Support yourself with elbows and ankles Hold position for as long as possible 	-Time in seconds until hips touched the mat	McGill et al. (1999)	-Stopwatch	NT	Right ICC=0.96 Left ICC=0.99	
	Fre	ont Abdominal Power Test (FAP	T)	L			
-Lie on back on mat with arms along sides and feet shoulder width apart	-Keep shoulders, elbows, wrists locked in starting position and throw while	-Mean distance the medicine ball travelled from tip of participant's feet to where the medicine ball	Cowley & Swensen, (2008)	Measuring tape	NT	ICC=0.95 SEM=24cm	

-Bend knees to 90° and place arms overhead -Align tip of feet with end of mat -Flex shoulders and keep the elbows and wrists extended with the hands supinated and thumbs from the left and right hands	using the arms as a lever to project the medicine ball -Feet and buttocks must remain in contact with the floor -Medicine ball must only be released out of the hands	landed in 3 trials	Cowley et al. (2009)	Measuring tape	NT	ICC=0.95
touching -2kg medicine ball placed into	when over knees					
hands						
	Sie	de Abdominal Power Test (SAPT	T)			
-Sit on mat with knees bent at 90° and feet shoulder width apart with the left edge of the left foot aligned with the end of the mat -Subject held arms directly out in front with the elbows extended and hands supinated with the 5 th digit of right and left hands touching	-Lower torso as if to lie down but stop at 45 hip angle (tester confirms position) - A 2kg medicine ball will be placed in hands and held slightly above knees -Slowly rotate torso to the right by 90 -Perform an explosive concentric contraction by rotating trunk to the left while using the arm as a lever to project medicine ball -Feet and buttocks must remain in contact with floor -Ball can only be released once over left knee	-Mean distance the medicine ball travelled from tip of participant's feet to where the medicine ball landed in 3 trials	Cowley & Swensen, (2008)	Measuring tape	NT	ICC=0.93 SEM=NT
	Hold this position for	Plank to fatigue	Constant of al	Ctoremotol:	NT	100 0.95
-Lie prone on mat -Prop up with elbows directly underneath shoulders so upper arms are perpendicular to floor	- Hold this position for as long as you can maintain -Tester will give you verbal feedback on the position of	participant unable to correct any deviation from starting position	(2009)	-Stopwatch -Two 90cm vertical rods -Dowel	NI	ICC=0.85

 -Lift hips so that a straight line can be drawn from shoulder to hip to ankle -Feet placed against wall to stabilise -A weight that weighs 10% of body weight placed on upper buttocks 	your hips relative to starting position -Correct hip position to align with starting position -Tests ends when this cannot be done			-Rubber mat -Weight 10% of body weight of participant		
		Double leg lowering test				
-Supine on a wooden table with a 1cm thick felt pad and arms folded across chest -Bring hips to 90° with legs extended and vertical in the air -Tester 1 places their hand under the lower back and as the participant lowers notes the time when the lower back lifts from their monitoring fingers -Tester 2 measures this position with an inclinometer or visual estimation	-While keeping your back flat on the table slowly lower your legs while keeping your legs extended to the table -When tester 1 tells you to stop lowering hold your legs in this position until told to relax	-Angle of the lower limb from the horizontal reference when the lower back began to move superiorly away from Tester 1 fingers	Krause et al. (2005)	-Digital inclinometer -Wooden bench -1cm thick felt	NT	ICC=0.98
		Trunk stability push up test				
-Prone position with arms overhead with their thumbs at forehead level	-Perform one push up in this position -Lift the body as a unit; there	-Visual estimation of the spine and hip -If lag or sway occurs the	Schneiders et al. (2011)	None	к=1.00 100% agreement	NT
-Knees fully extended, ankles neutral and soles of feet perpendicular to the floor	should be no sway or lag in the spine	participant should complete the test again with thumbs at chin level - Score 0-pain, 1-cannot	Minick et al. (2010)	None	Expert tester: $\kappa=0.78$ 87.2% agreement	NT
		complete at chin level, 2-can complete at chin level, 3-can complete at forehead level			Novice tester: k=0.87	

			92.3%	
			agreement	
	Shultz et al.	None	Κα=0.31	NT
	(2013)			
	Teyhen et al.	None	к=0.82	к=0.68
	(2012)			
	Smith et al.	None	NT	ICC=0.88-
	(2013)			0.95

In reliability ICC's of >0.75 is excellent, 0.40-0.75 is fair to good and 0-0.40 is poor (Landis & Koch, 1997) κ =kappa coefficient used to measure agreement in categorical data

2. 5. Summary of literature review chapter

It is clear there is a lack of standardised methodology in epidemiological data across all sports, especially Gaelic games. Injuries have been found to be prevalent in Gaelic games with reported injury rates of 51.2-64.0 injuries per 1000 hours of matches and 4.1-5.8 injuries per 1000 hours of training in Gaelic football and in hurling 102.5 and 5.3 injuries per 1000 hours in matches and training respectively (Murphy et al., 2012b, Wilson et al., 2007, Cromwell et al., 2000, Watson, 1996b, Murphy et al., 2012a, Watson, 1996a). However, there is also a lack of high quality studies in the non-elite, adolescent and collegiate population in Gaelic games. Only five studies have assessed possible causative factors for injury in Gaelic games, and none were completed in adolescents (Watson, 1999, O'Sullivan et al., 2008, Lowther et al., 2012, Falvey et al., 2013, Watson, 2001). The injury description and a musculoskeletal pre-participation screening are two effective tools to decipher the risk of injury in Gaelic games (Maffey and Emery, 2006, Bahr and Krosshaug, 2005). However, as of yet there is no developed standardised screening for Gaelic games which needs to be addressed. In addition, some tests are not field based tests which is not ideal for use in screenings, and their reliability has not yet been established. Thus this research will aim to investigate these gaps in the literature to provide a comprehensive view of the epidemiology and risk factors for injury in adolescent and collegiate Gaelic footballers and hurlers.

2. 6. Primary aim of Research

The primary aim of this thesis is to capture the epidemiology of injury and identify risk factors for injury in adolescent and collegiate Gaelic footballers and hurlers.

2. 7. Aims and Objectives of Research

Study 1: The musculoskeletal pre participation screening in adolescent and collegiate Gaelic footballers and hurlers.

Aim of Study 1

To develop and establish normative data of a musculoskeletal pre-participation screening for adolescent and collegiate Gaelic footballers and hurlers

Objectives of Study 1

To develop a musculoskeletal pre-participation screening suitable for Gaelic football and hurling

- To develop and adapt suitable tests and scoring systems that are not sufficient or developed in current literature to include in a screening in Gaelic football and hurling
- To determine the absolute and relative inter-tester and intra-tester reliability of the developed or adapted screening tests
- To establish normative data for adolescent and collegiate Gaelic footballers and hurlers in each of the screening tests
- To compare and contrast the normative data in adolescent and collegiate Gaelic footballers and hurlers
- > To compare and contrast the normative data between Gaelic football and hurling

Study 2: The epidemiology of injury in adolescent and collegiate Gaelic footballers and hurlers.

Aim of Study 2

To establish the incidence rates and epidemiology of injury in adolescent and collegiate Gaelic footballers and hurlers.

Objectives of Study 2

- To establish the incidence of injuries in adolescent and collegiate Gaelic footballers and hurlers
- To determine the epidemiology of injuries that occur in adolescent and collegiate Gaelic footballers and hurlers
- To compare and contrast the incidence and epidemiologic report of injuries in adolescent and collegiate Gaelic footballers and hurlers
- To compare and contrast the incidence and epidemiologic report of injuries between Gaelic football and hurling
- To compare and contrast the incidence and epidemiologic report of injury between fresher and senior players

Study 3: The risk factors for injury in adolescent and collegiate Gaelic footballers and hurlers.

Aim of Study 3

To identify the risk factors for sustaining an injury in adolescent and collegiate Gaelic footballers and hurlers

Objectives of Study 3

- To identify the risk factors for injury in the lower body, upper body and trunk in adolescent Gaelic footballers and hurlers and collegiate Gaelic footballers and hurlers
- To determine cut off points to identify participants at risk of injury in the lower body, upper body and trunk for adolescent Gaelic footballers and hurlers and collegiate Gaelic footballers and hurlers
- To establish the risk factors for injury in commonly injured body parts in school adolescents, adolescent Gaelic footballers and hurlers and collegiate Gaelic footballers and hurlers
- To determine cut off points to identify participants at risk of injury in each of the commonly injured body parts for school adolescents, adolescent Gaelic footballers and hurlers and collegiate Gaelic footballers and hurlers

Chapter 3. The musculoskeletal preparticipation screening in adolescent and collegiate Gaelic footballers and hurlers.

3.1. Introduction

A musculoskeletal pre-participation screening is utilised to identify possible risk factors for injury in an athlete. The screening is based on the principle that it can evaluate a player's ability in selected tasks prior to the season commencing, which can allow therapists to develop and introduce prevention strategies to reduce the subsequent likelihood of injury where necessary (Maffey and Emery, 2006). While the benefits of implementing a screening is evident, they do not commonly take place in Ireland outside of elite county teams, because as unlike collegiate and sporting teams in the U.S.A. and Canada, Irish teams are not under legal and insurance obligations to do so (Carek and Mainous, 2003).

At present, no standardised screening has been developed specifically for Gaelic games or indeed generically for use across all sports (Maffey and Emery, 2006). Research recommends that the screening itself should be simple to execute, time efficient, suitable to administer to a large number of players and utilise field based tests that require minimal and inexpensive equipment in order to promote its usage and ensure compliance with therapists and teams (Garrick, 2004, Maffey and Emery, 2006, Gabbe et al., 2004). There is a lack of consensus in the current literature on which tests should be ideally included, however it is generally accepted that the tests chosen should be based on clinical experience, knowledge of the sport and must be prioritised to the most essential and sport specific components based on the epidemiology of injury in the sport (Gabbe et al., 2004, Maffey and Emery, 2006). High reliability (high consistency of the test or measurement) is essential for each test in the screening in order to confidently interpret the results of the testing (Hopkins, 2000). Ideally both absolute and relative inter-tester and intra-tester reliability should be established (Atkinson and Nevill, 1998, Hayen et al., 2007, Eliasziw et al., 1994).

Normative data is an essential component of any screening as it is a standardised reference of results for each specific test in a comparable population (Corkery et al., 2007). To date, there has only been a single published study on normative data in Gaelic footballers and hurlers (Fox et al., 2013), however, this was completed on adult players only and utilised the FMS protocol which has inherent serious limitations as discussed in Section 2.4.1.2. Thus, there is a clear need for normative data in adolescent and collegiate Gaelic footballers and hurlers. Additionally, there is a lack of normative data in screenings internationally in adolescent teenagers.

Thus, the aims of this study are:

- 1) Design a screening specific to Gaelic football and hurling.
 - 2) Develop and adapt suitable tests and scoring systems for use in the screening
 - 3) Establish the absolute and relative inter-tester and intra-tester reliability of the developed and adapted screening tests
- 4) Establish normative data for adolescent and collegiate Gaelic footballers and hurlers

5) Compare and contrast normative data between adolescent and collegiate Gaelic footballers and hurlers

- 6) Compare and contrast normative data between Gaelic footballers and hurlers
- 7) Compare and contrast normative data between fresher and senior players.

3.2. Method

3. 2. 1. Subjects

771 male participants that played Gaelic football and hurling were recruited. Adolescent participants (n=426) were recruited from five, all male schools from Dublin and its surrounding areas that had a strong Gaelic football and hurling background. These schools were:

- Colaiste Eoin, Cappagh Road, Dublin
- St Aidan's Secondary School, Collins Avenue, Whitehall, Dublin
- St Declan's College, Nephin Road, Dublin
- Ardscoil Ris, Griffith Avenue, Dublin
- St Patrick's Classical school, Navan

Collegiate participants (n=345) were recruited from the male fresher and senior Gaelic football and hurling teams in Dublin City University in the first year of the study and both Dublin City University and Athlone Institute of Technology in the second year of the study. All possible participants were required to attend an information session where the testing procedure and risks of the study were fully explained. All participants were given a plain language statement form (Appendix B) and an informed consent form (Appendix C) to sign. School participants and their legal guardian were required to sign the informed consent prior to undergoing the testing. Ethical approval was granted prior to the study starting date by Dublin City University Ethics committee.

3. 2. 2. Development of the musculoskeletal pre-participation screening

This study aimed to propose a series of tests specific to Gaelic games to form a comprehensive screening. After extensive research in this area, a series of tests was proposed and the content validity of the musculoskeletal screening was initially assessed. Content validity is established by a group of experts in the area discussing and ultimately voting on the inclusion or exclusion of components of the screening (Lafave et al., 2013). Four experts with extensive experience in the screening area took part in establishing the content validity; the primary researcher in this study (Siobhán O Connor MSc. ARTC), a clinical biomechanist (Dr. Kieran Moran), a sports medicine physician (Dr Noel McCaffrey) and a lecturer in Athletic therapy (Mr Enda Whyte MSc. ARTC). A number of meetings were held to discuss the advantages and disadvantages of each test and discussions were undertaken in great detail on the purpose of each test, its relationship to injury and the practicality of the test in a

screening. As previously mentioned (Section 2.4), there are a number of serious limitations of tests used in screenings in current literature. Thus, the current researcher and expert group saw the need to not only select tests for each component of the screening, they observed a need to develop (1 test) and adapt tests (4 tests) for the screening. Both scapular control and core were highlighted as components of the screening where no clear consensus was available on a clinical gold standard test. Thus, the scapular control test was developed as a dynamic comprehensive method of assessing winging, control of scapula in both the lifting and lowering motion and the symmetry of scapulae. Initially five separate tests were included in the testing protocol for an assessment of core musculature: flexor endurance test, extensor endurance test, the plank, side plank and double leg lowering test. A comprehensive scoring system was developed for the overhead squat and single leg squat as the scoring systems available in current literature were general and did not capture the full body mechanics of the action completed. In addition, the active knee extension test was adapted from the tests utilised in the present literature by removing extra equipment to ensure the test was quick to execute and used minimal equipment. Thus the following tests were suggested as possible beneficial tests for inclusion in this study and a pilot study was undertaken to assess the effectiveness of each of these tests in the screening:

- Height
- Weight
- Active knee extension test
- Internal rotation of the shoulder
- External rotation of the shoulder
- Navicular drop test
- The Y balance test
- Overhead squat

- Single leg squat
- Scapular Control test
- The Landing error scoring system (LESS)
- Flexor endurance test
- Extensor endurance test
- Plank test
- Side plank test
- The double leg lowering test

3. 2. 3. Pilot Study

The pilot study was completed prior to the normative testing being undertaken. Two under 16 male Gaelic football and hurling teams (n=63) from a local club undertook the screening. The purpose of the pilot study was to assess the appropriateness and practicality of each test in the screening. It also functioned as a trial run of the protocol designed for the study and was used as a tool to allow researchers to decide on which

tests should be utilised in the final screening. The following criteria were assessed in the pilot study: time taken to implement the test, equipment needed, does the test actually assess the component to be tested, how easy the tester found the assessment of the test, the accuracy and applicability of the scoring system used, was the tests instructions easy to understand and clear and the participants view of the test. The main researcher completed screenings of this nature in collegiate Gaelic games prior to this PhD and so it was clear that the adults could complete these screening tasks. As the ability of adolescents to complete these screening tasks had not been informally assessed previously, only adolescent participants were assessed. This is a possible limitation to this pilot study.

3. 2. 3. 1. Findings from the Pilot Study

This pilot study provided insight into the screening to the current researcher and expert group. The following tests were found to work well in the screening protocol: Height, weight, active knee extension test, internal and external rotation of the shoulder, navicular drop test, the Y balance test, overhead squat, single leg squat and scapular control test. Table 3.1 displays the issues noted by the testers in this pilot study. In summary, the combined testing protocol was very time consuming as a large number of tests were included. The five core tests (flexor endurance, extensor endurance, plank, side plank and double leg lowering test) did not work well in this format as they were found to be time consuming and serious methodological errors were noted. Testers found it difficult to decide the moment of failure of the core tests and participants were able to utilise compensation strategies to prolong the test. The LESS test was found to produce redundant results in this testing format as the overhead squat and single leg squat tested the same individual criteria (e.g. knee valgus, toe out, trunk flexion) as the LESS test. Thus, testers felt that they were reporting the same faults that may predispose to injury in three separate manners. In addition, this test was found to be time consuming and some participants (especially those with previous ankle and knee injuries) were hesitant about jumping from the 30cm box for fear of re-injury.

Table 31.	Issues surro	unding tests	in the r	nusculoskeletal	nre-nartici	nation screening
1 anic 3.1.	155ucs Sull	Junung icois	in the i	nusculoskcictai	pi c-pai uci	pation screening

Test Description	Issues noticed in Pilot study
Landing Error Scoring System (I	LESS)
Markers were placed on the ASIS, greater trochanter, patella, head of fibula, and big toe.	Similar criteria were assessed in the overhead and single leg
Participant jumps from 30cm box onto marked surface on the floor and immediately	squat. Thus the results in this test seemed redundant
jumps as high as possible	The landing occurred too quickly to mark each of the
	individual criteria in real time
	Filming participants under 16 and the amount of skin
	required to be on show for markers (especially greater
	trochanter) to be visible was problematic as participants
	became embarrassed when asked to do this
	Some participants (especially those with previous ankle and
	knee injuries) were nesitant to jump off the 30cm box to
Eleven endurance (Section 2.4.1	11)
Flexor endurance (Section 2.4.1	.11) Derticipants may round the back to provent the back from
bips flexed to 90°. Wedge is removed and participants must hold this position until fatigue	hitting the wedge and prolong the test
imps nexed to 90°. Wedge is removed and participants must note this position until rangue	Initial de wedge and profong the test
	Participants may protract the scapulae to prevent the
Entender Endemones (Section 2.4	shoulders from hitting the wedge and prolong the test
Extensor Endurance (Section 2.4 Dertiginant line prope on a plinth with lower body fixed and the upper body extended off	1.11) Difficult to decide the moment of failure of the test test
the and and rests on the floor. Lift upper body up off the floor so the body is berizontal	and when the body lands on the floor however a participant
and hold until fully fatigued	may lose stability and be unable to hold the body horizontal
	long before this occurs
Plank (Section 2.4.1.11)	
Participants lie supine and rise into a plank position. Must hold their shoulders, hips and	Difficult to decide the moment of failure of the test, test
ankles in a straight line until they fatigue	ends when the body lands on the floor however a participant
	may lose stability and the straight line long before this
	occurs

Side Plank (Section 2.4.1.11))
Participants lie on their side and lift onto their elbows and side of feet with shoulder, hip	Difficult to decide the moment of failure of the side plank:
and ankle in a straight line until they fatigue	test ends when the hips land on the floor however a
	participant may lose stability and the straight line long
	before this occurs
Double leg lowering test (Section 2.	.4.1.11)
Participants lie supine with their hips flexed to 90° and knees fully straighten. From this	Difficult to decipher the exact moment the lower back lifts
position the participant slowly lowers their legs from 90° while keeping their lower back in	from the plinth
contact with a wooden bench. The point in which the lower back moves superiorly from	
the wooden bench is deemed the end point (when core musculature loses control of the	
spine)	

From this pilot study the expert group decided that it was not feasible to perform all measurements set out in the original protocol due to time constraints. The protocol and scoring systems developed for the scapular control test, overhead squat and single leg squat were found to be effective and easily administered, and thus all three tests were included in the final testing protocol¹. Due to the large number of issues noted in the LESS test (Table 3.1) it was decided to remove this test from the screening protocol.

None of the core stability tests used in the original protocol were considered an appropriate test to use, therefore the expert group required a new test to address the issues demonstrated in the pilot study. The trunk stability test is one of the seven tests utilised to assesses fundamental movement in the functional movement screen (FMSTM) (Cook et al., 2006b). The trunk stability test aims to measure reflex core stabilisation and requires participants to complete a closed kinetic chain, upper body symmetrical pushing movement (push up) while controlling and limiting movement of the spine and hips in the sagittal and anterior/posterior plane (Cook, 2010). Thus, it assesses core stability under functional loading during dynamic movement, which is beneficial as dynamic motion occurs during sporting movements and so is more applicable for use in a screening setting (Bliven and Anderson, 2013, Chorba et al., 2010). In addition this test requires minimal equipment and can easily be administered in a field based setting by therapists. While this test has some obvious advantages (quick to administer, requires no equipment, easy to implement, dynamic nature of the test), the current researchers felt that the trunk stability test may not be sensitive enough to differentiate between the subtle differences between good and excellent core stability, especially in the athletic population studied in this thesis. It has been demonstrated that 76.2% of young physically active males achieved the highest rating of three in this test (Schneiders et al., 2011), therefore it may difficult to sub-classify those with higher levels of core stability utilising this trunk stability test. The addition of an extra level to this test in order to incrementally challenge the core stability of an athlete may allow further subdivision of the grading system and so identify those with higher core stability. Slightly reducing the base of support to cause light to moderate instability during the test may require the core muscles to further stabilise and so impose a greater challenge to the participant (Stanton et al., 2004, Haynes, 2004). Thus, the alternative core test was adapted from the trunk stability push up test by adding an extra level

¹ Unfortunately, subsequent to our research design and testing, the 100 point research FMS scale was developed and published for the overhead squat, therefore this scale could not have utilised in our study.

whereby participants are required to lift their right leg slightly off the ground to cause a certain amount of unbalance that the participant must aim to stabilise when completing a push up. Researchers completed a small pilot study on 15 college participants to compare the trunk stability test with the adapted core stability test developed in this study. This pilot study found that 80% of participants scored a 3 (the highest score) in the trunk stability test. However when the alternative push up test was implemented, 53.3% were reported to have good core stability and received a score of three, and 26.7% scored an excellent and received a score of 4 (the highest score). This suggests that the adapted alternative push up test can subdivide the good and excellent core stability scores in this population. A full description of the test is displayed in Appendix L.

Thus the expert group proposed a revised testing protocol for the screening was as follows:

- Height
- Weight
- Active knee extension
- Internal rotation of shoulder
- External rotation of shoulder
- Navicular drop

3. 2. 4. Reliability of developed and adapted tests

Absolute and relative inter-tester and intra-tester reliability was established between three testers over two sessions. This reliability research study was completed in conjunction with this PhD but is not included as part of the final three studies in the PhD and so is detailed in full in Appendix A. These tests produced excellent inter-tester reliability and good-to-excellent intra-tester reliability, and so therapists can be satisfied when utilising these tests in a musculoskeletal pre-participation screening that the results of these tests can be interpreted with minimal error.

3. 2. 5. Experimental Protocol

Prior to testing all participants were required to return a signed informed consent form. Each school and collegiate team was assessed separately. For adolescents, testing was completed in the school hall and collegiate participant testing was completed in a large rehabilitation laboratory which was cleared of all equipment. The screening process

- Y balance test
- Overhead squat
- Single leg squat
- Scapular control test
- Alternative push up test

takes approximately 30 minutes to complete per person. The equipment required to complete this screening includes a portable stadiometer, calibrated scale, plinth, inclinometer, dowel, y balance test kit, athletic tape, fine tipped non-toxic water soluble marker, pen and scoring sheet. This equipment is readily available in the clinical setting and is reusable however to buy this equipment it would cost approximately \in 750.

3. 2. 5. 1. Testers

Ten testers were needed to test a single team. Thus a core group of undergraduate therapists with experience in implementing screening tests were recruited. All testers underwent three training sessions. The testers were initially given a presentation on the purpose, the instructions and scoring system of each of the tests in the testing protocol. In addition, photographs were provided in this presentation of possible and common mistakes made by participants. A manual of testing instructions and scoring system for each test was given to each tester to study. Following this a demonstration of each of the tests was provided. Common mistakes made by both the testers and participants during each test were highlighted. Furthermore testers underwent three separate practice sessions where they practised each tests on a sample group of collegiate participants. Testers were encouraged to critique each other's scoring technique and the main researcher in this study assessed the ability of each tester to adequately score each test prior to the screening. This method was considered superior to other familiarisation sessions in current literature as Gabbe et al. (2004) demonstrated that two therapists with experience in assessments showed similar result after just two short training sessions. Even though testers were taught to score all tests, each tester was assigned a single test to assess throughout the screening sessions. This was done to increase reliability.

3. 2. 5. 2. Testing Protocol

Figure 3.1 displays the schematic diagram of the testing procedure utilised in this study. A circuit format was utilised as it was considered more time efficient. Testers completed a single test on all participants throughout the screening and the participants followed the circuit clearly laid out to complete each test. No warm up was completed prior to testing to ensure reliability between tests. The effects of a warm up may increase results in some tests and if the warm up effects wore off some participants nearing the end of the testing procedure this may negatively affect their results. The scoring sheet utilised is displayed in Appendix D.



Figure 3.1: Schematic diagram of testing procedure

3. 2. 5. 3. Tests used in musculoskeletal pre-participation screening

Participants were asked to wear runners, shorts and t-shirts to testing. During no time in the testing was a participant coached or given verbal feedback on their performance of the test. Specific instructions for each test was given to each tester and testers were allowed repeat these instructions during the test if necessary. For all tests participants were asked to report pain as soon as they felt it and were instructed to stop completing the test immediately. For this study the results of the participants with pain were not taken into account in the active knee extension test, shoulder mobility tests, Y balance test, scapular control test, navicular drop test and alternative push up test. For the overhead squat and single leg squat participants that felt pain during the test were scored a "0" in the test. Appendix E-L explains in detail the equipment needed, description of test, specific instructions given to participants, number of trials completed, details of what constitutes an incomplete trial and measurement taken for all tests in the screening including: height, weight, active knee extension, internal rotation of shoulder, external rotation of shoulder, navicular drop, Y balance test, overhead squat, single leg squat, scapular control test and alternative push up test.

Anthropometric data

Height was measured to the nearest millimeter using a portable stadiometer (Leicester Height Measure; SECA, Birmingham, United Kingdom) (Appendix E). Body mass was obtained to the nearest 0.1 kg using a calibrated scale (Salter Academy Scale Kent, United Kingdom) (Appendix E). Body mass index (BMI) was calculated as body mass (in kilograms) divided by body height in square meters.

Hamstring flexibility

Hamstring flexibility was measured using the active knee extension test (Figure 3.2). The active knee extension test measures the angle between the tibia and the femur using an inclinometer to the nearest degree (Appendix F).



Figure 3.2: Active knee extension test

Shoulder Mobility

Shoulder mobility of the participant was measured using the internal and external range of motion tests (Figure 3.3 and Figure 3.4 respectively). The arm is placed into 90° abduction and elbow is bent to 90° flexion, the angle between the forearm and the humerus is used to measure the range of internal and external motion using an inclinometer to the nearest degree (Appendix G).



Figure 3.3: Internal range of motion test



Figure 3.4: External range of motion test

Foot Function

Foot function was assessed using the modified navicular drop test (Figure 3.5). The difference in navicular height between subtalar joint neutral position when sitting and normal standing position is measured (Appendix H). The navicular drop test is normalised with foot length for comparison purposes, thus foot length was also measured along with this test. Foot length was defined as the distance from the most posterior aspect of the calcaneus to the tip of the longest toe and was found to be a highly reliable measure (ICC=0.99) (Plisky et al., 2007, Barton et al., 2010). Foot length was measured using a cloth measuring tape. A ruler was used instead of an index card to measure the height of the navicular tuberosity due to its higher reliability (index:0.84-0.88; ruler:0.88-0.91) (Plisky et al., 2007). Increased accuracy is attributed to the ruler due to the fact a marker is not used; the thickness of the marker may over or underestimate the actual navicular height (Plisky et al., 2007). The placement of the foot into subtalar joint neutral and marking the navicular tuberosity are identified as two of the most common sources of error in the navicular drop test. Therefore to combat this issue we ensured that testers practiced these procedures repeatedly prior to testing, the main researcher in this study assessed each tester on their ability to complete these tasks prior to commencement of testing. In addition the tester chosen to complete this test was identified by the lead researcher as the most competent and confident in this task.



Figure 3.5: Navicular drop test

Balance

Balance was measured using the Y balance test (Figure 3.6). The Y balance test measures the reach distance in the anterior, posteriomedial and posteriolateral directions of one leg to the corresponding leg in centimetres using the Y balance test equipment (Appendix I). The Y balance test is completed shoeless and for comparison purposes the results are normalised with leg length. Leg length was defined as the distance between the anterior superior iliac spine (ASIS) to the most distal portion of the lateral malleolus (Clark et al., 2010). To measure leg length the subject is asked to get into the hook lying position, the hips are lifted off the table and returned to the starting position. The tester passively straightens the subject's legs which equalizes the pelvis. The subject's right limb is measured from the anterior superior iliac spine (ASIS) to the most distal portion of the lateral malleolus with a cloth tape measure (Clark et al., 2010). Limb length measured in this manner is shown to have high reliability (ICC=0.99) (Plisky et al., 2006). Based on the recommendation of Robinson and Gribble it was chosen that each participant completed 4 trials in each direction (Robinson and Gribble, 2008). The composite score is summated by getting the sum of the average reach distance in the anterior (A), posteriomedial (PM) and posteriolateral (PL) directions divided by three times the leg length (LL) multiplied by a hundred.

$Comosite score = \{ (A + PM + PL) \div (LL \times 3) \times 100 \}$





Figure 3.6: Y balance test

Squatting Techniques

Squatting techniques was assessed using the overhead squat (Figure 3.7) and single leg squat (Figure 3.8). A 0-3 rating was given for each of the following variables during the squat and single leg squat: knees over toes, knee valgus, knee varus, toe out, toe in hip flexed, trunk flexed, balance and overall impression (Appendix J). For overall impression the rating given was: 0=pain, 1=poor, 2=average, 3=excellent, and for all other variables the rating was: 0=none, 1=slight, 2=moderate, 3=severe.



Figure 3.7: Overhead squat test



Figure 3.8: Single leg squat test

Scapular control

Scapular control was assessed using the scapular control test (Figure 3.9). The scapular control test requires the subject to slowly abduct their arms 180° and slowly lower to the starting position (Appendix K). A 0-3 rating (0=none, 1=slight, 2=moderate, 3=severe) was given for each of the following variables: winging (medial border of scapulae

should be flat on their ribs), control when lifting, control when lowering (must lift and lower in a controlled manner with no shaking or abnormal scapulae positioning) and symmetry of scapulae (scapulae must move together throughout the full range of motion with no lagging behind or speeding of a single scapula in relation to the corresponding scapulae). Testers stood 2-3m from the participant which is based on the recommended distance suggested by McClure et al. (2009) as it allows the tester to view the entire shoulder abduction movement on both scapulae. In addition, testers were informed that the scapula on the dominant side is characteristically positioned slightly lower than the non-dominant side and this was taken into account during this test (Oyama et al., 2008).



Figure 3.9: Scapular control test

Core Stability

Core stability was assessed using the alternative push up test (Figure 3.10). A 0-4 rating was given to the subject while completing a push up (Appendix L) and the rating classification is as follows:

- 4= Can complete a push up with their hands at the level of their forehead and with their right leg slightly lifted off the ground without lagging or twisting of the spine or hips
- 3=Can complete a push up with their hands at the level of their forehead and both feet together on the ground. Unable to complete the push up with the right leg lifted off the ground without lagging or twisting of the spine or hips
- 2= Can complete a push up with hands at the level of the chin and both feet together without lagging or twisting of the spine or hips
- 1=Unable to complete a push up with hands at the level of the chin with both feet together without lagging or twisting of the spine or hips
- 0= Experiences pain during the test



Figure 3.10: Alternative push up test

3. 2. 6. Data Processing and Statistical Analysis:

All results were inputted into Microsoft excel (2010) where the data was checked, mistakes were corrected and missing values were coded. Following this the results were inputted into the statistical package SPSS (version 20).

3. 2. 6. 1. Normative data for adolescent and collegiate participants

The normative data for each of the screening tests is presented separately for adolescent (n=426) and collegiate participants (n=345).

<u>Anthropometrics</u>: The mean, standard deviation and range for age, height, weight and BMI is presented. Quartile results for height, weight and BMI were also calculated. The percentage and number of right and left hand and limb dominance was assessed and reported.

<u>Flexibility</u>: The mean, standard deviation and 95% Confidence Intervals was presented for active knee extension, internal rotation and external rotation tests. The percentiles for each of the tests were identified. A paired samples t-test was completed to compare between the right and left sides in each of the tests. The effect size was determined using eta squared for comparison tests between groups only. Eta squared was computed using the formula below:

Eta squared =
$$\frac{t^2}{t^2 + (N-1)}$$

Where t is the t value reported in the t-test, and N is the number of participants Equation 3.2: Calculation of Eta squared

Foot function: The mean, standard deviation and 95% Confidence Intervals were examined for the navicular drop test on the right and left side. The percentage of participants who had a greater than 10mm drop on either or both feet was assessed

along with a side-to-side navicular drop difference of greater than 3mm. A paired samples t-test was completed to assess the difference between the right and left sides in participants.

Balance: The mean, standard deviation and 95% Confidence Intervals were examined for the average reach distance (cm), average reach difference (cm) and average reach normalised with leg length (%LL) in the anterior, posteriomedial and posteriolateral directions in the Y balance test. The composite score was computed as described previously and the mean, standard deviation and 95% Confidence Intervals of the composite score and average reach difference was analysed. Quartile results for each of the variables in the Y balance test was measured and reported. The percentage of participants with side-to-side differences of greater than 4cm for the anterior, posteriomedial, posteriolateral and composite scores was assessed. The percentage of participants that scored less than 94% and 89% of their average reach distance normalised by their leg length for the anterior, posteriomedial, posteriolateral and composite scores was examined (Plisky et al., 2006, Butler et al., 2013b). A one way repeated measures ANOVA was conducted to compare the average reach distance between legs for the anterior, posteriolateral and composite scores. Post hoc analysis using the Bonferoni test was also completed.

<u>Squatting techniques</u>: The percentage and number of participant's distribution of scores for the individual criteria and overall scores for the overhead squat and single leg squat was assessed. A paired samples t-test was completed for the individual criteria scores between right and left legs in the single leg squat. The mean, standard deviation, significant difference (p value) and effect size (eta squared) was reported.

<u>Scapular control</u>: The percentage and number of participant's distribution of scores for the scapular control test was identified. A paired samples t-test was completed to examine the difference in scores between right and left sides. The mean, standard deviation and effect size (eta squared) was reported for this test.

<u>*Core stability:*</u> The percentage and number of participants distribution of scores for the alternative push up test was identified and reported.

3. 2. 6. 2. Analysis between the sport and level played.

A two by two ANOVA was completed to determine if sport (Gaelic football v hurling) and level played (fresher v senior) affected the screening results. The mean, standard deviation and effect size (partial eta squared) are reported using the classification proposed by Cohen (1988) [small effect size=0.01 (1% of variance), medium effect size=0.06 (6% of variance) and large effect size=0.14 (13.8% of variance)].

3. 2. 6. 3. Analysis between adolescent and collegiate participants

Independent samples t-tests were completed to compare the results of each of the screening tests between adolescent and collegiate participants. The mean, standard deviation and the effect sizes are reported. The relationship between the variables age and BMI with each of the screening tests was assessed using a Pearson's product moment correlation. The significance and strength of the relationship (r value) was examined and was classified according to Cohen (1988) (small=0.10-0.29, medium=0.30-0.49 and large=0.50-1.0).

3. 2. 6. 4. Analysis of the relationship between tests

In order to examine the relationship between tests or the extent to which some tests are redundant, the relationship between pre-selected tests was undertaken. A paired samples t-test was completed to compare hand dominance (right and left) with rotation of the shoulder (internal and external) and scapular control of the shoulder. A Pearson's product moment correlation was completed to assess the relationship between the following: rotation of the shoulder and scapular control of the shoulder, overall impression and balance scores of the overhead squat and single leg squat with the Y balance test, overall impression in the overhead squat with the single leg squat, individual criteria of the overhead squat and single leg squat, active knee extension test and the individual criteria of hip flexion and knees over toes reported in both the overhead squat and single leg squat and single leg squat and single leg squat and the overhead squat and single leg squat and single leg squat and single leg squat and the overhead squat and single leg squat and single leg squat and single leg squat and single leg squat and the overhead squat and single leg squat and single leg squat and single leg squat and single leg squat and the overhead squat and single leg squat and single leg squat and single leg squat and single leg squat and finally the alternative push up test and the Y balance test.

3. 2. 6. 5. Effect sizes

Effect sizes were reported for t-test, analysis of variance and correlation analysis. Effect sizes establish the magnitude of the difference or relationship between two variables (Pallant, 2010). For the purpose of musculoskeletal screening research, while all the statistically significant results are reported, it was decided that significant differences

with only a small effect size are considered clinically irrelevant and are treated as such in the discussion.

3. 3. Results

3. 3. 1. Adolescent Pre-Participation Screening Results

A total of 426 adolescent participants took part in the pre participation screening however full screening results was available for 378 participants only. Missing data was rare in most tests except for the Y balance test, whereby the time taken to complete the test impacted the testing process and resulted in some participants testing a single leg only.

3. 3. 1. 1. Anthropometric Data and participant information

The anthropometric data is presented in Table 3.2.

 Table 3.2: Anthropometric Data for adolescent participants (n=426)

	Age (yr)	Height (m)	Weight (kg)	BMI (kg/m ²)
Mean ± Standard Deviation	15.6 ± 0.7	1.76 ± 0.74	66.9 ± 10.2	21.7 ± 2.8
Range	14-19	1.43-1.98	36-97	15.6-33.1

Quartile results for height, weight and body mass index (BMI) are presented in Appendix M. Hand and lower limb dominance is detailed in Table 3.3. Participants were predominantly right hand and lower limb dominant.

Table 3.3:	Dominance
-------------------	-----------

	Hand Dominance % (n)	Lower Limb Dominance % (n)
Right	87.3 (370)	85.8 (363)
Left	11.8 (50)	13.8 (59)
Ambidextrous	0.9 (4)	0.2 (1)

3. 3. 1. 2. Flexibility

Table 3.4 illustrates the mean flexibility for both right and left active knee extension, internal rotation of the shoulder and external rotation of the shoulder tests. Internal and external rotation on the left side was found to be significantly greater than the right side (p<0.0001) with a large and a moderate effect size, respectively; however the significant difference (p<0.05) between sides in the active knee extension test displayed a small effect size. An active knee extension test result of less than 70° was found in 72.8% and 77.2% of participants on the right and left leg respectively. A total range of motion (internal and external rotation added together) of greater than 5° was found in 84.6% of participants and an internal range of motion on the non-dominant side of greater than 20° than the dominant side was found in 22.1% of participants. The percentile results in the right and left side for active knee extension, internal rotation and external rotation of the shoulder is presented in Appendix N.

		Mean ± SD	95% CI	Sig	Effect size
				difference	
Active knee extension (°)	R	61.3 ± 13.4	59.9-62.7	p=0.002	small 0.02
	L	60.2 ± 13.2	58.8-61.5		
Internal rotation (°)	R	77.8 ± 15.5	76.2-79.3	p<0.0001	large 0.23
	L	88.8 ± 19.4	86.9-90.8		
External rotation (°)	R	85.4 ± 22.4	83.2-87.6	p<0.0001	moderate 0.07
	L	91.7 ± 14.9	90.3-93.2		

Table 3.4: Hamstring flexibility and Shoulder mobility tests; Mean, standard deviation, significant difference and effect size.

R, right; L, left

3. 3. 1. 3. Navicular Drop Test

Table 3.5 demonstrates the results of the navicular drop test in the right and left leg. A navicular drop test of greater than 10mm was found in 34.5% of participants on the right leg and 36.2% on the left leg, which can indicate an increased risk of injury (Bennett et al., 2001). However there was no statistically significant difference between the right and left feet (p>0.05). 30.1% of adolescent participants had a side to side difference of greater than 3mm which has also been proposed as a possible predictor of injury (Plisky et al., 2007).

Table 3.5: Navicular Drop Test

Side	Mean ± SD	Range	95% CI
Right (mm)	7.4 ± 5.1	0-25	6.9-7.9
Left (mm)	7.6 ± 5.4	0-25	7.1-8.2

3. 3. 1. 4. Y balance test

Table 3.6 demonstrates the average reach distance (cm), average reach difference in distance between legs (cm) and the percentage average reach in comparison to their leg lengths (%) in the anterior, posteriomedial and posteriolateral directions. The composite score and the average reach difference in distance between legs for the composite score are also included. The quartile results for the Y balance test are presented in Appendix O. Table 3.7 represents the asymmetrical differences between legs for the anterior, posteriomedial, posteriolateral and composite scores (Plisky et al, 2006). Table 3.8 displays the participants at an increased risk of injury due to a composite reach percentage of their leg length less than 94% and 89% (Plisky et al., 2006, Butler et al., 2013b). There was a significant difference between legs for the posteriomedial reach distance (p<0.05) which displayed a moderate effect size and anterior reach distance (p<0.001) which only reported a small effect size.

significant unter ence between legs and the effect size.						
		Mean ± SD	95% CI	Sig difference	Effect size	
Anterior						
Reach distance (cm)	R	67.9 ± 8.9	67-68.8	p<0.0001	moderate 0.07	
	L	69.6 ± 9.1	68.7-70.5			
Reach difference (cm)		4.6 ± 3.9	4.2-4.9			
Reach (%LL)		69.8 ± 9.3	68.9-70.8			
Posteriomedial						
Reach distance (cm)	R	98.6 ± 11.1	97.5-99.8	p=0.13	small 0.01	
	L	101.3 ± 22.4	99-103.5			
Reach difference (cm)		5.7 ± 4.8	5.2-6.2			
Reach (%LL)		100.9 ± 11.8	99.8-102.1			
Posteriolateral						
Reach distance (cm)	R	98.2 ± 11.9	97-99.4	ns		
	L	98.3 ± 11.9	97.1-99.8			
Reach difference (cm)		6 ± 4.8	5.6-6.5			
Reach (%LL)		99.8 ± 12.5	98.6-101.1			
Composite						
Composite score	R	92 ± 11.7	90.9-93.2	ns		
	L	93.8 ± 20.1	91.8-95.8			
Reach difference (cm)		4.3 ± 6.6	3.6-4.9			
Reach (%LL)		95.4±25.1	92.9-97.9			

Table 3.6: Y Balance test; Mean, standard deviation, 95% confidence interval, significant difference between legs and the effect size.

%LL, percentage of leg length. R, right; L, left. ns, not significant.

 Table 3.7: Y balance test; Percentage of participants at risk with asymmetries of greater than 4cm

Difference > 4cm	Anterior	Posteriomedial	Posteriolateral	Composite
Percentage	49.1%	56.7%	62.5%	47.1%
Number	189	217	238	181

Table 3.8: Y balance test; Participants at risk using cut off points with percentage	ge
leg length	

Composite %LL	Percentage at risk	Number at risk
Cut off 89%	32.6%	125
Cut off 94%	51.7%	198

3. 3. 1. 5. Overhead squat and single leg squat

Table 3.9 represents the overall impression of the overhead squat and the single leg squat for each leg. 2.1%, 2.0% and 2.5% of participants had pain during the overhead squat, single leg squat on the right leg and single leg squat on the left leg, respectively. For the overhead squat a similar percentage of students received a "poor" and "average" result, however for the single leg squat on the right and the left leg an "average" result was most common. No statistically significant difference was found between the "overall impression" scores for any of the squat tests (p>0.05). Table 3.10 and 3.11 demonstrate the results of the individual criteria for the overhead squat and single leg

squat on the right and left legs, respectively. For the overhead squat, participants were predominantly "normal", except for trunk flexion where the most common result was "slight". For the single leg squat on the right and left legs, knee varus, toe out, toe in and balance were predominantly "normal". However, knee over toes, knee valgus, hip flexion and trunk flexion were most commonly a "slight" problem. A statistically significant difference between the right and left leg was found for knee valgus, knee varus, hip flexion and trunk flexion (p<0.05) with only a small effect size demonstrated (Table 3.12).

		Poor (1)	Average (2)	Excellent (3)
		Percentage (n)	Percentage (n)	Percentage (n)
Squat		39.7 (156)	38.4 (151)	21.9 (86)
Single leg squat	R	37.8 (149)	49.7 (196)	12.2 (48)
	L	34.7 (136)	52.8 (207)	12.5 (49)

Table 3.9: Overall impression for overhead squat and single leg squat

R, right; L, left

Table 3.10: Individual criteria for the overhead squat

	Normal (0)	Slight (1)	Moderate (2)	Severe (3)	
	Percentage (n)	Percentage (n)	Percentage (n)	Percentage (n)	
Knee over toes	63.9 (253)	17.9 (71)	10.9 (43)	7.3 (29)	
Knee valgus	66.4 (263)	19.4 (77)	8.6 (34)	5.6 (22)	
Knee varus	76.5 (303)	12.6 (50)	7.1 (28)	3.8 (15)	
Toe out	59.3 (235)	21.7 (86)	13.4 (53)	5.6 (22)	
Toe in	91.4 (362)	4.8 (19)	3.3 (13)	0.5 (2)	
Hip flexion	41.3 (163)	30.6 (121)	22.8 (90)	5.3 (21)	
Trunk flexion	24.1 (95)	38.0 (150)	26.3 (104)	11.6 (46)	
Balance	60.4 (238)	28.9 (114)	10.4 (41)	0.3 (1)	
		Normal (0)	Slight (1)	Moderate (2)	Severe (3)
---------------	---	------------	------------	--------------	------------
		Percentage	Percentage	Percentage	Percentage
		(n)	(n)	(n)	(n)
Knee over	R	23 (91)	54.4 (215)	19 (75)	3.5 (14)
toes	L	24.2 (95)	53.2 (209)	19.1 (75)	3.6 (14)
Knee valgus	R	24.3 (96)	48.9 (193)	19.7 (78)	7.1 (28)
	L	33.8 (133)	46.8 (184)	13.7 (54)	5.6 (22)
Knee varus	R	85.6 (338)	11.4 (45)	2.8 (11)	0.3 (1)
	L	81.9 (322)	13.2 (52)	4.6 (18)	0.3 (1)
Toe out	R	84.6 (334)	10.6 (42)	4.6 (18)	0.3 (1)
	L	87.8 (345)	9.2 (36)	2.3 (8)	0.8 (3)
Toe in	R	98.5 (388)	1.5 (6)	0	0
	L	98.5 (387)	1.5 (6)	0	0
Hip flexion	R	24.8 (98)	39.7 (157)	30.4 (120)	5.1 (20)
	L	22.6 (89)	38.9 (153)	33.6 (132)	4.8 (19)
Trunk flexion	R	15.4 (61)	55.7 (220)	20.3 (80)	8.4 (33)
	L	15.8 (62)	58.8 (231)	19.1 (75)	6.4 (25)
Balance	R	61 (241)	19.7 (78)	14.4 (57)	4.8 (19)
	L	59.8 (235)	20.9 (82)	15.5 (61)	3.8 (15)

Table 3.11: Individual criteria for the single leg squat

R, right; L, left

Table 3.12: Individual criteria for single leg squat: Mean, standard deviation, significant difference and effect size (scoring ranged from 0 - 4)

	Right	Left	Sig difference	Effect size
	Mean± SD	Mean ± SD	(p value)	(eta squared)
Knee over toes	$1.\pm0.8$	1 ± 0.8	ns	
Knee valgus	1.1 ± 0.8	0.9 ± 0.8	p<0.0001	small 0.02
Knee varus	0.2 ± 0.5	0.2 ± 0.5	p=0.04	small 0.01
Toe out	0.2 ± 0.5	0.2 ± 0.5	ns	
Toe in	0 ± 0.1	0 ± 0.1	ns	
Hip flexion	1.2 ± 0.9	1.2 ± 0.9	p=0.03	small 0.01
Trunk flexion	1.3 ± 1	1.2 ± 0.8	p=0.04	small 0.01
Balance	0.6 ± 0.9	0.6 ± 0.9	ns	

ns, not significant

3. 3. 1. 6. Scapular control

A "slight" problem result was most prevalent for winging and control of scapula when lowering on the right and left sides (Table 3.13), "no" issues was the most commonly reported result for control of scapula when lifting. When assessing the symmetry between both sides a "slight" problem result was most predominant. There was a significant difference between sides for control of scapula when both lifting and lowering (p<0.05) however only a small effect size was noted (Table 3.14).

		None (0)	Slight (1)	Moderate (2)	Severe (3)
		Percentage	Percentage	Percentage	Percentage
		(n)	(n)	(n)	(n)
Winging	R	39.6 (163)	47.6 (196)	11.2 (46)	1.7 (7)
	L	40.8 (168)	44.7 (184)	12.6 (52)	1.9 (8)
Control of scapula	R	69.2 (285)	19.9 (82)	8.5 (35)	2.4 (10)
lifting	L	65.8 (271)	22.3 (92)	9.5 (39)	2.4 (10)
Control of scapula	R	28.6 (118)	33.5 (138)	28.2 (116)	9.5 (39)
lowering	L	23.3 (96)	33.3 (137)	33 (136)	10.4 (43)
Symmetry		37.4 (154)	43.7 (180)	14.8 (61)	4.1 (17)

Table 3.13: Scapular control

R, right; L, left

Table 3.14: Scapular control test: Mean, standard deviation, significant difference and effect size (Scoring ranged from 0-3)

	Right Mean± SD	Left Mean ± SD	Significant difference (p value)	Effect size (eta squared)
Winging	0.8 ± 0.7	0.8 ± 0.7	ns	
Control of scapula lifting	0.4 ± 0.8	0.5 ± 0.8	p=0.024	small 0.01
Control of scapula lowering	1.2 ± 1.1	1.3 ± 0.9	p=0.011	small 0.01

ns, not significant

3. 3. 1. 7. Alternative push up test

The two most prevalent results for the alternative push up test were "good" followed by "excellent" (Table 3.15).

Table 3.15: Alternative push up test

Poor (1)	Average (2)	Good (3)	Excellent (4)
Percentage (n)	Percentage (n)	Percentage (n)	Percentage (n)
9.6 (38)	18.4 (73)	41.9 (166)	30.1 (119)

3. 3. 2. Collegiate Pre-Participation Screening

A total of 345 adolescent participants took part in the pre participation screening however full screening results was available for 183 participants only. Missing data was rare in most tests except for the Y balance test, whereby the time taken to complete the test impacted the testing process and resulted in some participants testing a single leg only.

3. 3. 2. 1. Anthropometric data and participant information

A total of 345 collegiate participants took part in the pre participation screening and the anthropometric data is presented in Table 3.16.

	Age (yr)	Height (m)	Weight (kg)	BMI (kg/m ²)
Mean ± Standard Deviation	19.4 ± 1.9	1.81 ± 0.72	77.7 ± 9.5	23.6 ± 2.19
Range	17-27	1.28-1.98	52-106	16.9-29.9

Table 3.16: Anthropometric Data

Quartile results for height, weight and BMI of collegiate participants are displayed in Appendix M. Participants were predominantly right hand and lower limb dominant (Table 3.17).

Table 3.17: Dominar

	Hand Dominance % (n)	Lower Limb Dominance % (n)
Right	87 (295)	86.1 (292)
Left	13 (44)	13.6 (46)
Ambidextrous	0	0.3 (1)

3. 3. 2. 2. Flexibility

Table 3.18 illustrates the mean flexibility results for both right and left active knee extension, internal rotation and external rotation of the shoulder tests. There was a statistically significant difference between sides for the active knee extension test, internal rotation of the shoulder (p<0.0001) and external rotation of the shoulder tests (p<0.05) however only external rotation displayed at least a moderate effect size. An active knee extension test result of less than 70° was found in 63.9% and 61.0% of participants on the right and left leg respectively. A total range of motion (internal and external rotation added together) of greater than 5° was found in 75.3% of participants and an internal range of motion on the non-dominant side of greater than 20° than the dominant side was found in 33.8% of participants. The percentile results in the right and left side for active knee extension, internal rotation and external rotation of the shoulder is presented in Appendix N.

		Mean ± SD	95% CI	Sig difference	Effect size
Active knee extension (°)	R	64.7 ± 11.6	63.5-66	p=0.03	small 0.03
	L	65.8 ± 11	64.6-67		
Internal rotation (°)	R	74.4 ± 18.1	72.4-76.3	p<0.0001	moderate 0.07
	L	79 ± 18.4	77-81		
External rotation (°)	R	83.1 ± 16.8	81.3-85	p=0.025	small 0.02
	L	80.2 ± 23.3	77.7-82.7		

 Table 3.18: Hamstring flexibility and shoulder mobility: Mean, standard deviation, significant difference and effect size

3. 3. 2. 3. Navicular drop

A navicular drop test result of greater than 10mm was found in 38.9% of participants on the right leg and 32.7% on the left leg (Table 3.19). No statistically significant difference between the right and left feet was found (p>0.05). 34.4% of collegiate participants had a side to side difference of greater than 3mm.

Table 3.19: Navicular drop Test

	Mean ± SD	Range	95% CI
	(range)		
Right (mm)	8.3 ± 4.4	0-29	7.8-8.7
Left (mm)	8.2 ± 4.5	0-29	7.7-8.6

3. 3. 2. 4. Y balance test

Table 3.20 demonstrates the average reach distance (cm), average reach difference in distance between legs (cm) and the percentage average reach in comparison to their leg lengths (%) in the anterior, posteriomedial and posteriolateral directions. The composite score are also included. The quartile results for the Y balance test is presented in Appendix O. Table 3.21 represents the asymmetrical differences between legs for the anterior, posteriomedial, posteriolateral and composite scores which can indicate an increased risk of injury (Plisky et al, 2006). Table 3.22 displays the participants at an increased risk of injury due to a composite reach percentage of their leg length less than 94% and 89% (Plisky et al., 2006, Butler et al., 2013b). No statistically significant difference was found between legs for the anterior, posteriomedial, posteriolateral and composite average of their leg length and composite average reach distance for the anterior.

		Mean ± SD	95% CI	Significant difference				
Anterior								
Reach distance (cm)	R	71.3 ± 19.1	69.1-73.5	ns				
	L	70.5 ± 12.3	69.1-72					
Reach difference (cm)		6.1 ± 14.9	4.4-7.8					
Reach (%LL)		68.6 ± 42.3	62.4-74.7					
		Posteriomedial						
	R	105.4 ± 13.9	103.8-107	ns				
Reach distance (cm)	L	106.1 ± 13.7	104.6-107.7					
Reach difference (cm)		5.3 ± 4.8	4.8-5.9					
Reach (%LL)		103.7 ± 41.4	97.7-109.7					
		Posteriolateral						
	R	107.2 ± 14.3	105.6-108.8	ns				
Reach distance (cm)	L	107.6 ± 15	105.9-109.3					
Reach difference (cm)		5.7 ± 4.7	5.1-6.2					
Reach (%LL)		103.9 ± 41.5	97.9-109.9					
Composite								
Composite score	R	93.9 ± 69.9	83.8-104	ns				
	L	94.6 ± 70.1	84.4-104.7					
Reach difference (cm)		3.3 ± 2.8	2.89-3.68					
Reach (%LL)		92.5±13.4	90.5-94.4					

 Table 3.20: Y balance test; Mean, standard deviation, 95% confidence interval, significant difference and the effect size

%LL, percentage of leg length. ns, not significant

Table 3.21: Y balance test: Percentage of participants with asymmetries of greater	•
and less than 4cm	

Difference > 4cm	Anterior	Posteriomedial	Posteriolateral	Composite
Percentage	47%	56.1%	55.4%	37.1%
Number	139	166	164	69

Table 3.22: Y b	alance test: Participant	s at risk using cut o	off points with percentage
leg length			

Composite %LL	Percentage at risk	Number at risk
Cut off 89%	39.0%	71
Cut off 94%	57.7%	105

3. 3. 2. 5. Overhead squat and single leg squat

Table 3.23 represents the overall impression of the overhead squat and the single leg squat for each leg. 2.0%, 2.1% and 1.8% of participants had pain during the overhead squat, single leg squat on the right leg and single leg squat on the left leg. Table 3.24 and 3.25 demonstrate the results of the individual criteria for the overhead squat and the single leg squat on the right and left legs respectively. For the overhead squat the majority of participants were found to have an "average" result. For the right and left single leg squat the majority of participants were found to have an "average" result. There was a statistically significant difference between the overhead squat and single leg squat

on the right and left legs (Wilks Lambda=0.82, F(2,324)=36.16, p<0.0001) with a large effect size (0.18). Post-hoc comparisons using the Bonferroni test indicated that there is a statistically significant difference between the overhead squat and the single leg squat on the right and left leg (p<0.05). However there was no significant difference between the single leg squat on the right and left leg (p>0.05). In terms of the individual criteria for the overhead squat, "normal" was predominantly the most common result. With regard to the individual criteria for the single leg squat on the right and toe in were predominantly "normal". However for knee over toes, knee valgus and balance a "slight" problem was the most commonly reported result. A "moderate" problem was predominant for hip flexion and trunk flexion. There was a statistically significant difference between the right and left leg for knee varus (p<0.05), toe out (p<0.05) and toe in (p<0.0001) however a small effect size was noted in each variable (Table 3.26).

	Î	Poor (1) Percentage (n)	Average (2) Percentage (n)	Excellent (3) Percentage (n)
Squat		29.3 (99)	53.3 (180)	17.2 (58)
Single leg squat	R	49.7 (166)	46.4 (155)	3.9 (13)
	L	48.3 (160)	47.7 (158)	3.9 (13)

 Table 3.23: Overall impression for overhead squat and single leg squat

1 able 3.24: Individual criteria for the overhead squa
--

	Normal (0)	Slight (1)	Moderate (2)	Severe (3)
	Percentage (n)	Percentage (n)	Percentage (n)	Percentage (n)
Knee over toes	49.6 (168)	33 (112)	15.3 (52)	2.1 (7)
Knee valgus	78.8 (267)	13.6 (46)	7.4 (25)	0.3 (1)
Knee varus	70.2 (238)	22.7 (77)	6.8 (23)	0.3 (1)
Toe out	56.3 (191)	30.7 (104)	10.6 (36)	2.4 (8)
Toe in	98.2 (333)	1.2 (4)	0.3 (1)	0.3 (1)
Hip flexed	40.7 (138)	28.9 (98)	24.2 (82)	6.2 (21)
Trunk flexed	35.4 (120)	26 (88)	27.4 (93)	11.2 (38)
Balance	71.4 (242)	21.2 (72)	6.5 (22)	0.9 (3)

		Normal (0)	Slight (1)	Moderate (2)	Severe (3)
		Percentage	Percentage	Percentage	Percentage
		(n)	(n)	(n)	(n)
Knee over toes	R	19.4 (65)	44.5 (149)	31.6 (106)	4.5 (15)
	L	18.3 (61)	45 (150)	32.4 (108)	4.2 (14)
Knee valgus	R	34.6 (116)	36.4 (122)	21.5 (72)	7.5 (25)
	L	33 (110)	39.6 (132)	22.2 (74)	5.1 (17)
Knee varus	R	83.6 (280)	12.2 (41)	3.6 (12)	0.6 (2)
	L	76.9 (256)	17.4 (58)	4.8 (16)	0.9 (3)
Toe out	R	86.6 (290)	11.3 (38)	1.8 (6)	0.3 (1)
	L	91.6 (305)	6.3 (21)	2.1 (7)	0
Toe in	R	89.9 (301)	5.4 (18)	4.8 (16)	0
	L	95.8 (319)	3.9 (13)	0.3 (1)	0
Hip flexed	R	30.4 (102)	24.8 (83)	37.6 (126)	7.2 (24)
	L	28.2 (94)	26.4 (88)	37.8 (126)	7.5 (25)
Trunk flexed	R	24.8 (83)	30.7 (103)	33.7 (113)	10.7 (36)
	L	23.4 (78)	29.1 (97)	36.3 (121)	11.1 (37)
Balance	R	31.6 (106)	34.3 (115)	30.7 (103)	3.3 (11)
	L	27 (90)	38.7 (129)	30.3 (101)	3.9 (13)

Table 3.25: Individual criteria for the single leg squat

Table 3.26: Individual criteria for single leg squat: Mean, standard deviation, significant difference and effect size (Scoring ranged from 0-3)

	Right	Left	Significant difference	Effect size
	Mean± SD	Mean ± SD	(p value)	(eta squared)
Knee over toes	1.2 ± 0.8	1.2 ± 0.8	ns	
Knee valgus	1 ± 0.9	1 ± 0.9	ns	
Knee varus	0.2 ± 0.5	0.3 ± 0.6	p=0.02	small 0.01
Toe out	0.2 ± 0.4	0.1 ± 0.54	p=0.03	small 0.01
Toe in	0.2 ± 0.5	0.1 ± 0.2	p<0.0001	small 0.02
Hip flexion	1.2 ± 1	1.3 ± 1	ns	
Trunk flexion	1.3 ± 1	1.4 ± 1	ns	
Balance	1.1 ± 0.9	1.1 ± 0.9	ns	

ns, not significant

3. 3. 2. 6. Scapular control

A "normal" result was most prevalent for winging and control of scapula when lifting on the right and left sides (Table 2.27). A "slight" problem was the most commonly reported result for control of scapula when lowering. When assessing the symmetry between both sides a "slight" problem result was most predominant. Control of scapula when lowering was poorer on the left side compared to the right side (p<0.05) with only a small effect size noted, however no significant difference was found between sides for winging and control of scapula when lifting (p>0.05) (Table 3.28).

		None (0)	Slight (1)	Moderate (2)	Severe (3)
		Percentage	Percentage	Percentage	Percentage
		(n)	(n)	(n)	(n)
Winging	R	50.4 (174)	35.9 (124)	11.3 (39)	2.3 (8)
	L	48.1 (166)	40 (138)	9 (31)	2.9 (10)
Control of scapula	R	62.6 (216)	24.3 (84)	11.9 (41)	1.2 (4)
lifting	L	60.9 (210)	29.9 (103)	8.1 (28)	1.2 (4)
Control of scapula	R	30.7 (106)	35.4 (122)	29.6 (102)	4.3 (15)
lowering	L	23.8 (82)	39.1 (135)	32.2 (111)	4.9 (17)
Symmetry		39.4 (136)	45.2 (156)	13.6 (47)	1.7 (6)

 Table 3.27: Scapular Control

R, right; L, left

Table 3.28: Scapular control test; Mean, standard deviation, significant difference and effect size (Scoring ranged from 0-3)

	Right	Left	Significant	Effect size
	Mean± SD	Mean ± SD	difference	(eta
			(p value)	squared)
Winging	0.7 ± 0.8	0.7 ± 0.8	ns	
Control of scapula lifting	0.5 ± 0.8	0.5 ± 0.7	ns	
Control of scapula lowering	1.1 ± 0.9	1.2 ± 0.9	p=0.001	small 0.02

ns, not significant

3. 3. 2. 7. Alternative push up test

The two most prevalent results for the alternative push up test were "excellent" followed by "good" (Table 3.29). Pain was reported by 1.5% (5) of participants.

Table 3.29: Alternative push up test

Poor (1)	Average (2)	Good (3)	Excellent (4)
Percentage (n)	Percentage (n)	Percentage (n)	Percentage (n)
2.4 (8)	7.7 (26)	25.4 (86)	64.5 (218)

3. 3. 3. Analysis between Gaelic football and hurling and between fresher and senior players in the collegiate participants

A two by two ANOVA was completed to examine if sport and level played had an effect on each of the pre-participation screening tests. The first table in each section displays the mean and standard deviation of fresher and senior Gaelic footballers and hurlers. The second table in each section demonstrates the F value, significant difference (p value) and effect size (partial eta squared) for that particular test in fresher and senior Gaelic footballers and hurlers.

3. 3. 3. 1. Anthropometric data and participant information (Table 3.30-31)

Gaelic football was the primary sport played (65.2%) with the majority of participants across both sports playing at a senior level (53.6%). Gaelic footballers were found to be statistically significantly taller than hurlers (p<0.05) with only a small effect size and there was no significant difference between Gaelic footballers and hurlers for age, weight and BMI (p>0.05). Senior players were significantly older and had a higher BMI than fresher players (p<0.05) with a large and moderate effect size respectively. No interaction effect was noted between sport played and level of playing.

 Table 3.30: Anthropometric data; Mean and standard deviation of fresher and senior Gaelic football and hurling participants.

	Gaelic f	football	Hurling		
	Fresher	Senior	Fresher	Senior	
	Mean ± SD	Mean ± SD	Mean ± SD	Mean ± SD	
Age	18.2 ± 0.7	20.5 ± 2	18.1 ± 0.6	20.5 ± 2	
Height (m)	1.80 ± 0.08	1.84 ± 0.06	1.80 ± 0.07	1.81 ± 0.06	
Weight (kg)	76 ± 9.8	80.7 ± 8.8	74.1 ± 10.3	77.9 ± 8	
BMI	23.2 ± 2.3	24 ± 1.9	22.8 ± 2.2	24.3 ± 2.4	

 Table 3.31: Anthropometric data; F value, significant difference and effect size

 between fresher and senior Gaelic football and hurling participants.

	Sport				Leve	el	Interaction
	F	Р	Effect	F	Р	Effect size	Effect
			size				
Age		ns		182.63	< 0.0001	large 0.34	ns
Height (m)	4.54	0.03	small 0.01	8.27	0.004	small 0.02	ns
Weight (kg)		ns		9.25	0.003	small 0.05	ns
BMI		ns		12.62	< 0.0001	moderate 0.06	ns

ns, not significant

3. 3. 3. 2. Flexibility (Table 3.32-33)

Gaelic footballers had significantly higher mean active knee extension than hurlers on the right and left legs (p<0.05) however only the right leg reached a moderate effect size. Hurlers were found to have a significantly higher internal and external rotation on the left hand side (p<0.05) but only a small effect size was found. Fresher players displayed a significantly higher internal rotation on the left side (p<0.05, effect size=0.03 small) and external rotation on the right side (p<0.0001, effect size=0.07 moderate) than senior players. Internal rotation on the right was found to be significantly different between fresher and senior players (p<0.0001, effect size=0.09 moderate), however the sport and level interaction was significant (p=0.002, effect size=0.03 small). Fresher Gaelic footballers and senior hurlers displayed higher internal rotation than senior Gaelic footballers.

Gaelic football Hurling Senior Fresher Fresher Senior Mean ± SD Mean ± SD Mean ± SD Mean ± SD Active Knee Extension (°) R 65.7 ± 10.6 60.3 ± 11.7 59.4 ± 11.4 69 ± 10.8 L 66.1 ± 9.8 69.1 ± 10.9 61.5 ± 11.5 63.1 ± 11.1 82.2 ± 21.1 73.4 ± 14.4 **Internal Rotation (°)** 78.2 ± 13.9 R 65.2 ± 14.3 L 81.1 ± 18.8 72.9 ± 16.6 85.3 ± 17.5 80.8 ± 18.9 **External Rotation (°)** R 85.4 ± 14.1 79.2 ± 16.2 92 ± 15.8 79.3 ± 19.7 L 79 ± 11.9 75.8 ± 34.6 88.1 ± 12.9 83.5 ± 16.6

 Table 3.32: Flexibility; Mean and standard deviation of fresher and senior Gaelic football and hurling participants

R, right; L, left

Table 3.33: Flexibi	lity; F value, significant difference and effect size between
fresher and senior	Gaelic football and hurling participants

			Sport			Leve	1	Interaction Effect		
		F	р	Effect	F	Р	Effect	F	Р	Effect
				size			size			size
Active Knee	R	35.1	< 0.0001	moderate		ns			ns	
Extension (°)				0.1						
	Ĺ	18.1	< 0.0001	small		ns			ns	
				0.05						
Internal	R		ns		31.22	< 0.0001	moderate	9.87	0.002	small
Rotation (°)							0.09			0.03
	L	8.33	0.004	small	9.1	0.003	small		ns	
				0.03			0.03			
External	R		ns		25.12	< 0.0001	moderate		ns	
Rotation (°)							0.07			
	L	9.9	0.002	small			ns		ns	
				0.03						

ns, not significant. R, right; L, left

3. 3. 3. 3. Navicular Drop (Table 3.34-3.35)

No significant difference was found between sport or level in the navicular drop test (p>0.05), however the sport and level interaction was significant on the right and left feet (p<0.0001) with only a small effect size. Fresher hurlers were found to have a

higher navicular drop than fresher Gaelic footballers on both feet. In contrast senior Gaelic footballers displayed a higher navicular drop than senior hurlers on both feet. Senior Gaelic footballers presented with a higher navicular drop than fresher Gaelic footballers on both feet. However for hurling, freshers were found to have a higher navicular drop than senior hurlers, but this was only noteworthy on the right foot.

 Table 3.34: Navicular drop test; Mean, standard deviation, significant difference

 and effect size between Gaelic football and hurling participants

	Gaelic	football	Hurling			
	Fresher	Senior	Fresher	Senior		
	Mean ± SD	Mean ± SD	Mean ± SD	Mean ± SD		
Right (mm)	7.6 ± 4.3	9.1 ± 4.7	9.4 ± 4.1	7.3 ± 3.8		
Left (mm	$7,0 \pm 4.3$	9.7 ± 4.9	8.5 ± 3.9	7.2 ± 3.7		

Table 3.35: Navicular drop test; F value, significant difference and effect sizebetween fresher and senior Gaelic football and hurling participants

	Sport]	Level	Interaction Effect				
	F	Р	Effect size	F	р	Effect size	F	р	Effect size		
Right (mm)		ns			ns		13.61	< 0.0001	small 0.04		
Left (mm)		ns			ns		15.54	< 0.0001	small 0.04		

ns, not significant.

3. 3. 3. 4. Y balance test (Table 3.36-3.37)

A significant interaction effect between sport and level was evident in all aspects of the y balance test, aside from the average reach difference in the anterior, posteriomedial, posteriolateral and composite directions. With regard to the significant differences that displayed a moderate effect size, hurlers were found to display higher anterior reach distance on the left leg compared to Gaelic footballers (p<0.0001) however no significant difference between level was noted (p>0.05). The sport and level interaction however was significant (p<0.0001, effect size-0.07 moderate). Senior hurlers displayed a higher reach distance than fresher hurlers and senior Gaelic footballers. In contrast, fresher Gaelic footballers displayed a higher reach distance than senior Gaelic footballers. A significant difference between level (p<0.05) with a small effect size (0.04) was noted in anterior average reach with respect to their leg length, however an interaction effect was significant (p<0.0001, effect size=0.07 moderate). Senior hurlers were found to have a higher reach in the anterior direction when normalised to leg length scores were taken into account than fresher hurlers and senior Gaelic footballers; fresher Gaelic footballers also displayed a higher average reach than fresher hurlers. In the posteriomedial direction the scores normalised to leg length were found to have no significant difference between sport and level (p>0.05) however an interaction effect was noted (p=0.001, effect size=0.007 moderate). Senior hurlers were found to have a higher reach distance than fresher hurlers and senior Gaelic footballers in the posteriomedial direction. Fresher Gaelic footballers also had a higher reach distance than fresher hurlers. A significant difference was found between level for the composite score on the right (p<0.0001, effect size=0.1 moderate) and left leg (p=0.001, effect size=0.06 moderate) however an interaction effect was also noted on both legs (p<0.0001) with a moderate effect size. On both legs senior hurlers displayed a higher composite score than fresher hurlers or senior Gaelic footballers. Fresher Gaelic footballers displayed a higher composite score on both legs than fresher hurlers.

	0	Pro Pro Pro Pro								
		Gaelic	football	Hurling						
		Fresher	Senior	Fresher	Senior					
		Mean ±SD	Mean ±SD	Mean ±SD	Mean ±SD					
		Ante	erior							
Reach distance (cm)	R	69.6 ± 11.2	68.5 ± 28.1	68.5 ± 11.9	80.7 ± 17.7					
	L	69.5 ± 10.3	65.7 ± 7.9	70 ± 11.2	79.4 ± 16.6					
Reach difference (cm)		4.8 ± 6.2	7.1 ± 26.7	4.9 ± 4.9	8.1 ± 7.2					
Reach (%LL)		65.6 ± 5.5	64.3 ± 12.4	62.9 ± 5.6	72 ± 9.1					
Posteriomedial										
Reach distance (cm)	R	103.8 ± 11.6	102.7 ± 12.4	103.1 ± 15.3	114 ± 15.5					
	L	106.1 ± 11.6	102.7 ± 11.6	103.6 ± 14.8	113.2 ± 16.6					
Reach difference (cm)		5.3 ± 5.4	5.5 ± 5	5.2 ± 3.6	5.2 ± 4.4					
Reach (%LL)		102.8 ± 7.6	99.1 ± 18.9	96.4 ± 12.1	107.7 ± 10.3					
		Posteri	olateral							
Reach distance (cm)	R	107.6 ± 12.7	103.5 ± 10	105.3 ± 16.6	113.2 ± 17.9					
	L	107.7 ± 13.5	103.7 ± 11.4	105.7 ± 16.7	114.3 ± 18.1					
Reach difference (cm)		6.1 ± 5.2	5.1 ± 4.2	6.1 ± 4.6	5.3 ± 4.5					
Reach (%LL)		103.2 ± 8.7	100.3 ± 18.9	95.9 ± 10.5	106.4 ± 13.3					
Composite										
Composite Score	R	90.4 ± 6	89.9 ± 8.1	84.4 ± 8.6	95.4 ± 11					
	L	91.1 ± 6	90.1 ± 8.8	85.7 ± 8.5	95.9 ± 11.4					
Reach difference (cm)		2.9 ± 2.4	3.2 ± 2.8	3.1 ± 2.1	4.4 ± 3.4					

 Table 3.36: Y balance test; Mean and standard deviation of fresher and senior

 Gaelic football and hurling participants

%LL, percentage of leg length. R, right; L, left

			Sport			Level		In	teraction	Effect
		F	Р	Effect	F	Р	Effect	F	Р	Effect
				size			size			size
	•				Anter	ior				
Reach	R		ns			ns		8.6	0.004	small
distance										0.03
(cm)	L	26.3	< 0.0001	Moderate 0.08		ns		22.4	< 0.0001	moderate 0.07
Reach			ns			ns			ns	
difference										
(cm)										
Reach	1		ns		7.3	0.007	small	13.4	< 0.0001	moderate
(%LL)							0.04			0.07
				Pa	osterion	nedial			-	-
Reach	R	10.8	0.001	small	9.3	0.003	small	13.9	< 0.0001	small
distance				0.04			0.03			0.05
(cm)	L		ns			ns		16.3	0.0001	small 0.05
Reach			ns			ns			ns	
difference										
(cm)										
Reach			ns			ns		12.45	0.001	moderate
(%LL)										0.07
				Pa	osteriol	ateral				
Reach	R		ns			ns		12.7	< 0.0001	small
distance										0.04
(cm)	L		ns			ns		12.7	< 0.0001	small 0.04
Reach			ns			ns			ns	
difference										
(cm)										
Reach			ns			ns		9.2	0.003	small
(%LL)										0.05
					Compo	osite				
Composite score	R		ns		17.05	< 0.0001	moderate 0.1	20.4	< 0.0001	moderate 0.08
~~~~~	L		ns		12	0.001	moderate	17.3	< 0.0001	moderate
Reach			ns			ns	0.00	-	ns	0.07
difference										
(cm)										

 Table 3.37: Y balance test; F value, significant difference and effect size between fresher and senior Gaelic football and hurling participants

%LL, percentage of leg

# 3. 3. 3. 5. Overhead squat and single leg squat (Table 3.38-3.43)

Senior players were found to have a higher score than freshers for the squat and single leg squat on both the right and the left leg (p<0.05) with only a small effect size. Gaelic footballers were found to have a better overall impression score in comparison to hurlers for the single leg squat on the right and the left leg (p<0.05) with only a small effect size. There was no interaction effect found between sport and level played (p>0.05).

		Gae	elic football	Hurling		
		Fresher	Senior	Fresher	Senior	
		Mean± SD	Mean± SD	Mean± SD	Mean± SD	
Squat		$1.8\pm0.7$	$2\pm0.6$	$1.7\pm0.7$	$1.9\pm0.7$	
Single leg squat	R	$1.5\pm0.6$	$1.7\pm0.6$	$1.3 \pm 0.6$	$1.5\pm0.6$	
	L	$1.6\pm0.5$	$1.7\pm0.6$	$1.4 \pm 0.5$	$1.5\pm0.6$	

Table 3.38: Overall impression of Squat and single leg squat; Mean and standard deviation of fresher and senior Gaelic football and hurling participants (Scoring ranged from 1-3)

R, right; L, left

Table 3.39: Overall impression of squat and single leg squat; F value, significant difference and effect size between fresher and senior Gaelic football and hurling participants (Scoring ranged from 1-3)

			Spor	rt	Level				Interaction		
		F	Р	Effect size	F	р	Effect size	F	Р	Effect	
										size	
Squat	t		ns		8.4	0.004	small 0.02		ns		
SLS	R	10.1	0.002	small 0.03	6.3	0.013	small 0.02		ns		
	L	7.6	0.006	small 0.02	4.9	0.028	small 0.02		ns		

ns, not significant. R, right; L, left. SLC, single leg squat

Fresher players had a significantly lower toe out score than senior players (p<0.05) however an interaction effect was noted whereby it is demonstrated that this was evident for only the hurlers. An interaction effect was also noted for knees over toes, knee valgus and hip flexion (p<0.05). Fresher Gaelic footballers and senior hurlers displayed higher knees over toes score than fresher hurlers and senior Gaelic footballers. Senior hurlers presented with higher knee valgus scores than fresher hurlers and senior Gaelic footballers. Fresher hurlers displayed higher hip flexion scores than senior footballers. In addition, senior Gaelic footballers displayed higher hip flexion scores than senior hurlers.

Table 3.40: Individual criteria for overhead squat; Mean and standard deviation for fresher and senior Gaelic football and hurling participants (Scoring ranged from 0-3)

	Gaelio	c football	Hurling		
	Fresher	Senior	Fresher	Senior	
	Mean± SD	Mean± SD	Mean± SD	Mean± SD	
Knee over toes	$0.9\pm0.9$	$0.6\pm0.7$	$0.5\pm0.7$	$0.8 \pm 0.9$	
Knee valgus	$0.3 \pm 0.6$	$0.2 \pm 0.5$	$0.2 \pm 0.5$	$0.5\pm0.8$	
Knee varus	$0.5 \pm 0.7$	$0.3 \pm 0.5$	$0.4 \pm 0.7$	$0.3 \pm 0.5$	
Toe out	$0.6 \pm 0.7$	$0.6 \pm 0.8$	$0.4 \pm 0.7$	$0.8\pm0.8$	
Toe in	$0\pm0.1$	$0\pm 0$	$0.1 \pm 0.5$	$0.1 \pm 0.3$	
Hip flexion	$0.8\pm0.9$	$1 \pm 0.9$	$1.5 \pm 1.1$	$0.8\pm0.9$	
Trunk flexion	$1.1 \pm 1$	$1 \pm 1$	$1 \pm 1.2$	$1.5 \pm 1$	
Balance	$0.4 \pm 0.6$	$0.4 \pm 0.7$	$0.4 \pm 0.7$	$0.3 \pm 0.5$	

	Sport				Le	evel	Interaction			
	F	Р	Effect	F	Р	Effect size	F	Р	Effect	
			size						size	
Knee over toe		ns			ns		13.8	< 0.0001	small 0.04	
Knee valgus		ns			ns		8.3	0.004	small 0.02	
Knee varus		ns			ns			ns		
Toe out		ns		5.8	0.02	small 0.02	4.3	0.04	small 0.01	
Toe in		ns			ns			ns		
Hip flexion		ns			ns		15.5	< 0.0001	small 0.04	
<b>Trunk flexion</b>		ns			ns			ns		
Balance		ns			ns			ns		

Table 3.41: Individual criteria for the overhead squat; F value, significant difference and effect size between fresher and senior Gaelic football and hurling participants

ns, not significant

A significant difference for sport and level (p<0.0001) was found for toe in on the right leg with a moderate effect size, however an interaction effect between sport and level was also noted (p<0.05, effect size=0.07 moderate). Senior hurlers displayed a higher toe in result than senior Gaelic footballers and fresher hurlers. A significant interaction effect (p<0.0001) with a moderate effect size (0.07) was also found for trunk flexion on the right side. Senior Gaelic footballers displayed an increased amount of trunk flexion than fresher Gaelic footballers and senior hurlers. Fresher hurlers on the other hand demonstrated higher scores for trunk flexion than senior hurlers and fresher Gaelic footballers.

		Gaelic	football	Hur	ling
		Fresher	Senior	Fresher	Senior
		Mean± SD	Mean± SD	Mean± SD	Mean± SD
Knee over toes	R	$1.3\pm0.8$	$1.1 \pm 0.8$	$1.4\pm0.8$	$1.2\pm0.8$
	L	$1.2\pm0.8$	$1.3 \pm 0.9$	$1.3 \pm 0.8$	$1.3 \pm 0.7$
Knee valgus	R	$1\pm0.8$	$1 \pm 0.9$	$1.2 \pm 1$	$1 \pm 1$
	L	$0.9\pm0.4$	$0.8\pm0.8$	$1.1 \pm 0.9$	$1.3 \pm 0.9$
Knee Varus	R	$0.3 \pm 0.7$	$0.2\pm0.5$	$0.2 \pm 0.4$	$0.1 \pm 0.3$
	L	$0.4 \pm 0.7$	$0.3 \pm 0.6$	$0.2\pm0.5$	$0.3 \pm 0.5$
Toe out	R	$0.2\pm0.4$	$0.1 \pm 0.3$	$0.4 \pm 0.7$	$0.1 \pm 0.3$
	L	$0.1 \pm 0.3$	$0.1 \pm 0.2$	$0.2\pm0.6$	$0.1 \pm 0.4$
Toe in	R	$0.1 \pm 0.2$	$0\pm0.2$	$0.1 \pm 0.3$	$0.6\pm0.9$
	L	$0.1 \pm 0.3$	$0\pm0.2$	$0.1 \pm 0.2$	$0 \pm 0.1$
Hip Flexion	R	$1 \pm 1$	$1.3 \pm 1$	$1.5 \pm 0.9$	$1.3 \pm 0.9$
	L	$1 \pm 1$	$1.4 \pm 0.9$	$1.5 \pm 0.9$	$1.3 \pm 0.8$
<b>Trunk Flexion</b>	R	$1.1 \pm 1$	$1.7 \pm 0.9$	$1.5 \pm 1$	$0.9 \pm 1$
	L	$1.2 \pm 0.9$	$1.6 \pm 0.9$	$1.4 \pm 1$	$1.2 \pm 1.1$
Balance	R	$1 \pm 0.9$	$1.1 \pm 0.9$	$0.8 \pm 0.2$	$1.3 \pm 0.6$
	L	$1 \pm 0.8$	$1.3 \pm 0.9$	$0.8 \pm 0.9$	$1.3 \pm 0.8$

Table 3.42: Individual criteria for the single leg squat; Mean and standard deviation of fresher and senior Gaelic football and hurling participants (scoring ranged from 0-3)

R, right; L, left

Table 3.43: Individual criteria of the single leg squat between both legs; F value, significant difference and effect size between fresher and senior Gaelic football and hurling participants (Scoring ranged from 0-3)

	ì		Spo	ort		Level			Interaction		
		F	Р	Effect size	F	Р	Effect size	F	Р	Effect size	
Knee over toes	R		ns			ns			ns		
	L		ns			ns			ns		
Knee valgus	R		ns			ns			ns		
	L	9.1	0.003	small 0.03		ns			ns		
Knee varus	R		ns			ns			ns		
	L		ns			ns			ns		
Toe out	R		ns		13.6	< 0.0001	small		ns		
							0.04				
	L		ns			ns			ns		
Toe in	R	33.1	< 0.0001	moderate	21.9	< 0.0001	moderate	25.7	< 0.0001	moderate	
				0.09			0.06			0.07	
	L							11.4	0.001	small	
										0.03	
Hip flexion	R	7.7	0.006	small		ns		5.92	0.016	small	
				0.02						0.02	
	L										
Trunk flexion	R		ns			ns		27.6	< 0.0001	moderate	
										0.07	
	L							5.8	0.017	small	
										0.02	
Balance	R		ns		7.7	0.006	small		ns		
							0.02				
	L		ns		15.2	< 0.0001	small		ns		
							0.04				

ns, not significant. R, right; L, left

### 3. 3. 3. 6. Scapular Control (Table 3.44-3.45)

Hurlers were found to have a statistically significantly higher score for symmetry and control of scapula when lowering on the left side compared to Gaelic footballers (p<0.05), with a small effect size. Fresher players had a statistically significantly higher score than senior players for control when lowering on the left side (p<0.05) with a small effect size. A statistical significant difference (p<0.05) with a small effect size was noted between sport and level for scapular control when lowering on the right side however an interaction effect was also found. Senior hurlers and fresher Gaelic footballers. No significant difference was found between sport and level for control of the scapula when lifting on the right and winging on the left side however a significant interaction effect was noted with a small effect size. Senior hurlers scored poorer than senior Gaelic footballers for control of scapula when lifting on the right side and winging more than fresher hurlers and senior Gaelic footballers, with fresher Gaelic footballers displaying more winging than fresher hurlers and senior Gaelic footballers.

Table 3.44: Scapular control test; Mean and standard deviation for fresher andsenior Gaelic football and hurling participants (Scoring ranged from 0-3)

		Gaelic	football	Hur	ling
		Fresher	Senior	Fresher	Senior
		Mean± SD	Mean± SD	Mean± SD	Mean± SD
Winging	R	$0.7\pm0.7$	$0.5\pm0.7$	$0.7\pm0.7$	$0.8\pm0.9$
	L	$0.8\pm0.8$	$0.6\pm0.7$	$0.5\pm0.6$	$0.8\pm0.9$
Control of scapula lifting	R	$0.6\pm0.8$	$0.4\pm0.7$	$0.5\pm0.7$	$0.7\pm0.8$
	L	$0.5\pm0.7$	$0.4\pm0.7$	$0.5\pm0.6$	$0.6\pm0.8$
Control of scapula lowering	R	$1.3\pm0.9$	$0.7\pm0.8$	$1.3\pm0.8$	$1.2\pm0.9$
	L	$1.4 \pm 0.9$	$0.9\pm0.8$	$1.5 \pm 0.8$	$1.2 \pm 0.9$
Symmetry		$0.7\pm0.8$	$0.9\pm0.7$	$1.1\pm0.6$	$0.8 \pm 0.8$

R, right; L, left

 Table 3.45: Scapular control test; Mean, standard deviation, significant difference

 and effect size between fresher and senior participants (Scoring ranged from 0-3)

			Sport			Level			Interaction			
		F	Р	Effect	F	Р	Effect	F	Р	Effect		
				size			size			size		
Winging	R		ns			ns			ns			
	L		ns			ns		6.0	0.015	small		
										0.02		
<b>Control of</b>	R		ns			ns		4.3	0.038	small		
scapula										0.02		
lifting	L		ns			ns			ns			
<b>Control of</b>	R	10.1	0.002	small	11.2	0.001	small	5.2	0.023	small		
scapula				0.03			0.03			0.02		
lowering	L	5.3	0.022	small	15.17	< 0.0001	small		ns			
				0.02			0.04					
Symmetry		9.4	0.002	small		ns			ns			
-				0.03								

ns, not significant. R, right; L, left

### Alternative Push up test (Table 3.46-3.47)

No significant difference was found between Gaelic footballers and hurlers for the alternative push up test (p>0.05) however a significant difference was found between level (p<0.05) with a small effect size. An interaction effect was also noted with a small effect size (p<0.0001). Senior Gaelic footballers were found to score higher on the core test than senior hurlers and fresher Gaelic footballers.

# Table 3.46: Alternative push up test; Mean and standard deviation for fresher andsenior Gaelic football and hurling participants (Scoring ranged from 1-3)

Gaelic	football	Hurling			
Fresher	Senior	Fresher	Senior		
Mean± SD	Mean± SD	Mean± SD	Mean± SD		
$3.3\pm0.8$	$3.8\pm0.5$	$3.5\pm0.8$	$3.4\pm0.8$		

 Table 3.47: Alternative push up test; F value, significant difference and effect sizes

 between fresher and senior Gaelic football and hurling participants

	Sport			Lev	/el	Interaction		
F	р	Effect size	F	Р	Effect size	F	Р	Effect size
	ns		7.06	0.008	small 0.02	14.38	< 0.0001	small 0.04

# 3. 3. 4. Analysis between adolescent and collegiate participants

Further analysis was completed to compare the results of the pre participation screening tests between adolescent and collegiate participants. Table 3.48, 3.49, 3.50, 3.51 demonstrates the mean, standard deviation, significant difference and effect size between the school aged and collegiate participants for anthropometric data, flexibility, navicular drop test and Y balance test respectively.

and chieft shies set ween adoresterit and conegrate participants.									
	Adolescent Collegiate		Significance difference	Effect size					
	Mean ± SD	Mean ± SD	(p value)	(eta squared)					
Height (m)	$1.76\pm0.74$	$1.81\pm0.72$	p<0.0001	moderate 0.13					
Weight (kg)	$66.9\pm10.2$	$77.7\pm9.5$	p<0.0001	large 0.2					
BMI	$21.7 \pm 2.8$	$23.6\pm2.19$	p<0.0001	moderate 0.11					

Table 3.48: Anthropometric data; Mean, st	tandard deviation, significant difference
and effect sizes between adolescent and coll	legiate participants.

# Table 3.49: Flexibility tests; Mean, standard deviation, significant difference and effect sizes between adolescent and collegiate participants

		Adolescent Mean ± SD	Collegiate Mean ± SD	Significant difference	Effect size (eta squared)
				(p value)	
Active knee extension	R	$61.3 \pm 13.4$	$64.7 \pm 11.6$	p<0.0001	small 0.02
(°)	L	$60.2\pm13.2$	$65.8 \pm 11$	p<0.0001	small 0.05
Internal rotation (°)	R	$77.8 \pm 15.5$	$74.4 \pm 18.1$	p=0.007	small 0.01
	L	$88.8 \pm 19.4$	$79\pm18.4$	p<0.0001	moderate 0.06
<b>External rotation</b> (°)	R	85.4 ± 22.4	$83.1 \pm 16.8$	Ns	
	L	$91.7 \pm 14.9$	$80.2 \pm 23.3$	p<0.0001	moderate 0.08

ns, not significant. R, right; L, left

Table 3.50: Navicular drop test; Mean, standard deviation, significant	difference
and effect sizes between adolescent and collegiate participants	

	Adolescent Mean ± SD	Collegiate Mean ± SD	Significant difference (p value)	Effect size (eta squared)
Right (mm)	$7.4 \pm 5.1$	$8.3 \pm 4.4$	p=0.019	small 0.01
Left (mm)	$7.6 \pm 5.4$	$8.2 \pm 4.5$	ns	

ns, not significant. R, right; L, left

		Adolescent	Collegiate	Significant	Effect size			
		Mean ±SD	Mean ±SD	difference	(eta squared)			
				(p value)				
		Ant	erior					
Reach distance (cm)	R	$67.9\pm8.9$	$71.3 \pm 19.1$	p=0.005	small 0.01			
	L	$69.6\pm9.1$	$70.5\pm12.3$	ns				
Reach difference (cm)		$4.6 \pm 3.9$	$6.1 \pm 14.9$	ns				
Reach (%LL)		$69.8\pm9.3$	$68.6\pm42.3$	ns				
	-	Poster	iomedial					
Reach distance (cm)	R	$98.6 \pm 11.1$	$105.4\pm13.9$	ns				
	L	$101.3\pm22.4$	$106.1\pm13.7$	ns				
Reach difference (cm)		$5.7\pm4.8$	$5.3\pm4.8$	ns				
Reach (%LL)		$100.9 \pm 11.8$	$103.7\pm41.4$	ns				
		Poster	iolateral					
Reach distance (cm)	R	$98.2 \pm 11.9$	$107.2\pm14.3$	p<0.0001	moderate 0.1			
	L	$98.3 \pm 11.9$	$107.56\pm14.95$	p<0.0001	moderate 0.1			
Reach difference (cm)		$6\pm4.8$	$5.7\pm4.7$	ns				
Reach (%LL)		$99.8 \pm 12.5$	$103.9\pm41.5$	ns				
Composite								
Composite score	R	$92 \pm 11.7$	$90.2\pm8.8$	ns				
	L	$93.8\pm20.1$	$90.8\pm9.1$	ns				
Reach difference (cm)		$4.3 \pm 6.6$	$3.3 \pm 2.8$	ns				
Composite (%LL)		95.4±25.1	92.5±13.4	ns				

Table 3.51: Y balance test; Mean, standard deviation, significant difference and effect sizes between adolescent and collegiate participants

ns, not significant. R, right; L, left

The overall impression of the overhead squat and single leg squat on the right and left legs between adolescent and collegiate participants is presented in Table 3.52.

Table 3.52: Overall impression overhead squat and single leg squat on the right and left legs; Mean, standard deviation, significant difference and effect size between adolescent and collegiate participants. (Scoring ranged from 1-3)

		Adolescent Mean± SD	Collegiate Mean ± SD	Significant difference (p value)	Effect size (eta squared)
Squat		$1.8\pm0.8$	$1.9\pm0.7$	Ns	
Single leg	R	$1.7\pm0.7$	$1.5\pm0.6$	p<0.0001	small 0.02
squat	L	$1.8\pm0.7$	$1.6 \pm 0.6$	p<0.0001	small 0.03

ns, not significant. R, right; L, left

The individual criteria for the overhead squat and single leg squat for both legs is presented in Table 3.53 and Table 3.54 respectively.

	Adolescent Mean± SD	Collegiate Mean ± SD	Significant difference (p value)	Effect size (eta squared)
Knee over toes	$0.6 \pm 1$	$0.7\pm0.8$	ns	
Knee valgus	$0.5\pm0.9$	$0.3 \pm 0.6$	p<0.0001	small 0.03
Knee varus	$0.4 \pm 0.8$	$0.4 \pm 0.6$	ns	
Toe out	$0.7\pm0.9$	$0.6 \pm 0.8$	ns	
Toe in	$0.1 \pm 0.5$	$0\pm0.2$	p<0.0001	small 0.02
Hip flexion	$0.9\pm0.9$	$1 \pm 1$	ns	
Trunk flexion	$1.3 \pm 1$	$1.1 \pm 1$	ns	
Balance	$0.5 \pm 0.7$	$0.4 \pm 0.7$	p=0.006	small 0.01

Table 3.53: Individual criteria of the overhead squat; Mean, standard deviation, significant difference and effect size between adolescent and collegiate participants.

ns, not significant

Table 3.54: Individual criteria for the single leg squat on the right and left legs; Mean, standard deviation, significant difference and effect size between adolescent and collegiate participants (Scoring ranged from 0-3)

		Adolescent	Collegiate	Significant	Effect size
		Mean± SD	Mean ± SD	difference	(eta squared)
				(p value)	
Knee over toes	R	$1\pm0.8$	$1.2\pm0.8$	p=0.002	small 0.01
	L	$1 \pm 0.8$	$1.2\pm0.8$	p<0.0001	small 0.02
Knee valgus	R	$1.1 \pm 0.9$	$1 \pm 0.9$	ns	
	L	$0.9\pm0.8$	$1 \pm 0.9$	ns	
Knee varus	R	$0.2 \pm 0.5$	$0.2\pm0.5$	ns	
	L	$0.2 \pm 0.5$	$0.3\pm0.6$	ns	
Toe out	R	$0.2\pm0.5$	$0.2\pm0.4$	ns	
	L	$0.2 \pm 0.5$	0.1 0.4	ns	
Toe in	R	$0\pm0.1$	$0.2\pm0.5$	p<0.0001	small 0.03
	L	$0\pm0.1$	$0.1 \pm 0.2$	p=0.029	small 0.01
Hip Flexion	R	$1.1 \pm 0.9$	$1.2 \pm 1$	ns	
	L	$1.2 \pm 0.9$	$1.3 \pm 1$	ns	
Trunk flexion	R	$1.3 \pm 1$	$1.3 \pm 1$	ns	
	L	$1.2 \pm 0.8$	$1.4 \pm 1$	p=0.003	small 0.01
Balance	R	$0.6 \pm 0.9$	$1.1 \pm 0.9$	p<0.0001	moderate 0.06
	L	$0.6 \pm 0.9$	$1.1 \pm 0.8$	p<0.0001	moderate 0.07

ns, not significant. R, right; L, left

The scapular control test between adolescent and collegiate participants is demonstrated in Table 3.55.

Table 3.55: Scapular control test; Mean, standard deviation, significant difference and effect between adolescent and collegiate participants (Scoring ranged from 0-3)

		Adolescent Mean± SD	Collegiate Mean ± SD	Significant difference (p.value)
Winging	R	$0.8 \pm 0.7$	$0.7 \pm 0.8$	ns
	L	$0.8 \pm 0.7$	$0.7 \pm 0.8$	ns
Control of scapula lifting	R	$0.4 \pm 0.8$	$0.5 \pm 0.8$	ns
	L	$0.5\pm0.8$	$0.5\pm0.7$	ns
Control of scapula lowering	R	$1.2 \pm 1.1$	$1.1 \pm 0.9$	ns
	L	$1.3 \pm 0.9$	$1.2\pm0.9$	ns
Symmetry		$0.9\pm0.8$	$0.8 \pm 0.7$	ns

ns, not significant. R, right; L, left

The results of the alternative push up test between adolescent and collegiate participants are displayed in Tale 3.56.

# Table 3.56: Alternative push up test; Mean, standard deviation, significant difference and effect size between adolescent and collegiate participants

Adolescent	Collegiate	Significant difference	Effect size
Mean± SD	Mean ± SD	(p value)	(eta squared)
$2.9\pm0.9$	$3.5\pm0.7$	p<0.0001	moderate 0.11

#### 3. 3. 5. Analysis between tests

The relationship between each of the tests and age and BMI was assessed. Further analysis was completed to identify if there were any links between certain tests in the pre-participation screening. It examined the extent to which some tests are redundant as they may possibly assess similar outcomes. It also assessed the effect of dominance on certain tests in the pre-participation screening. The effect hand dominance may have on both rotation and scapular control of the shoulder and also the effect lower limb dominance may have on both the single leg squat and the Y balance test was assessed.

### 3. 3. 5. 1. Relationship between age and the pre participation screening tests

The relationship between age and the pre participation screening tests that were significantly correlated is displayed in Table 3.57 (p<0.05). Out of all the pre participation screening tests, only twelve tests were significantly correlated with age. The strength of the significant correlations were small with the exception of the alternative push up test which had a medium strength correlation (r=0.35). The following variables were not significantly correlated with age: navicular drop test (right and left), control of scapula when lowering (right and left), squat (knees over toes, knee valgus, knee varus, toe out, toe in, hip flexion, trunk flexion, balance), single leg squat on the right leg (knees over toes, knee valgus, knee varus, toe out, toe in, hip flexion, trunk flexion, balance, overall impression), single leg squat on the left leg (knees over toes, knee valgus, knee varus, toe out, toe in, hip flexion, trunk flexion, balance) and Y balance test (left anterior average reach distance, anterior average reach difference, posteriormedial average reach difference, posteriolateral average reach difference, composite average reach difference, anterior average reach percentage of leg length, posteriomedial average reach percentage of leg length, posteriolateral average reach percentage of leg length, right composite score, left composite score).

		Age		
		p value	r value	
Core				
Alternative push up test		p<0.001	medium r=0.35	
Flexibility of Shoul				
Internal rotation of shoulder (°)	R	p<0.001	small r= -0.19	
	L	p<0.001	small r= -0.24	
	p=0.022	small r= -0.1		
External rotation of shoulder (°)	L	p<0.0001	small r= -0.26	
Scapular control t	est		•	
Winging	R	p=0.014	small r= -0.1	
	L	p=0.013	small r= -0.1	
Control of scapula lowering	R	p=0.004	small r= -0.11	
	L	p=0.003	small r= -0.11	
Symmetry		p=0.044	small $r = -0.1$	
Hamstring flexibil	lity			
Active knee extension (°)	R	p<0.001	small r=0.19	
	L	p<0.001	small r=0.27	
Squat and Single leg	squa	ıt		
Squat overall impression		p=0.021	small r=0.1	
Single leg squat overall impression	L	p= 0.01	small r= -0.1	
Y balance test				
Anterior average reach distance (cm)	R	p=0.004	small r= 0.11	
Posteriomedial average reach distance (cm)	R	p<0.001	small r= 0.28	
	L	p<0.001	small r=0.22	
Posteriolateral average reach distance (cm)	R	p<0.001	small r= 0.28	
	L	p<0.001	small $r = 0.28$	

<b>Table 3.57:</b>	Significant	correlations	between	age and	other	pre	partici	pation	tests
I dole ele / l	Significant	corrections		age and	<b>U</b>	P	pai vici	particit	

R, right; L, left

### 3. 3. 5. 2. Relationship between BMI and the pre participation screening tests

Table 3.58 demonstrates the significant correlations between BMI and tests within the pre participation screening. Out of all the pre participation screening tests, only nine tests were significantly correlated with BMI. The strength of the significant correlations were small with the exception of right winging (r=-0.36) and left winging (r=-0.33) which had a medium correlation in the scapular control test with BMI. The following variables were not significantly correlated with BMI: internal rotation of the shoulder (right and left), navicular drop test (right and left), squat (knees over toes, knee valgus, knee varus, toe out, toe in, hip flexion, trunk flexion, balance, overall impression), single leg squat on the right leg (knees over toes, knee valgus, knee varus, toe out, toe in, hip flexion, balance, overall impression), single leg squat on the left leg (knees over toes, knee valgus, knee varus, toe out, toe in, hip flexion, trunk flexion, single leg squat on the left leg (knees over toes, knee valgus, knee varus, toe out, toe in, hip flexion, balance, overall impression), single leg squat on the left leg (knees over toes, knee valgus, knee varus, toe out, toe in, hip flexion, trunk flexion, balance, overall impression), single leg squat on the left leg (knees over toes, knee valgus, knee varus, toe out, toe in, hip flexion, trunk flexion, balance, overall impression), single leg squat on the left leg (knees over toes, knee valgus, knee varus, toe out, toe in, hip flexion, trunk flexion, balance, overall impression), single leg squat on the left leg (knees over toes, knee valgus, knee varus, toe out, toe in, hip flexion, trunk flexion, balance, overall impression), single leg squat on the left leg (knees over toes, knee valgus, knee varus, toe out, toe in, hip flexion, trunk flexion, balance, overall impression), single leg squat on the left leg (knees over toes, knee valgus, knee varus, toe out, toe in, hip flexion, trunk flexion, balance, overall impression), single leg squat on the left leg (knees ove

distance, left posteriomedial average reach distance, right posteriolateral average reach distance, left posteriolateral average reach distance, anterior average reach difference, posteriormedial average reach difference, posteriolateral average reach difference, composite average reach difference, anterior average reach percentage of leg length, posteriolateral average reach percentage reach percentage reach percentage reach percentage of leg length, posteriolateral average reach percentage of leg length, left composite score).

			BMI
		p value	r value
Core			
Alternative push up test	p=0.002	small r=0.13	
Flexibility of sl	iould	er	
	R	p=0.038	small r= -0.1
External rotation of shoulder (°)	L	p=0.001	small r= -0.14
Scapular contr	rol tes	st	
Winging	R	p<0.001	medium r= -0.36
	L	p<0.001	medium $r = -0.33$
Control of scapula lifting	R	p<0.001	small r= -0.2
	L	p<0.001	small r= -0.2
Control of scapula lowering	R	p<0.001	small r= -0.28
	L	p<0.001	small r= -0.28
Symmetry		p<0.001	small r= -0.21
Hamstring flex	xibilil	ţy	
Active knee extension (°)	R	p<0.001	small r=0.25
	L	p<0.001	small r=0.25
Y balance t	test		
Anterior average reach distance (cm)	R	p=0.002	small $r = -0.12$
	L	p<0.001	small $r = -0.15$
Composite score	R	p=0.42	small $r = -0.1$

R, right; L, left

# **3. 3. 5. 3. Significant difference between hand dominance and both rotation of the shoulder and scapular control of the shoulder.**

There was no statistically significant difference between right and left hand dominance for internal rotation of the shoulder, external rotation of the shoulder or the scapular control test test (p>0.05).

# **3. 3. 5. 4.** Significant difference between lower limb dominance and both the single leg squat and Y balance test

There was no statically significant difference between right and left lower limb dominance for both the single leg squat on the right and left legs and the Y balance test (p>0.05).

# **3. 3. 5. 5. Relationship between rotation of the shoulder and the scapular control** test

There was no significant internal rotation on the left and right side and external rotation on the right side with the scapular control test (p>0.05). However, Table 3.59 displays the correlation between the external rotation on the left side and the scapular control test (p<0.05).

 Table 3.59: Relationship between external rotation of the shoulder on the left side and the scapular control test

		Left external rotation of shoulder			
		p value	r value		
Winging	L	p<0.001	small r=0.14		
Control of scapula when lowering	L	p=0.042	small r=0.1		
Symmetry		p=0.012	small r=0.1		

R, right; L, left

# **3. 3. 5. 6. Relationship between the overall impression and balance scores for the overhead squat and right and left single leg squat tests with the Y balance test**

The correlations between the overhead squat and single leg squat on the right and left leg's balance scores with the Y balance test is displayed in Table 3.60. Table 3.61 demonstrates the correlations between the overhead squat and single leg squat on the right and left leg's overall impression scores with the Y balance test. In summary there were a larger number of statistically significant correlations found between the overall impression scores when comparing the overhead squat and right and left single leg squats with the Y balance test. However, all the statistically significant correlations were found to be small.

		Squat b	alance	Right single balar	leg squat nce	Left single balar	leg squat nce	
		p value	r value	p value	r value	p value	r value	
				Anterior				
Reach distance (cm)	R	p<0.001	small r=0.15	ns		ns		
(0)	L	p=0.015	small	p=0.03	small $r = -0.1$	p=0.007	small $r = -0.1$	
Reach difference (cm)		p=0.01	small r=0.1	ns	10.1	ns	10.1	
Reach (%LL)		p<0.0001	small r=0.15	p<0.0001	small r= -0.16	p<0.0001	small r= -0.17	
			ŀ	Posteriomedial				
<b>Reach distance</b>	R	ns		ns		ns		
(cm)	L	ns		ns		ns		
Reach difference (cm)		p=0.014	small r=0.1	ns		ns		
Reach (%LL)		ns		p=0.035	small r= -0.1	p=0.016	small $r = -0.1$	
			I	Posteriolateral				
Reach distance	R	ns		ns		ns		
(cm)	L	ns		ns		ns		
Reach difference		ns		ns		ns		
Reach (%LL)		ns		ns		ns		
Composite								
<b>Composite score</b>	R	ns		ns		ns		
-	L	ns		ns		p=0.019	small r=0.1	
Reach difference (cm)		ns		ns		ns		
Composite (%LL)		ns		ns		p=0.027	small r=-0. 09	

Table 3.60: Correlation between the overhead squat, right single leg squat and left single leg squat balance scores and the Y balance test

ns, not significant

		Squat o impres	verall ssion	Right single overall im	leg squat pression	Left single overall im	leg squat pression
		p value	r value	p value	r value	p value	r value
			An	terior			
Reach distance	R	p=0.006	small	p=0.008	small	p=0.001	small
(cm)			r=0.1		r=0.1		r=0.1
	L	p=0.001	small r=0.13	p<0.0001	small	p<0.0001	small r–0.18
Reach difference		ns	1-0.15	ns	1-0.10	ns	1-0.10
(cm)		115		115		110	
Reach (%LL)		p=0.002	small	p<0.0001	small	p<0.0001	small
		-	r=0.13	•	r=0.21	1	r=0.23
			Poste	riomedial			
Reach distance	R	p=0.003	small	p=0.05	small	p=0.008	small
(cm)			r=0.11		r=0.1		r=0.1
	L	p=0.008	small	p=0.47	small	p=0.003	small
			r=0.1		r=0.1		r=0.11
Reach difference		ns		p=0.039	small	p=0.033	small
(cm)	-				r=0.1		r=0.1
Reach (%LL)		ns		p=0.006	small	p=0.005	small
					r=0.12		r=0.12
	-	0.001	Poste	riolateral			
Reach distance	к	p=0.001	small	p=0.016	small	ns	
(cm)	т	0.001	r=0.13	0.024	r=0.1	0.007	11
	L	p=0.001	small	p=0.024	small	p=0.007	small
Deech difference			r=0.13		r=0.1		r=0.1
(cm)		118		IIS		IIS	
Reach (%LL)		p=0.028	small	p=0.002	small	p=0.016	small
			r=0.1		r=0.13		r=0.1
			Сог	nposite	1		1
Composite score	R	p=0.007	small	ns		p=0.002	small
			r=0.11				r=0.13
	L	p=0.002	small	p=0.024	small	p<0.0001	small
			r=0.13		r=0.1		r=0.18
Keach difference		ns		ns		ns	
Composite		ns		ns		p=0.003	small
(%LL)						r	r=0.13

Table 3.61: Correlation between the overhead squat, right single leg squat and left single leg squat overall impression scores and the Y balance test

ns, not significant

# 3. 3. 5. 7. Relationship between the overhead squat overall impression and both the right and left single leg squat overall impression.

The relationship the overall impression score of the overhead squat with the overall impression scores of the single leg squat in the right and left leg is displayed in Table 3.62.

 Table 3.62: Relationship between the overhead squat overall impression and right and left single leg squat overall impression

Right single leg so	quat overall impression	Left single leg squat overall impression		
p value	r value	p value	r value	
p<0.0001	small r= 0.26	p<0.0001	medium $r=0.34$	

**3. 3. 5. 8.** Relationship between the individual criteria of the overhead squat and single leg squat on the right and left legs with the overall impression scores of the three tests.

The correlation between the individual criteria of the overhead squat and the single leg

squat on the right and left leg with the overall impression score in each of the three tests

is illustrated in Table 3.63.

Table 3.63: Relationship between the overall impression of the overhead squat, right single leg squat and left single leg squat with the individual criteria for each test

	Squat overall impression		Right single leg squat overall impression		Left single leg squat overall impression	
	p value	r value	p value	r value	p value	r value
Knees	p<0.0001	medium	p<0.0001	medium	p<0.0001	small
over toes		r= -0.33		r= -0.3		r= -0.29
Knee	p<0.0001	small	p<0.0001	medium	p<0.0001	medium
valgus		r= - 0.26		r= -0.33		r= -0.39
Knee	p<0.0001	small	p=0.003	small	p<0.0001	small
varus		r= -0.24		r= -0.13		r= -0.15
Toe out	p<0.0001	small	p<0.0001	small	p<0.0001	small
		r= -0.28		r= -0.19		r= -0.17
Toe in	p=0.002	small	p<0.0001	small	ns	
		r= - 0.12		r= -0.17		
Hip	p<0.0001	large	p<0.0001	medium	p<0.0001	medium
flexion		r= - 0.51		r= -0.41		r= -0.43
Trunk	p<0.0001	medium	p<0.0001	medium	p<0.0001	medium
flexion		r= -0.42		r= -0.33		r= -0.37
Balance	p<0.0001	small	p<0.0001	medium	p<0.0001	large
		r= -0.29		r= -0.49		r= -0.51

ns, not significant

**3. 3. 5. 9. Relationship between the active knee extension test and hip flexion and knees over toes in the overhead squat and single leg squat on the right and left legs** Table 3.64 displays the correlation between the active knee extension test and two of the individual criteria (hip flexion and knees over toes) of the overhead squat and single leg squat on the right and left leg.

	Right activ	e knee extension	Left active knee extension					
	p value	r value	p value	r value				
Hip flexion								
Squat	p<0.0001	small r= -0.13	p<0.0001	small r= -0.15				
Right single leg squat	p<0.0001	small r= -0.17	p<0.0001	small r= -0.17				
Left single leg squat	p=0.004	small r= -0.11	p=0.002	small r= -0.17				
Knees over toes								
Squat	ns		Ns					
Right single leg squat	p=0.005	small $r = -0.11$	p=0.008	small $r = -0.1$				
Left single leg squat	p=0.021	small $r = -0.1$	p=0.18	small $r = -0.1$				

Table 3.64: Relationship between the active knee extension and the individual criteria of hip flexion and knees over toes in the overhead squat and right and left single leg squat

ns, not significant

**3. 3. 5. 10.** Relationship between the alternative push up test and the overall impression score in the overhead squat and single leg squat on the right and left legs

The correlation between the alternative push up test and the overall impression score in the overhead squat and single leg squat on the right and left legs is demonstrated in Table 3.65.

 Table 3.65: Relationship between the alternative push up test and overall impression in the overhead squat and the single leg squat on the right and left leg

Overhead squat		Right sin	gle leg squat	Left single leg squat	
p value	r value	p value	r value	p value	r value
p<0.0001	small $r=0.21$	p<0.0001	small $r=0.14$	p<0.0001	small $r=0.14$

3. 3. 5. 11. Relationship between the alternative push up test and the Y balance test

The right composite score on the Y balance test had a small correlation with the alternative push up test (r=0.21, p<0.0001) however the left composite and average reach of percentage leg length in all three directions had no statistically significant correlation (p>0.05).

#### 3.4. Discussion

The current study aimed to develop a comprehensive screening with suitable test and scoring systems, specific to Gaelic footballers and hurlers, using simple field based tests. This is important because there is currently no standard one in place. Serious limitations exist in the current published tests, including: duration, low reliability, lack of ecological validity, vague or unclear scoring systems, and complex or expensive equipment that can be difficult to transport. The present study also aimed to establish normative data in both adolescent and collegiate Gaelic footballers and hurlers for each of the screening tests as this has not yet been established in current literature. Establishing normative data is vital for screening (Corkery et al., 2007).

### 3. 4. 1. Anthropometric data

#### 3. 4. 1. 1. Height, Weight and BMI

The majority of studies that analysed anthropometric data assessed elite adult Gaelic footballers with only a single study evaluating hurlers (McIntyre, 2005) and a single study examining elite adolescent Gaelic footballers (Cullen et al., 2012). Thus there is a lack of information on non-elite adolescent hurlers and Gaelic footballers.

Adolescents were found to be slightly smaller, lighter and had a lower BMI than elite adolescent Gaelic footballers (Height=1.78±0.06, Weight=72.1±8.62, BMI=22.69±2.15) (Cullen et al., 2012) which is likely due to the non-elite nature of the adolescent participants in the current study. Collegiate Gaelic footballers and hurlers were taller 21 and heavier than under club Gaelic footballers (Height=1.76±0.05, Weight=70.7±7.7) (Florida-James and Reilly, 1995) and non-elite club level Gaelic footballers (Height=1.75±0.06, 1.74±0.05, Weight=76.5±6.7, 73.3±9.3 respectively) (Keane et al., 1997, Kirgan and Reilly, 1993). Collegiate Gaelic footballers had a higher BMI than under 21 club Gaelic footballers (22.82) (Florida-James and Reilly, 1995) but a lower BMI than non-elite adult club level Gaelic footballers (24.68 and 24.21, respectively) (Keane et al., 1997, Kirgan and Reilly, 1993). As expected, collegiate participants were found to be significantly taller, heavier and presented with a higher BMI than adolescents. A high BMI in Gaelic participants is worrying as this has been found to be a predictor of certain sporting injuries in both adults (Buist et al., 2010, Yard and Comstock, 2011, Plisky et al., 2007, McHugh et al., 2006, Fousekis et al., 2011) and an adolescent physically active population (Richmond et al., 2012). This increased risk has been suggested to be due to the large body mass imposing increased musculoskeletal strain on the body's tissues, and also because it may reduce balance or postural control (Jespersen et al., 2013).

Senior players had a significantly higher BMI than fresher players (p<0.05) as would be expected due to the age differences between groups. The alternative push up test was significantly positively correlated to age (r=0.35) which suggests that older players have higher core stability and so are at less risk of injury due to poor core stability (Bliven and Anderson, 2013, Abt et al., 2007). BMI was found to be negatively correlated to winging, and so participants with a higher BMI tended to have a higher incidence and severity of winging, which has not been previously observed.

#### 3. 4. 1. 2. Dominance

No information on the effect of upper limb dominance is available from previous studies on Gaelic footballers or hurlers. Adolescent and collegiate participants were primarily right hand and right foot dominant. No significant difference was found between the dominant and non-dominant limb in the single leg squat or the Y balance test. This is in line with other studies for: single leg squat strength (McCurdy and Langford, 2005), static balance control in healthy young adults (Lin et al., 2009), and balance in amateur soccer players (Gstöttner et al., 2009) (p>0.05).

There was no difference between dominant and non-dominant upper limbs for either internal rotation or external rotation of the shoulder. This is in contrast to studies on the upper limb, where increased external range of motion and reduced internal range of motion on the dominant shoulder has been demonstrated in the non-athletic population and in a number of upper limb sports in both genders, in all ages (Conte et al., 2009, Wang and Cochrane, 2001). In addition, no difference was found between the dominant and non-dominant upper limbs with regard to the scapular control test. The reason dominance does not have an effect on rotation and scapular control in Gaelic games could be because an emphasis is placed in training to ensure players can kick and pass with both feet and hands in Gaelic football and swing on both sides with the hurley in hurling to enhance the player's skill level and performance. No consensus exists in current literature on the effect dominance has on injury; the dominant limb is placed under more frequent and intensive usage which may predispose to injury, conversely the tissues and structures on the non-dominant limb may be weaker due to the lessened use and so may be unable to absorb large forces placed on it which also may predispose to

injury (Jacobs et al., 2005). Dominance and its effect on injury has yet to be sufficiently assessed in both Gaelic footballers and hurlers and so further research is necessary.

### **3. 4. 2. Hamstring flexibility**

There is a general lack of normative data on hamstring flexibility using the active knee extension test, with only a single study which was completed in a convenience sample of collegiate participants (Corkery et al., 2007) and no available normative data in Gaelic footballers and hurlers.

The present study found higher flexibility in both adolescent and collegiate participants in comparison to collegiate males (right= $55.0\pm11.3^\circ$ , left= $52.9\pm9.1^\circ$ ) (Corkery et al., 2007), however as the normative data reported by Corkery et al. (2007) study was from a convenience sample of college students they are not a directly comparable population as their fitness and sporting level is not identified. In contrast, adolescent and collegiate mean hamstring flexibility results were found to be lower than the mean flexibility reported in a convenience sample of collegiate men (79.75 $\pm$ 9.48°) using the "Lift and raise" test which is similar to the active knee extension test (Shimon et al., 2010). Thus, further research on normative data in other sports utilising the active knee extension test is needed for more accurate comparisons to be made.

A hamstring flexibility result greater than 20° away from full extension (90°) (or less than 70° when measured in the manner conducted in the present study) is considered out of the normal limits of hamstring flexibility (Shimon et al., 2010, Davis et al., 2008). The majority of adolescent's results were less than 70° in the active knee extension test on both the right (72.8%) and left leg (77.2%). Collegiate participants had slightly better hamstring flexibility with 63.9% on the right and 61.0% on the left leg with results less than 70°. The high percentage of adolescent and collegiate players with substantial flexibility issues could be related to the high incidence of hamstring injuries in Gaelic games. The hamstring has been reported to account for 6.5-24% of injuries in Gaelic football (Watson, 1996b, Cromwell et al., 2000, Wilson et al., 2007, Newell et al., 2013, Murphy et al., 2012b) and 12-16.5% in hurling (Watson, 1996a, Murphy et al., 2012a), with Murphy et al. (2012b) reporting that the hamstring was the site of 52% of all muscle injuries in elite Gaelic footballers. Thus, it would seem the implementation of an appropriate injury prevention flexibility programme for the hamstrings in Gaelic games would be required (Witvrouw et al., 2003, Bradley and Portas, 2007). Gaelic footballers were found to have significantly higher hamstring flexibility than hurlers on the right leg only which contrasts to the results published by McIntyre (2005) who reported that hurlers had significantly higher hamstring flexibility than Gaelic footballers (p<0.05). However, McIntyre (2005) measured hamstring flexibility using the straight leg raise test which has inherent error due to possible tightness of contralateral hip flexors affecting the results and the dorsiflexed position of the foot during the movement possibly contributing a neurological component to the test (Gajdosik et al., 1993, Gajdosik and Lusin, 1983). Of concern, the mean flexibility in fresher Gaelic footballers, senior Gaelic footballers, fresher hurlers and senior hurlers were all below the 70° cut off point for ideal hamstring flexibility which suggests that both sports are at a heightened risk of hamstring injury with hurlers possibly more susceptible (Shimon et al., 2010, Davis et al., 2008). No significant difference was found between fresher and senior collegiate players in either sport (p>0.05).

### 3. 4. 3. Shoulder flexibility

Literature on shoulder flexibility has primarily focused on upper body sports with no published information available on normative data in Gaelic games. External rotation in collegiate athletes was found to be lower than physically active adults that did not play upper body sports (dominant=99.0 $\pm$ 5.6°, non-dominant=96.5 $\pm$ 5.1°), however, internal rotation was found to be similar (dominant=70.5 $\pm$ 7.8°, non-dominant=75.4 $\pm$ 6.5) (Torres and Gomes, 2009). In contrast, adolescents displayed lower external rotation (dominant=103.7 $\pm$ 10.9°, non-dominant=101.8 $\pm$ 10.8°) and much higher internal rotation (dominant=45.4 $\pm$ 13.6°, non-dominant= 56.3 $\pm$ 11.5°) than junior tennis players (Ellenbecker et al., 2002). This difference between tennis players could be due to the nature of the game which requires tennis players to constantly use their upper body. This places increased eccentric loading on the tissues of the shoulder which may cause corresponding tightness of the posterior capsule that reduces internal rotation (Thomas et al., 2010).

Asymmetry in range of motion between sides has been identified as a possible predictor of injury in sport (Wilk et al., 2011). While left internal rotation was found to be significantly higher than the right side in adolescent and collegiate participants, external rotation was found to be higher on the left side than the right in adolescents only. The side to side difference was as previously mentioned (Section 3.4.2.2) not related to dominance. Total range of motion is defined as internal and external rotation added together and asymmetry of total range of motion of greater than 5° has been identified as a cut off point for participants at a greater risk of injury (Wilk et al., 2011). In the present study, 84.6% of adolescents and 75.3% of collegiate participants displayed asymmetry over this cut off point and so possibly are susceptible to injury (Wilk et al., 2011). While this is a significant finding, it must be noted that the increased injury rate in those past the cut–off point was found in baseball pitchers which is primarily an upper body sport, thus further research is necessary to determine if this has relevance in Gaelic games. In contrast, only 22.1% of adolescents and 33.8% of collegiate participants had an internal range of motion on the non-dominant side of greater than 20° than the dominant side, which has also been proposed as a cut off point for increased risk of injury (Wilk et al., 2011). Utilising this cut off point, baseball players were twice as likely to be injured, however it did not reach statistical significance which questions the appropriateness of this cut off point (Wilk et al., 2011).

Adolescents were found to have significantly higher internal and external rotation on the left side than collegiate participants which is similar to the results reported by Thomas et al. (2010) where high school baseball players had increased internal and external rotation than collegiate players. Fresher internal and external rotation on the right side was found to be significantly higher than senior players however the interaction effect noted in internal rotation demonstrated that this difference was particularly evident between fresher and senior Gaelic footballers. Higher internal and external rotation noted in younger participants (adolescent and fresher players) has been suggested to be due to their lower training age, which indicates that they may have not developed the consequential posterior capsule and muscle thickening that occurs due to eccentric stress being placed on the tissues, and may have less pectoralis major tightness that can reduce range of motion (Thomas et al., 2010).

No statistically significant relationship was found between internal rotation and scapular control which is perhaps surprising, as it has been noted that reduced internal rotation causes scapular dyskinesis and abnormal scapular positioning because the scapula protracts and internally rotates in order to achieve enough internal rotation to follow through with upper body movements (Thomas et al., 2010). In addition, no significant relationship was noted between increased external rotation on the right shoulder and the scapular control test, and the significant relationships found on the left shoulder only displayed a small effect size. This is also a little surprising as altering the range of

motion of the shoulder could alter positioning of the scapulae, which is associated with poor control of the scapula and may affect the kinetic chain motion of the shoulder and scapula movement thereby potentially predisposing to injury (Conte et al., 2009, Wang and Cochrane, 2001, Thomas et al., 2010).

#### **3. 4. 4. Foot function**

There is a lack of comprehensive normative data for the navicular drop test for both a large cohort of physically active individuals and Gaelic games players. This lack of data has been suggested as a reason to exclude this test in a screening setting (McPoil et al., 2008, Nielsen et al., 2009). Only a single study provided normative values for the navicular drop test in healthy adults (n=280) with no current pain or deformities of the feet (Nielsen et al., 2009).

No significant difference was found between adolescent and collegiate participants on the right and left feet, with a higher mean than previously reported for healthy males by Nielsen et al. (2009) (5.3±1.8mm) and McPoil et al. (2013) (5.06±3.21mm), but a lower mean than reported in collegiate cross-country runners by Bennett et al. (2012) (8.5±4.1 and  $8.7\pm4.3$ ). A navicular drop of greater than 10mm has been frequently used in classifying players at risk of injury associated with excessive pronation (Bennett et al., 2001). Approximately one third of adolescent and collegiate participants presented with a navicular drop greater than the cut-off point which is similar to the 32%-40% of collegiate cross-country runners (Bennett et al., 2012). Asymmetry between feet of greater than 3mm is also suggested as a possible risk factor for injury (Plisky et al., 2007) and approximately one third of adolescent and collegiate participants also had an asymmetry higher than this cut off point. While the results are important, it is worth noting that numerous cut-off points have been suggested for the navicular drop test, with cut off points of 5-15mm suggested (Moen et al., 2012, Plisky et al., 2007, Buist et al., 2010, McPoil et al., 2008, Bennett et al., 2001, Beckett et al., 1992). The cut-off point used in the current study is the most commonly used and has been shown to have 68% accuracy in predicting medial tibial stress syndrome (Plisky et al., 2007, Buist et al., 2010, McPoil et al., 2008); however, further research is necessary to confirm its ability to predict other injuries in various populations.

#### 3.4.5. Balance

There is a lack of normative data for adolescent and collegiate Gaelic footballers. The present study found that both adolescent and collegiate participants displayed 2-11%
lower Y balance results than high school athletes (Gorman et al., 2012) and 5-20% lower than high school basketball players (Plisky et al., 2006) in the anterior, posteriomedial, posteriolateral and composite reach directions. The poor balance noted in adolescent and collegiate Gaelic footballers and hurlers could be related to the high percentage of ankle injuries occurring in Gaelic games. It has been demonstrated that ankle injuries account for 10-21% of injuries in Gaelic football (Murphy et al., 2012b, Newell et al., 2013, Wilson et al., 2007, Watson, 1996b, Cromwell et al., 2000) and 9% in hurling (Murphy et al., 2012a, Crowley and Condon, 1989) and so the implementation of balance programmes may be critical in both adolescent and collegiate Gaelic football and hurling.

Cut off points have been utilised in research to establish "at risk" athletes. Using the Y balance test two main cut off points have been suggested:  $\leq$ 94% (Plisky et al., 2006) and  $\leq$ 89% (Butler et al., 2013b); Plisky et al. (2006) found that high school basketball players were 6.5 times more likely to sustain a lower limb injury, while Butler et al. (2013b) found that collegiate American footballers were 3.5 times more likely. The majority of adolescent (51.7%) and collegiate (57.7%) participants were noted as at risk for injury using the 94% cut off point, which is higher than the 26% reported in high school basketball players (Plisky et al., 2006). Only 32.6% of adolescent and 39.0% of collegiate participants identified as at risk utilising the 89% cut off point and to date there is no published data available on the percentage of athletes in other sports that are at risk using this newly identified cut-off point. Thus, it may be necessary to develop cut-off points for injury that is sport and population specific.

If considering the anterior direction alone, almost all participants would be classified as at risk of injury utilising the 94% cut-off point, while participants were predominantly classified as not at risk of injury in the posteriomedial and posteriolateral directions. The directional differences may reflect different muscular deficiencies. The vastus medialis and lateralis are most active in the anterior reach, anterior tibialis in the posteriomedial reach and the biceps femoris and anterior tibialis in the posteriolateral reach (Plisky et al., 2006). In addition, it has been demonstrated that the posterior directions require enhanced hip motion and so the hamstrings are under increased pressure to eccentrically control hip flexion (Butler et al., 2013b). Therefore, it may be necessary to target the deficiencies in the posterior directions because poor balance may place further loading on the already susceptible hamstrings in adolescent and collegiate participants. Asymmetry between sides has been proposed as a possible risk factor for injury (Plisky et al., 2006) and Plisky et al. (2006) reported that participants were 2.5 times more likely to sustain a lower limb injury if they had an asymmetry of greater than 4cm in the Y balance test. While no substantial significant differences were found between sides in adolescent or collegiate participants, 47.1%-62.5% of adolescent participants (see Table 3.7) and 37.1-56.1% of collegiate participants (see Table 3.21) had an asymmetry greater than 4cm in either the anterior, posteriomedial, posteriolateral or composite directions. Side to side differences have been suggested to be clinically important as increased stress may be placed on the more capable limb attributable to the inability of the opposing limb to successfully provide a stable base of support during sporting movements; thus balance exercises may be a useful component of a preventative programme in Gaelic games (Plisky et al., 2006). The differences in susceptibility to injury between the different directions in the Y balance test are also noteworthy, as different directions require different muscles to produce the movement, as previously mentioned; thus each of these muscles must be targeted in a preventative programme for Gaelic players as all three directions have displayed susceptibility to injury (Plisky et al., 2006). With regard to normative data collected in other studies, adolescent and collegiate participants in the present study were found to display slightly higher differences between sides in the anterior, posteriomedial and posteriolateral direction (see Table 3.6 and 3.20) than high school athletes that played single  $(2.8\pm2.2$ cm, 4.6±4.4cm, 4.3±4.3cm respectively) or multiple sports (3.6±3.8cm, 4.3±3.8cm, 5.0±4.2cm, respectively) (Gorman et al., 2012).

No significant difference was noted between adolescent and collegiate participants for the majority of results in the Y balance test, the only significant difference that was noted with a moderate effect size was for posteriolateral average reach distance on the right and left leg. Butler et al. (2013b) similarly found that high school soccer players also scored lower than collegiate players in the posteriolateral direction (p<0.01) however Butler et al. (2013b) found this difference using the normalised to limb length scores, in the current study the significant difference was only noted using the raw average reach distance. Thus, differences in balance between adolescent and collegiate participants may be population specific and it is therefore advisable to develop sport specific and age specific normative data with regard to balance. Senior hurlers were found to display higher reach scores than fresher hurlers and senior Gaelic footballers, and fresher Gaelic footballers displayed higher reach scores than fresher hurlers. Thus it could be suggested that balance should be focused on in injury prevention programmes in the fresher hurling and senior Gaelic football populations.

# **3. 4. 6. Squat and Single leg squat**

Approximately half of adolescent participants received an average overall impression result on the right and left single leg squat and a similar percentage of adolescents received a poor and an average result for the overhead squat (approximately 40% each). A third of all adolescents were found to complete a poor right and left single leg squat. Collegiate participants on the other hand primarily received an average in the overhead squat (53.3%) and in contrast they received similar poor and average results on the right and left legs. The higher percentage of adolescents that scored poorly on the overhead squat test in comparison to collegiate participants could be explained by possibly poorer neuromuscular control, or that the adolescent participants were not familiar with the squatting technique. The higher percentage of poor scores in the single leg squat in collegiate participants may be due to the previously noted poorer balance in older participants. In fact, only 3.9% of collegiate participants received an excellent score for the single leg squat on the right and left legs and poor balance itself has been attributed to the fact that as training age increases, the likelihood of previous ankle injuries that have a direct impact on balance is increased and so may affect the single leg squat result (Butler et al., 2013b).

Schneiders et al. (2011) established normative values in healthy active adults for a squat utilised in the Functional Movement Screen that was similar to the present study. While Schneider et al. (2011) found that an average score in the squat was predominant, the percentage was higher (61%) than noted in the present study in both adoelscent and collegiate participants. Similarly, the percentage of adolescent and collegiate participants that scored a poor in the squat was found to be higher than reported by Schneider et al. (2011) (15%). The functional issues noted in the overhead squat and single leg squat should be addressed in injury prevention programmes developed for adolescent and collegiate participants. In addition, adolescent and collegiate participants' squatting technique should be established prior to squats being included in strength and conditioning programmes and if poor technique or functional issues are noted, these must be addressed prior to initiating the programme.

Individual criteria scored in each of the overhead squat was also assessed, with both adolescent and collegiate participants' predominantly receiving a "normal" score,

except for trunk flexion where a "slight" (38.0%) problem was most commonly received in adolescents only (Table 3.20 and 3.34). With regard to the single leg squat adolescents predominately exhibited a "slight" problem in knees over toes, knee valgus, hip flexion and trunk flexion on both the right and left legs (Table 3.21). Similarly collegiate participants predominantly displayed a "slight" problem in knees over toes and knee valgus, however for both hip flexion and trunk flexion collegiate participants displayed primarily a "moderate" problem on both legs (3.35). The common occurrence of knee valgus during the squatting movement is significant as it has been identified as a risk factor for knee injuries (Weeks et al., 2012, Alentorn-Geli et al., 2009). Knee valgus can occur due to weak hip abductors and so it may be necessary that a hip abductor strengthening programme is introduced in this population (Claiborne et al., 2006). The prevalence of a "moderate" score for excessive trunk flexion is important as it has been suggested to occur due to tight hip flexors that could be due to repetitive kicking in Gaelic football (McIntyre, 2005). The hip flexors themselves may be predisposed to tearing due to the reduced flexibility. This tightness can also place the pelvis in an anteriorly tilted position which can cause corresponding lengthening of the hamstring muscle, which may predispose to hamstring injuries due to loading of the hamstring in a lengthened position over an extended period of time (Brukner and Khan, 2006, McIntyre, 2005). A poor score for hip flexion may relate to an inability to perform a deep squat utilising the full range of motion available to the joints of the lower limb, thus reduced hip mobility may be related to the poor performance in collegiate in comparison to adolescents (Cook, 2010, Frohm et al., 2012). Collegiate participants scored primarily a "slight" problem for balance and scored significantly worse for balance in the single leg squat both on the right and left legs than adolescents. As previously mentioned, this could be due to a higher incidence of previous ankle injuries in the older participants due to their relative older training age (Butler et al., 2013b). Additional analysis was completed to assess if certain components of the squatting motion was more essential to gaining a higher score in the overhead and single leg squat by comparing the individual criteria scored and the overall impression result (Table 3.73). The individual components were found to be significantly related to the squatting technique with at least a medium effect size in all components except for knee varus, toe out and toe in, which could be due to the low occurrence of these maladaptive movement patterns. With regard to the overhead squat, lower hip flexion scores or a deeper squat was demonstrated to be significantly correlated to a higher result (r=-0.51). Thus injury prevention programmes that target increasing hip mobility to facilitate greater depth in the squatting motion may be beneficial (Cook, 2010, Frohm et al., 2012). Balance was found to relate the most to the overall impression result in the single leg squat on the right and left legs with issues noted in balance being significantly correlated to a lower overall impression on each leg. Since the overhead squat and the single leg squat analyses the same movement patterns, removing the single leg squat may be beneficial due to time constraints placed on therapists during the screening, especially if balance is already assessed elsewhere in the screening. However, there are inherent differences between the two tests, as an increased demand is placed on balance and therapists may find it easier to identify asymmetry between legs during the unilateral single leg squat motion (Whatman et al., 2012). The overall impression in the squat was found to be significantly correlated to the overall impression in the right leg (r=0.26) and the left leg (r=0.34). This indicates that the inclusion of the single leg squat is still necessary as demonstrated by the lower effect sizes, as other compensation strategies may be noted in the unilateral single leg squat that are absent in the bilateral overhead squat.

#### **3. 4. 7. Scapular control**

As the scapular control test utilised in this study was developed by the present researcher there is no normative data available for this test. In addition, the majority of studies use tests that assess static positioning of the scapulae, measure side to side differences of the scapulae in centimetres or measure the position of the scapulae in degrees; thus comparison between the current test and other studies is difficult as they commonly use vastly different methods of measuring scapular control. Furthermore, there is no information in current research on scapular control in Gaelic footballers or hurlers of any age using any scapular tests.

The majority of adolescents received a score of a "slight" problem on winging, control of scapula when lowering and symmetry (see Table 3.13). The majority of collegiate participants on the other hand received a score of no issues on winging and control of scapula when lifting, whereas similar to the adolescents, collegiate participants received a score of a "slight" problem on control of scapulae when lowering and for symmetry (see Table 3.27). Despite the fact the current study demonstrated a higher percentage of "slight" problems in symmetry in the scapular control test, the percentage of adolescent (37.4%) and collegiate participants (39.4%) that received no problem with symmetry was higher than a study conducted by Uhl et al. (2009) in healthy males (28.6%). Control of scapulae in lowering resulted in a poorer score in both adolescent and

collegiate participants in comparison to control of scapulae in lifting, this could be due to the fact that as the scapulae lowers, the muscles that control the scapulae are forced to work eccentrically which places them under increased load, this causes any problems in controlling the scapulae to be more pronounced during this movement (Kibler et al., 2002). The prevalence of "slight" problems in participants could be mainly due to poor posture as slouching, rounded shoulders and increased kyphosis of the thoracic spine may force the scapulae into increased upward rotation, imbalance between muscles of the shoulder (inhibition of the shoulder stabilisers and muscles of the thoracic spine and increased tone of the anterior shoulder muscles and upper trapezius) and inhibition of the servatus anterior muscle which may produce winging (Thomas et al., 2010, Wang and Cochrane, 2001, Kibler and Sciascia, 2010).

# 3.4.8. Core

As the core test utilised in this study was developed by the present researcher there is no normative data available for this test. However, a study has demonstrated normative data in a young physically active population for the trunk stability push up test which is part of the functional movement screen from which the alternative push up test was developed (Schneiders et al., 2011).

Collegiate participants received significantly higher results on the alternative push up test than adolescents (p<0.0001) with adolescents primarily receiving a "good" on the alternative push up test (41.9%) compared to the "excellent" (64.5%) predominantly received by collegiate participants. The result in the present study is lower than reported by Schneiders et al. (2011) where 76.2% of young physically active participants scored a three which is the highest score in the trunk stability test. Nonetheless, this is not surprising, as the present researcher adapted the trunk stability test in order to make it more challenging to the sporting population as it was observed in the pilot study that a large proportion of participants were achieving the highest score easily. Thus the alternative push up test can be seen to further subdivide those with higher core stability. Only 9.6% of adolescent participants and 2.4% of collegiate participants received a "poor" result on the core test which indicates that perhaps only a small percentage of Gaelic players would be at risk of injury due to poor core stability.

#### **3. 4. 9. Limitations to the study**

There are a number of limitations to the current study. Only two colleges were assessed in this study which may have caused a certain amount of bias as the training loads in teams within each college may be similar. In addition, only 4th and 5th year adolescents were assessed and so further research on younger adolescents is needed. Another limitation is that only content validity was assessed, thus further research on the criterion validity of each of the tests that were developed or adapted should be completed. The reliability of these tests was analysed and are presented in Appendix A.

#### 3.4.10. Conclusion

The current study developed a comprehensive musculoskeletal pre-participation screening, specific to Gaelic games, which utilises simple field based tests that require minimal, inexpensive equipment. This was achieved in part by both developing new and adapting previous tests and scoring systems. These developed and adapted tests demonstrated excellent inter-tester reliability and good-to-excellent intra-tester reliability. Normative data for adolescent and collegiate Gaelic footballers and hurlers were also established for all components of the screening in order to develop a standardised reference of results for both populations. This will be of great benefit to Gaelic footballers and hurlers as it will allow therapists to implement this simple time efficient screening to teams in both age groups with useful data for direct comparison. Some neuro-musculoskeletal deficiencies were identified using the screening: poor hamstring flexibility, balance, scapular control and squatting technique were noted in both adolescent and collegiate participants. Therefore injury prevention programmes should be designed to improve these deficiencies. Adolescent participants achieved a poorer score in hamstring flexibility, core stability, scapular control and the overhead squat than collegiate participants. However, in contrast, collegiate participants performed worse in the single leg squat, internal rotation and external rotation. Gaelic footballers presented with less hamstring flexibility than hurlers on the right leg, fresher hurlers and senior Gaelic footballers presented with poorer balance and younger players demonstrated worse core stability than older players. Thus these differences should be considered by clinicians when implementing injury prevention programmes in these differing populations.

# Chapter 4. Epidemiology of injury in adolescent and collegiate Gaelic footballers and hurlers.

#### 4.1. Introduction

While participation in sport provides numerous health and social benefits, an innate risk of injury exists due to this sporting involvement (Warburton et al., 2006, Schneider et al., 2006). Injury occurs when mechanical energy is placed on the body's tissues at rates or levels that exceed the human threshold for damage i.e. relative excessive force compared to the strength of the tissue (Meeuwisse et al., 2007, McGinnis, 2013). The trauma, pain and loss of function accompanying injury can be substantially detrimental to the participant, the team and the GAA itself by preventing injured players from taking part in sport or negatively affecting their performance (Junge and Dvorak, 2000, Murphy et al., 2012b). However, the occurrence and magnitude of the effects of many injuries may be reduced with the implementation of injury prevention techniques and programmes (Schneider et al., 2006, Meeuwisse et al., 2007). The initial step in the development of injury prevention techniques and programmes is to establish the incidence and epidemiology of injury in the sport (van Mechelen, 1997).

Current research has only begun to establish the incidence of injury in Gaelic games with reported injury rates of between 51.2-64.0 injuries per 1000 hours of matches and 4.1-5.8 injuries per 1000 hours of training in Gaelic football (Wilson et al., 2007, Murphy et al., 2012b, Newell et al., 2013), and 102.5 and 5.3 injuries per 1000 hours in matches and training respectively in hurling (Murphy et al., 2012a). However, the amount of published epidemiological studies is small in comparison to international sports, with only six studies in Gaelic football and two in hurling. These studies vary in their research design and study length, with two studies retrospective in nature (Cromwell et al., 2000, Brown et al., 2013), five studies prospective over a short duration (Wilson et al., 2007, Newell et al., 2013, Watson, 1996b, Murphy et al., 2012a, Watson, 1996a) and only a single prospective study longer than one season (Murphy et al., 2012b). Current research has primarily focused on elite adult players (Murphy et al., 2012b, Murphy et al., 2012a, Newell et al., 2013, Cromwell et al., 2000) with a severe lack of research in the non-elite, adolescent or collegiate population despite the fact a large proportion of those playing Gaelic games are within these poorly examined populations. In fact, no epidemiological data is available on adolescent hurling injuries and only a single study has been published on adolescent Gaelic football injuries (Watson, 1996b). Standardising injury definition, methods of data collection and reporting procedures is highly recommended by present research however no clear consensus exists in current literature in Gaelic games or in fact internationally in other sports. This can lead to serious inconsistencies in reported data and prevent direct comparisons between studies and sports (Junge and Dvorak, 2000, Fuller et al., 2007c, Fuller et al., 2006, Brooks and Fuller, 2006, Chalmers, 2002).

Thus the aims of this study were:

1) Implement a high quality study to prospectively examine the injury incidence and epidemiology of injury in adolescent and collegiate Gaelic footballers and hurlers

2) Compare and contrast the incidence and epidemiologic report of injuries in adolescent and collegiate Gaelic footballers and hurlers

3) Compare and contrast the incidence and epidemiologic report of injuries between Gaelic football and hurling

4) Compare and contrast the incidence and epidemiologic report of injuries between fresher and senior players.

# 4.2. Method

# 4. 2. 1. Subjects

794 male participants were recruited. Male adolescents (n=452) were recruited from the same five schools from study 1. These schools were:

- Colaiste Eoin, Cappagh Road, Dublin
- St Aidan's Secondary School, Collins Avenue, Whitehall, Dublin
- St Declan's College, Nephin Road, Dublin
- Ardscoil Ris, Griffith Avenue, Dublin
- St Patrick's Classical school, Navan

As in Study 1, collegiate participants (n=342) were recruited from the male fresher and senior Gaelic football and hurling teams in Dublin City University in the first year of the study and both Dublin City University and Athlone Institute of Technology in the second year of the study. All possible participants were required to attend an information session where the testing procedure and risks of the study were fully explained. This took place during the same session where Study 1 was explained. All participants were given a plain language statement form (Appendix B) and an informed consent form (Appendix C) to sign. Adolescents and their legal guardian were required to sign the informed consent prior to undergoing the testing. Ethical approval was granted prior to the study starting date by Dublin City University Ethics committee.

# 4. 2. 2. Development of the injury report form

An injury was defined as any injury sustained during training or competition resulting in restricted performance or time lost from play (Cromwell et al. (2000)). Injury severity was defined according to days missing from full participation and was divided into a minor injury (<7 days), moderate injury (7-21 days) and a severe injury (>21 days) (Newell et al., 2013). A recurrent injury was any injury of the same type and site as the original injury that occurs after a participant returns to full participation in physical activity after the original injury. This was further subclasified as an early recurrent (injury occurs <2 months after initial return to full participation), late recurrent (2-12 months after initial return to full participation) (Fuller et al., 2007c) and persistent recurring injuries. Four experts with extensive experience in assessing, treating, rehabilitating and preventing injuries developed the injury report form (Appendix P); the primary researcher in this study (Siobhán O Connor MSc. ARTC), a clinical biomechanist (Dr. Kieran Moran), a sports medicine physician (Dr Noel McCaffrey)

and a lecturer in Athletic therapy (Mr Enda Whyte MSc. ARTC). The form was designed based on extensive research on epidemiological research studies in Gaelic games (Murphy et al., 2012b, Murphy et al., 2012a, Newell et al., 2013, Wilson et al., 2007, Watson, 1996b, Watson, 1996a) and consensus statements on epidemiological research studies from soccer (Fuller et al., 2006) and rugby union (Fuller et al., 2007c). The injury report form was filled out by the therapist immediately after assessing the injury and Table 4.1 displays the information captured by the injury report form.

Main sport played	Mechanism of injury
Usual position	Activity during injury
Free taking role on the team	Contact during injury
Sport played when injured	Body part injured
Age group playing with when injured	Nature of injury
Season injury occurred during	Severity of injury
Onset of injury	Sanction during injury
Session injured (training or match)	Medical professional assessing injury
Playing surface	Further investigations needed
Weather conditions	Surgery needed due to injury
Time of injury	Days missed from light training
Type of injury	Days missed from full training
Side of injury	Days missed from full participation in sport

Table 4.1: Information	on captured by the	e Injury Report Form
------------------------	--------------------	----------------------

#### 4.2.3. Pilot study

A pilot study was completed on two male non-elite under 16 Gaelic football and hurling teams (n = 63; 34 Gaelic footballers, 29 hurlers) to assess the practicality of the format for assessing injuries. These teams held an average of two training sessions per week and the lead researcher attended a training session for each team once a week for 4 weeks. However the practicality of completing this with local club teams was problematic. Attendance at training sessions was erratic, with players who were injured failing to turn up to training on a regular basis as they were unable to take an active part in training. The majority of players only returned once they were able to return to sport, thus in a large number of cases it was only possible to assess injuries a significant time after the injury occurred, which may negatively affect the accuracy of information provided in the injury report form due to recall issues. A large number of training sessions in different teams occur simultaneously, thus the practicality of the lead researcher being able to attend a each weekly training session with every team would be next to impossible. In addition it was found that some pitches used by underage teams had no adjacent dressing rooms, therefore in order to assess an injury it was necessary to complete it at the side of the pitch. This was problematic due to weather conditions and privacy issues for the patient. Compliance to the training diary was also found to be low as coaches were only seeing players once or twice a week so they were unable to remind players about filling in the diaries regularly. Thus it was decided to recruit a number of schools in order to establish the epidemiology of injury in this age group as it offered a number of solutions to the problems identified in the pilot study. School based assessments were more controlled as attendance is mandatory and so information was captured weekly. As school is five days a week, researchers attended the school during a free class at the same time and day each week in order to assess injuries. Schools provided private rooms to assess injuries which allowed assessments to be completed in private. In addition, teachers reminded all participants to fill in the training diary daily.

#### 4. 2. 4. Experimental protocol

The experimental protocol of this study in relation to the other aspects of this PhD is provided for the adolescent and collegiate participants in Figure 4.1 and Figure 4.2 respectively. Following the screening data collection in September, weekly injury assessments (n=452, 342) were captured by therapists for the full academic year for adolescent participants (September to June) and the full collegiate sporting season in collegiate Gaelic players (September to March). This study captured injury data from elite adolescent and collegiate Gaelic players. There were no missed observation periods for injury data collection throughout the testing period.



Figure 4.1: Experimental protocol for adolescents



Figure 4.2: Experimental protocol for collegiate participants

All 4th year students in each of the five schools were recruited regardless of their primary sport, in two schools (Colaiste Eoin and St Patrick's Classical Schools) 5th year students took part in the study as well. The schools recruited in this study had a large number of students that primarily played Gaelic football and hurling however as these assessments were taking place during classes it was necessary to assess all students in that class in order to prevent exclusion of some students. Thus this PhD captured not only specifically Gaelic football and hurling injuries but also injuries that occur in 4th and 5th year students in a sample of Irish secondary schools. This information is extremely beneficial as the schools in this study represent a large proportion of schools throughout Ireland as Gaelic football and hurling are the most popular sports in Ireland. Thus as highlighted in Finch's (2006) TRIPP model on injury prevention, unless injury prevention strategies can be easily implemented practically to the population at risk, their effectiveness is highly reduced. Due to the issues identified in the pilot study on assessing injury epidemiology in adolescent club level teams it may be necessary for injury prevention programmes and strategies to be developed and implemented at school level to ensure high levels of compliance. Thus information on the injury epidemiology in secondary school adolescents may be imperative to assist in this development of future injury prevention programmes and strategies.

#### 4.2.4.1. Testers

Two final year students from Dublin City University were recruited to assess injuries alongside the lead researcher in the school based testing while on their final placement at university. The lead researcher was present at all adolescent injury assessments with the 4th year students assisting the data collection procedure. After each session the injury report forms were checked in detail. For the collegiate testing all 3rd year students from Dublin City University that were on placement with the fresher and hurling teams in Dublin City University were recruited. These students were required to attend all training sessions and matches with each team. Prior to the season commencing the lead researcher met with all students and the injury report form was explained in detail. Student therapists had completed all modules relating to injuries and the diagnosis of injuries in sport and had already underwent a year (two years for 4th years) of clinical and field placements prior to the season commencing. All student therapists also underwent a clinical assessment exam on injured patients to ensure they had sufficient ability to accurately diagnose injuries. The lead researcher through her role as coordinator of these placements was involved with the rehabilitation and treatment of many of the collegiate injuries, and was also available for students to contact throughout the testing year for confirmation on any issues or questions in relation to the testing or injury report form. The lead researcher was also available to re-assess any injured participants where the diagnosis was not easy to determine. The lead researcher was working

# 4. 2. 4. 2. Injury assessments

The injury assessments in schools were conducted on a weekly basis during the same class and at the same time and day each week. The lead researcher and two students visited each school on this day and assessed any presenting injuries. Student therapists attended every training session and match and assessed any presenting injuries with the collegiate teams during these sessions. The lead researcher met all students placed with collegiate teams each week in order to go through all injury report forms and assess any injuries that students were unsure of the diagnosis.

# 4.2.4.3. Daily training diary

An online training diary developed by the lead researcher was utilised to assess daily training load in each participant (Appendix T). This training diary was designed to be applicable to both adolescents and adults, to be completed daily and was found to take on average 3.7 minutes to complete. The online training diary was accessed through a website which enabled participant's access to the training diary in any place and at any time. Each participant was provided with an individual username and password to ensure privacy. Reminders have been found to increase compliance with this particular training diary (O'Connor, 2012) and so daily email and text reminders were sent out to every participant throughout the entire study. Unfortunately despite daily text and email reminders, the response rate for the training diary was extremely low in both adolescent and collegiate participants. This was especially the case as the study progressed. Therefore in order to capture information on exposure rate from all participants, detailed interviews were conducted at the end of each testing year with all adolescents and coaches and therapists placed with the collegiate teams, in order to decipher training and match exposure rates per week.

#### 4. 2. 5. Data processing and Statistical Analysis

The injury incidence was calculated using three different methods: 1) incidence proportion (IP) i.e. the average risk of injury per athlete, 2) incidence rate i.e. the incidence of injury per unit of athlete time, and 3) clinical incidence i.e. the number of injuries in a season related to the amount of participants at risk of injury (Knowles et al., 2006). Each of the calculations listed below for incidence proportion, incidence rate, clinical incidence, and the subsequent calculations used to measure Standard Error and 95% Confidence Intervals were taken from Knowles et al. 2006.

*Incidence proportion:* Incidence proportion was measured using the following calculation:

Incidence Proportion(IP) =  $\frac{\text{Number of injured participants during a specified time}^{*}}{\text{Number of participants at risk during a specified time}}$ 

# **Equation 4.1: Calculation of Incidence Proportion**

*where the number of injured athletes is defined as the number of athletes who sustain at least 1 injury, even if a participant receives numerous injuries they are only counted as one injured participant.

The 95% Confidence Intervals were calculated using:

$$95\% CI = IP \pm 1.96 \times SE(IP)$$

# **Equation 4.2: 95% Confidence Interval for Incidence Proportion**

where the Standard Error (SE) was calculated using:

$$SE(IP) = \frac{\sqrt{IP \times (1 - IP)}}{N}$$

#### **Equation 4.3: Standard Error for Incidence Proportion**

where N is the number of participants at risk

However the incidence proportion does not account for participants who become injured a number of times during the study. Thus the repeat incidence proportion is analysed using the following calculation:

Repeat Incidence Proportion =  $\frac{\text{Number of repeat injured participants during a specified time}}{\text{Number of injured participants during a specified time}}$ 

#### **Equation 4.4: Calculation of Repeat Incidence Proportion**

The Standard Error and 95% Confidence Intervals are measured in the same manner as the Incidence Proportion

*Incidence Rate:* This study calculated incidence rate as both the injuries per 1,000 hours and per 1,000 athletic exposures for comparison purposes. Thus the formula used to calculate the Incidence rate per 1,000 hours was:

Incidence Rate (IR) = 
$$\frac{\text{Number of injuries}}{\text{Total hours playing sport}} \times 1000$$

# Equation 4.5: Calculation of Incidence Rate per 1,000 hours

The formula used to calculate the incidence rate per 1,000 hours in training was:

Training IR = 
$$\frac{\text{Number of injuries in training}}{\text{Total hours training}} \times 1000$$

#### **Equation 4.6: Calculation of Training Incidence Rate per 1,000 hours**

The formula used to calculate the incidence rate per 1,000 hours in matches was:

$$Match IR = \frac{Number of injuries in matches}{Total hours playing matches} \times 1000$$

#### **Equation 4.7: Calculation of Match Incidence Rate per 1,000 hours**

The 95% Confidence Intervals for the incidence rate the Standard Error was first calculated using the following formula:

$$SE(IR) = \frac{\sqrt{\text{Number of injuries}}}{\text{Total time playing sport}^*}$$

#### **Equation 4.8: Standard Error for Incidence Rate**

*where the time playing sport is either hours or athletic exposures depending on the incidence rate being calculated.

Consequently the 95% Confidence Interval was calculated using this formula:

95% CI = IR 
$$\pm 1.96 \times SE(IR)$$

## **Equation 4.9: 95% Confidence Interval for Incidence Rate**

<u>Clinical Incidence</u>: Clinical incidence is a common method of measuring the average risk of sports related injuries and examines the frequency of injuries that occur within a given amount of participants (Knowles et al., 2006). Incidence proportion on the other hand actually measures the probability of an athlete receiving an injury during a specified time (Knowles et al., 2006). However, clinical incidence can be a beneficial measure in order to understand the amount of injuries that will occur and may need to be dealt with during a specified time. (Knowles et al., 2006). Thus clinical incidence was measured using the following formula:

Clinical Incidence =  $\frac{\text{Number of injuries during a specified time}}{\text{Number of participants at risk at start of specified time}}$ 

# **Equation 4.10: Calculation of Clinical Incidence**

The calculation of the Standard Error and 95% Confidence Intervals are the same as with incidence proportion, however the number of injured participants is substituted by the number of injuries during a specified time.

The frequency of the variables presented in Table 4.2 was assessed in adolescents, adolescents injured in Gaelic football and hurling only and collegiate participants.

Tuble 1121 Vallables where frequency of results was assessed			
Sports played	Quarter of injury		
Onset of injury	Sanction given		
Type of injury	Type of sanction given		
Side of injury	Season injury occurred		
General distribution of injuries	Month injury occurred		
Regional distribution of injuries	Month's overuse and acute injuries occurred		
Body part injured	Relative age group playing with when injured		
General nature of injury	Position when injured		
Specific nature of injury	Position when injured in different body parts		
Nature of injury in different body parts	Position when injured in different natures		
Stopped or kept playing	Free taking role		
Severity of injury	Playing surface when injured		
Severity of injury in different nature of injury	Temperature when injured		
Contact or non-contact injuries	Weather conditions when injured		
Mechanism of injury	Protective equipment worn		
Activity during injury	Medical professional assessed injury		
Time of injury	Further investigations completed		

Table 4.2: Variables where frequency of results was assessed

Variables assessed in the injury report form (Appendix P)

Tables, pie charts, bar charts, 100% stacked bar charts and line charts are included for visual purposes where necessary. The mean and standard deviation of the minutes in a session an injury occurred, days missed from light training, full training and full participation are reported. Two comparisons are made: firstly, between Gaelic football and hurling injuries in adolescent and collegiate participants, and secondly between fresher and senior collegiate Gaelic footballers. A very small amount of fresher hurling injuries occurred in collegiate participants thus only the epidemiology of senior hurling injuries is presented.

#### 4. 3. Results

#### 4. 3. 1. Epidemiological Results for school adolescents

224 injuries occurred in 452 adolescents (mean=  $15.6\pm0.7$  years,  $67.1\pm10.2$ kg,  $1.8\pm0.1$ m and  $21.6\pm2.8$ kg/m²). 161 of all participants became injured with 45 of these participants receiving two or more injuries. Injured participants had a total exposure time of 43,440 hours or 28,980 athletic exposures. Training exposure accounted for 37,674 hours and 23,184 athletic exposures, and match exposure was 5,760 hours or athletic exposures.

# 4. 3. 1. 1. Sport played by school adolescents

Figure 4.3 demonstrates the primary sports played by injured players in adolescents. The majority of participants who became injured played Gaelic football followed by hurling, soccer rugby and basketball. In total, 64.5% of injured adolescents' primary sports were Gaelic games where they played Gaelic football and/or hurling. Of those who became injured 13% played both Gaelic football and hurling in equal measures. 5.4% of those injured played sports that were not listed and included gymnastics, athletics and gym work.



# Figure 4.3: Primary sport played by injured participants

#### 4. 3. 1. 2. Injury Incidence in school adolescents

The epidemiological incidence proportion (IP), repeat incidence proportion, clinical incidence and incidence rate are reported in Table 4.3. Incidence rate is analysed using injuries per 1,000 hours. The incidence proportion indicates that 35.6% (95% CI: 31.2%-40.0%) of school adolescents are at risk of becoming injured during a single school year. The repeat incidence proportion indicates that of those who become injured

during the school year 27.9% (95% CI: 21.0%-34.8%) are at risk of developing a subsequent injury.

 Table 4.3: Incidence Proportion, Clinical Incidence and Incidence Rate in school adolescents

Type of Injury Incidence Analysis	<b>Injury Incidence</b>	95% CI
Incidence Proportion	0.356	0.312-0.400
Repeat Incidence Proportion	0.279	0.210-0.348
Clinical Incidence	0.495	0.449-0.541
Injuries per 1,000 hours	5.156	4.481-5.831

Table 4.4 displays the training and match incidence rate per 1,000 hours. The percentage of injuries that occurred during training (44.8%) and matches (44.3%) were similar, however when exposure is taken into account, match injuries had a higher incidence rate than training injuries; this was the case even though adolescents spent 6.5 times more time training rather than playing matches.

# Table 4.4 Incidence rate of Training and Match injuries

Incidence Rate	Training		dence Rate Training Mate		ch
	<b>Incidence Rate</b>	95% CI	<b>Incidence Rate</b>	95% CI	
Injuries per 1,000 hours	2.627	2.110-3.145	16.908	13.560-20.255	

# 4. 3. 1. 3. The Injury Description

# 4.3.1.3.1. The Onset of Injury

The majority of injuries were acute in nature and accounted for 77.7% (171) of injuries in comparison to overuse injuries (22.3%, 49). New injuries predominated in adolescents and accounted for 58.9% of injuries, recurrent injuries made up 41.1% of all injuries. Table 4.5 displays the rates of new, early recurrence (<2 months), late recurrence (2-12 months) and persistent/recurring injuries.

Table 4.5. Itew and Recuirent injuries			
	Number of injuries	Percentage of injurie	
New	129	58.9%	
Early Recurrence (<2 months)	26	11.9%	
Late Recurrence (2-12 months)	29	13.2%	
Persistent/recurring	35	16.0%	

**Table 4.5: New and Recurrent injuries** 

# 4. 3. 1. 3. 2 . Side of Injury

The right (43.9%, 97) and left (44.3%, 98) sides had a similar percentage of injuries with 11.8% (26) of injuries occurring bilaterally.

#### 4. 3. 1. 3. 3 . Body Part Injured

Injuries predominantly occurred in the lower limb and accounted for 73.1% (163) of injuries, followed by the upper limb (13.5%, 30), trunk (11.7%, 26) and head/face (1.8%, 4) (Figure 4.3).



# Figure 4.3: General distribution of injuries

Figure 4.4 displays the regional distribution of injuries and Figure 4.5 demonstrates the most common body parts injured. The knee (17.9%, 40), ankle (13.5%, 30), hamstring (11.7%, 26), lower back (11.2%, 25) and pelvis and groin (7.6%, 17) were the most commonly injured body parts. This indicates that lower limb injuries predominate in adolescents. The shoulder (4.9%,11), hand and fingers (4.9%,11) and wrist (2.2%,5) were the most common upper body injuries. Thigh injuries constitute 17.5% of all injuries. In fact, when the general distribution of injuries is viewed, the hip/groin/thigh accounted for 29.6% (66) of injuries, followed by the knee (17.9%,40) and shin/ankle/foot (17.5%,39).



Figure 4.4: Regional distribution of injury



Figure 4.5: Body part injured

# 4. 3. 1. 3. 4 . Nature of Injury

Muscle injuries were by far the most common accounting for 57% (126) of injuries, followed by ligament (20.8%, 46), bone (9.9%, 22) and tendon (6.8%, 15) (Figure 4.6). In relation to the specific nature of injuries strains (29.4%, 65) were most common, followed by sprains (20.8%, 46), muscle tightness (14.5%, 32), contusions (13.1%, 29), tendinopathy (6.8%, 15) and fractures (5.4%, 12) (Figure 4.7). Figure 4.8 displays a visual representation of the distribution of the different nature of injuries in differing injured body parts.



Figure 4.6: General nature of injury



Figure 4.7: Specific nature of injury



Figure 4.8: Visual representation of the nature of injuries in different body parts injured

# 4. 3. 1. 3. 5 . Severity of Injury

The majority of adolescents stopped playing after becoming injured (71%, 152) with only 29% (62) carrying on playing after sustaining an injury. The majority of injuries were found to be minor (0-7 days) (41.6%, 89), followed by severe (>22 days) (39.7%, 85) and moderate (8-21 days) (18.7%, 40) (Figure 4.9). The mean days lost from sport (until individual was deemed of full fitness) due to injury were  $27.8\pm46.1$ . The mean days lost from sport before taking part in light training were  $23.0\pm41.4$  and from full training were  $25.6\pm44.3$ . The majority (94.2%, 210) of injured adolescents did not require surgery, however 4.9% (11) required surgery during season and 0.9% (2) required surgery after the season had ended.



#### **Figure 4.9: Severity of injury**

Figure 4.10 demonstrates the severity of injury in relation to the nature of injury. Minor injuries were most common in injuries due to muscle tightness, contusions, tendinopathy, Osgood schlatters disease and intervertebral disk injuries. Severe injuries were most common in strains, sprains, fractures, dislocations and concussion.



# Figure 4.10: Severity of injury in relation to the nature of injury

#### 4.3.1.4. The Injury Event

# 4.3.1.4.1. Mechanism of Injury

Non-contact injuries predominated accounting for 62.6% (139) of injuries, 37.4% (83) of injuries were contact in nature. Specifically 49.5% (110) of injuries were acute non-contact injuries. The remainder of the non-contact injuries were overuse injuries (13.1%, 29). Of the contact injuries the majority occurred due to contact with another player (22.1%, 49), followed by contact with the playing surface (5.0%, 11), football (4.5%, 10), hurley (1.8%, 4), and playing apparatus (1.8%, 4). 1.4% (3) of injuries that occurred due to contact with another player involved assault or violence.

The majority of injuries occurred during sprinting (24.3% (53)) (Figure 4.11). Injuries that had no specific mechanism of injury (25.4%, 31) which may be related to overuse injuries occurred in 13.1% (29) of cases. Injuries occurring when a player was being tackled (14.7%, 32) was the third most common mechanism of injury followed by jumping/catching (8.3%,18), kicking (7.3%, 16) and turning (7.3%, 16). 20.2% (44) of injuries occurred during tackling (either being tackled or tackling).



Figure 4.11: Mechanism of injury

# 4. 3. 1. 4. 2 . Time of Injury

82.9% (175) of injuries occurred during the training/match with only 11.8% (25) and 5.2% (11) occurring during the warm-up and cool down respectively (Figure 4.12). The mean minutes into sport adolescents sustained an injury was  $35.4\pm21.5$  (2-120). The majority of injuries occurred during the last 15 minutes of the session (39.5%).



Figure 4.12: Time of injury

#### 4. 3. 1. 4. 3 . Foul Play

Only 11.7% (26) of injuries were related to foul play, injuries due to an opponent foul accounted for 92.3% of injuries related to foul play with only 7.7% due to a foul by the injured player. With regard to the injuries that occurred during team sport, a free was given in 44.4% (16) of cases, followed by a yellow card (41.7%, 15) and a red card (13.9%, 5).

#### 4. 3. 1. 5. Factors Surrounding the Injury

#### 4. 3. 1. 5. 1 . Relationship between time of year and injury

The majority of injuries occurred during the season (80.5%, 178), followed by preseason (14.5%, 32) and off season (5.0%, 11). Injuries were most common at the beginning of the calendar year and dropped significantly over the summer months however increased again nearing the end of the year (Figure 4.13). The four most common months for injury were February (19.1%, 40), April (15.8%, 33), January (13.4%, 28) and March (12.0%, 25).



### Figure 4.13: Monthly profile of injury

Figure 4.14 demonstrates the monthly profile of injuries with regard to acute or overuse injuries. Acute injuries were most common in April (31), February (27), January (22), September (20) and March (18). Overuse injuries were most common during February (9), March (7), January (6), April (5) and October (5). Both acute and overuse injuries were most common at the beginning of the year, with a reduction of injuries during the summer months and a further increase in injuries during the latter part of the year.





# 4. 3. 1. 5. 2 . Relationship between relative age group and injury

The majority (91.0%, 202) of adolescents were playing with their own age group, only 9.0% (20) of players were playing with an older team.

# 4. 3. 1. 5. 3 . Relationship between playing position and injury

Injuries in backs (41%, 82) were the most common, followed by forwards (33%, 66), midfielders (20%, 40) and goalkeepers (6%, 12) (Figure 4.15). Knee injuries occurred more commonly in forwards (14) than backs (11), conversely ankle injuries occurred more commonly in backs (12) than forwards (9) (Figure 4.16). Strains were more common in backs (28) in comparison to forwards (13) (Figure 4.17).



Figure 4.15: Injury prevalence of players in different positions



Figure 4.16: Distribution of body part injured by position



# Figure 4.17: Distribution of nature of injury by position

# 4. 3. 1. 5. 4 . Relationship between playing surface and injury

The majority of injuries occurred on grass (62.7%, 136), followed by synthetic surfaces (21.2%, 46), indoor (10.6%, 23), road (2.3%, 5), other (2.3%, 5) and track (0.9%, 1) (Figure 4.18).



# **Figure 4.18: Playing Surface**

# 4. 3. 1. 5. 5 . Relationship between weather conditions and injury

Injuries occurred outdoors (89.4%, 193) in the majority of cases with only 10.6% (23) of injuries occurring indoors. With regard to temperature, normal temperature was predominant (65.2%, 122), followed by cold (26.2%, 49) and hot (8.6%, 16). In relation to weather conditions during injury, dry weather accounted for the majority of injuries (73.7%, 126), followed by wet weather (24.6%, 42) and frozen weather (1.8%, 3).

# 4. 3. 1. 5. 6 . Protective Equipment worn

The majority (84.7%, 188) of adolescents wore no extra protective equipment. Mouth guards, ankle supports and wrist strapping were the only type of protective equipment worn by injured participants and these accounted for 10.4% (23), 4.5% (10) and 0.5% (1) of participants, respectively.

# 4. 3. 1. 6. The injury assessment

#### 4.3.1.6.1. Injury examination

The majority (77.9%, 173) of injuries were assessed solely by the main therapist in this study. However 22.1% (49) of injuries were referred for further assessment by an orthopaedic surgeon.

# 4. 3. 1. 6. 2 . Further Investigations completed

Only 21.7% of injuries required further investigations to be completed. Of these, 47.9% (21) underwent an X-ray, 33.2% (16) an MRI scan, 16.6% (1) were referred for both an MRI scan and X-ray and 2.3% (1) completed a CAT scan.

# 4. 3. 2. Epidemiological Results for adolescent Gaelic footballers and hurlers

# 4. 3. 2. 1. Epidemiological Results for adolescent Gaelic footballers and hurlers

125 injuries occurred in 292 adolescents that played Gaelic football and hurling (mean=  $15.7\pm0.8$  years,  $67.7\pm10.1$ kg,  $1.8\pm0.1$ m,  $21.8\pm2.6$ kg/m²). 95 of all participants became injured with 25 of these participants receiving two or more injuries. Injured participants had a total exposure time of 25,650 hours or 17,100 athletic exposures. Training exposure accounted for 22,230 hours and 13,680 athletic exposures and match exposure was 13,680 hours or athletic exposures.

# 4. 3. 2. 1. 1 . Primary sport played by adolescent Gaelic footballers and hurlers

Gaelic football was the primary sport played (46.4%, 58), followed by hurling (33.6%, 42) and both sports (19.2%, 24) (Figure 4.19).



# Figure 4.19: Primary sport played by injured participants

#### 4. 3. 2. 1. 2 . Injury Incidence in adolescent Gaelic footballers and hurlers

The epidemiological incidence proportion (IP), repeat incidence proportion, clinical incidence and incidence rate are reported in Table 4.6. Incidence rate is analysed using injuries per 1,000 hours. The incidence proportion indicates that 32.5% (95% CI: 27.1%-37.9%) of adolescent Gaelic footballers and hurlers are at risk of becoming injured in a single academic year. The repeat incidence proportion indicates that of those who become injured during the school year 26.3% (95% CI: 17.4%-35.1%) are at risk of developing a subsequent injury.

Type of Injury Incidence Analysis	Injury Incidence	95% CI	
Incidence Proportion	0.325	0.271-0.379	
Repeat Incidence Proportion	0.263	0.174-0.351	
Clinical Incidence	0.428	0.371-0.481	
Injuries per 1,000 hours	4.873	4.018-5.727	

 Table 4.6: Incidence Proportion, Clinical Incidence and Incidence Rate in adolescent Gaelic footballers and hurlers

Table 4.7 displays the training and match incidence rate per 1,000 hours. The percentage of injuries that occurred during training (48.4%) was higher than matches (36.3%) however when exposure is taken into account, match injuries had a higher incidence rate than training injuries; this was the case even though adolescent Gaelic footballers and hurlers spent 6.5 times more time training rather than playing matches.

Table 4.7: Incidence rate of Training and Match injuries

Type of Incidence	Training		Match	
Rate	Incidence	95% CI	Incidence	95% CI
	Rate		Rate	
Injuries per 1,000 hours	2.699	2.016-3.382	13.157	9.313-17.002

# 4.3.2.2. The Injury Description

# 4.3.2.2.1. The Onset of Injury

The majority of injuries were acute in nature and accounted for 73.4% (91) of injuries in comparison to overuse injuries (26.6%, 33). New injuries predominated and accounted for 58.2% of injuries, recurrent injuries made up 41.8% of all injuries. Table 4.8 displays the new, early recurrence (<2 months), late recurrence (2-12 months) and persistent/recurring injuries.

	Number of injuries	Percentage of injuries	
New	71	58.2%	
Early Recurrence (<2 months)	15	12.3%	
Late Recurrence (2-12 months)	16	13.1%	
Persistent/recurring	20	16.4%	

**Table 4.8: New and Recurrent injuries** 

# 4. 3. 2. 2. 2 . Side of Injury

Right (40.7%, 50) and left (47.2%, 58) sides had a similar percentage of injuries with 12.2% (15) of injuries occurred bilaterally in adolescent Gaelic footballers and hurlers.

#### 4. 3. 2. 2. 3 . Body Part Injured

Injuries predominantly occurred in the lower limb and accounted for 71.2% (89) of injuries, followed by the upper limb (17.6%, 22) and trunk/spine (11.2%, 14) (Figure 4.20).



#### Figure 4.20: General distribution of injuries

Figure 4.21 displays the regional distribution of injuries and Figure 4.22 demonstrates the most common body parts injured. The knee (19.2%, 24), lower back (12.0%, 15), ankle (11.2%, 14), hamstring (9.6%, 12), and pelvis and groin (8.8%, 11) were the most commonly injured body parts. Thus this indicates that lower limb injuries predominate in adolescent Gaelic footballers and hurlers. The shoulder (6.4%,8), hand and fingers (6.4%,8) and wrist (3.2%,4) were the most common upper body injuries. Thigh injuries constitute 16.0% of all injuries. In fact, when the general distribution of injuries is viewed the hip/groin/thigh accounted for 25.0% (35) of injuries, followed by the knee (19.2%, 24) and shin/ankle/foot (14.4%, 18).



Figure 4.21: Regional distribution of injury



Figure 4.22: Body part injured

# 4. 3. 2. 2. 4 . Nature of Injury

Muscle injuries were by far the most common accounting for 56.5% (70) of injuries, followed by ligaments (19.4%, 24), tendons (10.5%, 13) and bone (8.0%, 10) (Figure 4.23). In relation to the specific nature of injuries strains (24.2%, 30) were most common, followed by sprains (19.4%, 24), muscle tightness (19.4%, 24), contusions (12.9%, 16), tendinopathy (10.5%, 13) and fractures (4.8%, 6) (Figure 4.24). Figure 4.25 displays a visual representation of the distribution of the different nature of injuries in differing injured body parts.



Figure 4.23: General nature of Injury







# Figure 4.25: Visual representation of the nature of injuries in different body parts injured

# 4. 3. 2. 2. 5 . Severity of Injury

The majority of participants stopped playing after becoming injured (67.2%, 80) with only 32.8% (39) carrying on playing after sustaining an injury. The majority of injuries were found to be minor (0-7 days) (49.6%, 59), followed by severe (>22 days) (34.5%,41) and moderate (8-21 days) (16.0%, 19) (Figure 4.26). The mean days lost from sport (until individual was deemed of full fitness) due to injury were  $26.5\pm53.6$ . The mean days lost from sport before taking part in light training were  $22.0\pm49.1$  and
from full training were  $24.7\pm52.1$ . The majority (92.8%, 116) of injured adolescent Gaelic footballers and hurlers did not require surgery, however 6.4% (8) required surgery during season and 0.8% (1) required surgery after the season had ended.



#### Figure 4.26: Severity of injury

Minor injuries were most common in injuries due to muscle tightness, contusions, tendinopathy, Osgood schlatters disease and intervertebral disk injuries (Figure 4.27). Strains caused an equal amount of minor and moderate injuries. Severe injuries were most common in strains, sprains, fractures, cartilage and dislocations.



Figure 4.27: Severity of injury in relation to the nature of injury

#### 4.3.2.3. The Injury Event

#### 4.3.2.3.1 . Mechanism of Injury

Non-contact injuries predominated, accounting for 63.7% (79) of injuries and 36.3% (45) of injuries were contact in nature. Specifically 46.8% (58) of injuries were acute non-contact injuries. The remainder of the non-contact injuries were overuse injuries

(16.9%, 21). Of the contact injuries the majority occurred due to contact with another player (20.9%, 26), followed by contact with the playing surface (5.6%, 7), football (5.6%, 7), hurley (3.2%, 4), and playing apparatus (0.8%, 1). 2.4% (3) of injuries that occurred due to contact with another player involved assault or violence. The majority of injuries had no specific mechanism of injury (25.4%, 31) which can be related to the amount of overuse injuries (Figure 4.28). Sprinting was found to be the most common specific mechanism of injuries (23.8% (29)), followed by being tackled (13.9%, 17), jumping/catching (9.0%,11), kicking (5.4%, 7) and falling (5.4%,7). Only 4.9% (6) of injuries occurred during turning and tackling. 18.8% (23) of injuries occurred during tackled or tackling).



Figure 4.28: Mechanism of injury

#### 4. 3. 2. 3. 2 . Time of Injury

80.0% (92) of injuries occurred during the training/match with only 14.8% (17) and 5.2% (6) occurring during the warm-up and cool down respectively (Figure 4.29). The mean minutes into sport adolescent Gaelic footballers and hurlers sustained an injury was  $35.1\pm21.6$  (2-120) minutes.



#### Figure 4.29: Time of injury

The majority of injuries occurred during the second half (58.3%,49) with only 41.7% (35) occurring in the first half. Injuries predominantly occurred during the 4th quarter (38.1%, 32), followed by the 2nd quarter (23.8%, 20), the 3rd quarter (20.2%, 17) and the 1st quarter (17.9%, 15) (Figure 4.30).



# Figure 4.30: Quarter of injury

#### 4.3.2.3.3.Foul play

Only 11.3% (14) of injuries were related to foul play, injuries due to an opponent foul accounted for 92.9% of injuries related to foul play with only 7.1% due to a foul by the injured player. A free and yellow card was given in 45.5% (10) of cases respectively; a red card was given in only 9.0% (2) of cases.

#### 4. 3. 2. 4. Factors Surrounding the Injury

#### 4. 3. 2. 4. 1 . Relationship between time of year and injury

The majority of injuries occurred during the season (80.8%, 101), followed by preseason (13.6%, 17) and off season (5.6%, 7). Injuries were most common at the beginning of the calendar year and dropped significantly over the summer months however increased again nearing the end of the year (Figure 4.31). The four most

common months for injury were February (19.1%, 22), April (17.4%, 20), January (14.8%, 17) and March (13.9%, 16).



Figure 4.31: Monthly profile of injury

Acute injuries were most common in April (17), February (14), January (12) and March (12) (Figure 4.32). Overuse injuries were most common during February (8), January (5), March (4) and April (3). Both acute and overuse injuries were most common at the beginning of the year, with a reduction of injuries during the summer months and a further increase in injuries during the latter part of the year.



Figure 4.32: Monthly profile of injury with regard to acute and overuse injuries

#### 4. 3. 2. 4. 2 . Relationship between relative age group and injury

The majority (92.8%, 116) of adolescent Gaelic footballers and hurlers were playing with their own age group, only 7.2% (9) of players were playing with an older team.

# 4. 3. 2. 4. 3 . Relationship between playing position and injury

The percentage of injuries in backs and forwards were similar and accounted for 38.7% (48) of injuries respectively (Figure 4.33). Only 19.4% (24) of injuries occurred to

midfielders and 3.2% (2) of injuries occurred in goalkeepers. However, since backs and forwards have a larger number of players than goalkeepers and midfielders in Gaelic games, the injuries per position was calculated to adjust for this difference. Midfielders presented with 12 injuries per position, followed by backs (8 injuries per position), forwards (7.8 injuries per position) and goalkeepers (4 injuries per position). The majority of body parts injured and nature of injury occurred in similar amounts to backs and forwards (Figure 4.34 and Figure 4.35 respectively). Knee injuries occurred more commonly in forwards (10) than backs (7). Strains were more common in backs (15) in comparison to forwards (8) than backs (5).



Figure 4.33: Injury prevalence of players in different positions



Figure 4.34: Distribution of body part injured by position





# 4. 3. 2. 4. 4 . Relationship between a free taking role and injury

Participants who became injured were predominantly not a free taker (70.2%, 87) compared to a free taker (29.8%, 37).

#### 4. 3. 2. 4. 5 . Relationship between playing surface and injury

The majority of injuries occurred on grass (68.6%, 83), followed by synthetic surfaces (19.8%, 24), indoor (8.3%, 10), road (1.7%, 2) and other (1.7%, 2) (Figure 4.36).





# 4. 3. 2. 4. 6 . Relationship between weather conditions and injury

Injuries occurred outdoors (90.3%, 112) in the majority of cases with only 9.7% (12) of injuries occurring indoors. With regard to temperature during injury, normal temperature was predominant (68.9%, 71), followed by cold (25.2%, 26) and hot (5.8%, 6). In relation to the weather conditions during injury, dry weather accounted for the

majority of injuries (72.7%, 72), followed by wet weather (24.2%, 24) and frozen weather (3.0%, 3).

# 4. 3. 2. 4. 7 . Protective Equipment worn

The majority (82.3%, 102) of adolescent Gaelic footballers and hurlers wore no extra protective equipment. Mouth guards and ankle supports were the only type of protective equipment worn by injured participants and these accounted for 14.5% (18) and 3.2% (4) of participants respectively.

# 4. 3. 2. 5. The injury assessment

# 4.3.2.5.1 . Injury examination

The majority (80.0%, 100) of injuries were assessed solely by the main therapist in this study. However 20.0% (25) of injuries were referred for further assessment by an orthopaedic surgeon.

# 4. 3. 2. 5. 2 . Further Investigations completed

Only 18.5% of injuries required further investigations to be completed. Of these, 39.1% (9) underwent an MRI scan, 34.8% (8) an X-ray and 26.1% (6) were referred for both an MRI scan and X-ray.

# 4. 3. 3. Epidemiological Results for collegiate participants

193 injuries occurred in 342 collegiate participants that played Gaelic football and hurling (mean=  $19.3\pm1.9$  years,  $77.6\pm9.3$ kg,  $1.8\pm0.1$ m,  $23.5\pm2.1$ kg/m²). 131 of all participants became injured with 35 of injured participants receiving two or more injuries. Injured participants had a total exposure time of 20,273 hours or 14,190 athletic exposures. Training exposure accounted for 16,797 hours and 10,741 athletic exposures and match exposure was 3,476 hours or athletic exposures.

# 4. 3. 3. 1. Sport played by collegiate participants

The primary sport played by participants was Gaelic football (74.6%, 144) with 25.4% (49) of participants primarily playing hurling. There was a similar percentage of fresher (48.7%, 94) and senior (51.3%, 99) players.

# 4. 3. 3. 2. Injury Incidence in collegiate participants

The epidemiological incidence proportion (IP), repeat incidence proportion, clinical incidence and incidence rate are reported in Table 4.9. Incidence rate is analysed using injuries per 1,000 hours. The incidence proportion indicates that 38.3% (95% CI: 33.1%-43.4%) of collegiate participants are at risk of becoming injured during a single collegiate season. The repeat incidence proportion indicates that of those who become injured during the collegiate season 26.7% (95% CI: 19.1%-34.2%) are at risk of developing a subsequent injury.

 Table 4.9: Incidence Proportion, Clinical Incidence and Incidence Rate in collegiate participants

Type of Injury Incidence Analysis	Injury Incidence	95% CI
Incidence Proportion	0.383	0.331-0.434
Repeat Incidence Proportion	0.267	0.191-0.342
Clinical Incidence	0.564	0.511-0.616
Injuries per 1,000 hours	14.512	12.464-16.559

Table 4.10 displays the training and match incidence rate per 1,000 hours. The percentage of injuries that occurred during matches (56.9%, 103) was higher than training (43.1%, 78). When exposure is taken into account, match injuries also had a higher incidence rate than training injuries; this was the case even though collegiate participants spent 4.8 times more time training rather than playing matches.

 Table 4.10: Incidence rate of Training and Match injuries

<b>Type of Incidence Rate</b>	Training		Match	
	<b>Incidence Rate</b>	95% CI	<b>Incidence Rate</b>	95% CI
Injuries per 1,000 hours	7.055	5.489-8.621	45.900	37.035-54.764

#### 4.3.3.3. The Injury Description

#### 4.3.3.3.1. The Onset of Injury

The majority of injuries were acute in nature and accounted for 78.2% (151) of injuries in comparison to overuse injuries (21.8%, 42). New injuries predominated in collegiate participants and accounted for 71.1% of injuries, recurrent injuries made up 23.0% of all injuries. Table 4.11 displays the new, early recurrence (<2 months), late recurrence (2-12 months) and persistent/recurring injuries.

	Number of injuries	Percentage of injuries
New	148	77.1%
Early Recurrence (<2 months)	13	6.8%
Late Recurrence (2-12 months)	8	4.2%
Persistent/recurring	23	12.0%

#### **Table 4.11: New and Recurrent injuries**

#### 4. 3. 3. 3. 2. Side of Injury

Injuries occurred more frequently on the right side (54.6%, 101) than the left side (38.4%, 71) and bilaterally (7.0%, 13).

#### 4. 3. 3. 3. 3 . Body Part Injured

Injuries predominantly occurred in the lower limb and accounted for 69.4% (134) of injuries, followed by the upper limb (17.1%, 33), trunk/spine (9.3%, 18) and head/face (4.1%, 8) (Figure 4.37).



# Figure 4.37: General distribution of injuries

Figure 4.38 displays the regional distribution of injuries and Figure 4.39 demonstrates the most common body parts injured. The hamstring (16.1%, 31), knee (13.0%, 25), ankle (10.9%, 21), hand and fingers (7.8%, 15), pelvis and groin (7.3%, 14) and quadriceps (7.3%, 14) were the most commonly injured body parts. This indicates that

lower limb injuries predominate in collegiate participants. The hand and fingers (7.8%, 15), shoulder (5.7%, 11), and elbow (2.1%,4) were the most common upper body injuries. Thigh injuries constitute 23.4% of all injuries. In fact, when the general distribution of injuries is viewed the hip/groin/thigh accounted for 36.9% (45) of injuries, followed by the shin/ankle/foot (14.5%,28), knee (13.0%, 25), and trunk/spine (9.6%, 15).







Figure 4.39: Body part injured

# 4.3.3.3.4 Nature of Injury

Muscle injuries were by far the most common accounting for 53.3% (103) followed by ligaments (27.5%, 53), bone (7.3%, 14) and tendon (6.7%, 13) (Figure 4.40). In relation to the specific nature of injuries strains (31.6%, 61) were most common, followed by sprains (27.5%, 53), contusions (15.5%, 30), tendinopathy (6.7%, 13), muscle tightness (6.2%, 12) and fractures (5.7%, 11) (Figure 4.41). Figure 4.42 displays a visual representation of the distribution of the different nature of injuries in differing injured body parts.



Figure 4.40: General nature of injury



Figure 4.41: Specific nature of injury



Figure 4.42: Visual representation of the nature of injury in different injured body parts

# 4.3.3.3.4. Severity of Injury

The majority of collegiate participants stopped playing after becoming injured (83.9%, 161) with only 16.1% (31) carrying on playing after sustaining an injury. The majority of injuries were found to be severe (>22 days) (38.0%, 73) followed by minor (0-7 days) (35.4%, 68), and moderate (7-21 days) (26.6%, 51) (Figure 4.43). The mean days lost from sport (until individual was deemed of full fitness) due to injury were  $29.2\pm40.5$ . The mean days lost from sport before taking part in light training were  $25.8\pm42.3$  and from full training were  $27.2\pm37.7$ . The majority (89.6%, 173) of injured collegiate participants did not require surgery, however 6.7% (13) required surgery during season and 3.6% (7) required surgery after the season had ended.



# Figure 4.43: Severity of injury

Minor injuries were most common in injuries due to contusions, muscle tightness, tendinopathy, laceration and concussion (Figure 4.44). Moderate injuries primarily

occurred in strains and dental injuries. Strains caused an equal amount of minor and moderate injuries. Severe injuries were most common in sprains, fractures and cartilage



Figure 4.44: Severity of injury in relation to the nature of injury

# 4. 3. 3. 4. The Injury Event

# 4.3.3.4.1. Mechanism of Injury

Non-contact injuries predominated, accounting for 54.4% (105) of injuries occurring, 45.6% (88) of injuries were contact in nature. Specifically 43.0% (83) of injuries were acute non-contact injuries. The remainder of the non-contact injuries were overuse injuries (11.4%, 22). Of the contact injuries the majority occurred due to contact with another player (28.0%, 54), followed by contact with the playing surface (8.3%, 16), football (4.7%, 9), hurley (3.1%, 6), and playing apparatus (1.0%, 2). Only 0.5% (1) of injuries that occurred were due to assault or violence.

Sprinting was found to be the most common specific mechanism of injuries (25.0% (48)) of injuries, followed by being tackled (15.6%, 30), turning (8.9%, 17), landing (8.3%, 16), jumping/catching (7.3%, 14) and tackling (7.3%, 13) (Figure 4.45). 22.9% (43) of injuries occurred during tackling (either being tackled or tackling). No specific mechanism of injury with a gradual onset of symptoms was noted in 11.5% (22) of injuries which can be related to overuse injuries.



Figure 4.45: Mechanism of injury

# 4.3.3.4.2 Time of Injury

Figure 4.46 displays the time of injury, 92.0% (160) of injuries occurred during the training/match with only 4.6% (8) and 3.4% (6) occurring during the warm-up and cool down respectively. The mean minutes an injury was sustained was  $38.4\pm16.7$  (1-90) minutes.



# Figure 4.46: Time of injury

The majority of injuries occurred during the second half (70.3%, 97) and only 29.7% (41) occurred in the first half. Injuries predominantly occurred during the 4th quarter (48.6%, 67), followed by the 3rd quarter (21.7%, 30), the 2nd quarter (20.3%, 28) and the 1st quarter (9.4%, 13) (Figure 4.47).



#### Figure 4.47: Quarter of injury

#### 4.3.3.4.2. Foul play

Only 5.7% (11) of injuries were related to foul play, injuries due to an opponent foul accounted for 54.5% (6) of injuries related to foul play with 45.5% (5) of injuries due to a foul by the injured player. A free (60.0%, 6) was the primary sanction given after foul play that caused an injury followed by a yellow card (30.0%, 3) and a red card (10.0%, 1).

#### 4. 3. 3. 5. Factors Surrounding the Injury

#### 4. 3. 3. 5. 1 . Relationship between time of year and injury

The majority of injuries occurred during the season (80.8%, 156), followed by preseason (16.6%, 32) and off season (2.6%, 5). Injuries were most common at the beginning of the calendar year and dropped significantly over the summer months however increased again nearing the end of the year (Figure 4.48). The four most common months for injury were November (22.9%, 44), October (18.2%, 35), February (15.6%, 30), January (13.5%, 26) and December (12.5%, 24). An increase in injuries occurred over two time points throughout the year, during November and February.



Figure 4.48: Monthly profile of injury

Figure 4.49 demonstrates the monthly profile of injuries with regard to acute or overuse injuries. Acute injuries were most common in November (35), October (29) February (21) and January (19). Overuse injuries were most common during November (9), February (9), January (7) and December (7). Both acute and overuse injuries increased in occurrence at the later part and beginning of the year with a reduction of injuries in the summer months.





The majority (92.7%, 179) of adolescents were playing with their own age group, only 7.3% (1) of players were playing with an older team.

#### 4. 3. 3. 5. 3 . Relationship between playing position and injury

Forwards received the majority of injuries with 40.9% (79), followed by backs (38.3%, 74), midfield (12.4%, 24) and goalkeepers (8.3%, 16) (Figure 4.50). However, since backs and forwards have a larger number of players than goalkeepers and midfielders in Gaelic games, the injuries per position was calculated to adjust for this difference. Goalkeepers presented with 16 injuries per position, followed by forwards (13.2 injuries per position), backs (12.3 injuries per position) and both midfielders (12 injuries per position). The incidence of body parts injured and nature of injury was similar in backs and forwards (Figure 4.51 and 4.52 respectively). However hamstring (14), quadriceps (10) and shoulder (7) injuries occurred more commonly in backs than forwards (11, 3, 3 respectively). Knee (13), pelvis and groin (9) and ribs and chest (5) injuries occurred more common in forwards (26) in comparison to backs (23) and conversely muscle contusions occurred more commonly to backs (14) than forwards (11).



Figure 4.50: Injury prevalence of players in different positions



Figure 4.51: Distribution of body part injured by position



#### Figure 4.52: Distribution of nature of injury by position

# 4. 3. 3. 5. 4 . Relationship between a free taking role and injury

Participants who became injured were predominantly not a free taker (73.6%, 142) compared to a free taker (26.4%, 51).

# 4. 3. 3. 5. 5 . Relationship between playing surface and injury

The majority of injuries occurred on grass (84.4%, 152), followed by synthetic surfaces (13.3%, 24), indoor (0.6%, 1), beach (0.6%, 1) and other (1.1%, 2) (Figure 4.53).



#### **Figure 4.53: Playing Surface**

#### 4. 3. 3. 5. 6 . Relationship between weather conditions and injury

Injuries occurred outdoors (98.4%, 189) in the majority of cases with only 1.6% (3) of injuries occurring indoors. With regard to temperature, normal temperature was predominant (64.3%, 110), followed by cold (31.6%, 54) and hot (4.1%, 7). In relation to the weather conditions during injury, dry weather accounted for the majority of injuries (66.5%, 113), followed by wet weather (32.4%, 55) and frozen weather (1.2%, 2).

# 4. 3. 3. 5. 7 . Protective Equipment worn

The majority (81.3%, 157) of collegiate participants wore no extra protective equipment. Mouth guards and strapping were the main types of protective equipment worn by collegiate participants and accounted for 12.4% (24) and 6.2% (12) of equipment worn respectively. Ankle strapping was the most predominant type of strapping worn by collegiate participants followed by an equal distribution of thumb, patellar and wrist strapping (0.5%, 1).

#### 4.3.3.6. The injury assessment

# 4.3.3.6.1. Injury examination

The majority (82.4%, 189) of injuries were assessed solely by the main therapist in this study. However 17.6% (34) of injuries were referred for further assessment by an orthopaedic surgeon.

# 4. 3. 3. 6. 2 . Further Investigations completed

Only 29.0% of injuries required further investigations to be completed. Of these, 33.7% (19) underwent an MRI scan, 32.0% (18) an X-ray, 1.7% underwent a blood test. A number of injured participants underwent a number of further investigations, 28.6% (16) were referred for both an MRI scan and X-ray and 3.4% (2) underwent both an X-ray and CT scan.

**4. 3. 4. Comparison between Gaelic football and hurling injuries in adolescents** Further analysis of the results of the epidemiology of Gaelic football and hurling injuries in adolescents was assessed.

# 4. 3. 4. 1. Injury Incidence in adolescent Gaelic footballers and hurlers

Further analysis on the total, training and match injury rates of adolescent Gaelic footballers and hurlers were completed (Table 4.12). The total injury incidence was found to be slightly higher in Gaelic football than hurling. Match injuries accounted for a higher injury incidence than training in both Gaelic football and hurling however the match injury incidence in hurling was higher.

Table 4.12. Injury merucine in autorescent Oache tootbahers and nuriers				
Injuries per 1,000 hours	Gaelic football		Hurli	ing
	Incidence Rate	95% CI	<b>Incidence Rate</b>	95% CI
Total	4.890	3.783-5.997	4.388	3.171-5.604
Training	3.007	2.051-3.963	2.293	1.334-3.251
Match	9.259	5.629-12.888	11.111	6.241-15.980

 Table 4.12: Injury incidence in adolescent Gaelic footballers and hurlers

# 4. 3. 4. 2. The Injury Description

# 4. 3. 4. 2. 1 . Onset of injury

Acute injuries were more common and accounted for a similar percentage of injuries in Gaelic football and hurling (Table 4.13). New injuries were more common in hurling than Gaelic football; with both early recurrence (<2 months) and late recurrence (2-12 months) more common in Gaelic football than hurling and a similar percentage of persistent injuries (Table 4.13).

# 4. 3. 4. 2. 2 . Side of injury

Bilateral injuries were more common in hurlers than in Gaelic football (Table 4.13). In contrast injuries, to the left hand side were more predominant in Gaelic football.

# 4.3.4.2.3.Body parts injured

Lower body injuries were predominant in both Gaelic footballers and hurlers. However, hurling was found to have a higher percentage of trunk/spine injuries than Gaelic football; with lower and upper body injuries occurring more frequently in Gaelic footballers (Table 4.13).

The regional distribution of injuries was similar between Gaelic footballers and hurlers with exception to the trunk/spine, hip/groin/thigh and forearm/wrist/hand. Injuries to the trunk and spine were more common in hurlers whereas hip/groin/thigh and

forearm/wrist/hand injuries were more predominant in Gaelic footballers (Figure 4.54). This was further demonstrated by Figure 4.55 as it shows that hurlers had a higher incidence of lower back injuries and Gaelic footballers had a higher percentage of hamstring, quadriceps and hip injuries. In addition, Gaelic footballers had a higher incidence of hand and finger injuries.



Figure 4.54: Regional distribution of injuries in adolescent Gaelic footballers and hurlers





Muscle injuries were predominant in both Gaelic football and hurling, however muscle injuries were more common in hurlers (Figure 4.56). Ligament and bone injuries were

more common in Gaelic footballers. Figure 4.57 further demonstrates these distributions as it displays the nature of injuries in Gaelic footballers and hurlers.



Figure 4.56: General nature of injury in adolescent Gaelic footballers and hurlers





# 4. 3. 4. 2. 5 . Severity of Injury

Similar percentages of Gaelic footballers and hurlers continued playing and training after the injury occurred (Table 4.13). Minor injuries were more common in hurling however moderate and severe injuries were more predominant in Gaelic football (Table 4.13). No significant difference was noted between the days missed from light training (p=0.761), full training (p=0.873) and full fitness (p=0.746) between injured Gaelic footballers and hurlers. The majority of Gaelic footballers (93.3%) and hurlers (92.0%) did not require surgery after injury. 6.7% of Gaelic footballers and 6.0% of hurlers

required surgery during the season, with 2.0% of hurlers undergoing surgery after the season had ended.

#### 4. 3. 4. 3. The Injury Event

#### 4. 3. 4. 3. 1 . Mechanism of Injury

Gaelic footballers and hurlers had a similar percentage of contact and non-contact injuries with non-contact injuries predominating (Table 4.13). Of the non-contact injuries, 18.7% of Gaelic football and 14.3% of hurling were overuse in nature and 45.3% and 49.0% were non-contact acute injuries in Gaelic footballers and hurlers respectively. Of the contact injuries in Gaelic football, the majority were due to contact with another player (18.7%), a football (9.3%), the playing surface (4.0%), assault or violence (2.3%) and the apparatus (1.3%). The majority of contact injuries in hurling were due to contact with another player (18.4%), followed by hurley (8.2%), the playing surface (8.2%) and assault and violence (2.0%). Sprinting, jumping/catching and kicking were more common in Gaelic football however falling was more common in hurling (Figure 4.58). Tackling (being tackled and tackling) was more common in hurling and was the mechanism of injury in 25.0% of hurlers.



■ Gaelic football ■ Hurling

# Figure 4.58: Mechanism of injury in adolescent Gaelic footballers and hurlers 4. 3. 4. 3. 2 . Time of Injury

Injuries primarily occurred during training and matches and accounted for a similar percentage in Gaelic footballers and hurlers (Table 4.13). More injuries occurred in the warm up in Gaelic football and in the cool down in hurling.

An independent samples t-test was completed to compare the minutes the injured occurred in Gaelic footballers and hurlers. No significant difference was noted between Gaelic footballers and hurlers in adolescent (p=0.307) and collegiate participants (p=0.981). The majority of injuries occurred in the second half with 61.8% and 56.0% of injuries occurring in hurlers and Gaelic footballers respectively. Injuries during the  $4^{th}$  quarter were more common in hurling with injuries in the  $1^{st}$  quarter occurring more commonly in Gaelic footballers (Figure 4.59). The percentage of injuries during the  $2^{nd}$  and  $3^{rd}$  quarter was similar in Gaelic footballers and hurlers.



Figure 4.59: Quarter of injury in adolscent Gaelic footballers and hurlers

# 4.3.4.3.3.Foul Play

The majority of injuries did not occur due to foul play. Hurlers received an injury due to foul play (14.3%) more commonly than Gaelic footballers (9.3%). In Gaelic football, 1.3% of injuries were due to an own foul with the rest of Gaelic football injuries and all hurling injuries due to an opponent foul. The majority of foul play that lead to an injury in hurling received a free with the majority of Gaelic footballers receiving a yellow card (Table 4.13).

# 4. 3. 4. 4. Factors Surrounding the Injury

# 4. 3. 4. 4. 1 . Relationship between time of year and injury

The percentages of injuries occurring from April to December were similar between Gaelic football and hurling (Figure 4.60). However, injuries to Gaelic footballers were more common in January and March with hurling injuries predominant in February.



#### Figure 4.60: Monthly profile of injury in adolescent Gaelic footballers and hurlers

# 4. 3. 4. 4. 2 . Relationship between relative age group and injury

The majority of Gaelic footballers and hurlers played with their own age group, however Gaelic footballers played at a higher percentage (97.3%) than hurlers (86.0%). Similarly hurlers (14.0%) played in an older age group more commonly than Gaelic footballers (2.7%).

# 4. 3. 4. 4. 3 . Relationship between playing position and injury

Injuries predominated in backs in Gaelic footballers with a higher percentage of injuries occurring than in hurlers (Figure 4.61). Injuries were more common in hurling to midfielders and goalkeepers in Gaelic football. When taking the adjusted figures for the amount of players in each position into account, injuries in goalkeepers (15.95%) and backs predominated in Gaelic footballers compared to adolescent hurlers (7.9%, 23.7%) and injuries in midfielders primarily occurred in hurlers (43.4%) in comparison to Gaelic footballers (33.9%). A similar percentage of injuries occurred in forwards for both adolescent Gaelic footballers (24.4%) and hurlers (25.0%).



# Figure 4.61: Distribution of injuries in different positions in adolescent Gaelic footballers and hurlers

# 4. 3. 4. 4. 4 . Relationship between a free taking role and injury

The majority of injured participants did not have a free taking role (Table 4.13).

# 4. 3. 4. 4. 5 . Relationship between playing surface and injury

Injuries occurred more commonly on grass, with more injuries occurring in grass in Gaelic footballers than hurlers (Figure 4.62). Indoor injuries were more frequent in hurlers.



# Figure 4.62: Playing surface in adolescent Gaelic footballers and hurlers

#### 4. 3. 4. 6. Relationship between weather conditions and injury

The temperature was predominantly normal when injuries occurred in both Gaelic football and hurling, however a higher percentage of injuries occurred when the temperature was normal in hurling (Table 4.13). In contrast, Gaelic football injuries

occurred in the cold more commonly than hurling. Injuries when the ground was dry were predominant with a higher percentage of hurling injuries occurring on dry ground (Table 4.13). Injury on wet ground occurred more frequently in Gaelic footballers.

# 4. 3. 4. 4. 7 . Protective Equipment worn

The majority of Gaelic footballers (73.3%) and hurlers (95.9%) wore no extra protective equipment. Mouth guards and ankle strappings were worn by Gaelic footballers and accounted for 80.0% and 20.0% of the protective equipment worn.

# 4. 3. 4. 5. The injury assessment

# 4.3.4.5.1 . Injury examination

The majority of injuries in Gaelic footballers (77.3%) and hurlers (84.0%) were assessed solely by the main therapist in this study. Gaelic footballers (22.7%) were referred on for further assessment by an orthopaedic surgeon more commonly than hurlers (16.0%).

# 4. 3. 4. 5. 2 . Further Investigations completed

A similar percentage of Gaelic footballers (18.7%) and hurlers (18.1%) required further investigations to be completed. Of these further investigations the majority of Gaelic footballers underwent an MRI scan (42.9%), followed by an X-ray (28.6%) and 28.6% were referred for both an MRI scan and X-ray. In hurlers the majority underwent an X-ray (44.4%), followed by an MRI scan (33.3%) and 22.2% were referred for both an MRI scan and X-ray.

Inui iiig					
	Gaelic football	Hurling			
Onset of in	jury				
Acute	73.3%	73.5%			
Overuse	26.7%	26.5%			
New and Recurre	New and Recurrent injuries				
New	52.7%	66.7%			
Early Recurrence (<2 months)	14.9%	8.3%			
Late Recurrence (2-12 months)	16.2%	8.3%			
Persistent/recurring	16.2%	16.7%			
Side of inj	ury				
Right	41.9%	38.8%			
Left	50.0%	42.9%			
Bilateral	8.1%	18.4%			
General distributio	n of injuries				
Lower body	76.0%	64.0%			
Upper body	20.0%	14.0%			
Trunk/spine	4.0%	22.0%			
Stopped or continued pla	aving after injury	<b>-</b>			
Stopped playing	66.7%	68.1%			
Continued playing	33.3%	31.9%			
Severity of in	niurv				
Minor	41.7%	61.7%			
Moderate	20.8%	8.5%			
Severe	37.5%	29.8%			
Contact or non-contact injuries					
Contact	36.0%	36.7%			
Non-contact	64.0%	63.3%			
Time of ini	urv				
Warm up	17.4%	10.9%			
Cool down	2.9%	8.7%			
Training/match	79.7%	80.4%			
Sanction given if foul play	was cause of injury				
Free	40.0%	50.0%			
Yellow card	50.0%	41.7%			
Red card	10.0%	8.3%			
Free taking role in team					
Free taking role	33.3%	24.5%			
Not a free taking role	66.7%	75.5%			
Temperature dur	ing iniurv				
Normal	62.5%	79.5%			
Cold	31.3%	15.4%			
Hot	6.3%	5.1%			
Weather conditions	during injury	0.170			
Drv	<u>69 8%</u>	77.8%			
Wet	28.6%	16.7%			
Frozen	1.6%	5.6%			
1 1 02011	1.0/0	5.070			

Table 4.13: Summary epidemiology results between adolescent Gaelic football and hurling

# 4. 3. 5. Comparison between Gaelic football and hurling injuries in collegiate participants

Further analysis of the results of the epidemiology of Gaelic football and hurling injuries in collegiate participants was assessed.

# 4. 3. 5. 1. Injury Incidence in collegiate Gaelic footballers and hurlers

Further analysis on the total, training and match injury rates of collegiate Gaelic footballers and hurlers were completed (Table 4.14). The total injury incidence was found to be the same in Gaelic football and hurling. Match injuries accounted for a higher injury incidence than training in both Gaelic football and hurling however the match injury incidence in hurling was substantially higher.

Table 4.14: Injury incidence in collegiate Gaelic footballers and hurlers

Injuries per 1,000 hours	Gaelic football		Hur	ling
	Incidence Rate	95% CI	<b>Incidence Rate</b>	95% CI
Total	13.303	11.084-15.523	14.695	10.303-19.088
Training	7.020	5.243-8.796	7.177	3.861-10.492
Match	42.716	33.236-52.196	59.808	36.363-83.253

# 4.3.5.2. The Injury Description

# 4. 3. 5. 2. 1 . Onset of injury

Acute injuries were more common and accounted for a similar percentage of injuries in Gaelic football and hurling (Table 4.15). New injuries were most common in both Gaelic football and hurling and accounted for a similar percentage of injuries (Table 4.14). Early recurrence (<2 months) of injuries was more common in Gaelic football and late recurrence (2-12 months) was predominant in hurlers with a similar percentage of persistent injuries.

# 4. 3. 5. 2. 2 . Side of injury

Injuries to the right hand side were more common in Gaelic football with left hand side injuries more common in hurling (Table 4.15).

# 4. 3. 5. 2. 3 . Body parts injured

Lower body injuries were predominant in both Gaelic footballers and hurlers; Gaelic footballers had a higher incidence of lower body injuries than hurling (Table 4.15). Hurlers had more upper body and head/face injuries than Gaelic footballers with a similar percentage of injuries occurring in the trunk/spine.

With regard to the regional distribution of injuries, injuries to the shoulder, hip/groin/thigh, and trunk/spine were more common in hurling (Figure 4.63). This was further demonstrated by Figure 4.64 as hurlers had a higher incidence of injuries to the shoulder, hamstring, quadriceps, pelvis and groin and lower. In contrast, injuries to the knee, shin/calf/ankle/foot and forearm/wrist/hand were predominant in Gaelic footballers which corresponded to a higher percentage of injuries to the knee, ankle, forearm, wrist and hand and fingers. Notably, injuries to the hip were more common in Gaelic footballers than hurlers.



Figure 4.63: Regional distribution of injuries in collegiate Gaelic footballers and hurlers



Figure 4.64: Body parts injured in collegiate Gaelic footballers and hurlers

#### 4. 3. 5. 2. 4 . Nature of injury

The percentage of muscle and ligament injuries was similar in Gaelic football and hurling (Figure 4.65). Contusions and strains were more common in Gaelic football and muscle tightness was predominant in hurling (Figure 4.66). Fractures were more prevalent in Gaelic football which may be linked to the higher incidence of bone injuries in Gaelic football. Tendon injuries were more common in hurling and corresponded to a higher predominance of tendinopathy in hurlers.



Figure 4.65: General nature of injury in collegiate Gaelic footballers and hurlers



Figure 4.66: Nature of injury in collegiate Gaelic footballers and hurlers

#### 4. 3. 5. 2. 5 . Severity of Injury

Collegiate participants predominantly stopped playing and training after the injury occurred. However, hurlers tended to carry on training and playing more commonly than Gaelic footballers after the injury occurred (Table 4.15). Both minor and severe

injuries were predominant in hurlers, however moderate injuries were more common in Gaelic footballers (Table 4.15). No significant difference was noted between the days missed from light training (p=0.197), full training (p=0.152) and full fitness (p=0.130) between injured Gaelic footballers and hurlers. The majority of Gaelic footballers (88.0%) and hurlers (94.1%) did not require surgery after injury. 7.0% of Gaelic footballers and 5.9% of hurlers required surgery during the season, with 4.9% of Gaelic footballers undergoing surgery after the season had ended.

#### 4. 3. 5. 3. The Injury Event

#### 4. 3. 5. 3. 1 . Mechanism of Injury

Gaelic footballers had a higher percentage of contact injuries whereas hurlers had an increased amount of non-contact injuries (Table 4.15). Of the non-contact injuries, injuries due to overuse were more common in hurlers and accounted for 17.6% of all injuries with only 9.2% of Gaelic football injuries due to overuse. The percentage of non-contact acute injuries was similar and accounted for 43.0% and 43.1% in Gaelic footballers and hurlers respectively. Contact with another player was predominant in contact injuries and accounted for 28.9% of injuries, followed by the playing surface (11.3%), football (6.3%), apparatus (0.7%) and assault and violence (0.7%). In hurling, contact with another player was also most common (25.5%), followed by a hurley (11.8%), sliother (2.0%) and assault and violence (2.0%). Landing, jumping/catching, kicking and blocking were all predominant in Gaelic footballers (Figure 4.67). In contrast, being tackled and turning were more common in hurlers. In fact, tackling (being tackled and tackling) accounted for 29.4% of injuries in hurlers compared to 20.6% in Gaelic footballers.



Figure 4.67: Mechanism of injury in collegiate Gaelic footballers and hurlers 223

#### 4. 3. 5. 3. 2 . Time of Injury

Injuries primarily occurred during training and matches, however a higher incidence of injuries occurred in the warm-up and cool down in Gaelic football (Table 4.15). No significant difference was noted between the minutes the injury occurred between Gaelic footballers and hurlers when an independent samples t-test was completed (p=0.981). The majority of injuries occurred in the second half with 71.3% and 67.5% of injuries occurring in Gaelic footballers and hurlers respectively. Injuries in that occurred during the 4th quarter were similar in Gaelic footballers (48.5%) and hurlers (48.6%) (Figure 4.68). Injuries during the 1st quarter and 3rd quarter are more common in Gaelic footballers and in the 2nd quarter for hurlers.



Figure 4.68: Quarter of injury in collegiate Gaelic footballers and hurlers

#### 4.3.5.3.3.Foul Play

The majority of injuries did not occur due to foul play. Gaelic footballers received an injury due to foul play (7.0%) more commonly than hurlers (2.0%). In Gaelic football, injuries occurred due to an opponent and own foul to the same percentage (3.5%). Only the injured Gaelic footballers reported the sanction given by the referee with a free being most commonly issued (50.0%), followed by a yellow card (37.5%) and a red card (12.5%).

#### 4. 3. 5. 4. Factors Surrounding the Injury

#### 4. 3. 5. 4. 1 . Relationship between time of year and injury

The percentages of injuries occurring from March to August were similar between Gaelic football and hurling (Figure 4.69). Injuries to hurlers were more common in October and February however injuries to Gaelic footballers were predominant in January, September, November and December.



# Figure 4.69: Monthly profile of injury in collegiate Gaelic footballers and hurlers

#### 4. 3. 5. 4. 2 . Relationship between relative age group and injury

The majority of Gaelic footballers and hurlers played with their own age group, however hurlers played at a higher percentage (94.1%) than Gaelic footballers (92.3%). Similarly Gaelic footballers (7.7%) played in an older age group more commonly than hurlers (5.9%).

#### 4. 3. 5. 4. 3 . Relationship between playing position and injury

Injuries to backs (47.1%) and forwards (45.1%) were more common in hurlers (Figure 4.70). Injuries to goalkeepers (10.6%) and midfielders (14.8%) were predominant in Gaelic footballers. When taking the adjusted figures for the amount of players in each position into account, injuries to goalkeepers (34.8%) predominated in collegiate Gaelic footballers, followed by midfielders (24.3%), forward (21.6%) and backs (19.3%). In collegiate hurlers, injuries to backs (38.7%) predominated, followed by forwards (37.1%), midfielders (14.5%) and goalkeepers (9.7%).



Figure 4.70: Distribution of injuries in different positions in collegiate Gaelic footballers and hurlers

#### 4. 3. 5. 4. 4 . Relationship between a free taking role and injury

The majority of injured participants did not have a free taking role with hurlers (86.3%) predominantly not having a free taking role compared to Gaelic footballers (Table 4.15).

# 4. 3. 5. 4. 5 . Relationship between playing surface and injury

Injuries occurred more commonly on grass, with more injuries occurring in grass in hurlers than Gaelic footballers (Figure 4.71). Synthetic injuries were more frequent in Gaelic footballers.



#### Figure 4.71: Playing surface in collegiate Gaelic footballers and hurlers

#### 4. 3. 5. 4. 6 . Relationship between weather conditions and injury

The temperature was predominantly normal when injuries occurred in both Gaelic football and hurling, however a higher percentage of injuries occurred when the temperature was normal in hurling (Table 4.15). In contrast, Gaelic football injuries occurred in the cold more commonly than hurling. Injuries when the ground was dry were predominant with a higher percentage of hurling injuries occurring on dry ground (Table 4.15). Injury on wet ground occurred more frequently in Gaelic footballers.

#### 4. 3. 5. 4. 7 . Protective Equipment worn

The majority of Gaelic footballers (76.1%) and hurlers (96.1%) wore no extra protective equipment. All hurlers that wore protective equipment wore an ankle strapping. Mouth guards (70.6%), ankle strapping (20.6%), wrist taping (2.9%), patellar taping (2.9%) and thumb tapping (2.9%) were worn by Gaelic footballers.

#### 4. 3. 5. 5. The injury assessment

#### 4. 3. 5. 5. 1 . Injury examination

The majority of injuries in Gaelic footballers (79.6%) and hurlers (90.2%) were assessed solely by the main therapist in this study. Gaelic footballers (20.4%) were

referred on for further assessment by an orthopaedic surgeon more commonly than hurlers (9.8%).

# 4. 3. 5. 5. 2 . Further Investigations completed

Gaelic footballers (31.0%) required further investigations to be completed more commonly than hurlers (23.5%). Of these, the majority of Gaelic footballers underwent an MRI scan (36.4%), followed by an X-ray (31.8%), an X-ray and MRI scan (25.0%), an X-ray and CT scan (4.5%) and a blood work assessment (2.3%). In hurlers, the majority underwent an X-ray and MRI (41.7%), followed by an X-ray (33.3%) and an MRI scan (25.0%).
	Gaelic football	Hurling
Onset of ini	urv	
Acute	78.9%	76.5%
Overuse	21.1%	23.5%
New and Recurrent	nt injuries	
New	76.6%	78.4%
Early Recurrence (<2 months)	8.5%	2.0%
Late Recurrence (2-12 months)	2.1%	9.8%
Persistent/recurring	12.8%	9.8%
Side of inju	ıry	
Right	56.9%	47.9%
Left	36.5%	43.8%
Bilateral	6.6%	8.3%
General distribution	n of injuries	
Lower body	71.1%	64.7%
Upper body	16.2%	19.6%
Trunk/spine	9.2%	9.8%
Head/face	3.5%	5.9%
Stopped or continued pla	ying after injury	
Stopped playing	85.1%	80.4%
Continued playing	14.9%	19.6%
Severity of in	njury	
Minor	34.8%	37.3%
Moderate	29.8%	17.6%
Severe	35.5%	45.1%
Contact or non-cor	ntact injury	
Contact	47.9%	39.2%
Non-contact	52.1%	60.8%
Time of inj	ury	
Warm up	5.3%	2.4%
Cool down	4.5%	0.0%
Training/match	90.2%	97.6%
Sanction given if foul play	was cause of injury	
Free	50.0%	0%
Yellow card	37.5%	0%
Red card	12.5%	0%
Free taking role	in team	-
Free taking role	31.0%	13.7%
Not a free taking role	69.0%	86.3%
Temperature dur	ing injury	
Normal	61.2%	73.8%
Cold	35.7%	19.0%
Hot	3.1%	7.1%
Weather conditions of	luring injury	
Dry	63.8%	75.0%
Wet	35.4%	22.5%
Frozen	0.8%	2.5%

Table 4.15: Summary epidemiology results between collegiate Gaelic football and hurling

# 4. 3. 6. Comparison between fresher and senior injuries in Gaelic footballers

Further analysis of the results of the epidemiology of fresher and senior injuries in Gaelic footballers was assessed.

# 4. 3. 6. 1. Injury Incidence in fresher and senior Gaelic footballers

Higher total, training and match injury rates were found in fresher Gaelic footballers compared to senior players (Table 4.16). A higher match incidence rate occurred in both fresher and senior Gaelic footballers.

Injuries per	Fresher		Senior	
1,000 hours	Incidence Rate	95% CI	<b>Incidence Rate</b>	95% CI
Total	14.668	11.568-17.768	10.743	7.823-13.664
Training	8.640	4.140-6.390	7.323	4.657-9.988
Match	54.347	39.984-68.711	26.136	15.454-36.817

#### Table 4.16: Injury incidence in fresher and senior Gaelic footballers

## 4. 3. 6. 2. The Injury Description

# 4. 3. 6. 2. 1 . Onset of injury

Acute injuries were more common in both fresher and seniors however senior players received more overuse injuries (Table 4.17). New injuries were more common in both fresher and senior Gaelic footballers; with senior players experiencing more early recurrence (<2 months), late recurrence (2-12 months) and persistent injuries (Table 4.17).

## 4. 3. 6. 2. 2 . Side of injury

Injuries to the right hand side were more common in senior players with injuries to the left hand side more common in fresher Gaelic footballers (Table 4.17). Bilateral injuries accounted for a similar percentage of injuries in both fresher and senior Gaelic footballers.

#### 4. 3. 6. 2. 3 . Body parts injured

Lower body injuries were predominant in both fresher and senior Gaelic footballers (Table 4.17). However, senior players were found to have a higher percentage of lower body injuries; with upper body and trunk/spine injuries occurring more commonly in freshers. A similar percentage of head/face injuries occurred in fresher and senior Gaelic footballers.

Injuries to the forearm/wrist/hand, shin/calf/ankle/foot and head/neck/face were more common in fresher participants (Figure 4.72). This was further demonstrated by the

predominance of hand and finger, calf, head/face and neck injuries in fresher Gaelic footballers (4.73). Injuries to the knee and shoulder/arm/elbow were more common in senior participants (Figure 4.72) and this was further demonstrated by the predominance of knee and shoulder injuries in senior Gaelic footballers (Figure 4.73).



Figure 4.72: Regional distribution of injuries in fresher and senior Gaelic footballers





Muscle injuries were predominant in fresher Gaelic footballers (Figure 4.74) which corresponds to the substantially higher percentage of muscle contusions in fresher Gaelic footballers, however muscle strains and muscle tightness was more common in seniors (Figure 4.75). Ligament and bone injuries were more common in senior players

which accounts for the higher incidence of strains and fractures in senior Gaelic footballers.



Figure 4.74: General nature of injury in fresher and senior Gaelic footballers



Figure 4.75: Nature of injury in fresher and senior Gaelic footballers

#### 4. 3. 6. 2. 5 . Severity of Injury

The majority of fresher and senior Gaelic footballers stopped playing and training after the injury occurred with freshers predominating (Table 4.17). Both fresher and senior Gaelic footballers sustained a similar percentage of moderate injuries however freshers and seniors predominantly receiving minor and severe injuries respectively (Table 4.17). No significant difference was noted between the days missed from light training (p=0.543) between fresher and senior Gaelic footballers. However, fresher players were found to have significantly lower days missed from full training (p<0.0001) and full fitness (p<0.0001) compared to senior Gaelic footballers. The majority of fresher (92.2%) and senior (80.8%) Gaelic footballers did not require surgery after injury. 5.6% of fresher and 3.8% of senior Gaelic footballers required surgery during the season, with 2.2% of freshers and 15.4% of senior players undergoing surgery after the season had ended.

### 4. 3. 6. 3. The Injury Event

#### 4. 3. 6. 3. 1 . Mechanism of Injury

Fresher and senior Gaelic footballers had a similar percentage of contact and noncontact injuries with non-contact injuries predominating (Table 4.17). Of the noncontact injuries, 10.0% of fresher and 7.7% of senior Gaelic football injuries were overuse in nature and 42.2% and 44.2% were non-contact acute injuries in fresher and senior Gaelic footballers respectively. Of the fresher contact injuries, the majority were due to contact with another player (30.0%), a football (8.9%), the playing surface (4.0%) and assault or violence (1.1%). The majority of senior contact injuries were due to contact with another player (21.2%), the playing surface (17.3%), apparatus (3.8%), and football (1.9%). Sprinting, jumping/catching, kicking and landing were more common in senior Gaelic footballers (Table 4.17). Tackling (being tackled and tackling) was more common in fresher (24.4%) than senior Gaelic footballers (13.7%).



Figure 4.76: Mechanism of injury in fresher and senior Gaelic footballers

# 4.3.6.3.2. Time of Injury

Injuries primarily occurred during training and matches with a higher percentage of these injuries occurring in fresher Gaelic footballers (Table 4.17). Injuries during the warm up were predominant in senior Gaelic footballers. An independent samples t-test was completed to compare the minutes the injury occurred in fresher and senior Gaelic footballers. No significant difference was noted between the minutes the injury occurred

in fresher and senior Gaelic footballers (p=0.726). The majority of injuries occurred in the second half with 67.8% and 76.2% of injuries occurring in fresher and senior Gaelic footballers respectively. Injuries during the 4th and 2nd quarter were more common in fresher Gaelic footballers with injuries during the 3rd quarter more common in senior Gaelic footballers (Figure 4.77). The percentage of injuries during the 1st quarter was similar in both fresher and senior Gaelic footballers.





# 4.3.6.3.3.Foul Play

The majority of injuries did not occur due to foul play with senior Gaelic footballers (20.8%) sustaining injuries due to foul play more than freshers (13.2%). Opponent fouls accounted for 6.1% of fresher and 8.3% of senior injuries with 4.1% and 12.5% of injuries were caused by own fouls by fresher and senior Gaelic footballers respectively. The sanction given in injuries that occurred to fresher Gaelic footballers was predominantly a free however in senior Gaelic footballers a free and a yellow card was most common (Table 4.17).

# 4. 3. 6. 4. Factors Surrounding the Injury

# 4. 3. 6. 4. 1 . Relationship between time of year and injury

Injuries to senior Gaelic footballers were more common in February, March, June, July, October however fresher Gaelic footballers had a higher percentage in September and November (Figure 4.78).



Figure 4.78: Monthly profile of injury in fresher and senior Gaelic footballers

# 4. 3. 6. 4. 2 . Relationship between relative age group and injury

The majority of fresher and senior Gaelic footballers played with their own age group, however senior players played at a higher percentage (96.2%) than fresher Gaelic footballers (90.0%).

### 4. 3. 6. 4. 3 . Relationship between playing position and injury

Injuries predominated in forwards in senior Gaelic footballers and backs in fresher Gaelic footballers (Figure 4.79). When taking the adjusted figures into account, injuries primarily occurred in goalkeepers (31.7%) in fresher Gaelic footballers, with backs (22.9%), midfielders (22.9%) and forwards (22.3%) displaying a similar percentage of injuries. In contrast, senior players presented with a similar percentage of injuries in goalkeepers (27.8%) and forwards (27.2%), followed by backs (23.2%) and midfielders (21.9%).



Figure 4.79: Distribution of injuries in different positions in fresher and senior Gaelic footballers

# 4. 3. 6. 4. 4 . Relationship between a free taking role and injury

The majority of injured participants did not have a free taking role (Table 4.17).

### 4. 3. 6. 4. 5 . Relationship between playing surface and injury

Injuries occurred more commonly on grass, with more injuries occurring in grass in senior Gaelic footballers (Figure 4.80). Injuries that occurred on synthetic surfaces were more frequent in fresher Gaelic footballers.



### Figure 4.80: Playing surface in fresher and senior Gaelic footballers

#### 4. 3. 6. 4. 6 . Relationship between weather conditions and injury

The temperature was predominantly normal in fresher Gaelic footballers and cold in senior Gaelic footballers (Table 4.17). A similar percentage of injuries occurred during hot weather. Injuries when the ground was dry were predominant in fresher Gaelic footballers and in wet ground in senior Gaelic footballers (Table 4.17).

#### 4. 3. 6. 4. 7 . Protective Equipment worn

The majority of fresher (81.1%) and senior Gaelic footballers (67.3%) wore no extra protective equipment. In fresher Gaelic footballers, mouth guards (64.7%) were the most commonly worn protective equipment followed by ankle strapping (23.5%), patellar strapping (5.9%) and thumb strapping (5.9%). In senior Gaelic footballers mouth guards (76.5%) were also the predominant protective equipment worn followed by ankle strapping (17.6%) and wrist strapping (5.9%).

### 4. 3. 6. 5. The injury assessment

### 4.3.6.5.1. Injury examination

The majority of injuries in fresher (83.3%) and senior (73.1%) Gaelic footballers were assessed solely by the main therapist in this study. Senior Gaelic footballers (26.9%)

were referred on for further assessment by an orthopaedic surgeon more commonly than fresher Gaelic football (16.7%).

# 4. 3. 6. 5. 2 . Further Investigations completed

Senior Gaelic footballers (44.2%) required further investigations to be completed more commonly than fresher Gaelic footballers (23.3%). Of these further investigations the majority of senior Gaelic footballers underwent an MRI scan (43.5%), followed by an X-ray and MRI (30.4%), an X-ray (25.7%). In fresher Gaelic footballers, the majority underwent an X-ray (42.9%), followed by a MRI scan (28.6%), an X-ray and MRI scan (19.0%) and an X-ray and CT scan (9.5%).

	Fresher	Senior
Onset of inj	jury	
Acute	82.2%	73.1%
Overuse	17.8%	26.9%
New and Recurre	nt injuries	- -
New	81.1%	68.6%
Early Recurrence (<2 months)	6.7%	11.8%
Late Recurrence (2-12 months)	1.1%	3.9%
Persistent/recurring	11.1%	15.7%
Side of inju	ury	·
Right	54.7%	60.8%
Left	38.4%	33.3%
Bilateral	7.0%	5.9%
General distributio	n of injuries	·
Lower body	68.9%	75.0%
Upper body	17.8%	13.5%
Trunk/spine	10.0%	7.7%
Head/face	3.3%	3.8%
Stopped or continued pla	aying after injury	
Stopped playing	80.0%	94.1%
Continued playing	20.0%	5.9%
Severity of in	njury	
Minor	50.0%	7.8%
Moderate	30.0%	29.4%
Severe	20.0%	62.7%
Contact or non-con	tact injuries	-
Contact	47.8%	48.1%
Non-contact	52.2%	51.9%
Time of inj	ury	
Warm up	0.0%	14.0%
<b>Cool down</b>	4.9%	4.0%
Training/match	95.1%	82.0%
Sanction given if foul play	was cause of injury	1
Free	80.0%	40.0%
Yellow card	20.0%	40.0%
Red card	0.0%	20.0%
Free taking role	e in team	
Free taking role	30.0%	32.7%
Not a free taking role	70.0%	67.3%
Temperature dur	ing injury	
Normal	70.4%	45.8%
Cold	25.9%	52.1%
Hot	3.7%	2.1%
Weather conditions	during injury	
Dry	71.3%	52.0%
Wet	28.8%	46.0%
Frozen	0.0%	2.0%

Table 4.17: Summary epidemiology results between fresher and senior collegiate Gaelic footballers

# 4. 3. 7. Analysis of senior hurling injuries

Nine injuries occurred in fresher hurlers during the course of this prospective study, thus due to the small amount of injuries that occurred in this population, further analysis of the results of the epidemiology of senior hurling injuries was solely assessed.

# 4. 3. 7. 1. Injury Incidence in senior hurlers

Further analysis on the total, training and match injury rates of senior hurlers was assessed with a higher incidence of injury occurring in matches than training (Table 4.18).

Injuries per 1,000 hours	Senior	
	<b>Incidence Rate</b>	95% CI
Total	16.528	11.530-21.527
Training	6.427	3.060-9.795
Match	55.096	30.949-79.243

 Table 4.18: Injury incidence in senior hurlers

# 4.3.7.2. The Injury Description

# 4. 3. 7. 2. 1 . Onset of injury

Acute injuries (76.2%) were more common in senior hurlers than overuse injuries (23.8%). New injuries were more common in senior hurlers followed by late recurrence (2-12 months), persistent injuries and early recurrence (<2 months) (Table 4.19).

# 4. 3. 7. 2. 2 . Side of injury

Injuries to the right and left hand side were similar in senior hurlers (Table 4.19).

# 4. 3. 7. 2. 3 . Body parts injured

Lower body injuries were predominant in senior hurlers, followed by upper body injuries, trunk/spine injuries and head/face injuries (Table 4.19). Injuries to the hip/groin/thigh predominated (Figure 4.81) and this corresponded to a higher percentage of hamstring, quadriceps and pelvis and groin injuries (Figure 4.82). Injuries to the ankle, shoulder, knee and lower back were also common.



Figure 4.81: General distribution of injuries in senior hurlers



Figure 4.82: Body parts injured in senior hurlers

### 4. 3. 7. 2. 4 . Nature of injury

Muscle injuries were predominant in senior hurlers (Figure 4.83) which corresponds to the higher percentage of strains, muscle contusions and muscle tightness in senior hurlers (Figure 4.84). Ligament injuries were also common and were demonstrated by the high percentage of sprain injuries in senior hurlers.



Figure 4.83: General nature of injury in senior hurlers



Figure 4.84: Nature of injury in senior hurlers

### 4. 3. 7. 2. 5 . Severity of Injury

The majority of senior hurlers stopped playing and training after the injury occurred (83.3%) with only 16.7% of senior hurlers continuing playing after the injury. Severe injuries predominated in senior hurlers, followed by minor and moderate injuries (Table 4.19). The average days missed from light training were  $19.25\pm20.09$ , from full training were  $20.75\pm21.62$  and from full fitness were  $21.82\pm21.95$ . The majority of senior hurlers did not require surgery after injury (97.6%) with only 2.4% requiring surgery during the season.

### 4. 3. 7. 3. The Injury Event

### 4.3.7.3.1. Mechanism of Injury

Senior hurlers primarily sustained non-contact injuries (64.3%) with only 35.7% of injuries contact injuries. Of the non-contact injuries 9.5% of injuries were overuse in nature and 54.8% of injuries were non-contact acute injuries. Of the contact injuries, the majority were due to contact with another player (26.2%), followed by contact with the

playing surface (21.4%), sliother (4.8%) and a hurley (2.4%). Sprinting, being tackled, turning, landing and tackling predominated in senior hurlers (Figure 4.85). Tackling (being tackled and tackling) accounted for 28.5% of injuries.



Figure 4.85: Mechanism of injury in senior hurlers

# 4. 3. 7. 3. 2 . Time of Injury

Injuries primarily occurred during training and matches (97.1%) with only 2.9% of senior hurlers sustaining an injury in the warm up. The mean minutes the injury occurred were  $38.32\pm17.68$ . The majority of injuries occurred during the second half (71.0%) with injuries during the 4th quarter predominating (54.8%) (Figure 4.86).



# Figure 4.86: Quarter of injury in senior hurlers

# 4. 3. 7. 3. 3 . Foul Play

No injuries sustained by senior hurlers were due to foul play.

### 4. 3. 7. 4. Factors Surrounding the Injury

#### 4. 3. 7. 4. 1 . Relationship between time of year and injury

Injuries to senior hurlers were more common in October, followed by November, February, December and January (Figure 4.87).



# Figure 4.87: Monthly profile of injuries in senior hurlers

# 4. 3. 7. 4. 2 . Relationship between relative age group and injury

The majority of senior hurlers played with their own age group (97.6%) and only 2.4% played with an older age group.

# 4. 3. 7. 4. 3 . Relationship between playing position and injury

Injuries to backs and forwards predominated in senior hurlers (Figure 4.88).





# 4. 3. 7. 4. 4 . Relationship between a free taking role and injury

The majority of injured participants did not have a free taking role (83.3%) (Table 4.19).

# 4. 3. 7. 4. 5 . Relationship between playing surface and injury

Injuries predominantly occurred to senior hurlers on grass (91.2%) with 8.8% of injuries sustained on synthetic turf.

# 4. 3. 7. 4. 6 . Relationship between weather conditions and injury

The temperature was predominantly normal and the ground was most commonly dry in senior hurlers (Table 4.19).

# 4. 3. 7. 4. 7 . Protective Equipment worn

The majority of senior hurlers (95.2%) wore no extra protective equipment. Ankle strapping was the only protective equipment worn by 4.8% of senior hurlers.

# 4. 3. 7. 5. The injury assessment

# 4.3.7.5.1 . Injury examination

The majority of injuries in senior hurlers (95.2%) were assessed solely by the main therapist in this study. Only 4.8% of injuries were referred on for further assessment by an orthopaedic surgeon.

# 4. 3. 7. 5. 2 . Further Investigations completed

Senior hurlers required further investigations to be completed in 16.7% of injuries. Of these further investigations the majority underwent an X-ray and MRI scan (57.1%), followed by an MRI scan (28.6%) and an X-ray (14.3%).

	Senior
Onset of injury	
Acute	76.2%
Overuse	23.8%
New and Recurrent inju	ries
New	81.0%
Early Recurrence (<2 months)	2.4%
Late Recurrence (2-12 months)	9.5%
Persistent/recurring	7.1%
Side of injury	
Right	42.9%
Left	45.2%
Bilateral	9.5%
General distribution of inj	uries
Lower body	71.4%
Upper body	14.3%
Trunk/spine	9.5%
Head/face	4.8%
Stopped or continued playing af	ter injury
Stopped playing	83.3%
Continued playing	16.7%
Severity of injury	
Minor	38.1%
Moderate	19.0%
Severe	42.9%
Contact or non-contact inj	uries
Contact	35.7%
Non-contact	64.3%
Time of injury	
Warm up	2.9%
Cool down	0.0%
Training/match	97.1%
Free taking role in team	n
Free taking role	16.7%
Not a free taking role	83.3%
Temperature during inju	ıry
Normal	79.4%
Cold	14.7%
Hot	5.9%
Weather conditions during i	injury
Dry	79.4%
Wet	20.6%
Frozen	0.0%

Figure 4 89. Summary	enidemiology	regults in senior hurlers	
rigure 4.07. Summary	cplucinology	results in senior numers	

#### 4.4. Discussion

The aim of this study was to implement a high quality, standardised epidemiological study to prospectively examine the incidence of injury in adolescent and collegiate Gaelic footballers and hurlers. The amount of published epidemiological studies in Gaelic games is small in comparison to international sports, with only six studies in Gaelic football and two in hurling. Not only do these studies vary in their research design, study length, definition of injury and reporting procedures, they also have primarily focused on elite adult players (Murphy et al., 2012b, Murphy et al., 2012a, Newell et al., 2013, Cromwell et al., 2000) with a severe lack of research in the nonelite, adolescent or collegiate population (Junge and Dvorak, 2000, Fuller et al., 2007c, Fuller et al., 2006, Brooks and Fuller, 2006, Chalmers, 2002). In fact, no epidemiological data is available on adolescent hurling injuries, collegiate injuries and only a single study has been published on adolescent Gaelic football injuries (Watson, 1996b) despite the fact a large proportion of those playing Gaelic games are within these poorly examined populations. As the assessment of adolescent injuries was completed during school, this study also aimed to establish the epidemiology of injuries in 4th and 5th year males during one academic year in five schools that primarily played Gaelic football and hurling which is representative of a large proportion of schools in Ireland.

#### 4. 4. 1. Sports Played

Two thirds of all adolescents primarily played Gaelic games, which is expected, as Gaelic games are predominant Irish sports, with over 2,300 sporting clubs throughout Ireland (GAA, 2013). Gaelic football was also found to be primarily played in a cohort of school aged adolescents in Ireland, however hurling was not as common (Watson, 1996b). Soccer was also a predominant sport in school participants, followed by rugby, basketball, gymnastics, athletics and gym work. Gym work was not noted in Watson (1996b)'s study in Irish adolescents, which could be due to the recent increase in popularity and availability of gyms to adolescents and adults that want to increase fitness and build muscle mass and may not be involved in organised sport. Adolescent and collegiate participants primarily played Gaelic football than hurling and approximately 20% of adolescents played Gaelic football and hurling in equal measure.

# 4. 4. 2. Injury Incidence

Over a third of all adolescent and collegiate participants were at risk of sustaining an injury in one academic year or season. In addition, the repeat incidence proportion

demonstrated that over a quarter of all injured participants, received another or multiple injuries that season. Previous injury has been highlighted as the most predominant risk factor for re-injury, which may explain this high rate of re-injury. Players may be returning to sport with substantial deficits in strength, range of motion and proprioception which may increase the risk of sustaining another injury in the injured or different area (Maffey and Emery, 2006, Garrick, 2004). Thus, players should be encouraged to complete a comprehensive rehabilitation programme prior to return to sport in order to reduce the risk of re-injury.

A substantially higher injury incidence was found in collegiate participants than the similar incidence found in adolescents and adolescent Gaelic footballers and hurlers. A higher incidence of collegiate than high school injuries has been demonstrated in both American football (Shankar et al., 2007) and wrestling (Yard et al., 2008a). This increased injury rate in collegiate participants has been attributed to increased match exposure time, higher level of competition which requires players to become more skilled and stronger which can increase the physicality of the game and possible age related deficits such as reduced range of motion (Shankar et al., 2007, Yard et al., 2008a, Arnason et al., 2004).

A substantially higher incidence of injury occurred during matches than training in all participants. This is despite the fact that adolescent and collegiate participants spent 6.5 and 4.8 times as much time in training than matches. This is similar to the findings reported by numerous studies in the epidemiology of injuries in both Gaelic football (Murphy et al., 2012b, Wilson et al., 2007, Newell et al., 2006, Watson, 1996b) and hurling (Murphy et al., 2012a, Watson, 1996a). This higher incidence in matches can be attributed to the higher intensity, physicality and effort put in due to competiveness in a match setting as training is a controlled and supervised session (Murphy et al., 2012b, Wilson et al., 2007). Adolescent Gaelic footballers and hurlers displayed a similar training injury rate as school Gaelic footballers observed by Watson (1996b) (3.106 per 1,000 hours). In contrast, Watson (1996b) found a higher injury incidence in matches than adolescent Gaelic footballers and hurlers in the present study. Collegiate Gaelic footballers displayed a higher training injury rate than observed in elite adults as described by Murphy et al. (2012b) (4.05 per 1,000 hours) and Newell et al. (2006)(5.5 per 1,000 hours) and also than non-elite adults as reported by Wilson et al. (2007) (5.8 per 1,000 hours). However, collegiate Gaelic footballers presented with a lower match injury rate than elite (61.86 and 64.0 per 1,000 hours) and non-elite adults (51.2 per 1,000 hours) (Murphy et al., 2012b, Newell et al., 2006, Wilson et al., 2007). This lower match incidence rate in collegiate hurlers could be due to the lower level of play in collegiate Gaelic football in comparison to elite county and adult club football games. Similarly, collegiate hurlers displayed a slightly higher training injury rate than adult teams observed by Murphy et al (5.3 per 1,000 hours) and Watson (1996a) (4.383 per 1,000 hours). Conversely, the present study found that collegiate hurlers (59.808 per 1,000 hours) displayed a substantially higher match injury rate than Watson (1996a) (34.247 per 1,000 hours) but almost half the match injury rate reported by Murphy et al. (2012a) (102.5 per 1,000 hours). The vast differences in the injury rates observed could be due to differences in age group, methodology and injury definitions utilised.

The incidence of training injuries that occurred in adolescent and collegiate Gaelic footballers and hurlers were similar, which has also been noted by Murphy et al. (2012a) in adult Gaelic footballers and hurlers. In contrast, both adolescent and collegiate hurlers displayed higher injury rates than Gaelic footballers for match injuries; this was also observed by Murphy et al. (2012a) where hurlers reported a match injury rate of 102.5 injuries per 1,000 hours in comparison to 51.2-61.2 injuries per 1,000 hours reported by Newell et al. (2006) and Wilson et al. (2007). The higher incidence of match injuries in hurlers could be due to the enhanced physicality of hurling, as contact between player to player, player to hurley and player to sliother can commonly occur (Murphy et al., 2012a). In addition, hurlers are reportedly less fit than Gaelic footballers as the nature of the game requires a high skill level which is a huge focus in training, thus, the increased demands of a match situation may cause a higher risk of injury in hurlers (Murphy et al., 2012a). This lower fitness has been further suggested as hurlers have demonstrated a higher percentage body fat, lower aerobic fitness, speed endurance and upper body strength than Gaelic footballers (McIntyre, 2005).

Adolescent Gaelic footballers presented with a higher match injury rate than high school soccer players (7.15 injuries per 1,000 hours) (Yard et al., 2008b), with collegiate Gaelic footballers displaying a higher match injury rate than community level Australian rules football (20 injuries per 1000 hours) (Braham et al., 2004) and professional soccer players (27.7 injuries per 1,000 hours) (Hawkins and Fuller, 1999). Similarly, collegiate hurlers displayed a higher match injury rate than male collegiate lacrosse players (12.58 injuries per 1,000 hours) (Dick et al., 2007), with adolescent

hurlers displaying a higher total injury rate than adolescent lacrosse under 15 boys (Hinton et al., 2005).

Fresher Gaelic footballers displayed a higher total, training and match injury rate than senior Gaelic footballers. This could be due to the increased intensity and physicality placed on freshers in their first year competing in a higher level of competition. In addition, a large proportion of freshers may be starting to begin strength and conditioning programmes for the first time which could perhaps lead to increased risk of injury due to lack of familiarity with the movements and techniques required. This increased injury risk is noteworthy as it would seem prudent to implement an injury prevention programme in fresher players. Senior hurlers displayed a similar total, training and match as fresher Gaelic footballers which can be attributed to the higher incidence of injury in hurlers.

# 4.4.3. The injury description

# 4.4.3.1. Onset of injury

Acute injuries were predominant, with a similar percentage of overuse injuries noted in adolescents in the present study and in adolescents (median age 16) in American high schools (18%) (Cuff et al., 2010). Gaelic footballers and hurlers also demonstrated alike percentages of acute injuries in both the adolescent and collegiate populations respectively. In addition, collegiate hurlers in the present study displayed similar overuse injuries as elite adult hurlers (19%) (Murphy et al., 2012a). Fresher Gaelic footballers demonstrated a higher percentage of acute injuries than senior players which could be due to poor technique of the younger less experienced players. The higher percentage of overuse injuries in senior Gaelic footballers, that was also evident in senior hurlers, could be due to their higher training age and increased likelihood of previous injury. This theory was further supported as 68.6% of injuries in senior Gaelic footballers.

While new injuries predominated, a much higher percentage of new injuries occurred in collegiate players. In fact, 41.1% and 41.8% of all injuries reported in adolescents and adolescent Gaelic footballers and hurlers are actually re-injuries. This high rate of re-injury could be due to adolescents returning to sport too quickly without adequate rehabilitation, persistent training errors, poor technique or an unaddressed cause of the initial injury (DiFiori, 1999). In addition, 14.9% of Gaelic football and 8.3% of hurling injuries in adolescents occurred within two months of returning from the original injury.

This was slightly higher than the reported early recurrence rates reported in elite adult Gaelic footballers (6.8%) (Murphy et al., 2012b). Adolescent Gaelic footballers demonstrated a higher incidence of recurrent injuries than hurlers and this was found to higher than reported in elite adult Gaelic footballers (23% and 30%) and hurlers (14.6%) (Murphy et al., 2012b, Cromwell et al., 2000, Murphy et al., 2012a). In contrast, collegiate Gaelic footballers and hurlers displayed similar recurrent injuries as recounted in present literature. A similar percentage of new injuries occurred in collegiate Gaelic footballers and hurlers however slightly more new injuries occurred in adolescent hurlers in comparison to Gaelic footballers. Murphy et al. (2012b) observed a similar percentage of new injuries in elite adult Gaelic footballers (74.7%) as collegiate Gaelic footballers in the present study. In contrast, Murphy (2012a) demonstrated a higher percentage of new injuries in elite adult hurlers (85.4%) in comparison to collegiate hurlers in the current study. Wilson et al. (2007) however displayed a lower amount of new injuries in non-elite Gaelic footballers (65%) which was more alike the values that was displayed in the adolescents. Thus, it is evident that recurrent injuries are a serious issue in adolescents and coaches and parents must ensure that players are adequately rehabilitated prior to returning to sport.

### 4. 4. 3. 2. Side of injury

A similar percentage of injuries occurred between the right and left sides. Injuries occurred predominantly to the right and left side with a smaller amount occurring bilaterally. Adolescent hurlers had a larger amount of bilateral injuries in comparison to adolescent Gaelic footballers and this could be related to the higher percentage of lower back pain presenting in hurlers than Gaelic footballers. The side of injury was assessed in order to assess if dominance is related to injury sides. However this study found that injuries are somewhat evenly distributed and so may not be related to dominance. This could be due to the increased focus in Gaelic games in enhancing skill levels on both sides to improve performance.

## 4. 4. 3. 3. Body part injured

Injuries predominantly occurred in the lower limb and accounted for approximately one third of all injuries in adolescent and collegiate participants which is similar to the 70-77% of injuries reported in Gaelic football and 70.1% reported in hurling (Cromwell et al., 2000, Murphy et al., 2012b, Wilson et al., 2007, Newell et al., 2013, Murphy et al., 2012a). Adolescent and collegiate Gaelic footballers and hurlers demonstrated a similar

percentage of upper body injuries however a lower percentage was observed in secondary school adolescents.

Adolescents and adolescent Gaelic footballers and hurlers presented with the same top five injured body parts however they differed slightly in the order of prevalence; the knee was the most commonly injured body part in both populations, however the ankle, hamstring, lower back and pelvis and groin were the most common injured body parts in decreasing occurrence in adolescents and the lower back, ankle, hamstring and pelvis and groin in adolescent Gaelic footballers and hurlers. The most commonly injured body parts differed between Gaelic footballers and hurlers in adolescents. Lower back pain was the most common body part injured in adolescent hurlers and was far more predominant than in Gaelic footballers; this may have caused the increased percentage of trunk and spine injuries in hurlers in comparison to Gaelic footballers. Watson et al. (1996b) also observed a lower incidence of back injuries in school Gaelic footballers (10%) than school hurlers as reported in the present study, however this was still lower than observed in adolescent hurlers in the current study. The higher incidence of lower back pain in hurlers could be due to the twisting nature of the sport when swinging the hurley to hit the slioter, the increased physicality of the game of hurling and tight hamstrings which can affect pelvic and lumbar positioning (Balague et al., 1999). Adolescent hurlers also had a higher incidence of lower back pain than collegiate hurlers in the present study and also to adult hurlers (11%) as reported by Watson (1996a); this higher rate of injury could be due to poor posture in adolescent males (Balague et al., 1999). Male adolescents tend to present with increased thoracic kyphosis that can lead to consequential lumbar hyper-lordosis which could possibly cause lower back pain (Balague et al., 1999). This is noteworthy as no prior studies have captured information on adolescent hurling injuries and so this high incidence of lower back pain has not been noted before. Knee injuries was the most common injuries in adolescent Gaelic footballers and second most common in adolescent hurlers which contrasts to a previous study in school Gaelic footballers where knee injuries were found to be far from predominant (1996b). The high incidence of knee injuries in adolescent Gaelic footballers and hurlers could be related to twisting and turning which are inherent movements in Gaelic games and are commonly noted as common mechanisms of injury. Poor neuromuscular control has been identified as a risk factor for knee injuries, and a high level of poor neuromuscular control has been noted in adolescents in this PhD (Chapter 3); this can lead to knee valgus occurring during these

250

twisting and turning movements and so lead to knee injury (Weeks et al., 2012). Gaelic footballers presented with a higher percentage of hamstring injuries in comparison to hurlers which can be linked to the higher incidence of lower limb injuries in Gaelic footballers compared to hurlers. Hamstring injuries in adolescent Gaelic footballers was also found to be more predominant than the 6.5% of hamstring strains reported by Watson et al. (1996b) in school Gaelic footballers. The higher incidence of hamstring injuries could be due to Gaelic football recently turning into more of a running game with players working their way up the pitch with a series of short passes that require its players to cover longer distances. However, in hurling the use of the hurley allows for quick passes of the slioter to further areas of the pitch which reduces the amount of running required. In addition, the predominance of hamstring tightness noted in Chapter 3 may also contribute to the high incidence of hamstring injuries. Ankle injuries were common in both Gaelic footballers and hurlers and were the third most common injury sustained by both populations. However previously Watson (1996b) has reported a higher percentage of ankle injuries (15.1%) in school Gaelic footballers. The predominance of ankle injuries could be due to poor landing technique and balance (Plisky et al., 2006, Clark et al., 2010) and may be related to the poor balance noted in the Y balance and single leg squat screening tests in Chapter 3. A similar percentage of pelvis and groin injuries occurred in both hurlers and Gaelic footballers which is expected as groin injuries have been shown to be predominant in sports that require quick acceleration and changes of direction which are inherent skills in both Gaelic sports (Maffey and Emery, 2007). In addition, the high incidence of pelvis and groin pain in adolescent Gaelic footballers and hurlers could be due to the anecdotal large amounts of training reported at this age, adolescents commonly play over a few age groups and may take part in multiple sports. In fact, 19.2% of all adolescent Gaelic footballers and hurlers played both sports to an equal level. A similar percentage of injuries was found in the present study and school Gaelic footballers (9.5%) as reported by Watson (1996b); surprisingly no injuries to the hand and finger were reported by adolescent hurlers in the present study. The large amount of hand-ball contact that occurs in Gaelic football may also predispose this area to injury (Brown et al., 2013). The lack of injuries in adolescent hurlers is surprising as hurlers have the same handball contact as Gaelic footballers and also would theoretically be more at risk of injury due to certain plays in the game of hurling such as when a player jumps to catch the sliother, other players are permitted to swing to hit the sliother with the hurley which could clearly leave the hand and finger predisposed to injury. Thus hurlers may not have

reported hand and finger injury as they may have felt the injury was not serious enough to warrant reporting and may not have prevented the players from continuing to play sport or limit their performance.

Collegiate players presented with similar common injuries as adolescent Gaelic footballers and hurlers, with hamstrings the most predominant site of injury, followed by the knee, ankle, hand and fingers, with the pelvis and groin and quadriceps accounting for the same amount of injuries. The hip/groin/thigh was by far the most principal regional injury noted. Hamstring injuries were predominant in Gaelic games, with hurlers sustaining slightly more hamstring injuries than Gaelic footballers. This is similar to other studies in Gaelic games, where the hamstring was the most commonly reported site of injury accounting for 6.5-24% of injuries (Murphy et al., 2012b, Wilson et al., 2007, Newell et al., 2013, Watson, 1996b, Cromwell et al., 2000, Brown et al., 2013, Murphy et al., 2012a, Watson, 1996a). In fact, Murphy et al. (2012b) reported that the hamstring was the site of 52% of all muscle injuries in elite Gaelic footballers. The possible predisposition for hamstring injuries in Gaelic games could be related to sprinting, which has been identified by the current and other studies as a common mechanism for injury (Wilson et al., 2007). Sprinting is a high velocity action which places high stresses on the hamstring muscle as it crosses over two joints, thus if any inherent flexibility or strength issues exist within the muscle this may predispose the player to injury (Woods et al., 2004, Gabbe et al., 2006). Collegiate Gaelic footballers and hurlers sustained a high percentage of knee injuries, which was slightly lower than those noted in adolescents, and is similar to the 8-13% of injuries noted in adult Gaelic footballers and 7.4-9% in hurlers (Murphy et al., 2012b, Wilson et al., 2007, Newell et al., 2006, Cromwell et al., 2000, Murphy et al., 2012a, Watson, 1996a). Ankle injuries were also common in collegiate Gaelic footballers and hurlers, and report a similar percentage of injuries as adult Gaelic footballers (10-13.3%) and hurlers (9%) (Murphy et al., 2012b, Wilson et al., 2007, Newell et al., 2006, Murphy et al., 2012a, Watson, 1996a) However, Cromwell et al. (2000) reported a much higher incidence of ankle injuries than collegiate Gaelic footballers in the current study. Hip injuries were common in collegiate Gaelic footballers and hurlers and accounted for a slightly higher percentage of injuries than reported in adult Gaelic footballers by Murphy et al. (2012b) (3.1%) and Wilson et al. (2007) (4%). This high frequency of hip injuries may be related to the poor hip mobility noted during the overhead squat and single leg squat in collegiate players in Chapter 3. Pelvis and groin injuries were slightly more common in

252

collegiate hurlers than Gaelic footballers, however the percentage of injuries were similar to those described in adult Gaelic footballers (7-9.4%) and hurlers (9%) (Murphy et al., 2012b, Wilson et al., 2007, Newell et al., 2006, Cromwell et al., 2000, Murphy et al., 2012a). Upper body injuries were slightly more prevalent in collegiate hurlers than Gaelic footballers however shoulder/elbow/forearm injuries had a much higher incidence in hurlers than Gaelic footballers. The prevalence of upper body injuries in collegiate hurlers was similar to adult hurlers (15.2%) (Murphy et al., 2012a). Quite a large variance of upper body injuries is noted in Gaelic football, with collegiate Gaelic footballers reporting a similar percentage of upper body injuries as Murphy et al. (2012b) (11.3%), a slightly higher incidence than Newell et al. (2006) (5%) and lower than Cromwell et al. (2000) (23%). Shoulder injuries occurred more often in hurlers than Gaelic footballers, however adult Gaelic footballers have higher reported injuries to this region (6.2-12%) (Cromwell et al., 2000, Newell et al., 2013, Murphy et al., 2012b) and shoulder, arm and elbow injuries only accounted for 2.9% of all injuries in adult hurlers (Murphy et al., 2012a). The prevalence of shoulder injuries could be due to the high physicality of the game where shouldering (a type of charge lead by the shoulder against the shoulder of the opponent) is a permitted method of tackling. Overuse injuries to the shoulder could be caused by the high catching and carrying of the ball that are inherent skills required in both hurling and Gaelic football (Cromwell et al., 2000). In addition, the reduced shoulder range of motion found in collegiate Gaelic players in Chapter 3 may also predispose the shoulder to injury. Similar to adolescents, collegiate Gaelic footballers presented with a higher percentage of hand and finger injuries than hurlers and this was much higher than the 1.5% of injuries noted in adult Gaelic footballers (Murphy et al., 2012b).

Fresher and senior Gaelic footballers presented with similar percentages of hamstring, ankle and hip injuries. Senior players sustained a higher percentage of knee injuries than fresher players, which may be related to the poorer score found in senior players for knee valgus during the overhead squat, while this difference did not reach significance, the increased knee valgus could have predisposed senior players to an increased risk of knee injuries. Hand and fingers injuries were more common in fresher's than senior players.

### 4.4.3.4. Nature of injury

Muscle injuries predominated in participants (53.3-57%) which was slightly higher than observed in adult male Gaelic players in previous studies (33-49.1%) (Murphy et al.,

2012a, Murphy et al., 2012b, Cromwell et al., 2000). Strains were the most common specific nature of injury noted and these predominated in the hamstring, pelvis and groin, quadriceps and calf. In addition, muscle tightness and contusions were the third and fourth most common nature of injuries found in adolescents, however contusions were more common in collegiate players and muscle tightness was only the fifth most common nature of injury noted. Muscle tightness occurred quite frequently in lower back and pelvis and groin injuries which were quite predominant in adolescents, which may explain the higher proportion of muscle tightness in adolescent than collegiate participants. In addition, all neck injuries were due to muscle tightness in adolescents. Watson (1996b) found that school Gaelic footballers presented with far fewer contusions (6.5%) than observed in adolescents, however a similar percentage of contusions was found in adult Gaelic footballers (13-17%) (Murphy et al., 2012b, Brown et al., 2013, Cromwell et al., 2000). Contusions were predominate in the quadriceps, hips, foot and toes, ribs and chest, wrist and shoulders which are all areas on the extremities or on the trunk which are left susceptible to injury. Ligament injuries and sprains were the second most common nature of injury noted in all populations studied; however collegiate participants presented with a higher proportion of ligament injuries and sprains than school participants. Ligament injuries presenting in the adolescents was similar to those reported in school Gaelic footballers (23.2%) (Watson, 1996b). Ligament injuries in collegiate participants was similar to those reported by Cromwell et al. (2000) in adult Gaelic footballers (32%) and higher than adult Gaelic footballers (13.2%) as reported by Murphy et al. (2012b) and adult hurlers (15.2%) (Murphy et al., 2012a). Sprains were predominant in the ankle and knee and were also quite common in the upper limb, especially to the shoulder, wrist, hand and fingers and elbow. Serious injuries were not particularly common, and a similar percentage of fractures and dislocations occurred in participants. The percentage of fractures in the current study was similar to those mentioned in male Gaelic footballers (4.4-10%) and hurlers (7.4%) (Murphy et al., 2012b, Wilson et al., 2007, Cromwell et al., 2000, Murphy et al., 2012a). Fractures occurred predominantly in the wrist, ankle, hand and fingers, head and face however they also were noted in the shin, foot and toes. Since the introduction of a rule change by the GAA for mandatory helmet use in hurling the amount of facial fractures and dental injuries has reduced dramatically. However it has been reported that some hurlers still modify their protective faceguards by removing bars which they feel can improve their vision and comfort; however this reduces the protection to the face (Murphy et al., 2010). Osgood Schlatter's disease is an injury that

occurs only in the adolescent population and it accounted for 1.8% of injuries in adolescents and a slightly higher percentage of 2.4% in adolescent Gaelic footballers and hurlers. As expected there was no incidence of Osgood Schlatter's disease reported in the collegiate population as this injury would have resolved by the time participants attended college. A very low prevalence of concussions were reported for adolescents (0.5%) and collegiate Gaelic footballers and hurlers (0.5%) which is far lower than expected in sports with such high physicality, however is similar to the reported concussion rates in adult male hurlers (0.5%) (Murphy et al., 2012a). Current studies have noted a decrease in concussions found by Watson (1996a) prior to the rule change), however since Gaelic footballers wear no additional head protection, the low incidence reported may be attributed to a low reporting of concussions. Participants may not have adequate knowledge of the symptoms of concussion and may not recognise its occurrence or may be fearful of missing playing time.

A higher percentage of muscle injuries occurred in adolescent hurlers than Gaelic footballers that may be related to the higher percentage of muscle tightness and contusions and the corresponding higher percentage of lower back pain in hurlers. The increased incidence of contusions is expected as hurling is quite a physical game with contact constantly occurring between players and the hurley. Conversely, strains predominated in Gaelic footballers and is higher than previously reported in school aged Gaelic footballers (21%) (Watson, 1996b). The high incidence of strains in Gaelic footballers can be attributed to the corresponding higher percentage of hamstring injuries. Ligament injuries and sprains also predominated in Gaelic footballers which also could be attributed to the corresponding higher percentage of ankle injuries. The percentage of sprains in adolescent Gaelic footballers was similar to the 22.3% reported by school Gaelic footballers, however adolescent hurlers reported substantially less sprains (Watson, 1996b). A similar percentage of muscular and ligamentous injuries occurred in collegiate Gaelic footballers and hurlers, however contusions were slightly more predominant in Gaelic footballers, which contrasts to the higher incidence in hurlers noted in the adolescent population. Muscle tightness was also higher in hurlers, as was similarly noted in the adolescent population. Bone injuries occurred more frequently in Gaelic footballers which may be related to the higher percentage of fractures. While the percentage of fractures in collegiate Gaelic footballers is slightly higher or similar to the percentage reported in previous studies on adult Gaelic footballers (4 - 10%) (Murphy et al., 2012b, Wilson et al., 2007, Cromwell et al., 2000), the percentage of fractures in collegiate hurlers was far lower than reported in male adult hurlers (7.4%) (Murphy et al., 2012a) Although hurlers have additional protection in the form of helmets, Gaelic footballers wear no additional protection and so the design of additional protection should be seriously considered as a prevention strategy. Tendon injuries were slightly more common in hurlers and this was similar to the reported tendon injuries in adult Gaelic footballers (9.2%) and hurlers (6.9%) (Murphy et al., 2012b, Murphy et al., 2012a).

Muscle injuries were predominant in fresher Gaelic footballers which may be related to the considerably higher proportion of contusions in fresher players. Senior hurlers presented with a similar percentage of contusions as Gaelic footballers. However, senior Gaelic footballers presented with a higher incidence of strains and muscle tightness than fresher Gaelic footballers. This higher incidence of strains in senior participants could be related to the higher percentage of quadriceps and shoulder injuries. Senior hurlers presented with a similar percentage of strains as Gaelic footballers, however a higher amount of muscle tightness was noted in hurlers which can be attributed to the higher proportion of lower back injuries in senior hurlers. Sprains were slightly more predominant in senior Gaelic footballers than fresher Gaelic footballers and were similar to the incidence of sprains reported in senior hurlers.

## 4. 4. 3. 5. Severity of injury

The majority of participants stopped playing after sustaining an injury, however almost two fifths of adolescent Gaelic footballers and hurlers carried on playing and did not take time off sport to allow the injury to heal, which is higher than both school adolescents and collegiate players. Collegiate hurlers were found to continue playing and training more commonly than Gaelic footballers, which could be related to the anecdotally "hardier" mentality of hurlers. Fresher Gaelic footballers also more commonly played on and may be under pressure to perform to compete for selection or secure a sport scholarship, and so may be unwilling to stop playing in comparison to senior players that may have already cemented their role in the team. While this study observed a lower percentage of players continuing to play on despite injury than reported by Cromwell et al. (2000) in elite male adult Gaelic footballers (46%), a substantial amount of players continued to play through injury. Thus, player and coach education, especially to adolescents, hurlers and fresher players, is essential as a prevention strategy to explain the importance of healing and rehabilitation, to reduce the effects of the injury and prevent re-injury, as players may be under pressure to continue playing due to the high frequency of matches and fear of losing their place on the team (Cromwell et al., 2000).

Minor (0-7 days) injuries were predominant in school adolescents closely followed by severe injuries (>22 days) and moderate injuries (8-21 days). Strains, sprains and fractures primarily lead to a severe injury, with minor injuries commonly occurring due to muscle tightness, contusions, tendinopathy and Osgood Schlatter's disease which are injuries that don't require either an extended period of time out from sport or players may be able to continue playing through the injury. Hurlers presented with a much higher amount of minor injuries which could be attributed to the larger percentage of muscle tightness and contusions in hurlers. The higher proportion of moderate and severe injuries in Gaelic footballers can be linked to the higher incidence of strains, sprains and cartilage injuries in adolescents Gaelic footballers. The mean days lost from sport before full fitness was slightly lower in the current study than in adolescent Gaelic footballers (34.3±37.1) (Watson, 1996b). However the current study displayed a higher mean days lost from sport before taking place in light training and full training than the 13.9±15.2 days of restricted activity in school Gaelic footballers as reported by Watson (1996b). Despite the differences in the amount of minor, moderate and severe injuries in Gaelic footballers and hurlers, no significant difference was found between Gaelic footballers and hurlers in mean days missed from light training, full training or full fitness (p>0.05).

The severity of injury in collegiate participants was distributed slightly more evenly as severe injuries occurred most frequently, followed closely by minor and moderate injuries. The difference between adolescent and collegiate players could be that collegiate participants are more prone to more moderate and serious injuries such as strains and sprains or were willing to take the appropriate length of time away from sport to recover fully from the injury. Similar to adolescents, minor injuries predominantly occurred in contusions, muscle tightness, tendinopathy and lacerations with strains commonly resulting in a moderate severity of injury and sprains and fractures causing a severe injury. The higher incidence of sprains resulting in moderate injuries in collegiate participants could be due to a larger proportion of Grade 1 injuries which with appropriate treatment and rehabilitation would generally allow participants to return to sport return within 3 weeks (Brukner and Khan, 2006). Collegiate hurlers presented with a higher proportion of minor and severe injuries however Gaelic

footballers displayed a higher incidence of moderate injuries. Unfortunately, the severity of injury has been defined in a number of different manners in different epidemiology of injury studies in Gaelic games which makes comparisons between studies difficult. Collegiate Gaelic footballers presented with a far higher percentage of minor injuries in the current study than the 13.2% and 10% reported in adult Gaelic footballers by Murphy et al. (2012b) and Newell et al. (2013) respectively. However, Cromwell et al. (2000) observed a similar percentage of minor injuries in adult Gaelic footballers (38%) as reported in the current study. Collegiate hurlers presented with a slightly smaller percentage of minor injuries than adult hurlers (45%) (Murphy et al., 2012a). The percentage of moderate injuries that occurred in Gaelic footballers and hurlers was less than those reported in adult Gaelic footballers (56%), however the amount of severe injuries reported in adult Gaelic footballers (34%) was similar to the percentage of severe injuries noted in collegiate Gaelic footballers but lower than those in collegiate hurlers (Newell et al., 2013). The mean days lost from sport from full fitness before full fitness was higher in collegiate participants than reported by Watson (1996a) in adult hurlers (20.3±19.3). Notably fresher participants returned to full training and full fitness significantly quicker than senior Gaelic footballers, which can be explained by the much higher incidence of minor injuries in fresher players and severe injuries in senior players.

The majority of players did not require surgery due to their injury, which is expected as only a certain amount of serious injuries would require surgical intervention. Collegiate Gaelic footballers and senior Gaelic footballers underwent surgery more commonly than hurlers and fresher Gaelic footballers. This higher proportion is not surprising as a higher percentage of senior players presented with serious injuries. There is no data available on the rate of injuries that required surgery in Gaelic games in this population, and this information is important as players that undergo surgery can lose time from school, college or work, may incur significant costs related to the surgery for players and also places extra burden on insurance companies and hospitals. Thus injury prevention programmes and strategies that target these severe injuries are necessary.

# 4. 4. 4. The injury event

#### 4.4.1. Mechanism of injury

Non-contact injuries predominated, however the percentage of contact injuries was higher in collegiate participants. Collegiate Gaelic footballers presented with a lower percentage of non-contact injuries and collegiate hurlers a similar percentage in the current study as the 60% and 67.8% reported in adult Gaelic footballers by Newell et al. (2013) and Murphy et al. (2012b); unfortunately no information on the distribution of contact and non-contact injuries was noted in the studies on adult hurlers (Murphy et al., 2012a, Watson, 1996a). The predominance of non-contact injuries in Gaelic games is not surprising as strains and sprains are the two most predominant natures of injury and these do not occur commonly due to contact. Nonetheless a significant number of contact injuries occurred in Gaelic games, which is anticipated due to the physicality of these games (Cromwell et al., 2000).

Adolescent Gaelic footballers and hurlers presented with a higher amount of overuse injuries than school adolescents and collegiate Gaelic footballers and hurlers. Adoelscent Gaelic footballers sustained a slightly higher percentage of overuse injuries than hurlers, which was slightly higher than the 13.5% of overuse injuries reported by Watson (1996b) in school aged Gaelic footballers. Collegiate Gaelic footballers presented with far fewer overuse injuries than hurlers and had a similar incidence to collegiate Gaelic footballers. Thus fresher hurlers presented with more overuse injuries than collegiate Gaelic footballers and senior hurlers, however due to their low numbers in the current study, further investigations into this topic is recommended. Thus collegiate Gaelic footballers and senior hurlers presented with far fewer overuse injuries than the 17.4% of injuries reported in adult Gaelic footballers or 19% in adult hurlers (Murphy et al., 2012b, Murphy et al., 2012a). Contact with another player was predominant and accounted for approximately one fifth of all injuries in participants, and could be attributed to tackling. Thus the introduction of protective padding or protective equipment requires further research and development (Murphy et al., 2012a). Assault and violence was an uncommon cause of injury (0.5-2.4%) which demonstrates the low level of unruly behaviour in Gaelic games.

With regard to the specific mechanisms of injury a substantial proportion of adolescent and collegiate participants had no specific mechanism of injury, as the injury came on gradually, which is due to overuse injuries. Sprinting was a predominant cause of injury which is similar to the 26.8% reported by Murphy et al. (2012b) in adult Gaelic footballers. Sprinting was a mechanism of injury more commonly noted in adolescent Gaelic footballers than hurlers which could be related to the increased incidence of hamstring strains in adolescent Gaelic footballers. In contrast, collegiate Gaelic footballers and hurlers presented with a similar amount of injuries due to sprinting. The sudden acceleration/deceleration that is required in Gaelic games, excessive loading placed on the body's tissues in such a high intensity movement and coupled with this possible poor strength or poor flexibility of muscles in participants may all predispose tissues to injury during sprinting (Newell et al., 2013, Murphy et al., 2012b, Gabbe et al., 2006, Woods et al., 2004). Injuries commonly occurred during tackling with a similar percentage of injuries reported in adult Gaelic footballers (27.8%) (Wilson et al., 2007). Being tackled resulted in an higher amount of injuries than tackling the opposition which was also reported by Wilson et al. (2007). Injuries during tackling were more predominant in hurling than Gaelic football and fresher Gaelic footballers sustained more injuries during tackling than senior Gaelic footballers. While tackling has been shown to be a common mechanism of injury, one of the biggest attractions of Gaelic games, especially in hurling, is the physicality of the game as players are not only permitted to aggressively tackle the opposition to win possession of the ball but are also allowed to use a shoulder to shoulder hit on their opposition when competing to win possession of the ball (Murphy et al., 2012b). Thus any prevention strategies such as possible rule changes must be feasible and must not change the inherent nature of the game itself, otherwise it will receive high resistance from players, coaches and the sporting body itself and so will not have the desired effect, to reduce the amount of injuries (Finch, 2006). Turning and landing were also frequent mechanisms of injury in participants. The current study reported a lower percentage of injuries occurring during turning than observed by Murphy et al. (2012b)(12%), Wilson et al. (2007)(13.3%) and Cromwell et al. (2000)(18%). Landing injuries in collegiate Gaelic footballers and hurlers was similar to the 7.1% reported in adult Gaelic footballers (Murphy et al., 2012b). Knee and ankle injuries predominantly occur during these movements. Turning injuries were slightly more common in hurlers than Gaelic footballers; whereas conversely, injuries occurred more frequently during landing in collegiate Gaelic footballers than collegiate hurlers which can be attributed to the higher percentage of ankle injuries in Gaelic footballers.

## 4.4.4.2. Time of injury

As expected, the vast majority of injuries occurred during training and matches and not in the warm up or cool down. The mean minutes an injury occurred were similar in all three populations studied and no significant difference was noted between participants. Previous research in Gaelic games has found that as a match or a training session progresses, the likelihood of an injury occurring increases (Wilson et al., 2007, Murphy et al., 2012b, Murphy et al., 2012a) and this was supported by the current study. The majority of injuries occurred in the second half in adolescent Gaelic footballers and hurlers at a similar rate to the 56.9-60.8% reported in adult Gaelic footballers and hurlers (Wilson et al., 2007, Murphy et al., 2012b, Murphy et al., 2012a). However, injuries occurred far more predominantly in the second half in collegiate participants than in adolescent Gaelic footballers and hurlers in the current study or adult Gaelic footballers and hurlers (Wilson et al., 2007, Murphy et al., 2012b, Murphy et al., 2012a). Injuries predominated in the 4th quarter in participants and similar to injuries in the second half, school adolescents and adolescent Gaelic footballers and hurlers displayed a similar percentage of injury and collegiate participants presented with a higher percentage of injury than those reported in adult Gaelic footballers and hurlers (29.3-38%) (Wilson et al., 2007, Murphy et al., 2012a, Newell et al., 2013). This increased risk of injury as the match progresses is primarily attributed to fatigue, which can reduce motor coordination, neuromuscular control and affect muscle mechanics especially at the end of matches as fatigued players may drastically increase their efforts in order to ensure they win the match (Wilson et al., 2007, Hawkins et al., 2001, Bahr and Holme, 2003). Poor conditioning of players and poor coach education could further increase the susceptibility of injury as anecdotally, some coaches tend to structure their sessions to complete speed work and sprints at the end of sessions; this requires fatigued players to complete a number of high intensity activities and so in order to develop a comprehensive prevention strategy, coach education must be provided to combat these issues (Newell et al., 2013). Some changes to the game itself may also help reduce the risk of injury in the later stages of the game, such as dividing the game into four quarter rather than two halves to introduce more breaks in the game or the introduction of rolling substitutes and removing the limitation of the amount of substitutes that are allowed on the pitch per game; this would give players increased opportunities to rest throughout the match and reduce fatigue (Wilson et al., 2007).

Senior Gaelic footballers and senior hurlers presented with a higher incidence of injuries in the second half of the game than fresher Gaelic footballers which could be attributed to the older senior players becoming fatigued more than the fresher players. The current study also found a relatively high percentage of injuries occurring in the second quarter in both adolescent and collegiate Gaelic footballers and hurlers which was similar to the 29.1% of injuries reported by Murphy et al.(2012b). This predominance of injuries in the second quarter could be due to players becoming fatigued just before half time. In fact, when visually estimating the time players became injured during the second quarter a large proportion of the injuries occurred nearing half time.

### 4.4.4.3. Foul Play

Foul play was involved in double the amount of injuries in school adolescents and adolescent Gaelic footballers and hurlers than in collegiate participants. While foul play was more predominant in adolescents it was still far below the 34.8% observed in school Gaelic footballers by Watson (1996b). In addition, foul play and recklessness was found to be the highest contributors to injury in Irish adolescents in sport in a paper published in 1984 (Watson, 1984). Thus, it would seem that while the amount of injuries in adolescents has reduced in recent times, possibly due to stronger enforcement of the rules of play, injuries relating to foul play in adolescents are more prevalent than collegiate players but also account for a tenth of all injuries. Consequently, further research on foul play and its relationship to injury, including establishing the attitudes and perceptions of foul play in adolescent players is required. Collegiate participants demonstrated fewer injuries related to foul play than adult Gaelic footballers (10.0%) (Wilson et al., 2007) and vastly less injuries than reported in adult hurlers (41.1%) (Watson, 1996a). However, the study on adult hurlers was completed in 1996 and so the injuries related to foul play may have decreased, similar to those observed in school Gaelic footballers. Adolescent and collegiate Gaelic footballers presented with a higher proportion of injuries related to foul play than adolescent and collegiate hurlers. This has not been noted in previous research and perhaps indicates that further enforcement of the rules may be required in Gaelic football. Senior Gaelic footballers also presented with a higher percentage of injuries related to foul play than fresher players. Surprisingly almost half of collegiate injuries related to foul play occurred when the injured participant themselves fouled or attempted to foul an opposing player. This is an essential result to impart to collegiate players to ensure they understand the increased risk of injury they are not only placing on the opposing player, but also on themselves.

Red cards were rarely used as a sanction in foul play related to injury, with the majority of participants who completed the foul receiving a free or a yellow card. Senior players on the other hand presented with a higher proportion of red cards, which could be related to the higher proportion of injuries related to foul play in senior players which would increase the chances of senior players receiving a more serious sanction. In order to reduce the risk of injury due to foul play, referees should be encouraged to enforce the rules more strongly and the rules should be examined to allow more red cards to be given out to those who flout the rules and increase the risk of injury to themselves and other players. Education to coaches and players should be provided to explain the link between foul play and injury to not only the opposing player but the participant who fouls; this may reduce the rate of professional fouls that are used to improve the chances the team has of winning the match.

#### 4. 4. 5. Factors surrounding the injury

#### 4. 4. 5. 1. Relationship between time of year and injury

The majority of injuries occurred during the season which can be attributed to the increased amount of matches during this period. Both the current study and previous research have shown that there is an increased risk of injury during matches, this is primarily credited to the increased intensity during matches and the higher physical and physiological stresses played on players during match situations (Murphy et al., 2012b, Murphy et al., 2012a, Yung et al., 2007). Injuries during preseason and offseason were not as common.

Injuries predominantly occurred at the beginning of the calendar year in adolescents; the incidence of injury decreased significantly over the course of the summer months and increased again nearing the end of the year. Injuries during February predominated, followed by April, January and March. Injuries during January and February correspond to preseason in underage club Gaelic games, thus the increased risk of injury during these months correspond to the previously mentioned increased demands being placed on the body's tissues due to the increased training load and possible under conditioning of players (Takemura et al., 2007, Cromwell et al., 2000). This increased demand was further exemplified by the fact that overuse injuries were most common in February and January. In addition, adolescent hurlers demonstrated a far higher percentage of injuries during February than Gaelic footballers. Similar to adolescent Gaelic footballers and hurlers, elite Gaelic footballers and hurlers have increased susceptibility of injury during April, this corresponds to the beginning of the competitive season for both adolescent and adult participants and so enhanced demands are placed on the body which can lead to soft tissue failure and injury (Cromwell et al., 2000). The decreased injury rate during the summer could be due to the reduced amount of matches during the summer as underage teams tend to suspend training and matches over the summer holidays (Crowley and Condon, 1989). In addition, the current study assessed injuries during the school term and did not have access to participants during the summer months, therefore, only injuries that were still reducing performance or causing players to miss
sport were reported in September and so this study may not have accurately assessed injuries throughout the full year. Injuries to collegiate Gaelic footballers and hurlers predominated at the end of the calendar year and the bringing of the year and reduced dramatically from March to August. Injuries primarily occurred during November, followed by October, February, January and December. This increased incidence of injury at the end and beginning of each calendar year coincides with the collegiate season which begins in September and ends in early March. Thus there was a spike in injuries occurring during October/November and January/February. The increased risk of injury in October/November corresponds to preseason training and the start of the competitive collegiate season. In addition, players would concurrently be playing club or county football depending on their skill level and so they would be at the end or just finished their club season. In fact, overuse injuries were most common in October and November in collegiate participants which may be related to this increased demand placed on players. In addition, this susceptibility to injury in the month of October was far higher in collegiate hurlers than Gaelic footballers. The collegiate competitive season tapers out in early March and so the increased risk of injury during January and February could be related to the increased importance of matches nearing the end of the collegiate season. It is paramount the team wins each and every match as it is a knock out structure, therefore not only are these games played at great intensity and competiveness, players may also be prone to playing through injuries as they are so close to the end of the collegiate competitive season. Senior Gaelic footballers and hurlers displayed an increased rate of injury in November and February. Senior players would be more likely to be starting players with their club teams than fresher players, and November corresponds to the end of the club season usually of successful teams or counties and the beginning of the collegiate competitive season, and February corresponds to the end of the collegiate season and beginning of the club season. Thus a seasonal bias in Gaelic games would seem to occur and it is essential that the governing body of Gaelic games critically assess the structures of the collegiate, club and county seasons to ensure players are not forced into playing continuously throughout the year without an off season which may predispose to injury.

#### 4. 4. 5. 2. Relationship between age group and injury

The vast majority of injuries occurred when players were playing within their own age group. Restrictions are not in place at present to prevent younger players playing in older age levels within Gaelic games. Thus, younger players would possibly be at risk of increased susceptibility to injury when playing in an older age group as there would not be fair competition between the players as the opposition may be taller, heavier and the younger player may be unable to withstand the greater physicality that may occur (Helsen et al., 2005). While a small amount of injuries occurred while playing in an older age group, adolescent hurlers and fresher players exhibited a higher percentage of injuries while playing with an older age group, and so may be at an increased risk of injury however further research is required in order to fully address this possible risk factor for injury.

#### 4. 4. 5. 3. Relationship between playing position and injury

Backs and forwards presented with a higher percentage of injuries than goal keepers or midfielders. However, in each Gaelic team there are six backs and forwards, two midfielders and only a single goalkeeper, thus the chances of backs and forwards sustaining an injury is higher as there are more players in this position. Thus, in order to adjust for this discrepancy and truly compare between positions, the amount of injuries was divided by the number of players in that position. Murphy et al. (2012b) adjusted their figures for this discrepancy by standardising the frequency of injury against the number of players registered to each position, this may be easy to do when assessing elite players however when examining adolescent or collegiate players they commonly change position depending on the age group, team or opposition they are playing and so would not exclusively be playing in the same position throughout the year. When the adjusted figures are taken into account, goalkeepers presented with the highest injury proportion than any other position. Wilson et al. (2007) also found that goalkeepers had a higher injury rate than half forwards or half backs in adult Gaelic footballers. Goalkeeper's risk of injury is commonly overlooked as they are not outfield players; however they are required to tackle, twist, turn and may need to dive more frequently than other positions. Midfielders were found to have the highest injury proportion in adolescent Gaelic footballers and hurlers, which is similar to adult Gaelic footballers (Murphy et al., 2012b). Midfielders are required to cover large portions of the field, jump and catch high balls repeatedly and are expected to both defend and attack during the match, thus they are placed under a higher level of intensity and physicality than other playing positions (McIntyre, 2005).

The injured body parts varied slightly between positions and between adolescent and collegiate players. Adolescent goalkeepers presented primarily with ankle and lower back injuries and collegiate goalkeepers demonstrated a high proportion of knee

injuries, followed by hand and fingers and lower back injuries. The hand and finger injuries can be attributed to catching the football and sliother, and lower back injuries may be related to diving to save goals. Adult goalkeepers in Gaelic football were similarly reported to present with knee and finger injuries (Newell, 2011). Adolescent backs predominantly sustained knee, lower back and ankle injuries and collegiate backs presented with hamstring, quadriceps and ankle. Adolescent forwards sustained knee ankle and hamstring injuries, similarly collegiate forwards underwent knee, hamstring and ankle injuries. Correspondingly in adult Gaelic footballers the hamstring, knee and ankle injuries were most common, thus outfield players seem to be susceptible to injuries in these locations (Newell, 2011). Adolescent midfielders commonly presented with injuries to the knee, lower back and calf. In contrast, collegiate midfielders commonly presented with hamstring, ankle and knee. Similar to collegiate midfielders, adult midfielders in Gaelic football presented with ankle, hamstring and knee injuries (Newell, 2011). Thus it would seem that the hamstring, ankle and knee are predominant injuries in backs, forwards and midfielders with goalkeepers differing in the most commonly injury body parts. In addition, the prevalence of sprains, strains, contusions and muscle tightness in all adolescent and collegiate positions may be related to this predominance of hamstring, ankle and knee injuries and so it may be beneficial to adapt injury preventative strategies in goalkeepers to focus on the different injuries sustained.

#### 4. 4. 5. 4. Relationship between free taking role and injury

The majority of adolescent and collegiate participants that became injured were not free takers. However both adolescent and collegiate Gaelic footballers presented with a higher percentage of injury to free takers than hurlers. Thus, Gaelic footballers who have a free taking role within the team may be at a slightly higher risk of injury as they would need to practice their free taking repeatedly in sessions to enhance their skill level in this technique. Therefore, theoretically they may become fatigued as they must complete this motion repeatedly especially if they undergo poor training techniques and do not rest between repeated actions. In addition, in a match situation the free taker may be required to cover more distances to get to the place where free must be taken and then return to their own position. In elite teams there may be a number of free takers however in the adolescent teams especially at the lower level there may only be one or two free takers on the team and so they would be under pressure to complete their own role and this role. Thus, education should be provided to free takers and coaches to ensure that if they are completing unsupervised sessions practicing their free taking or if

266

they are completing the practice during training, that they rest between repetitions and do not overload the same muscles repeatedly.

#### 4. 4. 5. 5. Relationship between playing surface and injury

Injuries primarily occurred on grass more commonly in collegiate players than in adolescent participants and this high rate of injury is most likely due to the fact that grass is the predominantly used and traditional surface for Gaelic games. The percentage of injury in the current study is lower than the 97% of injuries noted on grass in unpublished data on adult Gaelic footballers (Newell, 2011). Injuries occurred on synthetic or AstroTurf more commonly in adolescents than collegiate participants. Astroturf has begun to be used more frequently in Gaelic games as they can be used in all weathers. Collegiate and fresher Gaelic footballers presented with a higher rate of injuries when playing on synthetic turf than collegiate hurlers and senior Gaelic footballers; however this could be related to these teams utilising synthetic pitches more frequently. Astroturf is harder than grass and has previously been identified as a possible risk factor for injury as harder ground increases the impact and loading placed on body's tissues (Orchard, 2002, Takemura et al., 2007, Skovron et al., 1990, Nigg and Segesser, 1988). Further research on the relationship between synthetic turf and injury in Gaelic games is required to comprehensively assess its possible influence on injury, especially as the use of synthetic turf is increasing in clubs across the country.

Injuries during road running were more common in adolescent hurlers than adolescent Gaelic footballers and collegiate players. Adolescent hurlers may be attempting to improve their fitness levels by running on roads during preseason or outside of supervised training sessions. Thus education on appropriate methods to increase their fitness and advice such as substituting running on grass as it reduces the impact played on the body's tissues can be helpful to reduce injuries (van Mechelen, 1992). Information on training load and how to slowly increase the running distance and intensity in order to prevent overload on tissues would be helpful (Berg, 2003).

Injuries that occurred indoors were more prominent in adolescent participants especially adolescent hurlers and these were commonly injuries that occurred during P.E. in the hall or in the gym. Adolescent Gaelic players have started to undergo gym work at a younger age than was previously done in the past. These players may be unfamiliar with the movements required with a lot of the exercises and so be at greater susceptibility to injury especially if they undertake these exercises in an unsupervised environment. Thus, adolescent participants should be taught the functional movements required with minimal or no external weights in a supervised environment as an injury prevention strategy.

#### 4. 4. 5. 6. Relationship between weather conditions and injury

As the majority of injuries occurred outdoors in participants, weather conditions and its effect on the ground and playing surfaces is important to note. The temperature during injury was primarily normal, followed by cold, which is expected as Ireland has quite a tepid temperature. The higher percentage of injuries that occurred in cold weather in collegiate players could be related to their playing season, as the majority of competitive matches are held between October to early March which is essentially winter time. School adolescents displayed a higher percentage of injuries that occurred in a hot temperature than adolescent and collegiate Gaelic footballers and hurlers which may be due to the different sports played with possible different structures to their season.

Pitches were primarily dry when any injury occurred and this was far higher than the percentage of injuries that occurred in dry/hard ground in adult Gaelic footballers (43%) (Cromwell et al., 2000). Dry or hard ground can predispose to injury as it places greater external forces on the body's tissues and produces faster running speeds and quicker movements which may increase susceptibility to injury (Orchard, 2002, Takemura et al., 2007). Wet weather during the injury event was lower than in adult Gaelic footballers (39%) (Cromwell et al., 2000). Wet weather may predispose to injury as it may cause players to slip and fall, or the muddy ground conditions may cause players to become stuck in the less yielding surface and when a player is turning place increased forces on the knee which has been identified as a possible mechanism of serious knee injuries such as ACL tears (Lee and Garraway, 2000, Brukner and Khan, 2006). Previous research has cited the state of the pitch as a common cause of injury in both adolescent and adult Gaelic footballers which highlights the need for further research on the relationship between the weather and the state of pitch to injury (Watson, 1996b, Cromwell et al., 2000).

#### 4. 4. 5. 7. Protective equipment

The majority of adolescent and collegiate participants did not wear protective equipment during training or matches. In fact, the vast majority of adolescent hurlers and collegiate hurlers wore no protective equipment more commonly than adolescent and collegiate Gaelic footballers. Fresher Gaelic footballers and senior hurlers also presented with a high proportion of players not wearing protective equipment in comparison to senior Gaelic footballers. This is a worrying, as Gaelic games are physical sports with a high risk of injury. Protective equipment is commonly used in other sports and further research on protective equipment is necessary in Gaelic games to develop equipment that may reduce the risk of injury. The introduction of padding to reduce the risk of muscle contusion which have been found to be prevalent in school aged and collegiate Gaelic footballers and hurlers in the present study may also be beneficial (Wilson et al., 2007). Mouth guards were the most commonly worn protective equipment and the introduction of the mandatory use of mouth guards in all age groups in Gaelic football is a welcome move to prevent injury. Ankle strappings were also common in both Gaelic football and hurling which can be linked to the predominance of ankle injuries in Gaelic games and players may be using strapping as a method of reducing the risk of recurrent ankle injury (Murphy et al., 2003). Preventative taping other than ankle taping was rare, especially in hurlers, where no other preventative strapping was reported in both adolescent and collegiate hurlers. Gaelic footballers reported an extremely small proportion of patellar, thumb and wrist taping. Thus, education on protective equipment should be provided to players and coaches, especially to hurlers and fresher Gaelic footballers, and instruction on the importance of preventative taping and its benefits in reducing the risk of injury would be beneficial (Murphy et al., 2003).

#### 4. 4. 6. The injury assessment

#### 4. 4. 6. 1. Injury examination and further investigations completed

Approximately one fifth of all participants were referred on to an orthopaedic surgeon for further assessment on their injury. Gaelic footballers and senior Gaelic footballers were referred on more commonly than hurlers and fresher Gaelic footballers. This has severe implications for the GAA, as the GAA insurance scheme would be required to cover the extra cost of an orthopaedic assessment. In addition, further investigations were ordered for between 21.7-29.0% of adolescent and collegiate participants which also are costly but necessary. X-rays and MRI scans were the most common further investigations required with also a large amount of participants sent for both an MRI scan and an X-ray. Thus, a large proportion of injuries, especially in collegiate participants, required further investigation, which not only increases the cost associated with the injury to the player themselves and the GAA, it also increases the demands on the emergency departments and referral system for scans. Therefore preventative programmes to reduce the risk of injury may be critical in reducing the need for further investigations in Gaelic games which would reduce the associated costs.

#### 4. 4. 7. Limitations to the study

Similar to Study 1, the use of only two colleges may have caused a certain amount of bias, as the training events and loads within each college may have been similar. In addition, only 4th and 5th year adolescents were assessed in the current study, so further research is needed on injury epidemiology in younger adolescents. This study utilised student therapists to assess injuries. Ideally qualified therapists should assess injuries in epidemiological studies, however this was not feasible, as the collegiate population did not have qualified therapists working with the teams and a large proportion of their training and match sessions occurred at the same time throughout the week. Therefore to accurately collect injury data, it was necessary to utilise student therapists as the qualified therapist completing this study was unable to attend all sessions. In order to minimise the possible negative effect of utilising student therapists, as detailed previously, the qualified therapists met weekly with the student therapists and went through all injuries they viewed. If the student therapists were unsure of any aspect of the injury the qualified therapist re-assessed the injury again.

#### 4.4.8. Conclusion

This study provided comprehensive epidemiological information on injury in populations that have yet to be studied in great detail. Injuries were found to be prevalent, with collegiate players presenting with a higher incidence of injury than adolescent players. Over a third of all adolescent and collegiate participants are at risk of injury in one year and over a quarter of injured participants at risk of developing a subsequent injury throughout the year. Injuries occurred more frequently in matches in all populations and hurlers presented with a higher match injury rate. Fresher Gaelic footballers had an increased training and match injury rate than senior Gaelic footballers. Lower limb injuries predominated, with the hamstring, knee and ankle most commonly injured and injuries to the lower back common in adolescent hurlers. Thus comprehensive injury prevention strategies based on this epidemiology of injury presented should be designed for adolescent and collegiate Gaelic footballers and hurlers.

# Chapter 5. Risk factors for injury in adolescent and collegiate Gaelic footballers and hurlers

#### 5. 1. Introduction

A risk factor for injury is defined as any entity that contributes to the occurrence of sports injuries and are subdivided into modifiable and non-modifiable risk factors (Maffey and Emery, 2006, Meeuwisse et al., 2007). Modifiable risk factors for injury are factors that can be improved through the implementation of an injury prevention programme or strategy e.g. flexibility, balance, core stability, biomechanical factors (Bradley and Portas, 2007, Cowley and Swensen, 2008, Plisky et al., 2006, Meeuwisse et al., 2007). Non-modifiable risk factors for injury on the other hand, are those that are unable to be altered to reduce the likelihood of injury taking place e.g. age, gender, previous injury (Meeuwisse et al., 2007). Current research identifying risk factors for injury in sport tend to utilise research designs, statistical analysis and sample sizes that are less than ideal. Therefore cohort studies with large sample sizes utilising appropriate statistical analysis is recommended, as cohort studies are considered superior due to their prospective nature, strong analytical design and ability to provide an accurate measure of relative risk (Brooks and Fuller, 2006, Goldberg et al., 2007, Bahr and Holme, 2003).

Identifying causative factors for injury in Gaelic games is critical, as this has not been analysed in detail as of yet. Only five studies have examined risk factors for injury in Gaelic games, four of these studies assessed a small number of risk factors for a single injury (ankle, hamstring, hand) (Watson, 1999, O'Sullivan et al., 2008, Lowther et al., 2012, Falvey et al., 2013) and only a single study assessed a larger number of risk factors to all possible injuries; however this was not inclusive of only Gaelic sports, as soccer was also analysed which may have confounded the results (Watson, 2001). Of the five studies that assessed risk factors for injury in Gaelic games, two were case control studies where injured participants were compared to uninjured participants (Lowther et al., 2012, O'Sullivan et al., 2008). Thus these were retrospective in nature, open to bias and unable to decisively state that any differences noted between the injured and uninjured participants were due to deficits that were present prior to the injury occurring, not consequential after the injury occurred (Lowther et al., 2012, O'Sullivan et al., 2008, Bahr and Holme, 2003). One study implemented a retrospective cross sectional study utilising telephone interviews with hurlers who had previously presented at an emergency department; this study design is susceptible to a bias towards serious injuries such as fractures (Falvey et al., 2013). Merely two studies prospectively assessed a number of possible risk factors for injuries in Gaelic games; however only

Watson (2001) established the risk factors for injury in all possible injuries as Watson et al. (1999) analysed ankle injuries only.

As demonstrated, there is a severe lack of good quality, prospective research on risk factors for injury in all injuries that can occur in Gaelic games. Without this essential information, sufficient injury prevention programmes and strategies are unable to be developed. Thus, the aims of this study were:

1) To identify the risk factors of injury for <u>region (lower body</u>, upper body and trunk) in school adolescents, adolescent Gaelic footballers and hurlers and collegiate Gaelic footballers and hurlers

Sub-aim 2) To determine cut off points to identify participants at risk of injury in each region (lower body, upper body and trunk) for school adolescents, adolescent Gaelic footballers and hurlers and collegiate Gaelic footballers and hurlers.

3) To determine the risk factors for injury in commonly injured <u>body parts</u> in school adolescents, adolescent Gaelic footballers and hurlers and collegiate Gaelic footballers and hurlers

Sub-aim 4) To determine cut off points to identify participants at risk of injury in each of the commonly injured body parts for school adolescents, adolescent Gaelic footballers and hurlers and collegiate Gaelic footballers and hurlers.

#### 5.2. Methods

A prospective cohort study was implemented to assess the risk factors for injury in school adolescents, adolescent Gaelic footballers and hurlers and collegiate Gaelic footballers and hurlers.

## 5. 2. 1. Subjects

795 male participants that played Gaelic football and hurling were recruited. Adolescents (n=452) were recruited as detailed in Section 3.2.1 and 4.2.1. As previously described in Chapter 4, schools recruited in this study primarily played Gaelic football and hurling, however all students in the class were assessed, so the current study captured information on the risk factors for injury not only specifically in Gaelic football and hurling but also in 4th and 5th year students in a sample of Irish secondary schools. 293 adolescents played Gaelic football and hurling only. Collegiate participants (n=343) were recruited from male fresher and senior collegiate Gaelic football and hurling teams (Section 3.2.1. and 4.2.1.).

### 5. 2. 2. Experimental protocol

A prospective cohort study was implemented to assess the risk factors for injury in adolescent and collegiate Gaelic players. All participants underwent a musculoskeletal pre-participation screening at the beginning of the year (Section 3.2.3). Injuries to these participants were then tracked, and any injury that occurred was assessed by a therapist for the full school year or full collegiate season (Section 4.2.3.). The injury diagnosis, description and injury event was recorded in great detail in the injury report form (Appendix P). The following variables were related to regional location of injury and body part injured:

- Age
- Active knee extension results
- Navicular drop results
- Navicular drop asymmetry >3mm
- Y balance test asymmetry  $\geq$ 4cm
- Y balance test  $\leq 89\%$  leg length
- Overhead squat overall impression
- Single leg squat overall impression
- Alternative push up test results
- External rotation of shoulder

- BMI
- At risk AKE cut off point  $>70^{\circ}$
- Navicular drop >10mm
- Normalised Y balance results
- Y balance test  $\leq 94\%$  leg length
- Overhead squat individual criteria
- Single leg squat individual criteria
- Scapular control results
- Internal rotation of shoulder
- Total range of motion asymmetry  $>5^{\circ}$
- Internal range of motion on the non-dominant side  $>20^{\circ}$  than the dominant side

#### 5. 2. 3. Data Processing and statistical analysis

All results were inputted into Microsoft excel (2010) where the data was checked, mistakes were corrected and missing values were coded. Following this the results were inputted into the statistical package R. Missing values were replaced using the random forest model. Slight, moderate and severe results for the categorical screening data were aggregated to increase predictive power, as the occurrence for each was small when analysing them separately.

Multinomial Regression Model was initially attempted to identify the model to best predict injury in the lower body, upper body and trunk. The risk factors for the head were not assessed due to the low occurrence of injuries in this region. Based on the results of Chapter 3, Multinomial Regression Model was also used to assess the risk factors for injury in the following common body parts injured: hamstring, knee, ankle, lower back, pelvis and groin, quadriceps and shoulder.

As there were a large number of independent variables, it was decided to generate a statistically driven model using stepwise selection² to prevent overfitting of the model and selection of the most informative variables. Informative variables are those that: 1) lead to a better discrimination between "injured" and "not injured" and so have higher accuracy and produce a better model fit and 2) variables that add original information to the model and do not contain information that is redundant. Multi-collinearity would then be assessed and if highly correlated variables were found, the variables with the least predictive power would be removed. Following that, a theoretically driven model would be completed utilising possible risk factors for injury that have been suggested in published literature. However, complete and quasi-complete separation was found for each of the statistically driven and theoretically driven models.

Reducing the amount of independent predictor variables within the model has been identified as a method to address complete or quasi-complete separation (Boyle, 1996). Therefore, the "region injured" dependant variable was recoded into three separate variables: lower body injury present, upper body injury present and trunk injury present. The "body parts injured" dependant variable was recoded into seven separate variables for each of the commonly injured body parts mentioned previously. Logistic regression

² Corrected Akaike's Information Criterion (AICc criterion) and leave-one-out cross validation methods were also used to generate a statistically driven model however similarly complete and quasi-complete separation was found using these methods.

was then completed for each of the ten dependant variables, and specially selected variables were chosen for each dependant variable based on the theoretical risk factors for injury to that region or body part. Unfortunately, the regression models that produced high overall accuracy displayed high specificity but extremely low sensitivity and so were unable to accurately predict injury in the population. In addition, each of the individual predictor variables was not significant within the overall model.

Thus the data was then entered into the statistical package SPSS (version 20). Further recoding of data was completed to generate dichotomous variables where average and excellent scores were aggregated to compare to a poor score for the overall impression of the squat, single leg squat and core stability test. Univariate analysis was completed to identify any risk factors for injury in each region and commonly injured body part. An independent samples t-test was completed to identify any significant differences between injured and uninjured participants for each of the dependant variables for all continuous independent variables, including: age, BMI, hamstring flexibility, navicular drop, balance (reach distance, percentage reach distance with regard to leg length, difference between right and left legs), internal rotation and external rotation of the shoulder. The effect size was determined using eta squared (Equation 3.2. Section 3.2.6.1). The chi square test for independence was completed on categorical independent variables including: knees over toes, knee valgus, toe out, hip flexion, trunk flexion and overall impression for the squat and single leg squat, core stability, winging of scapulae, control of scapulae when lifting, control of scapulae when lowering and symmetry of scapulae. In addition, categorical variables for identifying participants at risk of injury using previously reported cut off points were assessed, including: navicular drop greater than 10mm (Plisky et al., 2007, Buist et al., 2010, McPoil et al., 2008, Bennett et al., 2001), navicular drop difference between feet greater than 3mm (Plisky et al., 2007), hamstring flexibility less than 70° (Shimon et al., 2010), balance less than 89% of leg length (Butler et al., 2013b), balance less than 94% of leg length (Plisky et al., 2006), total range of motion greater than 5° between shoulders (Wilk et al., 2011) and non-dominant internal range of motion greater than 20° than the dominant shoulder (Wilk et al., 2011). Relative risk (RR) (ratio of the rate of injury in those identified with an issue in the screening, to the rate of injury in those with no issue noted in the screening (Bahr and Holme, 2003)) and the 95% Confidence Intervals was presented for any significant differences demonstrated by the chi square test for independence.

Receiver operating characteristic (ROC) curve was used to identify the optimal cut-off points for BMI, hamstring flexibility, navicular drop, balance, internal and external rotation of the shoulder to identify those at risk of injury (Hajian-Tilaki, 2013). The area under the curve (AUC) is a value that combines the sensitivity and specificity measures to describe the inherent accuracy of the cut-off points (Hajian-Tilaki, 2013). Cut-off points were only created when the AUC was greater than 0.6, as values below this demonstrate low overall accuracy, with a value of 0.5 equalling chance (Zou et al., 2007). In addition, only the cut-off points that resulted in producing a significant Chi square test of independence, differentiating between injured and uninjured were reported. Likelihood ratios were calculated as they quantity how much the measure improves the likelihood of making the correct prediction for injury or absence of injury. Sensitivity and specificity were also calculated to assess the accuracy of the cut-off points identified and a cut-off point with low sensitivity indicates that it is unable to accurately predict participants that will sustain an injury in the following season, with low specificity signifying that the cut-off point is unlikely to accurately predict participants that will not sustain an injury in the following season. The following crosstabulation explains the factors used to calculate sensitivity and specificity:

Table 5.1: Cross-tabulation for sensitivity and specificity analysis

	<b>Injury occurred</b>	Injury did not occur
Issue present	True positive	False positive
No issue present	False negative	True negative

<u>Sensitivity</u>: Sensitivity (how accurate the measure is in predicting injury correctly) was measured using the following calculation:

Sensitivity = 
$$\frac{\text{True positives}}{\text{True positives} + \text{False negatives}}$$

## **Equation 5.1: Calculation of Sensitivity**

<u>Specificity</u>: Specificity (how accurate the measure is in predicting the absence of injury correctly) was measured using the following calculation:

Specificity =  $\frac{\text{True negatives}}{\text{True negatives} + \text{False positives}}$ 

#### **Equation 5.2: Calculation of Specificity**

<u>Positive Likelihood Ratio</u>: Positive likelihood ratio (improvement of likelihood of correctly predicting the presence of injury) was measured using the following calculations:

Positive Likelihood Ratio =  $\frac{\text{Probability that participant with an issue develops an injury}}{2}$ 

Probability that participant without an issue devops an injury Equation 5.3: Calculation of Positive Likelihood Ratio

As sensitivity and specificity have already been calculated it is easier to calculate positive likelihood ratio using the following calculation:

Positive Likelihood Ratio = 
$$\frac{\text{Sensitivity}}{1 - \text{Specificity}}$$

## Equation 5.4: Calculation of Positive Likelihood Ratio using Sensitivity and Specificity

<u>Negative Likelihood Ratio</u>: Negative likelihood ratio (improvement of likelihood of correctly predicting the absence of injury) was measured using the following calculations:

Negative Likelihood Ratio = Probability that participant with an issue does not develop an injury Probability that participant without an issue does not devop an injury Equation 5.5: Calculation of Negative Likelihood Ratio

As sensitivity and specificity have already been calculated it is easier to calculate negative likelihood ratio using the following calculation:

Negative Likelihood Ratio = 
$$\frac{1 - \text{Sensitivity}}{\text{Specificity}}$$

# Equation 5.6: Calculation of Negative Likelihood Ratio using Sensitivity and Specificity

#### 5. 3. Results

#### 5. 3. 1. Risk factors for region of injury

#### 5. 3. 1. 1. Lower body Injuries

#### 5. 3. 1. 1. 1 . School adolescents

With regard to the categorical predictor variables, excessive trunk flexion during the squat ( $\chi^2(1)=14.10$ , p<0.0001, RR=2.57, 95% CI: 1.48-4.46), inadequate hip flexion in the left single leg squat ( $\chi^2(1)=4.82$ , p=0.03, RR=1.65, 95% CI=1.03-2.66), and poor balance ( $\chi^2(1)=6.59$ , p=0.01, RR=1.49, 95% CI=1.10-2.02) and overall impression ( $\chi^2(1)=12.99$ , p<0.0001, RR=1.75, 95% CI=1.29-2.37) in the right single leg squat occurred significantly more often in school adolescents that developed a lower body injury the following season. No significant difference was found between those that developed a lower body injury and those that did not, for age, BMI, hamstring flexibility, navicular drop and balance (p>0.05). In addition, ROC curves were completed for all continuous independent variables. All AUC values were below 0.6 for BMI, hamstring flexibility, navicular drop and balance, thus cut off points to predict injury were unable to be identified.

#### 5. 3. 1. 1. 2 . Adolescent Gaelic footballers and hurlers

Poor overall impression on the right ( $\chi^2(1)=7.96$ ,p=0.005, RR=1.82, 95% CI=1.20-2.77) and left single leg squat ( $\chi^2(1)=4.16$ ,p=0.04, RR=1.56, 95% CI=1.02-2.39), poor balance in the right single leg squat ( $\chi^2(1)=4.91$ , p=0.03, RR=1.61, 95% CI=1.06-2.45) and excessive trunk flexion during the squat ( $\chi^2(1)=11.40$ , p=0.001, RR=3.64, 95% CI=1.52-8.69) occurred significantly more often in those that subsequently developed a lower limb injury. No significant difference was found for age, BMI, hamstring flexibility, navicular drop and balance (p>0.05) and ROC curves produced AUC values below 0.6, thus cut-off points were unable to be generated.

#### 5. 3. 1. 1. 3 . Collegiate Gaelic footballers and hurlers

Significantly more collegiate players that developed lower body injuries presented with inadequate hip flexion in the right single leg squat ( $\chi^2(1)=3.98$ , p=0.04, RR=1.50, 95% CI=1.00-2.27). No significant difference was found for age, BMI, hamstring flexibility, navicular drop and balance (p>0.05) and ROC curves displayed AUC values below 0.6.

#### 5. 3. 1. 2. Upper body Injuries

#### 5. 3. 1. 2. 1 . School adolescents

No significant difference between school adolescents with an upper body injury and the uninjured was found for: winging, control of scapulae when lifting, control of scapulae when lowering, symmetry of scapulae, at risk participants with total range of motion greater than  $5^{\circ}$  between sides or at risk participants with non-dominant internal range of motion greater than  $20^{\circ}$  than the dominant side. However internal rotation on the right (p=0.005, effect size=0.02) and left side (p=0.01, effect size=0.01) were found to be significantly lower in those that sustained an upper body injury with a small effect size. External rotation was not significantly different in those that developed an upper body injury (p>0.05).

ROC curves were completed for internal and external rotation of the shoulder, however the AUC values were below 0.6. With regard to BMI, an AUC value of 0.60 was reported, and the ROC curve suggested that participants with  $\geq 21.7$ kg/m² were at risk of injury. The chi square test of independence demonstrated that significantly more participants with  $\geq 21.7$  kg/m² BMI during the screening developed an upper body injury ( $\chi^2(1)=5.69$ , p=0.02, RR=2.61, 95% CI=1.15-5.92). However, this cut off point for BMI represents a sensitivity of 64.0%, specificity of 56.4%, positive likelihood ratio of 1.46 and negative likelihood ratio of 0.64 which indicates low overall accuracy.

#### 5. 3. 1. 2. 2 . Adolescent Gaelic footballers and hurlers

No significant difference between adolescent Gaelic players and uninjured players for the scapular control test and previously reported cut off points for shoulder mobility. Internal rotation on the left side (p=0.03, effect size=0.02) was found to be significantly lower in those that sustained an upper body injury that season with a small effect size. The AUC values for BMI, internal rotation and external rotation were all below 0.6.

#### 5. 3. 1. 2. 3 . Collegiate Gaelic footballers and hurlers

No significant difference between collegiate players that subsequently developed an upper body injury using the chi square test of independence for categorical independent variables and independent samples t-test for the continuous independent variables was found. The AUC values in the ROC curves were all below 0.6.

#### 5. 3. 1. 3. Trunk Injuries

#### 5. 3. 1. 3. 1 . School adolescents

No significant difference was noted between those that developed a trunk injury and the uninjured for: hip flexion, trunk flexion, knee valgus and toe out for the squat and single leg squat, and poor overall impression for the squat, single leg squat and core stability. No significant difference between those identified as at risk using previously reported cut-off points for hamstring flexibility (<70°) and navicular drop (>10mm and side to side difference >3mm) was found. Participants identified as at risk due to non-dominant shoulder internal range of motion greater than 20° than the dominant side developed a trunk injury significantly more frequently than those not at risk ( $\chi$ 2(1)=4.35, p=0.03, RR=2.33, 95% CI=1.04-5.22). Trunk injuries were found to occur significantly more commonly in older adolescents (p=0.02, effect size=0.01). BMI, hamstring flexibility, navicular drop and balance was not found to be significantly different in school adolescents that developed trunk injuries and those that did not (p>0.05). In addition, the AUC values for BMI, hamstring flexibility, navicular drop, internal and external rotation of the shoulder were all below 0.6.

#### 5. 3. 1. 3. 2 . Adolescent Gaelic footballers and hurlers

Participants identified as at risk due to non-dominant shoulder internal range of motion greater than 20° than the dominant side developed a trunk injury significantly more frequently than those not at risk ( $\chi^2(1)=4.40$ , p=0.04, RR=3.08, 95% CI=1.03-9.26). Trunk injuries also occurred significantly more frequently in older adolescents (p=0.002, effects size=0.03) and those with reduced left external rotation (p=0.04, effect size=0.02) with a small effect size. The AUC values for BMI, hamstring flexibility, navicular drop and balance were all below 0.6.

#### 5. 3. 1. 3. 3 . Collegiate Gaelic footballers and hurlers

No significant difference was found between collegiate players that developed a trunk injury and those that did not for hip flexion, trunk flexion, knee valgus and toe out for the squat and single leg squat and poor overall impression for the squat, single leg squat and core stability. No significant difference between those identified as at risk using previously reported cut-off points for hamstring flexibility, navicular drop and shoulder mobility was found. In addition, BMI, hamstring flexibility, navicular drop and shoulder mobility was not found to be significantly different in collegiate Gaelic footballers and hurlers that developed trunk injuries (p>0.05) and the AUC values from the ROC curves were all below 0.6.

#### 5. 3. 2. Risk factors for commonly injured body parts

#### 5. 3. 2. 1. Hamstring Injuries

#### 5. 3. 2. 1. 1 . School adolescents

Poor overall impression of the left ( $\chi^2$  (1)=4.72, p=0.03, RR=2.69, 95% CI=1.06-6.79) and right single leg squat ( $\chi^2$ (1)=13.768, p<0.0001, RR=7.14, 95% CI=2.10-24.32) were found to be significantly higher in those that developed a hamstring injury. No significant difference were found for core stability, the individual aspects of the squat and single leg squat and those identified as at risk with regard to hamstring flexibility, navicular drop and balance. No significant difference in hamstring flexibility was noted in those that received a hamstring injury and the uninjured (p>0.05). AUC values from ROC curves were below 0.6 for BMI, hamstring flexibility, navicular drop and balance and so cut off points were unable to be identified for hamstring injuries school adolescents.

#### 5. 3. 2. 1. 2 . Adolescent Gaelic footballers and hurlers

Poor overall impression for the squat ( $\chi 2(1)=5.12$ , p=0.02, RR=5.12, 95% CI=1.05-24.93), right single leg squat ( $\chi 2(1)=15.01$ , p<0.0001, RR=2.98, 95% CI=2.53-3.51) and left single leg squat ( $\chi 2(1)=16.98$ , p<0.0001, RR=3.26, 95% CI=2.73-3.88) occurred significantly more frequently in those that subsequently developed a hamstring injury. Hamstring injuries occurred more commonly in those with reduced anterior percentage leg length for balance (p=0.01, effect size=0.03). Cut-off points were unable to be generated for BMI, hamstring flexibility, navicular drop and balance.

#### 5. 3. 2. 1. 3 . Collegiate Gaelic footballers and hurlers

No significant difference was found for the categorical independent variables between the uninjured and participants that sustained a hamstring injury. Posteriolateral percentage of leg length for balance was found to be significantly lower in collegiate players that developed a hamstring injury (p=0.01, effect size=0.03). Cut-off points were unable to be calculated for BMI, hamstring flexibility, navicular drop and balance.

#### 5. 3. 2. 2. Knee Injuries

#### 5. 3. 2. 2. 1 . School adolescents

A significantly higher amount of participants identified as at risk of injury due to a navicular drop greater than 10mm on the right ( $\chi^2(1)=5.46$ , p=0.02, RR=2.20, 95% CI=1.12-4.34) and left side ( $\chi^2(1)=5.20$ , p=0.02, RR=2.22, 95% CI=1.10-4.45) were found to develop a knee injury in the following season. Poor balance during the right

single leg squat occurred more frequently in those that developed a knee injury ( $\chi^2(1)=9.86$ , p=0.002, RR=3.02, 95% CI=1.46-6.27). No significant difference was noted for age, BMI, balance and hamstring flexibility.

ROC curves displayed AUC values below 0.6 for BMI, hamstring flexibility and balance. However, the navicular drop on the right and left side was 0.61 and the ROC curve identified a cut-off point of 7mm on the right and 6mm on the left. The chi square test of independence displayed that significantly more participants with  $\geq$ 7mm on the right ( $\chi^2(1)=4.86$ , p=0.03, RR=2.26, 95\% CI=1.07-4.79) and  $\geq$ 6mm on the left ( $\chi^2(1)=4.80$ , p=0.03, RR=2.34, 95\% CI=1.06-5.17) during the screening developed a knee injury during the subsequent season. The  $\geq$ 7mm cut off point on the right foot represents a high sensitivity of 71.0%, relatively low specificity of 49.6%, positive likelihood ratio of 1.41 and negative likelihood ratio of 0.59. The  $\geq$ 6mm cut off point on the left foot represents a high sensitivity of 72.4%, relatively low specificity of 48.7%, positive likelihood ratio of 1.41 and negative likelihood ratio of 0.57.

#### 5. 3. 2. 2. 2 . Adolescent and Collegiate Gaelic footballers and hurlers

Adolescent and collegiate players that developed a knee injury did not perform significantly worse in any of the categorical and continuous independent variables (p>0.05) during the preseason screening. In addition, ROC curves were unable to generate accurate cut-off points for BMI, hamstring flexibility, navicular drop and balance as a predictor for knee injury.

#### 5. 3. 2. 3. Ankle Injuries

#### 5. 3. 2. 3. 1 . School adolescents

Trunk flexion ( $\chi^2(1)=5.14$ , p=0.02, RR=6.90, 95%CI=1.00-50.42) and toe out ( $\chi^2(1)=4.16$ , p=0.04, RR=2.20, 95% CI=1.01-4.79) during the squat occurred significantly more frequently in those that developed an ankle injury than uninjured participants. No significant difference in balance was noted between those that developed an ankle injury and those that did not (p>0.05). In addition the ROC curves displayed AUC values below 0.6 for balance, BMI, hamstring flexibility and navicular drop.

#### 5. 3. 2. 3. 2 . Adolescent Gaelic footballers and hurlers

No significant difference was found for the categorical independent variables between the uninjured and participants that sustained an ankle injury. ROC curves were unable to identify cut-off points and no significant difference was noted in those that developed an ankle injury for balance, BMI, hamstring flexibility and navicular drop.

#### 5. 3. 2. 3. 3 . Collegiate Gaelic footballers and hurlers

Poor balance in the left single leg squat ( $\chi 2(1)=3.89$ , p=0.04, RR=1.39, 95% CI=1.30-1.49) was significantly more predominant in collegiate players that subsequently developed an ankle injury. No significant difference between those that developed an ankle injury was noted for balance, BMI, hamstring flexibility and navicular drop. ROC curves were unable to generate adequate cut-off points for balance, BMI, hamstring flexibility and navicular drop.

#### 5. 3. 2. 4. Lower back Injuries

#### 5. 3. 2. 4. 1 . School adolescents

Inadequate hip flexion ( $\chi^2(1)$ =4.75, p=0.03, RR=3.05, 95% CI=1.05-8.87) during the squat occurred significantly more commonly in those that subsequently developed a lower back injury. Lower back injuries occurred more commonly in older adolescents (p=0.04, effect size 0.01). AUC values displayed by each of the ROC curves for BMI, hamstring flexibility, navicular drop and balance were all either too low or unable to differentiate using the chi square test between injured and uninjured participants.

#### 5. 3. 2. 4. 2 . Adolescent and Collegiate Gaelic footballers and hurlers

No categorical or continuous independent predictors were found to be significantly different between those that developed a lower back injury in both adolescent and collegiate Gaelic footballers and hurlers. In addition the ROC curves were not able to generate cut-off points that significantly displayed a difference between injured and uninjured.

#### 5. 3. 2. 5. Pelvis and Groin Injuries

#### 5. 3. 2. 5. 1 . School adolescents

No categorical variables were found to be significantly higher in those that subsequently developed a pelvis and groin injury. Those that became injured had significantly lower posteriomedial balance as a percentage of their leg length (p<0.001, effect size=0.04). The AUC produced by the ROC curves were less than 0.6 for BMI, hamstring flexibility, navicular drop and balance.

#### 5. 3. 2. 5. 2 . Adolescent and Collegiate Gaelic footballers and hurlers

No significant difference between those that developed a pelvis and groin injury and those that didn't was noted for the categorical and continuous independent variables in adolescent and collegiate players (p>0.05). The ROC curve was unable to generate cutoff points for BMI, balance, hamstring flexibility and navicular drop.

#### 5. 3. 2. 6. Quadriceps Injuries

## 5. 3. 2. 6. 1 . School adolescents, Adolescent Gaelic footballers and hurlers and Collegiate Gaelic footballers and hurlers

No significant differences between those that developed a quadriceps injury and the uninjured participants was found for either the categorical or continuous variables (p>0.05). The ROC curve produced AUC values less than 0.6 for BMI, hamstring flexibility, navicular drop and balance.

#### 5. 3. 2. 7. Shoulder Injuries

#### 5. 3. 2. 7. 1 . School adolescents

Poor control of the right scapula when lifting ( $\chi^2(1)=4.29$ , p=0.04, RR=3.46, 95% CI=1.00-12.07) and left ( $\chi^2(1)=5.94$ , p=0.02, RR=4.55, 95% CI=1.19-17.35) was more common in those that developed a shoulder injury. Internal rotation on the left side was significantly lower in those that became injured (p=0.01, effect size=0.01). Internal and external rotation displayed AUC values below 0.6 in the ROC curves and so cut off points to determine risk of shoulder injuries in school adolescents was unable to be completed. However, BMI displayed an AUC of 0.62 and the ROC curve identified a cut-off point of  $\geq 21.6$ kg/m². The chi square test of independence demonstrated that significantly more participants with  $\geq 21.6$ kg/m² BMI during the screening developed an upper body injury the subsequent season ( $\chi^2(1)=4.76$ , p=0.03, RR=4.70, 95% CI=1.01-21.90). However, this cut off point for BMI represents a high sensitivity of 80.0%, relatively low specificity of 54.8%, positive likelihood ratio of 1.77 and negative likelihood ratio was 0.36 which indicates a small overall accuracy.

#### 5. 3. 2. 7. 2 . Adolescent Gaelic footballers and hurlers

No significant difference for the scapulae control test was noted in those that developed a shoulder injury and players that did not. However, internal rotation on the left side was significantly lower in those that sustained a shoulder injury (p=0.001, effect size=0.04). Cut off points were unable to be generated using the ROC curves.

#### 5. 3. 2. 7. 3 . Collegiate Gaelic footballers and hurlers

Poor control when lifting scapulae on the left side ( $\chi 2(1)=4.21$ , p=0.04, RR=3.68, 95% CI=1.00-13.98) was more common in those that developed a shoulder injury. No significant difference was found for BMI, internal and external rotation of the shoulder. Cut off points were unable to be generated using the ROC curves.

#### 5. 3. 3. Summary of Risk factors for injury

#### 5. 3. 3. 1. Summary of Risk factors for injury in the Lower body

The risk factors for injury in the lower body region and the commonly injured body parts in the lower body are presented in Table 5.2.

Variabla	Lor	von D	odv	Uomstring		Knoo		Anklo			Dolvis and Croin		Quadricons					
variable	LUV	ver D	a bouy mainstring		Knee			Allkle			Fervis and Grom			Quauriceps				
	S	Α	C	S	Α	C	S	Α	C	S	Α	C	S	Α	C	S	Α	C
Squat																		
Overall impression					<													
Toe out										<								
Trunk flexion	<	<								<								
Single leg squat																		
Overall impression	<	<		<	<													
Hip flexion	<		~															
Balance	<	~					$\checkmark$					<						
Navicular drop																		
Navicular drop at Risk >10mm							$\checkmark$											
Balance																		
Anterior reach (%LL)					✓													
Posteriomedial reach (%LL)													$\checkmark$					
Posteriolateral reach (%LL)						$\checkmark$												

## 5.2: Summary of Risk factors for injury in the Lower body, Hamstring, Knee, Ankle, Quadriceps and Pelvis and Groin

## 5. 3. 3. 2. Summary of Risk factors for injury in the Upper body and Shoulder

The risk factors for injury in the upper body region and the commonly injured body parts in the upper body are presented in Table 5.3.

	<b>Upper Body</b>			Shoulder			
	S	Α	C	S	Α	C	
Scapular Control							
Control of scapulae when lifting				<		<b>√</b>	
Shoulder Mobility							
Internal rotation	>	~		<	<b>√</b>		
BMI							
BMI Cut off	~			~			

#### 5.3: Summary of Risk factors for injury in the Upper body and Shoulder

## 5. 3. 3. 3. Summary of Risk factors for injury in the Trunk and Lower back

The risk factors for injury in the trunk region and the lower back are presented in Table 5.4.

#### 5.4: Summary of Risk factors for injury in the Trunk and Lower back

Variable		Trunk	Lower back							
	S	Α	C	S	Α	С				
Shoulder Mobility										
External rotation		1								
Non-dominant internal ROM >20°	$\checkmark$	✓								
than dominant										

#### 5.4. Discussion

The aim of this study was to identify risk factors for injury in school adolescents, adolescent and collegiate Gaelic footballers and hurlers to pave the way for the development of injury prevention strategies in these under-researched populations. To date there has been no research on the risk factors for injury in school adolescents and adolescent Gaelic footballers and hurlers, and merely two studies examining collegiate Gaelic games. Just five studies have examined the causative factors for injury in Gaelic games, however they were limited by research design (Lowther et al., 2012, O'Sullivan et al., 2008, Falvey et al., 2013), retrospective nature (Lowther et al., 2012, O'Sullivan et al., 2008, Falvey et al., 2013), low sample sizes (Lowther et al., 2012, O'Sullivan et al., 2008, Watson, 1999, Watson, 2001, Falvey et al., 2013) and focus on a single injury (Watson, 1999, O'Sullivan et al., 2008, Lowther et al., 2012, Falvey et al., 2013). This study aimed to abide by recommended research by utilising a cohort study with a large sample size and implementing high quality statistical analysis to measure relative risk of injury (Brooks and Fuller, 2006, Goldberg et al., 2007, Bahr and Holme, 2003).

#### 5. 4. 1. Risk factors for injury in the lower body

Poor squatting technique was identified as the primary risk factor for injury to the lower body, in particular the hamstring, knee, ankle and lower back. School participants and adolescent Gaelic footballers and hurlers with poor overall impression for the single leg squat presented with a 1.7-1.8 and 2.7-7.1 times increased risk of lower body and hamstring injury, respectively. In addition, poor overall impression during the squat resulted in a 5.1 times increased risk of hamstring injury in adolescent Gaelic footballers and hurlers. While squatting techniques itself has not been compared to injury rate, the squat as part of the FMS has been. A poor score of 14 or lower in the FMS has been demonstrated to predict injury to a greater extent than in the current study with four times as many lower limb injuries occurring in female collegiate athletes (Chorba et al., 2010) and eleven times as many in adult professional American football players (Kiesel et al., 2011). The squat movement examines global movement patterns that incorporate many risk factors for injury, including range of motion, strength, control, endurance, coordination, balance and neuromuscular control of all the individual joints working in synchrony to complete a functional movement (Kivlan and Martin, 2012, Butler et al., 2010). It challenges the body's mobility and stability in order to control and move the ankle, knee and hip joints in a bilateral, symmetrical and functional manner (Cook et al., 2006a, Butler et al., 2010). Thus, the overhead squat and

289

single leg squat is an essential component to any pre-participation screening, and injury prevention programmes should focus on ensuring Gaelic players have adequate squatting technique. While the squat and single leg squat examine identical movement patterns, the overall impression of the single leg squat has been identified more commonly in this study as a predisposing factor to injury. This could be attributed to the fact that it's unilateral movement may highlight certain subtle dysfunctions that may be passed over in the overhead squat (Whatman et al., 2012). Balance during the single leg squat also plays a superior part in the unilateral movement than the squat which may also have contributed.

Individual components of the single leg squat and overhead squat were also identified as predisposing factors to injury. Excessive trunk flexion during the squat was linked to 2.6 and 3.6 times as many lower body injuries in school adolescents and adolescent Gaelic footballers and hurlers. In addition, excessive trunk flexion amounted to 6.9 times as many ankle injuries in school adolescents only. Excessive trunk flexion during the squatting motion commonly occurs due to an anterior tilted pelvis which may be attributed to tight hip flexors (Brukner and Khan, 2006). As a large amount of musculature attaches to the pelvis, the positioning of the pelvis in a less than ideal position and consequential placement of the lumbar spine into excessive lordosis may affect the kinematic patterns of the lower body and predispose to injury. It is also noteworthy that excessive trunk flexion was only evident in the adolescents. Thus injury prevention programmes that target stretching of the psoas major in adolescents may help reduce lower body injury.

Inadequate hip flexion during the single leg squat predisposed school adolescents and collegiate Gaelic players to 1.5 and 1.7 times as many lower body injuries, respectively. In addition, inadequate hip flexion during the overhead squat was linked to 3.1 times as many lower back injuries in school adolescents. The depth of the squatting movement indicates the range of mobility available at the hip joint (Cook, 2010, Frohm et al., 2012). Reduced hip mobility during functional tasks such as landing can increase loading to the lower body and so predispose to injury (Silvers and Mandelbaum, 2007). In addition, inadequate hip flexion during the overhead squat was linked to 3.1 times as many lower back injuries in school adolescents. Sjolie (2004) also reported reduced hip mobility as a predisposing factor to lower back injury in adolescents (14.7 years) using goniometric measurements. The authors attributed reduced hamstring flexibility as the

cause of the poor mobility and poor hamstring flexibility was also noted in adolescents in the current study's pre-participation screening.

Toe out during the squat resulted in 2.2 times as many ankle injuries in school adolescents. Toe out is a compensation strategy to achieve adequate dorsiflexion which replicates gait. The participant's feet tilt outwards to pronate and achieve the required range of dorsiflexion. It has been well documented that reduced dorsiflexion commonly occurs after ankle injury (Brukner and Khan, 2006, Hertel, 2000), and so previous ankle injury may predispose to future injury, not only because of adaptations to proprioceptive factors but also reduced dorsiflexion (Hertel, 2000). However, this reduction in dorsiflexion may not solely be due to previous injury and may be an inherent risk factor. In fact, Tabrizi et al. (2000) found that a significantly lower dorsiflexion was noted in the uninjured ankle in children that sustained an ankle injury compared to an uninjured control group (p<0.001). Thus, injury prevention programmes that increase dorsiflexion utilising mobilisations and a stretching programme for the gastrocnemius and soleus may help reduce ankle injury.

School adolescents and adolescent Gaelic footballers and hurlers with poor balance during the single leg squat presented with 1.5-1.6 times as many lower body injuries. This was similar to elite Australian footballers where poor balance lead to twice as many injuries (Hrysomallis et al., 2007), but far lower than high school female basketball players, where poor balance using the star excursion balance test corresponded to 6.5 times as many lower body injuries (Plisky et al., 2006). Poor balance during the single leg squat was related to 3 times as many knee injuries in school adolescents and 1.4 times as many ankle injuries in collegiate Gaelic footballers and hurlers. This result is similar to adult Gaelic footballers, where Watson (1999) identified reduced lower limb proprioception as a risk factor for ankle injury, however it is lower than reported in high school basketball players where 7 times as many ankle injuries occurred (McGuine et al., 2000). As previously mentioned, the single leg squat incorporates a functional assessment of balance. The Y balance test is extremely time consuming in comparison to the other screening tests, if the pre-participation screening is under severe time constraints, the findings of this study indicate that the single leg squat alone may be a sufficient measure of balance. Regarding the Y balance test, significantly lower anterior and posteriolateral balance was noted in adolescent and collegiate Gaelic footballers and hurlers that subsequently developed a hamstring injury. In addition, significantly lower posteriomedial balance was found in school adolescents

that developed pelvis and groin injuries. Thus, while it would seem the Y balance test may identify participants with poor balance that can affect injury rates further up the kinetic chain, the effect size was low for each of the significant differences noted. Interestingly, the biceps femoris which is a hamstring muscle is primarily active during the posteriolateral reach in the Y balance test (Plisky et al., 2006), which corresponds to the low posteriolateral balance noted in collegiate players that developed a hamstring injury.

School adolescents with a navicular drop of  $\geq 10$ mm were 2.2 times more likely to develop a knee injury in the following academic year (right foot: sensitivity=54.8%, 66%, left foot: sensitivity=51.7%, specificity=68.9%). Excessive pronation has been frequently identified as a predisposing factor to ACL injury (Beckett et al., 1992) and patellofemoral pain syndrome (Barton et al., 2010, Barton et al., 2011). Excessive pronation can cause corresponding internal tibial and femoral rotation which places the knee into a valgus position and can place tension on the ACL and cause increased pressure on the lateral aspect of the patellofemoral joint due to the increased quadriceps angle (Bonci, 1999, Picciano et al., 1993, Barton et al., 2010). Thus, this effect on knee positioning and patellofemoral joint mechanics is essential to address in injury prevention programmes developed for school adolescents. The ROC curve suggested that a lower cut off point of  $\geq$ 6-7mm for the navicular drop in school adolescents may be more beneficial. The use of these cut off points increased the relative risk of knee injury very slightly to 2.3. While the sensitivity of these cut off points was high (71.0-72.4%), the specificity was relatively low (48.7-49.6%). Similarly while the sensitivity of the proposed cut-off points were higher than the  $\geq 10$ mm cut off point previously reported, the specificity was lower. Thus, further analysis on the optimal cut off point for navicular drop in adolescents is required.

Poor hamstring flexibility was not found to predispose to hamstring injury, which is similar to community level Australian football (Gabbe et al., 2005) and soccer (Arnason et al., 2004) which are field sports similar to Gaelic games. This is not in line with commonly held beliefs and was not expected, as a large proportion of adolescents and collegiate players presented with poor flexibility during the screening and hamstring injuries were frequent, especially in collegiate players. In addition, previous research has noted that adult Gaelic footballers displayed significantly reduced hamstring flexibility in the injured limb compared to the uninjured; however the research design used was limited, as it was unable to ascertain the presence of poor hamstring flexibility

prior to injury occurrence (Lowther et al., 2012). Thus, further prospective research is needed to focus specifically on possible risk factors for hamstring injury such as hamstring strength, gluteal muscle activation and neurological issues.

#### 5. 4. 2. Risk factors for Upper body Injury

Poor control of the scapulae during lifting in the scapular control test lead to 3.5-4.5 and 3.7 times as many shoulder injuries in school adolescents and collegiate Gaelic footballers and hurlers. Poor scapular control has been identified as a risk factor for injury in upper body sports (Wang and Cochrane, 2001, Thomas et al., 2010, Ellenbecker et al., 2012), however this is the first study to identify poor scapular control as a risk factor for injury in Gaelic games. Poor control of the scapulae during lifting affects the scapulae position during movement, which in turn may affect the normal functioning of the shoulder complex and could cause narrowing of the subacromial space and prevent the acromion from rotating out of the way of the humeral head which may cause impingement and impaired motion of the upper limb (Wang and Cochrane, 2001, Thomas et al., 2010). Thus prehabilitation to correct any shoulder protraction by stretching the pectoralis minor muscle, strengthen the thoracic spine and shoulder muscles and address any problems with muscle activation patterns would be beneficial to reduce this risk of injury. No significant difference was noted for control of scapulae during the downward motion of the test, however this may be because the muscles are working eccentrically and any malalignments present are very pronounced (Kibler et al., 2002). If a participant has a malalignment present during the upward motion, it would tend to be more severe in nature, and so more likely to cause a shoulder injury.

Internal rotation was found to be significantly reduced in school adolescents and adolescent Gaelic players that developed upper limb and shoulder injuries, and this impairment has previously been identified as a predisposing factor (Wang and Cochrane, 2001). In fact, cut-off points were developed to identify the rate of reduced internal rotation to injury; however these focused on upper body sport where a large focus was asymmetry between sides and its relationship to dominance. Baseball players were found to be twice as likely to become injured with reduced internal rotation of greater than  $20^{\circ}$  and pitchers with a total rotational deficit of greater than  $5^{\circ}$  had a higher injury rate (Wilk et al., 2011). However these cut-off points were not found to differentiate between the injured and uninjured in the present study. Reduced internal rotation may occur due to chronic eccentric stress placed on the posterior capsule of the shoulder; this can consequently cause thickening of this capsule which in turn may alter

the range of motion of the shoulder (Thomas et al., 2010). In addition, the eccentric loading may also cause tightness of the posterior rotator cuff muscles which may further restrict internal range of motion (Thomas et al., 2010). These adaptations may change the biomechanical movement patterns of the shoulder and so predispose to injury. In fact, it has been reported that athletes with reduced internal rotation commonly present with abnormal scapulae positioning (Thomas et al., 2010). Thus these should ideally be included in any injury prevention programme designed. It has also been noted that high school players have significantly higher internal rotation then collegiate players (Thomas et al., 2010) and so theoretically collegiate players should be more predisposed to upper limb and shoulder injury. In contrast, this study found a significantly reduced internal rotation in adolescents only, however it is noteworthy that the effect size was small.

ROC curves in school adolescents suggested a cut-off point of  $\geq 21.7$  kg/m² and  $\geq$ 21.6kg/m² BMI during the screening were at risk of developing an upper body and shoulder injury, respectively. In fact, school adolescents with a BMI greater than the cut-off point were 2.6 times and 4.7 times more likely to sustain an upper body and shoulder injury, respectively. However, while these cut-off points increased the relative injury risk greatly and displayed high sensitivity (64.0% and 80.0%), particularly for shoulder injuries, the specificity of the cut-off points were quite low (64.0% and 54.8%). Contradictory evidence has been published on the effect of high BMI on injury in adolescents. Obese adolescents have been reported to have a 34% increased risk of injury (Richmond et al., 2012), however this was not supported in other studies (Lowry et al., 2007, Kemler et al., 2014) possibly because obese adolescents have extremely low physical activity levels and are less likely to get into situations where injury may occur. High BMI places extra physical stress on body structures, particularly during high impact contact sports like Gaelic games, requiring the body to absorb large forces which may predispose to soft tissue and joint injury (Richmond et al., 2012). BMI has also been linked to poor motor coordination (Foss et al., 2012) and reduced balance, as the uneven weight distribution may affect the players stable base and the increased pressure on the feet may affect somatosensory ability (Ku et al., 2012). However, as BMI is a crude predictor of body composition (Heyward, 2006), especially in the physically active population (Richmond et al., 2012), further research is needed to compare more gold standard assessments of body composition (skinfolds, DEXA scans) to injury.

#### 5. 4. 3. Risk factors for Trunk Injury

Limited risk factors for trunk injury were identified in this study, which is expected as the screening primarily focused on predicting injury in lower and upper body injuries as these are most predominant in Gaelic games (Murphy et al., 2012b, Murphy et al., 2012a). Internal rotation of  $\geq 20^{\circ}$  less than the non-dominant shoulder lead to 2.3 times more trunk injuries in school adolescents and 3.1 times as many in adolescent Gaelic footballers and hurlers. This risk factor for injury was not expected, as previously it has been proposed as a risk factor for shoulder injury only (Wilk et al., 2011). The reduced internal rotation and asymmetry between sides may be due to issues with the shoulder stabilisers which attach to the thoracic spine and anterior positioning of the shoulder. This may cause corresponding muscle tightness in these muscles, which could lead to pain in the upper aspect of the trunk.

#### 5. 4. 4. Limitations to the study

Despite the fact that this study (school adolescents=452, adolescent Gaelic players=293, collegiate Gaelic players=343) had a far higher sample size than previous risk factor studies in Gaelic football and hurling (n=18, 44, 80, 102, 163) (Lowther et al., 2012, O'Sullivan et al., 2008, Watson, 1999, Watson, 2001, Falvey et al., 2013) and a similar and slightly higher sample size to other similar cohort studies in soccer (n=306)(Arnason et al., 2004), Australian rules football (n=126) (Gabbe et al., 2005) and rugby (n=258) (Quarrie et al., 2001), the ideal multivariate statistical analysis was unable to be completed due to complete and quasi complete separation. This can be due to the high amount of risk factors examined, and the relatively low amount of cases of injury found, particularly in the specific body parts injured. Despite the fact this study had a similar amount of injuries in comparable cohort studies that utilised multivariate statistics (such as Arnason et al. (2004), Gabbe et al. (2005) and Quarrie et al. (2001)), and even when only risk factors identified as significant using univariate analysis were examined, an accurate model was still unable to be completed. It was then necessary to complete univariate analysis only, which is considered inferior to multivariate analysis as it does not account for interactions and confounding factors between predisposing factors (Meeuwisse, 1994, Bahr and Holme, 2003). However practically, a trade-off exists between ideal methodology and accurate data collection and a large sample size. In order to identify very small risk factors for injury in this population, a power calculation suggested a sample size of almost 3,000 participants. In reality, this would be outside the scope of this PhD, as to screen and track 3,000 participants would be extremely time

295

consuming, expensive, require a far larger amount of testers which may affect the reliability of the screening and recruitment of participants would have been exceptionally difficult. This study used the gold standard method of data collection which is a prospective cohort study with medical professionals assessing injuries weekly. For the scope of this PhD, in order to recruit the vast amount of participants ideally required, a retrospective research design for injury tracking would have been needed, which is considered inferior to prospective studies as it is less reliable due to recall bias and imprecise estimations of duration of activity (Junge and Dvorak, 2000, Inklaar, 1994). Future research however could address these issues by partnering with the GAA and acquire funding to recruit a large amount of therapists to screen and track injuries in adolescent and collegiate Gaelic players. To date, most elite county teams and adult club teams have designated therapists attending all matches and most training sessions, however this is not the case in adolescent and collegiate players and funding would need to be in place to facilitate this.

In addition, other predisposing factors that were not measured in the screening may influence injury rates in adolescent and collegiate Gaelic footballers and hurlers to a greater degree than those assessed. Other possible risk factors such as previous injury, posture, fitness levels, weather conditions and ground conditions may predispose to injury and should be assessed in future research. As this is the first study of its kind to assess risk factors for injury in Irish adolescents and adolescents Gaelic players, further research is needed to consider the effect of maturation on neuromuscular control, balance, flexibility, strength and mobility which are assessed in the screening, as this may have a corresponding effect on injury risk. Training load may also be important to quantify, particularly in Irish adolescents, as it is evident from this research that some are playing a large number of sports with a number of teams which may contribute to an increased injury risk. Unfortunately training diaries implemented in this study had an extremely low compliance (Section 4.2.4.3.) and so future research should ideally utilise incentives or other objective methods of capturing training information (e.g. SenseCam, accelerometers, pedometers) in order to examine the training load in this population. Training diaries provide a huge amount of contextual information on the activity completed, and examine not only the duration, intensity and frequency of training that can also be assessed using other objective measures, but furthermore aim to provide information on the type of training, sessions completed, footwear worn, training surfaces, training environment, weather and travel time in this study, which would have

296

allowed the analysis of these possible predisposing factors to injury. While an objective measure such as an accelerometer has been frequently used to assess physical activity levels in adolescent populations and may be beneficial to objectively capture training duration and intensity, accelerometers are unable to; capture the contextual information about the training activity itself, cannot measure activities with little torso movement such as cycling and must be removed in contact sport which limits their use in Gaelic games. This study assessed injury rate for a single academic year or season, which may not have captured the influence that neuromuscular defects identified in the screening have on injury rates over subsequent seasons and its effect on overuse or repetitive injuries. Thus further research assessing possible risk factors for injury over a longer prospective period of time would be advantageous.

#### 5.4.5. Conclusion

A number of predisposing factors to injury were identified. Poor squatting technique was found to be the primary risk factor for lower body injury. Poor squatting technique was also found to predispose to hamstring injuries in school adolescents and adolescent Gaelic footballers and hurlers. Reduced internal rotation of the shoulder and higher BMI during the pre-season screening was significantly more common in those that sustained upper body and shoulder injuries in school adolescents and adolescent Gaelic footballers and hurlers. High BMI was also found to predispose to upper body and shoulder injury in school adolescents. Control of the scapulae when lifting during the scapular control test was a risk factor to shoulder injury in school adolescents and collegiate players. Poor balance was noted as a predisposing factor to hamstring injury in adolescent and collegiate Gaelic footballers and hurlers, and poor balance during the single leg squat to ankle injury in collegiate players. A navicular drop of  $\geq 10$ mm was identified as a risk factor for knee injury in school adolescents; however ROC curves suggested that in adolescents a lower cut off point of between 6-7mm may be more appropriate. As there has been no previous research in school adolescents and adolescent Gaelic footballers and hurlers, and limited published data on risk factors for injury in collegiate players, injury prevention programmes that address the predisposing factors identified in this study should be developed to reduce injury rates.

# **Chapter 6. Thesis Summary, Conclusion and Directions for Future Research.**
#### 6. 1. Thesis summary

While there are numerous benefits to playing sport, an inherent risk of injury exists. There is currently a lack of epidemiological and risk factor for injury studies in Gaelic games, particularly in the adolescent and collegiate populations. In addition, there is very little normative data for screenings in these populations.

A comprehensive musculoskeletal pre-participation screening using simple field based tests, with minimal and inexpensive equipment, specific to Gaelic games was developed in Study 1. It was necessary to adapt some of the common screening tests and develop scoring systems to ensure suitability in a screening setting. The developed and adapted screening tests demonstrated excellent inter-tester reliability and good-to-excellent intra-tester reliability (Appendix A).

Normative data for adolescent and collegiate Gaelic footballers and hurlers was established to develop a standardised reference of results from Study 1. Some neuromusculoskeletal deficiencies were identified using the screening: poor hamstring flexibility, balance, scapular control and squatting technique were noted. Poor hamstring flexibility was predominant; however the extent of this flexibility issue was worse in adolescent Gaelic footballers and hurlers. Senior players presented with a higher BMI than fresher collegiate participants. Older players were found to have better core stability, and collegiate players were shown to have significantly better core stability than adolescent players. While adolescents presented with an increased incidence and severity of winging, issues with controlling the scapulae when lowering and symmetry were common in both populations. Adolescent players displayed greater internal and external range of motion in the shoulders than collegiate participants. Approximately a third of adolescent and collegiate participants were found to have a navicular drop of greater than the 10mm cut off point which may indicate excessive pronation. Adolescents performed worse in the overhead squat than collegiate participants; however this was reversed for the single leg squat. Both adolescent and collegiate participants tended to perform poorly in the individual aspects of the single leg squat including knees over toes and knee valgus; however collegiate participants performed worse than adolescents in hip flexion and trunk flexion. Poor balance was found to occur commonly in both adolescent and collegiate participants, however the issue varied depending on the cut off points utilised.

Study 2 found that injuries are prevalent in Gaelic games, with over a third of all adolescent and collegiate participants at risk of injury in one year and over a quarter of injured participants at risk of developing a subsequent injury throughout the year. Collegiate participants displayed a higher rate of injury than adolescents. There was an increased injury rate during matches than training in all participants with hurlers presenting with a higher match injury rate. Fresher Gaelic footballers had an increased training and match injury rate than senior Gaelic footballers. Acute and new injuries predominated, with a higher percentage of recurrent injuries in adolescent participants, especially adolescent Gaelic footballers. Lower limb injuries were predominant, with the hamstring, knee and ankle injuries most common. Injuries to the lower back were far more common in hurling, especially in adolescent hurlers. Muscle injuries predominated, with strains the most common nature of injury, especially in the hamstring and pelvis and groin. Contusions occurred more commonly in collegiate participants, especially in the quadriceps and hips. In contrast, muscle tightness was more common in adolescents, especially in the lower back and pelvis and groin. Ligament injuries and strains were the second most common injury and these commonly occurred in the ankle and knee. Adolescent hurlers developed muscle tightness and contusions more commonly than Gaelic footballers; however Gaelic footballers presented with strains and sprains more frequently. Minor injuries occurred most frequently in adolescents, with severe injuries most common in the collegiate population. In addition, fresher Gaelic footballers reported a much higher rate of minor injuries than senior Gaelic footballers. Non-contact injuries predominated, with injuries frequently occurring during sprinting and tackling. Injuries occurred primarily in the second half, particularly in the 4th quarter of the session, especially in collegiate participants. In adolescent players, injuries predominantly occurred at the beginning of the calendar year, decreased significantly over the course of the summer months and increased again nearing the end of the year. In collegiate participants, injuries predominated at the end of the calendar year and the beginning of the year and reduced dramatically from March to August.

Study 3 identified a number of risk factors for each region and specific body parts. Poor squatting techniques were identified as a risk factor for lower body injury in all three populations. Poor overall impression and poor balance in the single leg squat and excessive trunk flexion in the squat were identified as a risk factor in school adolescents and adolescent Gaelic footballers and hurlers. In school adolescents and collegiate

Gaelic players, inadequate hip flexion during the single leg squat was noted as a risk factor for lower body injury. Reduced internal rotation was found to occur more commonly in school adolescents and adolescent Gaelic players that sustained upper body injuries in the subsequent season. School adolescents identified as at risk during the screening due to non-dominant internal range of motion  $\geq 20^{\circ}$  than the dominant side sustained upper body injury more frequently. In addition, adolescent Gaelic footballers and hurlers with reduced external rotation developed trunk injuries more frequently. Poor overall impression in the single leg squat was identified as a risk factor for hamstring injury in school adolescents and adolescent Gaelic footballers and hurlers; with poor overall impression also a risk factor for injury in adolescent Gaelic players only. In addition, reduced posteriomedial balance as a percentage of leg length was noted as a risk factor for hamstring injury in collegiate Gaelic players. Predisposing factors to knee injuries in school adolescents were poor balance during the single leg squat and a navicular drop of greater than 10mm. Poor balance during the single leg squat was found to be a risk factor for ankle injury in collegiate Gaelic players, whereas excessive trunk flexion and toe out during the squat was a predisposing factor in school adolescents. No risk factors for injury were identified for the knee, lower back, quadriceps and pelvis and groin in adolescent and collegiate Gaelic footballers and hurlers. Control of the scapulae when lifting during the scapulae control test was noted as a predisposing factor to shoulder injury in school adolescents and collegiate players, with reduced internal rotation of the shoulder also identified in school adolescents and adolescent Gaelic footballers and hurlers. Cut off points were only able to be generated in school adolescents, with ROC curves identifying a BMI of  $\geq 21.7$ kg/m² and 21.6kg/m² as a cut off point for increased risk of upper body and shoulder injuries, respectively. A navicular drop of  $\geq$ 7mm and  $\geq$ 6mm on the right and left feet increased the risk of sustaining a knee injury in the subsequent season.

#### 6.2. Conclusion

A review of literature indicated the need for comprehensive epidemiological and risk factor for injury studies in adolescent and collegiate Gaelic players. In addition, there is a lack of normative data available for musculoskeletal pre-participation screening tests, and the tests proposed are limited for use in screenings, with varied reliability and complicated, expensive equipment. Normative data was presented, with hamstring flexibility, balance, scapular control and squatting technique identified as areas requiring improvement. The reliability of screening tests designed within this thesis found good-to-excellent absolute and relative inter-tester and intra-tester reliability. Injuries were found to be prevalent, with 4.873 and 14.512 injuries per 1,000 hours noted in adolescent and collegiate Gaelic footballers and hurlers, respectively. Injuries to the lower body were predominant, especially to the hamstring, knee and ankle. However lower back injuries were common in adolescent participants, particularly adolescent hurlers. A number of risk factors for injury were identified, which indicates the likely benefit of implementing a pre-participation screening. The trauma, pain and loss of function experienced during injury is substantial, and this initial research in adolescent and collegiate Gaelic players indicates it is essential that effective injury prevention strategies are developed. Injury prevention programmes that particularly tackle neuromuscular deficits identified in the screening, in particular poor squatting technique and neuromuscular control is required to reduce the incidence of injury.

## 6. 3. Directions for future research and recommendations

This study presents initial research in the identification of the epidemiology and risk factors for injury in these previously overlooked adolescent and collegiate Gaelic populations; thus there is a clear need for further research.

Musculoskeletal pre-participation screenings

- The current study focused on 4th and 5th year adolescents that primarily played Gaelic football and hurling. Further research is needed in younger adolescents (1st-3rd year) and children in order to develop a comprehensive normative bank of data as a reference. In addition, the assessment of normative data in other sports commonly played by adolescents in Ireland should be completed.
- Based on the findings from the screening in the adolescent and collegiate populations, poor hamstring flexibility, scapular control, balance and squatting techniques (neuromuscular control, hip flexor flexibility and education on technique) are common and those that are identified as at risk should undertake injury prevention programmes.
- Criterion validity of the tests used in the screening should ideally be established as only content validity was assessed in this study. In particular three dimensional analysis should be completed for the scapular control test, overhead squat and single leg squat. The alternative push up tests should be compared to gold standard core muscle electromyography activity during higher and lower scores.

# Epidemiology of injury

- Based on the epidemiological findings, an injury prevention programme should be developed for adolescent and collegiate Gaelic footballers and hurlers to reduce injury. This injury prevention programme should focus on common injuries such as hamstring, knee and ankle injuries and severe injuries. To establish the effectiveness of the injury prevention programme, the injury rate, epidemiology and the costs related to injury should be re-assessed.
- Further analysis on the aetiology of injury in commonly injured areas such as the hamstring, knee and ankle and related mechanisms of injury including sprinting, twisting/turning and landing is needed.
- Further research on the aetiology of lower back injuries in adolescent hurlers is needed as this has not been undertaken in previous research.
- Further research on tackling (being tackled and tackling) and its relationship to injury should be assessed, as it has been identified as a common mechanism of injury in Gaelic games. Possible rule changes may be suggested to reduce the incidence of injuries occurring during tackling. In addition, educating coaches and players on the importance of appropriate technique during tackling and adequate physical conditioning alongside the introduction of specific skill sessions in training on tackling may reduce injuries.
- Aside from the mandatory use of helmets in hurling and mouth guards in Gaelic football, very little if any protective equipment was utilised in Gaelic games. The attitudes of players to protective equipment should be established, and protective equipment such as protective padding, specifically related to Gaelic games, should be designed. The effectives of this protective equipment should then be assessed to see if injuries that occur due to contact or contusions are reduced.
- An increased amount of injuries occurred nearing the end of sessions which may be related to fatigue. Further analysis on the occurrence of fatigue in Gaelic games should be completed. The GAA should consider the introduction of more than two halves during matches, rolling substitutes or removal of the limitation of substitutes. Further research on these possible methods to combat fatigue should be completed.
- Seasonal bias has been noted by this study and it is essential the GAA critically assess the structure of school, club, county and collegiate seasons to ensure players are not playing continuously throughout the year without an adequate

offseason. Further research on the effects of the current structure on injury and risk of overtraining should be completed.

Risk factors for injury

- Further research on the risk factors of injury over a longer prospective period of time is required to assess the effects of the predisposing factors on injury development, especially for overuse and repetitive injuries.
- While this study examined a large number of risk factors for injury, future research should observe the effect of other possible risk factors for injury not captured in this study in adolescent and collegiate Gaelic footballers and hurlers, such as previous injury, training load, fitness levels, weather conditions, ground conditions, posture etc.
- As this is the first study assessing risk factors for injury in adolescents, further research is needed to consider the effect maturation has on neuromuscular control, balance, flexibility, strength and mobility as this may affect injury risk.
- Training load is important to quantify in these populations, as it is evident from this initial research that adolescents in particular are playing numerous sports which may contribute to an increased risk of injury. Training diaries had an extremely low compliance in the current study, thus further analysis with incentives to participants may assist the quantification of training load in this population.
- While hamstring flexibility was not found to predispose to injury in this study, the overall low flexibility levels in the adolescent and collegiate players is noteworthy. Further prospective research focusing specifically on the risk factors for injury to the hamstring, which is a common injury in Gaelic games, is required.
- This study proposed cut-off points that indicate a high BMI in adolescents can predispose to upper body and shoulder injury. However, as BMI is a crude predictor of body composition, especially in those that are physically active, further research utilising better measures of body composition such as skinfolds and DEXA scans to injury is needed.
- A limited number of risk factors for injury were identified in collegiate Gaelic footballers and hurlers. Thus further investigation is needed to examine the predisposing factors to common injuries found in this research to facilitate the design of a more applicable injury prevention programme.

In summary, there is a clear need for the development of appropriate and effective injury prevention strategies in adolescent and collegiate Gaelic footballers and hurlers. As this is initial research, longer prospective epidemiological studies should be implemented, risk factors for injury should be completed in a larger population and further analysis on the aetiology of common injuries should be completed. Injury prevention programmes should be designed and proposed, and the attitudes and opinions of adolescent and collegiate players, coaches and parents to these strategies should be established. The effectiveness of these strategies should than be assessed. A novel approach to implementing adolescent injury prevention programmes could be in schools rather than during Gaelic games training sessions. Physical education classes provide an opportunity for adolescents to complete comprehensive programmes in a controlled manner, as it is mandatory for them to attend school. Similarly the benefits of these programmes could be implemented in all adolescents rather than focused in Gaelic games only. However further analysis of this possibility is needed.

# **Bibliography**

Abt, J. P., Smoliga, J. M., Brick, M. J., Jolly, J. T., Lephart, S. M. and Fu, F. H. (2007). Relationship between cycling mechanics and core stability. *The Journal of Strength & Conditioning Research*, 21, 1300-1304.

Adirim, T. A. and Cheng, T. L. (2003). Overview of injuries in the young athlete. *Sports Medicine*, 33, 75-81.

Alentorn-Geli, E., Myer, G. D., Silvers, H. J., Samitier, G., Romero, D., Lázaro-Haro, C. and Cugat, R. (2009). Prevention of non-contact anterior cruciate ligament injuries in soccer players. Part 1: Mechanisms of injury and underlying risk factors. *Knee Surgery, Sports Traumatology, Arthroscopy*, 17, 705-729.

Arnason, A., Sigurdsson, S. B., Gudmundsson, A., Holme, I., Engebretsen, L. and Bahr, R. (2004). Risk factors for injuries in football. *The American Journal of Sports Medicine*, 32, 5S-16S.

Atkinson, G. and Nevill, A. M. (1998). Statistical methods for assessing measurement error (reliability) in variables relevant to sports medicine. *Sports Medicine*, 26, 217-238.

Awan, R., Smith, J. and Boon, A. J. (2002). Measuring shoulder internal rotation range of motion: a comparison of 3 techniques. *Archives of physical medicine and rehabilitation*, 83, 1229-1234.

Bahr, R. and Holme, I. (2003). Risk factors for sports injuries—a methodological approach. *British Journal of Sports Medicine*, 37, 384-392.

Bahr, R. and Krosshaug, T. (2005). Understanding injury mechanisms: a key component of preventing injuries in sport. *British Journal of Sports Medicine*, 39, 324-329.

Bailey, S., Scase, E., Heynen, M. and Magarey, M. 2010. A Review of Sports Injury Data Collection Literature and Recommendations for Future Research. Nova Southeastern University.

Balague, F., Troussier, B. and Salminen, J. (1999). Non-specific low back pain in children and adolescents: risk factors. *European Spine Journal*, 8, 429-438.

Bandy, W. D. and Irion, J. M. (1994). The effect of time on static stretch on the flexibility of the hamstring muscles. *Physical Therapy*, 74, 845-850.

Barton, C. J., Bonanno, D., Levinger, P. and Menz, H. B. (2010). Foot and ankle characteristics in patellofemoral pain syndrome: a case control and reliability study. *The Journal of Orthopaedic and Sports Physical Therapy*, 40, 286-296.

Barton, C. J., Menz, H. B. and Crossley, K. M. (2011). The immediate effects of foot orthoses on functional performance in individuals with patellofemoral pain syndrome. *British Journal of Sports Medicine*, 45, 193-197.

Bathgate, A., Best, J. P., Craig, G. and Jamieson, M. (2002). A prospective study of injuries to elite Australian rugby union players. *British Journal of Sports Medicine*, 36, 265-269.

Beckett, M. E., Massie, D. L., Bowers, K. D. and Stoll, D. A. (1992). Incidence of hyperpronation in the ACL injured knee: a clinical perspective. *Journal of Athletic Training*, 27, 58.

Bennett, J. E., Reinking, M. F., Pluemer, B., Pentel, A., Seaton, M. and Killian, C. (2001). Factors contributing to the development of medial tibial stress syndrome in high school runners. *The Journal of Orthopaedic and Sports Physical Therapy*, 31, 504-510.

Bennett, J. E., Reinking, M. F. and Rauh, M. J. (2012). The relationship between isotonic plantar flexor endurance, navicular drop, and exercise-related leg pain in a cohort of collegiate cross-country runners. *International Journal of Sports Physical Therapy*, 7, 267.

Berg, K. (2003). Endurance training and performance in runners. *Sports Medicine*, 33, 59-73.

Bird, Y. N., Waller, A. E., Marshall, S. W., Alsop, J. C., Chalmers, D. J. and Gerrard, D. F. (1998). The New Zealand Rugby Injury and Performance Project: V. Epidemiology of a season of rugby injury. *British Journal of Sports Medicine*, 32, 319-325.

Blake, C., Sherry, J. and Gissane, C. (2009). A survey of referee participation, training and injury in elite gaelic games referees. *BMC Musculoskeletal Disorders*, 10, 74.

Bliven, K. C. H. and Anderson, B. E. (2013). Core Stability Training for Injury Prevention. *Sports Health: A Multidisciplinary Approach*.

Bonci, C. M. (1999). Assessment and evaluation of predisposing factors to anterior cruciate ligament injury. *Journal of Athletic Training*, 34, 155.

Borresen, J. and Lambert, M. I. (2009). The quantification of training load, the training response and the effect on performance. *Sports Medicine*, 39, 779-795.

Boyle, M. J. 1996. Quasicomplete Separation in Logistic Regression: A Medical Example. *SESUG 1996 Proceedings*. Atlanta: Statistics.

Bradley, P. S. and Portas, M. D. (2007). The relationship between preseason range of motion and muscle strain injury in elite soccer players. *The Journal of Strength & Conditioning Research*, 21, 1155-1159.

Braham, R. A., Finch, C. F., McIntosh, A. and McCrory, P. (2004). Community level Australian Football: a profile of injuries. *Journal of Science and Medicine in Sport*, 7, 96-105.

Bressel, E., Yonker, J. C., Kras, J. and Heath, E. M. (2007). Comparison of static and dynamic balance in female collegiate soccer, basketball, and gymnastics athletes. *Journal of Athletic Training*, 42, 42.

Brody, D. M. (1982). Techniques in the evaluation and treatment of the injured runner. *The Orthopedic Clinics of North America*, 13, 541.

Brooks, J. H. M. and Fuller, C. W. (2006). The influence of methodological issues on the results and conclusions from epidemiological studies of sports injuries. *Sports Medicine*, 36, 459-472.

Brown, J., Papadopoulos, C. and Pritchett, R. (2013). Examination of Injury in Female Gaelic Football. *International Journal of Exercise Science*, 6, 1.

Brown, T. N., Palmieri-Smith, R. M. and McLean, S. G. (2009). Sex and limb differences in hip and knee kinematics and kinetics during anticipated and unanticipated jump landings: implications for anterior cruciate ligament injury. *British Journal of Sports Medicine*, 43, 1049-1056.

Brukner, P. and Khan, K. 2006. Clinical Sports Medicine, McGraw Hill.

Buist, I., Bredeweg, S. W., Lemmink, K. A., Van Mechelen, W. and Diercks, R. L. (2010). Predictors of Running-Related Injuries in Novice Runners Enrolled in a Systematic Training Program A Prospective Cohort Study. *The American Journal of Sports Medicine*, 38, 273-280.

Butler, R. J., Contreras, M., Burton, L. C., Plisky, P. J., Goode, A. and Kiesel, K. (2013a). Modifiable risk factors predict injuries in firefighters during training academies. *Work: A Journal of Prevention, Assessment and Rehabilitation*.

Butler, R. J., Lehr, M. E., Fink, M. L., Kiesel, K. B. and Plisky, P. J. (2013b). Dynamic Balance Performance and Noncontact Lower Extremity Injury in College Football Players An Initial Study. *Sports Health: A Multidisciplinary Approach*, 5, 417-422.

Butler, R. J., Plisky, P. J., Southers, C., Scoma, C. and Kiesel, K. B. (2010). Biomechanical analysis of the different classifications of the Functional Movement Screen deep squat test. *Sports Biomechanics*, 9, 270-279.

Caine, D., Maffulli, N. and Caine, C. (2008). Epidemiology of injury in child and adolescent sports: injury rates, risk factors, and prevention. *Clinics in Sports Medicine*, 27, 19-50.

Carek, P. J. and Mainous, A. (2003). The preparticipation physical examination for athletics: a systematic review of current recommendations. *BMJ*, 327, E170-E173.

Chalmers, D. J. (2002). Injury prevention in sport: not yet part of the game? *Injury Prevention*, 8, iv22-iv25.

Chomiak, J., Junge, A., Peterson, L. and Dvorak, J. (2000). Severe injuries in football players influencing factors. *The American Journal of Sports Medicine*, 28, S-58-S-68.

Chorba, R. S., Chorba, D. J., Bouillon, L. E., Overmyer, C. A. and Landis, J. A. (2010). Use of a functional movement screening tool to determine injury risk in female collegiate athletes. *North American Journal of Sports Physical Therapy: NAJSPT*, 5, 47.

Claiborne, T. L., Armstrong, C. W., Gandhi, V. and Pincivero, D. M. (2006). Relationship between hip and knee strength and knee valgus during a single leg squat. *Journal of Applied Biomechanics*, 22, 41-50.

Clark, R. C., Saxion, C. E., Cameron, K. L. and Gerber, J. P. (2010). Associations between three clinical assessment tools for postural stability. *North American Journal of Sports Physical Therapy: NAJSPT*, 5, 122.

Clarsen, B. and Bahr, R. (2014). Matching the choice of injury/illness definition to study setting, purpose and design: one size does not fit all! *British Journal of Sports Medicine*, 48, 510-512.

Cohen, J. 1988. Statistical power analysis for the behavioral sciencies, Routledge.

Cole, T. J., Bellizzi, M. C., Flegal, K. M. and Dietz, W. H. (2000). Establishing a standard definition for child overweight and obesity worldwide: international survey. *British Medical Journal*, 320, 1240.

Collins, C. L., Fields, S. K. and Comstock, R. D. (2008). When the rules of the game are broken: what proportion of high school sports-related injuries are related to illegal activity? *Injury Prevention*, 14, 34-38.

Conte, A. L. F., Marques, A. P., Casarotto, R. A. and Amado-João, S. M. (2009). Handedness influences passive shoulder range of motion in nonathlete adult women. *Journal of Manipulative and Physiological Therapeutics*, 32, 149-153.

Cook, G. 2010. Movement: Functional Movement Systems: Screening, Assessment, Corrective Strategies, On Target Publications.

Cook, G., Burton, L. and Hoogenboom, B. (2006a). Pre-participation screening: The use of fundamental movements as an assessment of function–Part 1. *North American Journal of Sports Physical Therapy: NAJSPT*, 1, 62.

Cook, G., Burton, L. and Hoogenboom, B. (2006b). Pre-participation screening: The use of fundamental movements as an assessment of function–Part 2. *North American Journal of Sports Physical Therapy: NAJSPT*, 1, 132.

Cook, G., Burton, L., Kiesel, K., Rose, G. and Bryant, M. F. (eds.) 2010. *Movement: Functional Movement Systems: Screening, Assessment, Corrective Strategies:* Target Publications.

Corkery, M., Briscoe, H., Ciccone, N., Foglia, G., Johnson, P., Kinsman, S., Legere, L., Lum, B. and Canavan, P. K. (2007). Establishing normal values for lower extremity muscle length in college-age students. *Physical Therapy in Sport*, *8*, 66-74.

Cowley, P. M., Fitzgerald, S., Sottung, K. and Swensen, T. C. (2009). Age, weight, and the front abdominal power test as predictors of isokinetic trunk strength and work in young men and women. *The Journal of Strength & Conditioning Research*, 23, 915-925.

Cowley, P. M. and Swensen, T. C. (2008). Development and reliability of two core stability field tests. *The Journal of Strength & Conditioning Research*, 22, 619-624.

Cromwell, F., Walsh, J. and Gormley, J. (2000). A pilot study examining injuries in elite gaelic footballers. *British journal of sports medicine*, 34, 104-108.

Crowley, P. J. and Condon, K. C. (1989). Analysis of hurling and camogie injuries. *British Journal of Sports Medicine*, 23, 183-185.

Crowley, P. J., Crowley, M. J., Dardouri, H. and Condon, K. C. (1995). Value of wearing head protection gear while playing hurling. *British Journal of Sports Medicine*, 29, 191-193.

Cuff, S., Loud, K. and O'Riordan, M. A. (2010). Overuse injuries in high school athletes. *Clinical Pediatrics*, 49, 731-736.

Cullen, B. D., Cregg, C. J., Kelly, D. T., Hughes, S. M., Daly, P. and Moyna, N. M. (2012). Fitness profiling of elite level adolescent Gaelic football players. *Journal of Strength and Conditioning Research*.

Davis, D. S., Quinn, R. O., Whiteman, C. T., Williams, J. D. and Young, C. R. (2008). Concurrent validity of four clinical tests used to measure hamstring flexibility. *Journal of Strength and Conditioning Research*, 22, 583-588.

Delaney, R. A., Falvey, E., Kalimuthu, S., Molloy, M. G. and Fleming, P. (2009). Orthopaedic admissions due to sports and recreation injuries. *Irish Medical Journal*, 102, 40.

Dicharry, J. M., Franz, J. R., Della Croce, U., Wilder, R. P., Riley, P. O. and Casey Kerrigan, D. (2009). Differences in static and dynamic measures in evaluation of talonavicular mobility in gait. *The Journal of Orthopaedic and Sports Physical Therapy*, 39, 628-634.

Dick, R. W., Romani, W. A., Agel, J., Case, J. G. and Marshall, S. W. (2007). Descriptive epidemiology of collegiate men's lacrosse injuries: National Collegiate Athletic Association Injury Surveillance System, 1988–1989 through 2003–2004. *Journal of Athletic Training*, 42, 255.

DiFiori, J. P. (1999). Overuse injuries in children and adolescents. *Physician and Sports Medicine*, 27, 75-90.

Ekstrand, J., Timpka, T. and Hägglund, M. (2006). Risk of injury in elite football played on artificial turf versus natural grass: a prospective two-cohort study. *British Journal of Sports Medicine*, 40, 975-980.

El-Gohary, Y., Roarty, A. and O'Rourke, P. (2009). Sport injuries in Donegal Gaelic footballers. *Irish Medical Journal*, 102, 333.

Eliasziw, M., Young, S. L., Woodbury, M. G. and Fryday-Field, K. (1994). Statistical methodology for the concurrent assessment of interrater and intrarater reliability: using goniometric measurements as an example. *Physical Therapy*, 74, 777-788.

Ellenbecker, T. S., Kibler, W. B., Bailie, D. S., Caplinger, R., Davies, G. J. and Riemann, B. L. (2012). Reliability of scapular classification in examination of professional baseball players. *Clinical Orthopaedics and Related Research*, 470, 1540-1544.

Ellenbecker, T. S., Roetert, E. P., Bailie, D. S., Davies, G. J. and Brown, S. W. (2002). Glenohumeral joint total rotation range of motion in elite tennis players and baseball pitchers. *Medicine and science in sports and exercise*, 34, 2052-2056.

Falvey, É., McCrory, P., Crowley, B., Kelleher, A., Eustace, J., Shanahan, F. and Molloy, M. G. (2013). Risk factors for hand injury in hurling: a cross-sectional study. *British Medical Journal*, 3.

Faries, M. D. and Greenwood, M. (2007). Core training: stabilizing the confusion. *Strength & Conditioning Journal*, 29, 10-25.

Fields, S. K., Collins, C. L. and Comstock, R. D. (2007). Conflict On the Courts A Review of Sports-Related Violence Literature. *Trauma, Violence, & Abuse,* 8, 359-369.

Fields, S. K., Collins, C. L. and Comstock, R. D. (2010). Violence in youth sports: hazing, brawling and foul play. *British Journal of Sports Medicine*, 44, 32-37.

Filipa, A., Byrnes, R., Paterno, M. V., Myer, G. D. and Hewett, T. E. (2010). Neuromuscular training improves performance on the star excursion balance test in young female athletes. *The Journal of Orthopaedic and Sports Physical Therapy*, 40, 551.

Finch, C. F. (2006). A new framework for research leading to sports injury prevention. *Journal of Science and Medicine in Sport*, 9, 3-9.

Fleiss, J. L. (1971). Measuring nominal scale agreement among many raters. *Psychological Bulletin*, 76, 378.

Fleiss, J. L. 2011. Design and analysis of clinical experiments, Wiley. com.

Florida-James, G. and Reilly, T. (1995). The physiological demands of Gaelic football. *British Journal of Sports Medicine*, 29, 41-45.

Foss, K. D. B., Hornsby, M., Edwards, N. M., Myer, G. D. and Hewett, T. E. (2012). Is body composition associated with an increased risk of developing anterior knee pain in adolescent female athletes? *The Physician and Sports Medicine*, 40, 13.

Fousekis, K., Tsepis, E., Poulmedis, P., Athanasopoulos, S. and Vagenas, G. (2011). Intrinsic risk factors of non-contact quadriceps and hamstring strains in soccer: a prospective study of 100 professional players. *British Journal of Sports Medicine*, 45, 709-714.

Fox, D., O'Malley, E. and Blake, C. (2013). Normative Data for the Functional Movement ScreenTM in Male Gaelic Field Sports. *Physical Therapy in Sport*.

Frohm, A., Heijne, A., Kowalski, J., Svensson, P. and Myklebust, G. (2012). A nine-test screening battery for athletes: a reliability study. *Scandinavian Journal of Medicine & Science in Sports*, 22, 306-315.

Frost, D. M., Beach, T. A., Callaghan, J. P. and McGill, S. M. (2013). FMS[™] scores change with performers' knowledge of the grading criteria-Are general whole-body movement screens capturing" dysfunction"? *Journal of Strength and Conditioning Research/National Strength & Conditioning Association*.

Frost, D. M., Beach, T. A. C., Callaghan, J. P. and McGill, S. M. (2012). Using the Functional Movement Screen[™] to evaluate the effectiveness of training. *The Journal of Strength & Conditioning Research*, 26, 1620-1630.

Fuller, C. W., Dick, R. W., Corlette, J. and Schmalz, R. (2007a). Comparison of the incidence, nature and cause of injuries sustained on grass and new generation artificial turf by male and female football players. Part 1: match injuries. *British Journal of Sports Medicine*, 41, i20-i26.

Fuller, C. W., Dick, R. W., Corlette, J. and Schmalz, R. (2007b). Comparison of the incidence, nature and cause of injuries sustained on grass and new generation artificial turf by male and female football players. Part 2: training injuries. *British Journal of Sports Medicine*, 41, i27-i32.

Fuller, C. W., Ekstrand, J., Junge, A., Andersen, T. E., Bahr, R., Dvorak, J., Hägglund, M., McCrory, P. and Meeuwisse, W. H. (2006). Consensus statement on injury definitions and data collection procedures in studies of football (soccer) injuries. *Scandinavian Journal of Medicine & Science in Sports*, 16, 83-92.

Fuller, C. W., Molloy, M. G., Bagate, C., Bahr, R., Brooks, J. H. M., Donson, H., Kemp, S. P. T., McCrory, P., McIntosh, A. S. and Meeuwisse, W. H. (2007c). Consensus statement on injury definitions and data collection procedures for studies of injuries in rugby union. *British journal of Sports Medicine*, 41, 328-331.

Fuller, C. W., Ojelade, E. O. and Taylor, A. B. (2007d). Preparticipation medical evaluation in professional sport in the UK: theory or practice? *British Journal of Sports Medicine*, 41, 890-896.

Gabbe, B. J., Bennell, K. L., Finch, C. F., Wajswelner, H. and Orchard, J. W. (2006). Predictors of hamstring injury at the elite level of Australian football. *Scandinavian Journal of Medicine & Science in Sports*, 16, 7-13.

Gabbe, B. J., Bennell, K. L., Wajswelner, H. and Finch, C. F. (2004). Reliability of common lower extremity musculoskeletal screening tests. *Physical Therapy in Sport*, 5, 90-97.

Gabbe, B. J., Finch, C. F., Bennell, K. L. and Wajswelner, H. (2005). Risk factors for hamstring injuries in community level Australian football. *British Journal of Sports Medicine*, 39, 106-110.

Gabbett, T. J., Minbashian, A. and Finch, C. F. (2007). Influence of environmental and ground conditions on injury risk in rugby league. *Journal of Science and Medicine in Sport*, 10, 211-218.

Gajdosik, R. L. and Lusin, G. (1983). Hamstring Muscle Tightness Reliability of an Active-Knee-Extension Test. *Physical Therapy*, 63, 1085-1088.

Gajdosik, R. L., Rieck, M. A., Sullivan, D. K. and Wightman, S. E. (1993). Comparison of four clinical tests for assessing hamstring muscle length. *The Journal of Orthopaedic and Sports Physical Therapy*, 18, 614.

Garrick, J. G. (2004). Preparticipation orthopedic screening evaluation. *Clinical Journal* of Sport Medicine, 14, 123-126.

Gibson, M. H., Goebel, G. V., Jordan, T. M., Kegerreis, S. and Worrell, T. W. (1995). A reliability study of measurement techniques to determine static scapular position. *Journal of Orthopaedic and Sports Physical Therapy*, 21, 100-106.

Goldberg, A. S., Moroz, L., Smith, A. and Ganley, T. (2007). Injury surveillance in young athletes. *Sports Medicine*, 37, 265-278.

Gorman, P. P., Butler, R. J., Rauh, M. J., Kiesel, K. and Plisky, P. J. (2012). Differences in Dynamic Balance Scores in One Sport versus Multiple Sport High School Athletes. *International Journal of Sports Physical Therapy*, *7*, 148.

Gribble, P. A., Brigle, J., Pietrosimone, B. G., Pfile, K. R. and Webster, K. A. (2013). Intrarater reliability of the functional movement screen. *Journal of Strength and Conditioning Research*, 27, 978-81.

Gribble, P. A. and Hertel, J. (2003). Considerations for normalizing measures of the Star Excursion Balance Test. *Measurement in Physical Education and Exercise Science*, 7, 89-100.

Gribble, P. A., Tucker, W. S. and White, P. A. (2007). Time-of-day influences on static and dynamic postural control. *Journal of Athletic Training*, 42, 35.

Grossman, J., Jamieson, J. and Hume, K. M. (1990). Perceptions of athletic injuries by athletes, coaches, and medical professionals. *Perceptual and Motor Skills*, 71, 848-850.

Gstöttner, M., Neher, A., Scholtz, A., Millonig, M., Lembert, S. and Raschner, C. (2009). Balance ability and muscle response of the preferred and nonpreferred leg in soccer players. *Motor Control*, 13, 218-231.

Hägglund, M., Waldén, M., Bahr, R. and Ekstrand, J. (2005). Methods for epidemiological study of injuries to professional football players: developing the UEFA model. *British Journal of Sports Medicine*, 39, 340-346.

Hajian-Tilaki, K. (2013). Receiver Operating Characteristic (ROC) Curve Analysis for Medical Diagnostic Test Evaluation. *Caspian Journal of Internal Medicine*, 4, 627.

Hamid, M. S. A., Ali, M. R. M. and Yusof, A. (2013). Interrater and Intrarater Reliability of the Active Knee Extension (AKE) Test among Healthy Adults. *Journal of Physical Therapy Science*, 25, 957-961.

Hardy, L., Huxel, K. C., Brucker, J. and Nesser, T. W. (2008). Prophylactic ankle braces and star excursion balance measures in healthy volunteers. *Journal of Athletic Training*, 43, 347.

Hawkins, R. D. and Fuller, C. W. (1999). A prospective epidemiological study of injuries in four English professional football clubs. *British Journal of Sports Medicine*, 33, 196-203.

Hawkins, R. D., Hulse, M. A., Wilkinson, C., Hodson, A. and Gibson, M. (2001). The association football medical research programme: an audit of injuries in professional football. *British Journal of Sports Medicine*, 35, 43-47.

Hayen, A., Dennis, R. J. and Finch, C. F. (2007). Determining the intra-and interobserver reliability of screening tools used in sports injury research. *Journal of Science and Medicine in Sport*, 10, 201-210.

Hayes, A. F. and Krippendorff, K. (2007). Answering the call for a standard reliability measure for coding data. *Communication Methods and Measures*, 1, 77-89.

Hayes, K., Walton, J. R., Szomor, Z. L. and Murrell, G. A. (2001). Reliability of five methods for assessing shoulder range of motion. *Australian Journal of Physiotherapy*, 47, 289-296.

Haynes, W. (2004). Core stability and the unstable platform device. *Journal of Bodywork and Movement Therapies*, 8, 88-103.

Helsen, W. F., Van Winckel, J. and Williams, A. M. (2005). The relative age effect in youth soccer across Europe. *Journal of Sports Sciences*, 23, 629-636.

Hennessy, B., Murray, I., O'Connor, K., Crowley, T., Higgins, T. and Kent, D. (2007). Prevailing attitude amongst current senior intercounty hurlers to head and facial protection: a pilot study. *Irish Journal of Medical Science*, 176, 279-281.

Hertel, J. (2000). Functional instability following lateral ankle sprain. *Sports Medicine*, 29, 361-371.

Hertel, J., Miller, S. J. and Denegar, C. R. (2000). Intratester and intertester reliability during the Star Excursion Balance Tests. *Journal of Sport Rehabilitation*, 9, 104-116.

Heyward, V. H. (ed.) 2006. Advanced Fitness Assessment and Exercise Prescription, Champaign, IL: Human Kinetics Publishers.

Hibbs, A. E., Thompson, K. G., French, D., Wrigley, A. and Spears, I. (2008). Optimizing performance by improving core stability and core strength. *Sports Medicine*, 38, 995-1008.

Hinton, R. Y., Lincoln, A. E., Almquist, J. L., Douoguih, W. A. and Sharma, K. M. (2005). Epidemiology of Lacrosse Injuries in High School–Aged Girls and Boys A 3-Year Prospective Study. *The American Journal of Sports Medicine*, 33, 1305-1314.

Hoch, M. C., Staton, G. S. and McKeon, P. O. (2011). Dorsiflexion range of motion significantly influences dynamic balance. *Journal of Science and Medicine in Sport*, 14, 90-92.

Hoffman, M., Schrader, J., Applegate, T. and Koceja, D. (1998). Unilateral postural control of the functionally dominant and nondominant extremities of healthy subjects. *Journal of Athletic Training*, 33, 319.

Hopkins, W. G. (2000). Measures of reliability in sports medicine and science. *Sports Medicine*, 30, 1-15.

Hrysomallis, C., McLaughlin, P. and Goodman, C. (2007). Balance and injury in elite Australian footballers. *International Journal of Sports Medicine*, 28, 844-847.

Inklaar, H. (1994). Soccer injuries. Sports Medicine, 18, 55-73.

Jacobs, C., Uhl, T. L., Seeley, M., Sterling, W. and Goodrich, L. (2005). Strength and fatigability of the dominant and nondominant hip abductors. *Journal of Athletic Training*, 40, 203.

Jade, E. E. and Street, R. (2013). The Inter-rater Reliability of the Functional Movement Screen within an athletic population using Untrained Raters.

Janssen, I., Katzmarzyk, P. T. and Ross, R. (2002). Body mass index, waist circumference, and health risk: evidence in support of current National Institutes of Health guidelines. *Archives of Internal Medicine*, 162, 2074.

Jespersen, E., Verhagen, E., Holst, R., Klakk, H., Heidemann, M., Rexen, C. T., Franz, C. and Wedderkopp, N. (2013). Total body fat percentage and body mass index and the association with lower extremity injuries in children: a 2.5-year longitudinal study. *British Journal of Sports Medicine*, bjsports-2013-092790.

Johnson, M. P., McClure, P. W. and Karduna, A. R. (2001). New method to assess scapular upward rotation in subjects with shoulder pathology. *The Journal of Orthopaedic and Sports Physical Therapy*, 31, 81.

Junge, A. and Dvorak, J. (2000). Influence of definition and data collection on the incidence of injuries in football. *The American Journal of Sports Medicine*, 28, S-40-S-46.

Keane, S., Reilly, T. and Borrie, A. (1997). A comparison of fitness characteristics of elite and non-elite Gaelic football players. *Science and Football III*, 3-6.

Kemler, E., Vriend, I., Paulis, W. D., Schoots, W., Middelkoop, M. and Koes, B. (2014). Is overweight a risk factor for sports injuries in children, adolescents, and young adults? *Scandinavian Journal of Medicine & Science in Sports*.

Kernozek, T. W., Torry, M. R., Van Hoof, H., Cowley, H. and Tanner, S. (2005). Gender differences in frontal and sagittal plane biomechanics during drop landings. *Medicine Science in Sports and Exercise*, 37, 1003-1012.

Kerrigan, D. C., Todd, M. K. and Croce, U. D. (1998). Gender differences in joint biomechanics during walking normative study in young adults. *American Journal of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation*, 77, 2-7.

Kibler, W. B. and Sciascia, A. (2010). Current concepts: scapular dyskinesis. *British journal of sports medicine*, 44, 300-305.

Kibler, W. B., Uhl, T. L., Maddux, J. W. Q., Brooks, P. V., Zeller, B. and McMullen, J. (2002). Qualitative clinical evaluation of scapular dysfunction: a reliability study. *Journal of shoulder and elbow surgery*, 11, 550-556.

Kiely, P. D., Ashraff, M., O'Grady, P., Dawson, M. J. and O'Beirne, J. G. (2003). Hurling-related hand injuries. *Injury*, 34, 561-563. Kiesel, K., Plisky, P. J. and Butler, R. J. (2011). Functional movement test scores improve following a standardized off-season intervention program in professional football players. *Scandinavian Journal of Medicine & Science in Sports*, 21, 287-292.

Kiesel, K., Plisky, P. J. and Voight, M. L. (2007). Can serious injury in professional football be predicted by a preseason functional movement screen? *North American journal of Sports Physical Therapy: NAJSPT*, 2, 147.

Kinzey, S. J. and Armstrong, C. W. (1998). The reliability of the star-excursion test in assessing dynamic balance. *The Journal of Orthopaedic and Sports Physical Therapy*, 27, 356-360.

Kirgan, B. and Reilly, T. (1993). A fitness evaluation of Gaelic football club players. *Science and Football II. London: E & FN Spon*, 59-62.

Kivlan, B. R. and Martin, R. L. (2012). Functional performance testing of the hip in athletes: a systematic review for reliability and validity. *International Journal of Sports Physical Therapy*, 7, 402.

Knowles, S. B., Marshall, S. W. and Guskiewicz, K. M. (2006). Issues in estimating risks and rates in sports injury research. *Journal of Athletic Training*, 41, 207.

Krause, D. A., Youdas, J. W., Hollman, J. H. and Smith, J. (2005). Abdominal muscle performance as measured by the double leg-lowering test. *Archives of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation*, 86, 1345-1348.

Ku, P. X., Abu Osman, N. A., Yusof, A. and Wan Abas, W. A. B. (2012). Biomechanical evaluation of the relationship between postural control and body mass index. *Journal of Biomechanics*, 45, 1638-1642.

Lafave, M. R., Butterwick, D. J., Murray, R. P., Freeman, T. and Lau, B. H. S. (2013). Content Validity of the Rodeo-SCAT. *International Journal of Sports Medicine*, 34, 170-175.

Lamontagne, M., Kennedy, M. J. and Beaulé, P. E. (2009). The Effect of Cam FAI on Hip and Pelvic Motion during Maximum Squat. *Clinical Orthopaedics and Related Research*®, 467, 645-650.

Lanning, C. L., Uhl, T. L., Ingram, C. L., Mattacola, C. G., English, T. and Newsom, S. (2006). Baseline values of trunk endurance and hip strength in collegiate athletes. *Journal of Athletic Training*, 41, 427.

Lee, A. J. and Garraway, W. M. (2000). The influence of environmental factors on rugby football injuries. *Journal of Sports Sciences*, 18, 91-95.

Leetun, D. T., Ireland, M. L., Willson, J. D., Ballantyne, B. T. and Davis, I. M. (2004). Core stability measures as risk factors for lower extremity injury in athletes. *Medicine & Science in Sports & Exercise*, 36, 926-934.

Lephart, S. M., Ferris, C. M., Riemann, B. L., Myers, J. B. and Fu, F. H. (2002). Gender differences in strength and lower extremity kinematics during landing. *Clinical Orthopaedics and Related Research*, 401, 162-169.

Lian, Ø. B., Engebretsen, L. and Bahr, R. (2005). Prevalence of Jumper's Knee Among Elite Athletes From Different Sports A Cross-sectional Study. *The American Journal of Sports Medicine*, 33, 561-567.

Liemohn, W. P., Baumgartner, T. A., Fordham, S. R. and Srivatsan, A. (2010). Quantifying core stability: A technical report. *The Journal of Strength & Conditioning Research*, 24, 575-579.

Liemohn, W. P., Baumgartner, T. A. and Gagnon, L. H. (2005). Measuring core stability. *The Journal of Strength & Conditioning Research*, 19, 583-586.

Lin, W.-H., Liu, Y.-F., Hsieh, C. C.-C. and Lee, A. J. Y. (2009). Ankle eversion to inversion strength ratio and static balance control in the dominant and non-dominant limbs of young adults. *Journal of Science and Medicine in Sport*, 12, 42-49.

Lopes, V. P., Stodden, D. F., Bianchi, M. M., Maia, J. A. R. and Rodrigues, L. P. (2012). Correlation between BMI and motor coordination in children. *Journal of Science and Medicine in Sport*, 15, 38-43.

Lowry, R., Lee, S. M., Galuska, D. A., Fulton, J. E., Barrios, L. C. and Kann, L. (2007). Physical activity-related injury and body mass index among US high school students. *Journal of Physical Activity and Health*, 4.

Lowther, D., O'Connor, A., Clifford, A. M. and O'Sullivan, K. (2012). The relationship between lower limb flexibility and hamstring injury in male Gaelic footballers. *Physiotherapy Practice and Research*, 33, 22-28.

MacDermid, J. C., Chesworth, B. M., Patterson, S. and Roth, J. H. (1999). Intratester and intertester reliability of goniometric measurement of passive lateral shoulder rotation. *Journal of hand therapy*, 12, 187-192.

Maffey, L. and Emery, C. (2006). Physiotherapist delivered preparticipation examination: rationale and evidence. *North American Journal of Sports Physical Therapy*, 1, 176.

Maffey, L. and Emery, C. (2007). What are the Risk Factors for Groin Strain Injury in Sport? *Sports Medicine*, 37, 881-894.

Malina, R. M., Cumming, S. P., Kontos, A. P., Eisenmann, J. C., Ribeiro, B. and Aroso, J. (2005). Maturity-associated variation in sport-specific skills of youth soccer players aged 13–15 years. *Journal of Sports Sciences*, 23, 515-522.

Malliaras, P., Cook, J. L. and Kent, P. (2006). Reduced ankle dorsiflexion range may increase the risk of patellar tendon injury among volleyball players. *Journal of Science and Medicine in Sport*, 9, 304-309.

Martínez-Ramírez, A., Lecumberri, P., Gómez, M. and Izquierdo, M. (2010). Wavelet analysis based on time-frequency information discriminate chronic ankle instability. *Clinical Biomechanics*, 25, 256-264.

McClure, P., Tate, A. R., Kareha, S., Irwin, D. and Zlupko, E. (2009). A clinical method for identifying scapular dyskinesis, part 1: reliability. *Journal of athletic training*, 44, 160.

McCurdy, K. and Langford, G. (2005). Research article Comparison of Unilateral Squat Strength between the dominant and non-dominant leg in men and women *Journal of Sports Science and Medicine*, 4, 153-159.

McGill, S. M., Childs, A. and Liebenson, C. (1999). Endurance times for low back stabilization exercises: clinical targets for testing and training from a normal database. *Archives of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation*, 80, 941-944.

McGinnis, P. 2013. Biomechanics of Sport and Exercise, Human Kinetics.

McGuine, T. A., Greene, J. J., Best, T. and Leverson, G. (2000). Balance as a predictor of ankle injuries in high school basketball players. *Clinical Journal of Sport Medicine*, 10, 239-244.

McHugh, M. P., Tyler, T. F., Tetro, D. T., Mullaney, M. J. and Nicholas, S. J. (2006). Risk Factors for Noncontact Ankle Sprains in High School Athletes The Role of Hip Strength and Balance Ability. *The American Journal of Sports Medicine*, 34, 464-470.

McIntyre, M. C. (2005). A comparison of the physiological profiles of elite Gaelic footballers, hurlers, and soccer players. *British Journal of Sports Medicine*, 39, 437-439.

McPoil, T. G., Cornwall, M. W., Abeler, M. G., Devereaux, K. J. and Flood, L. J. (2013). The Optimal Method to Assess the Vertical Mobility of the Midfoot: Navicular Drop versus Dorsal Arch Height Difference. *Clinical Research on Foot and Ankle*, 1, 104.

McPoil, T. G., Cornwall, M. W., Medoff, L., Vicenzino, B., Forsberg, K. and Hilz, D. (2008). Arch height change during sit-to-stand: an alternative for the navicular drop test. *Journal of Foot and Ankle Research*, 1, 3.

McPoil, T. G., Vicenzino, B., Cornwall, M. W., Collins, N. and Warren, M. (2009). Reliability and normative values for the foot mobility magnitude: a composite measure of vertical and medial-lateral mobility of the midfoot. *Journal of Foot and Ankle Research*, 2, 6.

Meeuwisse, W. H. (1994). Assessing causation in sport injury: a multifactorial model. *Clinical Journal of Sport Medicine*, 4, 166-170.

Meeuwisse, W. H., Tyreman, H., Hagel, B. and Emery, C. (2007). A dynamic model of etiology in sport injury: the recursive nature of risk and causation. *Clinical Journal of Sport Medicine*, 17, 215-219.

Meyers, M. C. and Barnhill, B. S. (2004). Incidence, Causes, and Severity of High School Football Injuries on FieldTurf Versus Natural Grass A 5-Year Prospective Study. *The American Journal of Sports Medicine*, 32, 1626-1638.

Meylan, C., Cronin, J., Oliver, J. and Hughes, M. (2010). Reviews: Talent identification in soccer: The role of maturity status on physical, physiological and technical characteristics. *International Journal of Sports Science and Coaching*, 5, 571-592.

Michaud, P. A., Renaud, A. and Narring, F. (2001). Sports activities related to injuries? A survey among 9–19 year olds in Switzerland. *Injury Prevention*, 7, 41-45.

Minick, K. I., Kiesel, K. B., Burton, L., Taylor, A. B., Plisky, P. J. and Butler, R. J. (2010). Interrater reliability of the functional movement screen. *The Journal of Strength & Conditioning Research*, 24, 479-486.

Moen, M. H., Bongers, T., Bakker, E. W., Zimmermann, W. O., Weir, A., Tol, J. L. and Backx, F. J. G. (2012). Risk factors and prognostic indicators for medial tibial stress syndrome. *Scandinavian Journal of Medicine & Science in Sports*, 22, 34-39.

Munro, A. G. and Herrington, L. C. (2010). Between-session reliability of the star excursion balance test. *Physical Therapy in Sport*, 11, 128-132.

Murphy, C., Ahmed, I., Mullarkey, C. and Kearns, G. (2010). Maxillofacial and dental injuries sustained in hurling. *Irish Medical Journal*, 103, 174.

Murphy, D. F., Connolly, D. A. J. and Beynnon, B. D. (2003). Risk factors for lower extremity injury: a review of the literature. *British Journal of Sports Medicine*, 37, 13-29.

Murphy, J. C., Gissane, C. and Blake, C. (2012a). Injury in elite county-level hurling: a prospective study. *British journal of Sports Medicine*, 46, 138-142.

Murphy, J. C., O'Malley, E., Gissane, C. and Blake, C. (2012b). Incidence of Injury in Gaelic Football A 4-Year Prospective Study. *The American Journal of Sports Medicine*, 40, 2113-2120.

Nesser, T. W., Huxel, K. C., Tincher, J. L. and Okada, T. (2008). The relationship between core stability and performance in Division I football players. *The Journal of Strength & Conditioning Research*, 22, 1750-1754.

Newell, M. 2011. Strategies to enhance performance in gaelic football players by reducing the risk of injuries. PhD, University of Glasgow.

Newell, M., Grant, S., Henry, A. and Newel, J. (2006). Incidence of injury in elite gaelic footballers. *Irish Medical Journal*, 99, 269-271.

Newell, M., Grant, S., Henry, A. and Newell, J. (2013). Incidence of injury in elite Gaelic footballers. *Instructions for Authors*, 106.

Nielsen, R. G., Rathleff, M. S., Simonsen, O. H. and Langberg, H. (2009). Determination of normal values for navicular drop during walking: a new model correcting for foot length and gender. *Journal of Foot and Ankle Research*, 2.

Nigg, B. M. and Segesser, B. (1988). The influence of playing surfaces on the load on the locomotor system and on football and tennis injuries. *Sports Medicine*, 5, 375-385.

Norris, C. M. and Matthews, M. (2005). Inter-tester reliability of a self-monitored active knee extension test. *Journal of Bodywork and Movement Therapies*, 9, 256-259.

O'Connor, S. 2012. The development, validity and efficacy of different modes of self recall training diaries in assessing training load on Gaelic footballers. Dublin City University.

O'Sullivan, K., O'Ceallaigh, B., O'Connell, K. and Shafat, A. (2008). The relationship between previous hamstring injury and the concentric isokinetic knee muscle strength of Irish Gaelic footballers. *BMC Musculoskeletal Disorders*, 9, 30.

O'Connor, F. G., Deuster, P. A., Davis, J., Pappas, C. G. and Knapik, J. J. (2011). Functional movement screening: predicting injuries in officer candidates. *Med Sci Sports Exerc*, 43, 2224-30.

O'Rourke, K. P., Quinn, F., Mun, S., Browne, M., Sheehan, J., Cusack, S. and Molloy, M. (2007). A comparison of paediatric soccer, Gaelic football and rugby injuries presenting to an emergency department in Ireland. *Injury*, 38, 104-111.

Odom, C. J., Taylor, A. B., Hurd, C. E. and Denegar, C. R. (2001). Measurement of scapular asymmetry and assessment of shoulder dysfunction using the Lateral Scapular Slide Test: a reliability and validity study. *Physical therapy*, 81, 799-809.

Orchard, J. (2001). The AFL penetrometer study: work in progress. *Journal of Science and Medicine in Sport*, 4, 220-232.

Orchard, J. (2002). Is there a relationship between ground and climatic conditions and injuries in football? *Sports Medicine*, 32, 419-432.

Orchard, J., Marsden, J., Lord, S. and Garlick, D. (1997). Preseason hamstring muscle weakness associated with hamstring muscle injury in Australian footballers. *The American Journal of Sports Medicine*, 25, 81-85.

Orchard, J. W. and Powell, J. W. (2003). Risk of knee and ankle sprains under various weather conditions in American football. *Medicine and Science in Sports and Exercise*, 35, 1118-1123.

Oyama, S., Myers, J. B., Wassinger, C. A., Ricci, R. D. and Lephart, S. M. (2008). Asymmetric resting scapular posture in healthy overhead athletes. *Journal of athletic training*, 43, 565.

Pallant, J. 2010. SPSS survival manual: A step by step guide to data analysis using SPSS, McGraw-Hill International.

Pearson, D. T., Naughton, G. A. and Torode, M. (2006). Predictability of physiological testing and the role of maturation in talent identification for adolescent team sports. *Journal of Science and Medicine in Sport*, 9, 277-287.

Peterson, L., Junge, A., Chomiak, J., Graf-Baumann, T. and Dvorak, J. (2000). Incidence of football injuries and complaints in different age groups and skill-level groups. *The American Journal of Sports Medicine*, 28, S-51-S-57.

Philippaerts, R. M., Vaeyens, R., Janssens, M., Van Renterghem, B., Matthys, D., Craen, R., Bourgois, J., Vrijens, J., Beunen, G. and Malina, R. M. (2006). The relationship between peak height velocity and physical performance in youth soccer players. *Journal of Sports Sciences*, 24, 221-230.

Picciano, A. M., Rowlands, M. S. and Worrell, T. (1993). Reliability of open and closed kinetic chain subtalar joint neutral positions and navicular drop test. *The Journal of Orthopaedic and Sports Physical Therapy*, 18, 553-558.

Piva, S. R., Fitzgerald, K., Irrgang, J. J., Jones, S., Hando, B. R., Browder, D. A. and Childs, J. D. (2006). Reliability of measures of impairments associated with patellofemoral pain syndrome. *BMC Musculoskeletal Disorders*, 7, 33.

Plafcan, D. M., Turczany, P. J., Guenin, B. A., Kegerreis, S. and Worrell, T. W. (1997). An objective measurement technique for posterior scapular displacement. *The Journal of Orthopaedic and Sports Physical Therapy*, 25, 336-341.

Plisky, M. S., Rauh, M. J., Heiderscheit, B., Underwood, F. B. and Tank, R. T. (2007). Medial tibial stress syndrome in high school cross-country runners: incidence and risk factors. *Journal of Orthopaedic and Sports Physical Therapy*, 37, 40.

Plisky, P. J., Gorman, P. P., Butler, R. J., Kiesel, K. B., Underwood, F. B. and Elkins, B. (2009). The reliability of an instrumented device for measuring components of the star excursion balance test. *North American Journal of Sports Physical Therapy: NAJSPT*, 4, 92-99.

Plisky, P. J., Rauh, M. J., Kaminski, T. W. and Underwood, F. B. (2006). Star Excursion Balance Test as a predictor of lower extremity injury in high school basketball players. *The Journal of Orthopaedic and Sports Physical Therapy*, 36, 911.

Poulsen, D. R. and James, C. R. (2011). Concurrent validity and reliability of clinical evaluation of the single leg squat. *Physiotherapy Theory and Practice*, 27, 586-594.

Quarrie, K. L., Alsop, J. C., Waller, A. E., Bird, Y. N., Marshall, S. W. and Chalmers, D. J. (2001). The New Zealand rugby injury and performance project. VI. A prospective cohort study of risk factors for injury in rugby union football. *British Journal of Sports Medicine*, 35, 157-166.

Quatman, C. E., Ford, K. R., Myer, G. D. and Hewett, T. E. (2006). Maturation Leads to Gender Differences in Landing Force and Vertical Jump Performance A Longitudinal Study. *The American Journal of Sports Medicine*, 34, 806-813.

Rakos, D. M., Shaw, K. A., Fedor, R. L., LaManna, M., Yocum, C. C. and Lawrence, K. J. (2001). Interrater reliability of the active-knee-extension test for hamstring length in school-aged children. *Pediatric Physical Therapy*, 13, 37-41.

Reilly, T. 1990. Physiology of Sports, Taylor & Francis.

Reilly, T. and Doran, D. (1999). Kinanthropometric and performance profiles of elite Gaelic footballers. *Journal of Sports Sciences*, 17, 922.

Reilly, T. and Doran, D. (2001). Science and Gaelic football: A review. *Journal of Sports Sciences*, 19, 181-193.

Richmond, S. A., Kang, J. and Emery, C. A. (2012). Is body mass index a risk factor for sport injury in adolescents? *Journal of Science and Medicine in Sport*.

Riddle, D. L., Rothstein, J. M. and Lamb, R. L. (1987). Goniometric Reliability in a Clinical Setting Shoulder Measurements. *Physical therapy*, 67, 668-673.

Robinson, R. H. and Gribble, P. A. (2008). Support for a reduction in the number of trials needed for the Star Excursion Balance Test. *Archives of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation*, 89, 364-370.

Rogol, A. D., Roemmich, J. N. and Clark, P. A. (2002). Growth at puberty. *Journal of Adolescent Health*, 31, 192-200.

Sato, K. and Mokha, M. (2009). Does core strength training influence running kinetics, lower-extremity stability, and 5000-M performance in runners? *The Journal of Strength & Conditioning Research*, 23, 133-140.

Schmitz, R. J., Shultz, S. J. and Nguyen, A.-D. (2009). Dynamic valgus alignment and functional strength in males and females during maturation. *Journal of Athletic Training*, 44, 26.

Schneider, S., Seither, B., Tönges, S. and Schmitt, H. (2006). Sports injuries: population based representative data on incidence, diagnosis, sequelae, and high risk groups. *British Journal of Sports Medicine*, 40, 334-339.

Schneiders, A. G., Davidsson, Å., Hörman, E. and Sullivan, S. J. (2011). Functional movement screenTM normative values in a young, active population. *International Journal of Sports Physical Therapy*, 6, 75.

Sell, K. E., Verity, T. M., Worrell, T. W., Pease, B. J. and Wigglesworth, J. (1994). Two measurement techniques for assessing subtalar joint position: a reliability study. *The Journal of Orthopaedic and Sports Physical Therapy*, 19, 162.

Shankar, P. R., Fields, S. K., Collins, C. L., Dick, R. W. and Comstock, R. D. (2007). Epidemiology of high school and collegiate football injuries in the United States, 2005–2006. *The American Journal of Sports Medicine*, 35, 1295-1303.

Shimon, J. M., Darden, G. F., Martinez, R. and Clouse-Snell, J. (2010). Initial reliability and validity of the Lift-and-Raise hamstring test. *Journal of Strength and Conditioning Research*, 24, 517-521.

Shultz, R., Anderson, S. C., Matheson, G. O., Marcello, B. and Besier, T. (2013). Test-Retest and Interrater Reliability of the Functional Movement Screen. *Journal of Athletic Training*, 48, 331-336.

Silvers, H. J. and Mandelbaum, B. R. (2007). Prevention of anterior cruciate ligament injury in the female athlete. *British Journal of Sports Medicine*, 41, i52-i59.

Sjolie, A. N. (2004). Low-back pain in adolescents is associated with poor hip mobility and high body mass index. *Scandinavian Journal of Medicine and Science in Sports*, 14, 168-175.

Skovron, M. L., Levy, I. M. and Agel, J. (1990). Living with artificial grass: A knowledge update Part 2: Epidemiology. *The American Journal of Sports Medicine*, 18, 510-513.

Smith, C. A., Chimera, N. J., Wright, N. J. and Warren, M. (2013). Interrater and intrarater reliability of the functional movement screen. *Journal of Strength and Conditioning Research*, 27, 982-7.

Stanton, R., Reaburn, P. R. and Humphries, B. (2004). The effect of short-term Swiss ball training on core stability and running economy. *The Journal of Strength & Conditioning Research*, 18, 522-528.

Struyf, F., Nijs, J., Baeyens, J. P., Mottram, S. and Meeusen, R. (2011). Scapular positioning and movement in unimpaired shoulders, shoulder impingement syndrome, and glenohumeral instability. *Scandinavian Journal of Medicine & Science in Sports*, 21, 352-358.

Sullivan, M. K., Dejulia, J. J. and Worrell, T. W. (1992). Effect of pelvic position and stretching method on hamstring muscle flexibility. *Medicine and Science in Sports and Exercise*, 24, 1383.

Tabrizi, P., McIntyre, W., Quesnel, M. and Howard, A. (2000). Limited dorsiflexion predisposes to injuries of the ankle in children. *Journal of Bone & Joint Surgery, British Volume*, 82, 1103-1106.

Takemura, M., Schneiders, A. G., Bell, M. L. and Milburn, P. D. (2007). Association of ground hardness with injuries in rugby union. *British Journal of Sports Medicine*, 41, 582-587.

Tate, A. R., McClure, P., Kareha, S., Irwin, D. and Barbe, M. F. (2009). A clinical method for identifying scapular dyskinesis, part 2: validity. *Journal of athletic training*, 44, 165.

Teyhen, D. S., Shaffer, S. W., Lorenson, C. L., Halfpap, J. P., Donofry, D. F., Walker, M. J., Dugan, J. L. and Childs, J. D. (2012). The Functional Movement Screen: a reliability study. *Journal of Orthopaedic and Sports Physical Therapy*, 42, 530-40.

Thomas, S. J., Swanik, K. A., Swanik, C. B. and Kelly IV, J. D. (2010). Internal rotation and scapular position differences: a comparison of collegiate and high school baseball players. *Journal of athletic training*, 45, 44.

Thorpe, J. L. and Ebersole, K. T. (2008). Unilateral balance performance in female collegiate soccer athletes. *The Journal of Strength and Conditioning Research*, 22, 1429-1433.

Torres, R. R. and Gomes, J. L. E. (2009). Measurement of glenohumeral internal rotation in asymptomatic tennis players and swimmers. *The American Journal of Sports Medicine*, 37, 1017-1023.

Tripp, B. L., Uhl, T. L., Mattacola, C. G., Srinivasan, C. and Shapiro, R. (2006). A comparison of individual joint contributions to multijoint position reproduction acuity in overhead-throwing athletes. *Clinical Biomechanics*, 21, 466-473.

Tse, M. A., McManus, A. M. and Masters, R. S. W. (2005). Development and validation of a core endurance intervention program: implications for performance in college-age rowers. *The Journal of Strength & Conditioning Research*, 19, 547-552.

Uhl, T. L., Kibler, W. B., Gecewich, B. and Tripp, B. L. (2009). Evaluation of clinical assessment methods for scapular dyskinesis. *Arthroscopy: The Journal of Arthroscopic & Related Surgery*, 25, 1240-1248.

van de Pol, R. J., van Trijffel, E. and Lucas, C. (2010). Inter-rater reliability for measurement of passive physiological range of motion of upper extremity joints is better if instruments are used: a systematic review. *Journal of Physiotherapy*, 56, 7-17.

van Mechelen, W. (1992). Running injuries. Sports Medicine, 14, 320-335.

van Mechelen, W. (1997). Sports injury surveillance systems. *Sports Medicine*, 24, 164-168.

van Mechelen, W., Hlobil, H. and Kemper, H. C. G. (1992). Incidence, severity, aetiology and prevention of sports injuries. *Sports Medicine*, 14, 82-99.

Verrall, G. M., Slavotinek, J. P. and Barnes, P. G. (2005). The effect of sports specific training on reducing the incidence of hamstring injuries in professional Australian Rules football players. *British Journal of Sports Medicine*, 39, 363-368.

Verrall, G. M., Slavotinek, J. P., Barnes, P. G., Fon, G. T. and Spriggins, A. J. (2001). Clinical risk factors for hamstring muscle strain injury: a prospective study with correlation of injury by magnetic resonance imaging. *British Journal of Sports Medicine*, 35, 435-439.

Wang, H. K. and Cochrane, T. (2001). Mobility impairment, muscle imbalance, muscle weakness, scapular asymmetry and shoulder injury in elite volleyball athletes. *Journal of sports medicine and physical fitness*, 41, 403-410.

Wang, S. S., Whitney, S. L., Burdett, R. G. and Janosky, J. E. (1993). Lower extremity muscular flexibility in long distance runners. *Journal of Orthopaedic and Sports Physical Therapy*, 17, 102-107.

Warburton, D. E. R., Nicol, C. W. and Bredin, S. S. D. (2006). Health benefits of physical activity: the evidence. *Canadian Medical Association Journal*, 174, 801-809.

Watson, A. W. (1995). Physical and fitness characteristics of successful Gaelic footballers. *British journal of sports medicine*, 29, 229-231.

Watson, A. W. (1996a). Sports Injuries in the Game of Hurling A One-Year Prospective Study. *The American Journal of Sports Medicine*, 24, 323-328.

Watson, A. W. S. (1984). Sports injuries during one academic year in 6799 Irish school children. *The American Journal of Sports Medicine*, 12, 65-71.

Watson, A. W. S. (1996b). Sports injuries in school gaelic football: a study over one season. *Irish Journal of Medical Science*, 165, 12-16.

Watson, A. W. S. (1999). Ankle sprains in players of the field-games Gaelic football and hurling. *The Journal of Sports Medicine and Physical Fitness*, 39, 66-70.

Watson, A. W. S. (2001). Sports injuries related to flexibility, posture, acceleration, clinical defects, and previous injury, in high-level players of body contact sports. *International Journal of Sports Medicine*, 22, 222-225.

Watson, L., Balster, S. M., Finch, C. F. and Dalziel, R. (2005). Measurement of scapula upward rotation: a reliable clinical procedure. *British Journal of Sports Medicine*, 39, 599-603.

Webright, W. G., Randolph, B. J. and Perrin, D. H. (1997). Comparison of nonballistic active knee extension in neural slump position and static stretch techniques on hamstring flexibility. *The Journal of Orthopaedic and Sports Physical Therapy*, 26, 7.

Weeks, B. K., Carty, C. P. and Horan, S. A. (2012). Kinematic predictors of single-leg squat performance: a comparison of experienced physiotherapists and student physiotherapists. *BMC Musculoskeletal Disorders*, 13, 1471-2474.

Weldon, S. M. and Hill, R. H. (2003). The efficacy of stretching for prevention of exercise-related injury: a systematic review of the literature. *Manual Therapy*, 8, 141-150.

Whatman, C., Hume, P. and Hing, W. (2012). Kinematics during lower extremity functional screening tests in young athletes–Are they reliable and valid? *Physical Therapy in Sport*.

Wilk, K. E., Macrina, L. C., Fleisig, G. S., Porterfield, R., Simpson, C. D., Harker, P., Paparesta, N. and Andrews, J. R. (2011). Correlation of glenohumeral internal rotation deficit and total rotational motion to shoulder injuries in professional baseball pitchers. *The American Journal of Sports Medicine*, 39, 329-335.

Wilson, F., Caffrey, S., King, E., Casey, K. and Gissane, C. (2007). A 6-month prospective study of injury in Gaelic football. *British journal of sports medicine*, 41, 317-321.

Witvrouw, E., Danneels, L., Asselman, P., D'Have, T. and Cambier, D. (2003). Muscle flexibility as a risk factor for developing muscle injuries in male professional soccer players a prospective study. *The American Journal of Sports Medicine*, 31, 41-46.

Woodland, L. H. and Francis, R. S. (1992). Parameters and comparisons of the quadriceps angle of college-aged men and women in the supine and standing positions. *The American Journal of Sports Medicine*, 20, 208-211.

Woods, C., Hawkins, R. D., Maltby, S., Hulse, M., Thomas, A. and Hodson, A. (2004). The Football Association Medical Research Programme: an audit of injuries in professional football—analysis of hamstring injuries. *British Journal of Sports Medicine*, 38, 36-41.

Woods, K., Bishop, P. and Jones, E. (2007). Warm-up and stretching in the prevention of muscular injury. *Sports Medicine*, 37, 1089-1099.

Worrell, T. W. and Perrin, D. H. (1992). Hamstring muscle injury: the influence of strength, flexibility, warm-up and fatigue. *J Orthop Sports Phys Ther*, 16, 12-18.

Yard, E. and Comstock, D. (2011). Injury patterns by body mass index in US high school athletes. *Journal of Physical Activity & Health*, 8, 182-191.

Yard, E. E., Collins, C. L., Dick, R. W. and Comstock, R. D. (2008a). An epidemiologic comparison of high school and college wrestling injuries. *The American Journal of Sports Medicine*, 36, 57-64.

Yard, E. E., Schroeder, M. J., Fields, S. K., Collins, C. L. and Comstock, R. D. (2008b). The epidemiology of United States high school soccer injuries, 2005–2007. *The American Journal of Sports Medicine*, 36, 1930-1937.

Yde, J. and Nielsen, A. B. (1990). Sports injuries in adolescents' ball games: soccer, handball and basketball. *British Journal of Sports Medicine*, 24, 51-54.

Yung, P. S.-H., Chan, R. H.-K., Wong, F. C.-Y., Cheuk, P. W.-L. and Fong, D. T.-P. (2007). Epidemiology of injuries in Hong Kong elite badminton athletes. *Research in Sports Medicine*, 15, 133-146.

Zou, K. H., O'Malley, A. J. and Mauri, L. (2007). Receiver-operating characteristic analysis for evaluating diagnostic tests and predictive models. *Circulation*, 115, 654-657.

Appendices

# Appendix A. Reliability of the Overhead Squat, Single leg squat, Active knee extension test, Alternative push up test and Scapular control test

## A.1. Introduction

The musculoskeletal pre-participation screening identifies possible modifiable risk factors for injury which can aid in the development of a suitable injury prevention strategy and injury prevention programme to reduce the likelihood of an athlete receiving an injury in the impending season (Maffey and Emery, 2006). In order to accurately assess the susceptibility of an athlete to injury, it is imperative that all tests in the musculoskeletal screening have minimal measurement error to prevent imprecise results occurring. High reliability (high consistency of the test or measurement) is essential for each test in the screening in order to confidently interpret the results of the testing. In reality a certain amount of error exists in any measurement error (Hopkins, 2000).

Despite the importance of reliability in tests in a screening, Hopkins (2000) has noted that reliability studies in the sports medicine context are rarely completed with a high methodological and statistical standard. In addition, reliability studies in current literature have focused on either absolute (the degree of variation between repeated results in a group of participants) or relative (the degree that a participant maintains the same position in the group during repeated testing) reliability when analysing their results or tended to implement methodologies that solely measure inter-tester reliability (the degree of similarity between measurements taken by different testers) or intra-tester reliability (consistency of the same tester capturing the same test result when testing repeatedly) of the tests (Atkinson and Nevill, 1998, Hayen et al., 2007, Eliasziw et al., 1994). Within sports medicine research the most commonly used and recommended measures to assess absolute and relative reliability are the ICC and SEM statistics (Hayen et al., 2007). The ICC assesses the variation between cases in relation to the total variation in all observations in a sample; i.e. the greater the variation between or within testers the smaller the ICC value (Frohm et al., 2012). If no reliability exists the ICC value will equate to 0, if there is no variation within or between testers an ICC value of 1 will occur (Frohm et al., 2012). SEM on the other hand looks at the repeated measurements and their relationship with the mean of the results. The SEM is beneficial as it is expresses in the units of the tested variable which allows researchers to understand the magnitude of measurement error within the test (Atkinson and Nevill, 1998).

Thus this study aims to implement a reliability study with high methodology and statistical analysis in order to accurately assess the inter-tester reliability and intra-tester reliability of a number of tests utilised in the musculoskeletal pre-participation screening developed for this thesis. The chosen tests in this reliability study were the tests developed by the lead researcher and expert group (alternative push up test, scapular control test) or the tests where the lead researcher and expert group designed new scoring systems (overhead squat, single leg squat). Tests were developed or adapted because no gold standard, clinically feasible and reliable tests or scoring systems were available in published research for core stability, scapular control and squatting techniques. Inherent issues were present in the published tests in these areas including: measurements undertaken in a static position that do not assess the component in a functional manner that replicates the demands placed on the body during sporting movements, prone to biasness as the tests themselves are open to compensation strategies, take a significant time to complete, unclear definitions, widely variable and complicated scoring systems and required expensive equipment that is not readily available in the clinical setting. Thus the expert group developed or adapted tests that combated each of these issues that were noted in current published tests. In addition, the reliability of the active knee extension test will be established, as ambiguity in the reliability of this test exists in current research due to large variations in the methodology and equipment used. Reliability studies have assessed the active knee extension testing using various equipment including a cross bar, stabilisation belts, cloth straps, inclinometers, goniometers, video assessments and lift and raise instruments (Gabbe et al., 2004, Sullivan et al., 1992, Gajdosik and Lusin, 1983, Gajdosik et al., 1993, Norris and Matthews, 2005, Rakos et al., 2001, Worrell and Perrin, 1992, Shimon et al., 2010). Thus the lead researcher felt it was necessary to establish the reliability of the field based active knee extension test utilised in this study as it used an inclinometer and a straight standing pole and so its reliability has yet to be established.

## A.2. Methods

## A.2.1. Subjects

Fifteen physically active male Gaelic football and hurlers (19.46±0.63) were recruited from a convenience sample of students in Athlone Institute of Technology. All participants were free from any orthopaedic or neurological disorders. Participants were required to avoid sporting activity on both testing days. All participants attended an information session where the testing procedure was fully explained. Ethical approval was granted prior to the study starting date by Dublin City University Ethics committee.

## A.2.2. Experimental Protocol

Prior to testing, all participants were required to return a signed informed consent form. All testing was completed in a rehabilitation room with the same equipment and set up used on both days. Testing was completed in 10 minute blocks per participant. All three testers measured the same test at the same time, however no talking or comparison of results was allowed between testers. This method reduced the subject differences that may occur between tests and allowed a comprehensive analysis of the differences testers have at rating the exact same motion in a test. This could not be completed for the active knee extension test however as it required each tester to measure the movement with an inclinometer, thus for this test each tester measured the motion behind a curtain away from the view of other testers. Two testing sessions occurred a week apart on a Wednesday afternoon. Each participant was required to return the following week at the same time and same day.

## A.2.2.1. Testers

Three testers qualified as therapists with experience in screening were chosen to assess reliability in this study. Tester 1 was the main researcher in this study with extensive experience designing and implementing screenings. Tester 2 was a member of the core undergraduate research team that completed the earlier testing in Study 1 who had subsequently graduated. Tester 3 was a qualified therapist with over 8 years' experience working with sports teams and experience in screenings.

All testers underwent three training sessions. The testers were initially given a presentation on the purpose, the instructions and scoring system of each of the tests in the testing protocol. In addition, photographs were provided in this presentation of possible and common mistakes made by participants. A manual of testing instructions and the scoring system for each test was given to each tester to study. Following this a

demonstration of each of the tests was provided. Common mistakes made by both the testers and participants during each test were highlighted. Furthermore testers underwent three separate practice sessions where they practised each tests on a sample group of collegiate participants. Testers were encouraged to critique each other's scoring technique and the main researcher in this study assessed the ability of each tester to adequately score each test prior to the screening.

#### A.2.2.2. Testing protocol

Figure A.1 displays the testing order for each participant at each testing station. The tests assessed in this reliability study were developed or adapted by the research team and included the overhead squat, single leg squat, alternative push up test, active knee extension test and scapular control test. The research team developed the scapular control test, the scoring system for the overhead squat and single leg squat and adapted the methodology of the active knee extension test and alternative push up test. The tests are described in Section 3.2.4.3.



# Figure A.1: Testing procedure for Reliability study

#### A.2.3. Data Processing and Statistical Analysis

Both inter-tester reliability (the degree of similarity between measurements taken by different testers) and intra-tester reliability (consistency of the same tester capturing the same test result when testing repeatedly) was assessed (Hayen et al., 2007, Eliasziw et al., 1994).

Intraclass correlation coefficient (ICC) was used to assess relative reliability i.e. the degree that a participant maintains the same position in the group during repeated testing. The ICC was assessed utilising a two way random effects model as in our model each tester assessed every participant and the testers are a sample of the testers used in the future. Absolute agreement rather than consistency of the three samples was used as it is a more stringent method of assessing reliability. This study classified reliability according to Fleiss (2011) and these values are displayed in Table A.1.

<b>Reliability Classification</b>	ICC value
Excellent	>0.75
Good	0.40-0.75
Poor	< 0.40

 Table A.1: Classification of reliability ICC values

 Reliability Classification

 ICC value

Standard error of measurement (SEM) was used to assess absolute reliability i.e. the degree of variation between repeated results in a group of participant. SEM was calculated using the following formula:

$$\text{SEM}_{\text{X}} = \text{S}_{\text{T}} \sqrt{\left(1 - r_{\text{xx}}\right)}$$

When  $S_T$  is the standard deviation of the test scores and  $r_{xx}$  is the reliability coefficient

#### **Equation A.1: Calculation of Standard Error of Measurement**

This study identified that for the active knee extension test a SEM of  $\geq 2^{\circ}$  was clinically significant. For the overhead squat, single leg squat, alternative push up test and scapular control test a SEM of  $\geq 1$  was clinically significant.
#### A.3. Results

For this study ICC was classified according to Fleiss (2011) with poor reliability <0.40, good reliability 0.40-0.75 and excellent reliability >0.75. A SEM of  $\geq 1$  for the overhead squat, single leg squat, alternative push up test and scapular control test was considered clinically significant and  $\geq 2^{\circ}$  for the active knee extension test.

#### A.3.1. Reliability of the Overhead Squat

Excellent inter-tester and intra-tester reliability was found for each of the individual criteria and the overall impression of the overhead squat (Table A.2). The SEM was found to be less than clinically significant in each of the individual criteria and the overhead impression of the overhead squat.

Individual Criteria	Inter-tester		Intra-	·tester			
	ICC	SEM (°)	ICC	SEM (°)			
Knee over toes	0.926	0.056	0.851-0.958	0.009-0.054			
Knee Valgus	1	0	1	0			
Knee Varus	1	0	1	0			
Toe out	0.960	0.032	0.926	0.025-0.094			
Toe in	1	0	1	0			
Hip Flexed	0.850	0.027	0.899-0.955	0.010-0.044			
Trunk Flexed	0.941	0.040	0.859-0.935	0.024-0.070			
Balance	1	0	1	0			
Overall Impression	1	0	0.978	0.006			

 Table A.2: The overhead squat: inter- tester and intra-tester reliability

All measures were ordinal data. Scoring ranged from 0-3

#### A.3.2. Reliability of the Single leg squat

Excellent inter-tester and intra-tester reliability was found for each of the individual criteria and the overall impression in the single leg squat on the right and left legs (Table A.3). The SEM was found to be less than clinically significant in each of the individual criteria and the overhead impression for the single leg squat on both legs.

Individual Criteria		Inter-tester		Intra	tester
		ICC	SEM	ICC	SEM
Knee over toes	R	0.937	0.041	0.947-0.952	0.010-0.011
	L	0.945	0.029	0.821-0.904	0.029-0.059
Knee Valgus	R	0.951	0.027	0.817-0.879	0.032-0.060
	L	0.967	0.007	0.750-1	0-0.047
Knee Varus	R	1	0	1	0
	L	1	0	1	0
Toe out	R	0.924	0.034	0.759-0.833	0.038-0.069
	L	0.895	0.013	0.788-1	0-0.021
Toe in	R	1	0	1	0
	L	1	0	1	0
Hip Flexed	R	0.948	0.018	0.785-0.921	0.026-0.087
	L	0.947	0.018	0.785-0.909	0.028-0.087
Trunk Flexed	R	0.868	0.059	0.857-0.909	0.028-0.053
	L	0.962	0.024	0.947-1	0-0.021
Balance	R	0.920	0.023	0.851-1	0-0.036
	L	0.941	0.020	0.833-1	0-0.038
Overall Impression	R	0.977	0.006	0.975-1 0-0.00	
	L	1	0	0.972-1	0-0.007

 Table A.3: The single leg squat: Inter- tester and intra-tester reliability

All measures were ordinal data. Scoring ranged from 0-3

#### A.3.3. Reliability of the Active knee extension

The active knee extension test demonstrated excellent inter-tester and intra-tester reliability as demonstrated in Table A.4. The SEM in both inter-tester and intra-tester reliability was found to be less than clinically significant.

Side	Inter-tester	Reliability	Intra-tester	Reliability
	ICC	SEM (°)	ICC	SEM
Right (°)	0.982	0.235	0.782-0.886	0.642-1.422
Left (°)	0.993	0.288	0.787-0.937	0.309-1.219

 Table A.4: Active knee extension: inter-tester and intra-tester reliability

All measures were in degrees

#### A.3.4. Reliability of the Alternative push up test

Excellent inter-tester reliability was reported as demonstrated in Table A.5 with a very high intra-class correlation value and extremely low SEM value demonstrated for the alternative push up test. With regard to intra-tester reliability good to excellent intraclass correlation coefficient was determined with an SEM that is not clinically significant.

Table A.5: Alternative push up test: inter-tester and intra-tester reliability

Inter-tester Reliability		Intra-tester Reliability		
ICC	SEM	ICC	SEM	
0.978	0.012	0.729-0.898	0.048-0.115	

All measures were ordinal data. Scoring ranged from 0-4

#### A.3.5. Reliability of the Scapular control test

Excellent ICC values were found for inter-tester reliability and good to excellent intratester reliability in the Scapular control test (Table A.6). The SEM was not found to be clinically significant for inter-tester and intra-tester reliability.

Scapular control test		Inter-tester		Intra-tester	
		ICC	SEM	ICC	SEM
Winging	R	0.952	0.018	0.656-0.904	0.014-0.082
Winging	L	0.977	0.006	0.720-0.920	0.013-0.074
Control of Scapula when lifting	R	1	0	1	0
Control of Scapula when lifting	L	1	0	1	0
Control of Scapula when lowering	R	0.909	0.024	1	0
Control of Scapula when lowering	L	0.980	0.005	0.632-0.750	0.047-0.085
Symmetry between both scapulae		0.933	0.021	0.600-0.759	0.069-0.119

 Table A.6: Scapular control test: inter-tester and intra-tester reliability

All measures were ordinal data. Scoring ranged from 0-3

#### A.4. Discussion

The reliability of selected tests developed or adapted by the researchers in the screening was investigated in this study. High reliability of tests is imperative to accurately assess the susceptibility of an athlete to injury. In order to complete a comprehensive analysis of the reliability of these tests, both inter- tester (between tester) and intra-tester (multiple assessments by the same tester) reliability must be established using statistical analysis that assesses both absolute (ICC statistic) and relative reliability (SEM statistic) (Hayen et al., 2007, Eliasziw et al., 1994, Atkinson and Nevill, 1998). The results indicate that the selected tests have high inter-tester and intra-tester reliability.

#### A.4.1. Reliability of the overhead squat

Six studies analysed the reliability of the overhead squat as described by Cook (2010), four studies examined inter-tester reliability (Schneiders et al., 2011, Minick et al., 2010, Shultz et al., 2013, Teyhen et al., 2012) and three investigated intra-reliability (Smith et al., 2013, Frohm et al., 2012, Teyhen et al., 2012). Four out of the six studies utilised the kappa or the weighted kappa coefficient to assess reliability, with only two studies utilising the ICC statistic and none analysed both absolute and relative reliability. Since these studies utilised the deep squat described in the FMS protocol, it assessed a general analysis of the overall impression of the squat and did not examine the reliability of the individual criteria assessed in the squat. Excellent inter-tester reliability for the overall impression of the overhead squat was found in the present study, similar to the excellent inter-tester agreement observed by Schneiders et al. (2011) ( $\kappa$ =1.00) and Minick et al. (2010) ( $\kappa$ =0.80). In addition, Schultz et al.(2013) (K $\alpha$ =0.41), Minick et al. (2010) ( $\kappa$ =0.64) and Teyhen et al. (2012) (0.68) reported lower inter-tester reliability than the current study. The intra-tester reliability reported in the current study was found to be similar to the excellent reliability reported by Smith et al. (2013) (ICC=0.82-0.90) and higher than Teyhen et al. (2012) ( $\kappa$ =0.76) and Frohm et al. (2012) (ICC=0.73). The present study demonstrated excellent inter and intra-tester reliability in each of the individual criteria of the overhead squat and low SEM values that were far below the 1 value indicated as clinically significant however comparison against other reliability studies was not possible as other scoring systems did not examine the individual criteria. This high reliability may be attributed to the clear and well defined instructions for the test and scoring system utilised. In addition, the minimal equipment utilised may also have contributed to a reduction in measurement error in the testing procedure. The analysis of the individual criteria of the scoring

339

system demonstrated that hip flexion had the lowest inter-tester reliability with knees over toes and hip flexion demonstrating the lowest intra-tester reliability. Thus, the definition of the differentiation between a minor, moderate and severe score for both hip flexion and knees over toes may need to be further clarified and highlighted to the testers during the familiarisation process. While these criteria reported the lowest reliability results they still produced excellent inter and intra-tester reliability.

#### A.4.2. Reliability of the single leg squat

Very few studies have assessed the reliability of a single leg squat in a screening in this manner, with only a single study examining the inter-tester reliability (Poulsen and James, 2011) and two studies investigating the intra-tester reliability (Poulsen and James, 2011, Frohm et al., 2012). Excellent inter-tester reliability was found for the overall impression which is higher than the good reliability ( $\kappa$ =0.68) reported in Poulsen et al. (2011). Similarly, excellent intra-tester reliability demonstrated in Poulsen et al. (2011) and moderate reliability reported in Frohm et al. (2012). Excellent inter-tester reliability demonstrated in Poulsen et al. (2011) and moderate reliability reported in Frohm et al. (2012). Excellent inter and intra-tester reliability of the individual criteria was demonstrated in the single leg squat, however similar to the overhead squat, it is not possible to compare to other studies and only the overall impression is measured. The high reliability of the single leg squat is similar to those discussed in the overhead squat as the instructions, scoring system and equipment requirements were similar.

#### A.4.3. Reliability of the active knee extension

The reliability of the active knee extension test has been examined, with seven studies assessing inter-tester reliability (Gabbe et al., 2004, Sullivan et al., 1992, Norris and Matthews, 2005, Rakos et al., 2001, Webright et al., 1997, Worrell and Perrin, 1992, Hamid et al., 2013) and eight studies investigating intra-tester reliability (Gabbe et al., 2004, Sullivan et al., 1992, Gajdosik et al., 1993, Gajdosik and Lusin, 1983, Webright et al., 1997, Worrell and Perrin, 1992, Shimon et al., 2010, Hamid et al., 2013). The current study found excellent inter and intra-tester reliability with the SEM statistic observed to be below the 2° value deemed clinically significant in this study which is similar to the excellent inter and intra-tester reliability found in all the reliability studies to date. However, the majority of these previous studies utilise many methods to achieve high reliability in this test, such as cross bars, straps and belts, to ensure appropriate positioning of the patient throughout the test (Lowther et al., 2012, Gajdosik and Lusin, 1983, Gajdosik et al., 1993, Worrell and Perrin, 1992, O'Connor et al.,

2011). However, the methodology used in these studies are not practical, as the apparatus used is complex, takes time to set up, is not available in most clinical settings, may require therapists to build the equipment themselves and in some methodologies may require two testers to conduct the test (Hamid et al., 2013). Thus, the AKE test completed in this manner is not a simple field test that can be implemented with a large number of participants in a variety of settings as is recommended in screenings (Maffey and Emery, 2006). The AKE methodology in the current study required very little equipment; a vertical side bar as a reference point for the hip at 90°, a plinth and an instrument underneath the opposite leg to ensure the corresponding knee was bent to 20°. The thigh position was held in place by the participants themselves with the participants monitoring the motion of the femur to ensure it was kept in place, this position was corrected if needed by the tester as recommended by Norris and Matthews (2005). Thus this was easily adaptable in different settings and was less time consuming as methodologies suggested in previous studies. The two reliability studies that utilised the most similar methodologies used in the present study was Norris and Mathews (2005) that used no equipment and examined inter-tester reliability and Shimon et al. (2010) that used a "lift and raise" unit that utilised a straight line as a reference point for the thigh similar to the current study and investigated intra-tester reliability. The present study demonstrated a higher inter-tester reliability than Norris and Mathews (2005) (ICC=0.76) and similar intra-tester reliability as Shimon et al. (2010) (ICC=0.94). Thus the addition of simple, readily available equipment appears to enhance the reliability of the active knee test in comparison to the use of no equipment as demonstrated in the Norris and Mathews (2005) methodology.

#### A.4.4. Reliability of the alterative push up test

Five studies assessed the reliability of the trunk stability push up test which is the original version of the adapted alternative push up test. Of these reliability studies, four assessed inter-tester reliability (Schneiders et al., 2011, Minick et al., 2010, Shultz et al., 2013, Teyhen et al., 2012) and only two assessed intra-tester reliability (Teyhen et al., 2012, Smith et al., 2013). In fact, only a single study investigated both inter and intra-tester reliability (Teyhen et al., 2012). Three out of the five studies utilised the kappa ( $\kappa$ ) or the weighted kappa coefficient to assess reliability in categorical data (Teyhen et al., 2012, Schneiders et al., 2011, Minick et al., 2010), one study utilised Krippendorff's alpha (K $\alpha$ ) to assess ordinal/interval data (Shultz et al., 2013) and another study utilised

the ICC statistic (Smith et al., 2013). None of these studies analysed both absolute and relative reliability.

As the alternative push up test was developed in this study comparisons in this discussion are made to the trunk stability test. The excellent inter-tester reliability found in the current study is consistent with Schneiders et al. (2011) ( $\kappa$ =1.00) and Teyhen et al. (2012) ( $\kappa$ =0.82) and higher than the good and fair reliability reported by Minick et al. (2010) ( $\kappa$ =0.78) and Shultz et al. (2013) ( $\kappa$ =0.31). The present study found good to excellent intra-tester reliability which is consistent with the good to excellent reliability reported by Smith et al. (2013) (ICC=0.88-0.95) and the good reliability noted by Teyhen et al. (2012) ( $\kappa$ =0.68). The current study is superior to studies that scored the test using video-analysis, as it utilises real-time analysis of the test which mimics the method in which the test would be primarily assessed in mass screenings and the clinical setting. In addition, real-time analysis allows the tester to view the movement from all angles and is not limited by the 2d nature of video analysis. Both Minick et al. (2010) and Shultz et al. (2013) videotaped the testing process and testers had the capability to replay the test as many times as needed in order to score the test, which may have provided a false higher reliability score than actually occurs during real time testing which is the primary method of screenings (Teyhen et al., 2012, 2011). The high inter-tester and intra-tester reliability could be attributed to the simplicity of the test; it is an easy and quick test to execute and requires no equipment which removes the risk of equipment error influencing the reliability of the test. In addition, it has an extremely clear scoring system that reduces the possibility of error between testers and sessions (Shultz et al., 2013).

#### A.4.5. Reliability of the scapular control test

Five studies assessed the reliability of visual assessments of scapular asymmetry that could be utilised in a screening. Five studies assessed inter-tester reliability (Kibler et al., 2002, Ellenbecker et al., 2012, Uhl et al., 2009, McClure et al., 2009) with only a single study examining intra-tester reliability (Kibler et al., 2002). The inter-tester reliability in the current study was found to be excellent, with a high ICC value and low SEM value that was below clinically significant in all individual components of the scapular control test. The inter-tester reliability observed in the current study was found to be substantially higher than those noted in other similar reliability studies that utilised a visual estimation of scapular control. Fair to good inter-tester reliability ( $\kappa$ =0.186, 0.245) in

Ellenbecker et al. (2012) and moderate reliability was noted in Uhl et al. (2009) ( $\kappa$ =0.44), McClure et al. (2009) ( $\kappa$ =0.57, 0.54) and Uhl et al. (2009) ( $\kappa$ =0.41). The present study reported lower intra-tester reliability (good to excellent) than inter-tester reliability which could be attributed to day to day variation in the results of the tests (Atkinson and Nevill, 1998). Low intra-tester reliability is clinically significant as athletes commonly undergo a period of prehabilitation to reduce the effects of the issues noted in the screening and the screening is repeated following this to assess the effectiveness of the prevention strategy. Low intra-tester reliability may affect the consistency of the results and so therapists may be unsure of whether any viewed improvements are due to the prevention strategy alone or was the difference due to this day to day variation. However, the reported intra-tester reliability in this study is higher than the moderate reliability reported by Kibler et al. (2002) ( $\kappa$ =0.49, 0.59).

The lower reliability scores produced in other reliability studies could be attributed to a number of methodological issues including: inadequate familiarisation sessions, complicated scoring systems, poorly defined definitions of scapular dyskinesis and the individual components of this, or the use of video analysis rather than live examinations (Kibler et al., 2002, McClure et al., 2009, Uhl et al., 2009). Video analysis was used in three out of the five reliability studies which could have prevented testers from viewing the scapulae from different angles and may have contributed to the error observed in these studies (Kibler et al., 2002). The familiarisation session utilised in this study was intensive and comprised of three intensive sessions which is far more than utilised in other reliability studies; in fact, Kibler et al. (2002) only utilised a 10 minute familiarisation session. The current researchers felt a stronger focus on teaching the testers the test was necessary, because assessing scapular dyskinesis is challenging as they are required to consider 3 rotational and 2 translations of movement simultaneously due to the complex 3 dimensional pattern of motion that occurs during dynamic motion (Uhl et al., 2009, McClure et al., 2009).

#### A.4.6. Limitations to study

There a number of limitations in the present study. The tests developed and adapted in this study are subjective in nature and so a certain amount of measurement error will exist. Researchers commonly utilise complex and expensive equipment to objectively measure performance in tests to reduce this measurement error however the aim of this study was to propose simple field based screening tools that require minimal or inexpensive equipment to ensure therapists have the ability to implement this test extensively. In addition, the high reliability demonstrated in this study shows that with appropriate training therapists can implement this subjective test reliably with minimal measurement error. Another limitation to this study is the lack of comparison of the squat, single leg squat, active knee extension test and scapular control test with gold standard three dimensional kinematic analysis using electromagnetic tracking devices and the alternative push up test with core muscles electromyography activity during higher and lower scores in this test. Thus the current researchers recommend that further research assess the validity of the screening tests against gold standard methods.

#### A.4.7. Conclusion

All tests examined in this study produced high levels of inter-tester and intra-tester reliability, and so therapists can be satisfied when utilising these tests in a screening that the results of these tests can be interpreted with minimal error. The results in this study can be confidently generalised to the physically active and sporting population as it utilised multiple testers over two sessions using physically active and sporting participants. In addition, all tests were assessed using real-time analysis which mimics real life screenings. The three comprehensive preparatory sessions that testers were required to undergo prior to testing, indicate that they were sufficient to adequately train testers to a high standard to administer the tests reliably. These three sessions involved a presentation on the purpose, the instructions and scoring system of each of the tests, visual demonstrations and photographs of common mistakes and poor techniques completed during testing by the testers and participants and provided testers with adequate time to practice administering and scoring the tests. The clear instructions and well defined scoring systems may have also reduced the error in the testing procedures and so have contributed to high inter-tester and intra-tester reliability in each of the tests examined. The tests assessed were simple to execute and required minimal equipment which also may have reduced the error in measurement in the tests.

#### Appendix B. Plain Language Statement

Project Title:

## The Epidemiology and Risk Factors Related to Injury in school aged and collegiate Gaelic Footballers and Hurlers.

This study will be undertaken at ______ school. The principal investigators are Dr Noel McCaffrey (017008187/ noel.mccaffrey@dcu.ie), Dr Kieran Moran (017008011/ kieran.moran@dcu.ie) and Siobhán O Connor (0861639016/ siobhan.oconnor27@mail.dcu.ie)

The aim of the project is to analyse patterns of injuries and risk factors that might cause injury in young Gaelic Footballers and Hurlers with a view to ultimately designing a strategy to help prevent these injuries from occurring. In order to do this we will invite your child to take part in three main ways:

- 1) A once off clinical examination will take place in ______ school by a Certified Athletic Rehabilitation Therapist (A.R.T.C.). This examination will involve tests for balance, flexibility, core strength, neuromuscular control and foot function.
- 2) The participant will be asked to fill in an online Training Diary within ______ school that details his participation in all sports.
- 3) The participant will be asked to report all injuries that he develops and if necessary, attend a free medical assessment of the injury by a Certified Athletic Rehabilitation Therapist or Doctor within ______ school.

This study may contribute in an important way to developing a strategy to help prevent injuries in Gaelic Football and Hurling. The study has been approved by the DCU Research Ethics Committee. This approval guarantees that all records in relation to every participant will be securely stored in DCU and that confidentiality of all participants will be strictly respected.

#### **Project Title:**

# The Epidemiology and Risk Factors Related to Injury in school aged and collegiate Gaelic Footballers and Hurlers.

This study will be undertaken at ______. The principal investigators are Dr Noel McCaffrey (017008187/ noel.mccaffrey@dcu.ie), Dr Kieran Moran (017008011/ kieran.moran@dcu.ie) and Siobhán O Connor (0861639016/ siobhan.oconnor27@mail.dcu.ie)

The aim of the project is to analyse patterns of injuries and risk factors that might cause injury in collegiate Gaelic Footballers and Hurlers with a view to ultimately designing a strategy to help prevent these injuries from occurring. In order to do this we will invite you to take part in three main ways:

- 1) A once off clinical examination will take place in ______ by a Certified Athletic Rehabilitation Therapist (A.R.T.C.). This examination will involve tests for balance, flexibility, core strength, neuromuscular control and foot function.
- 2) The participant will be asked to fill in an online Training Diary that details his participation in all sports.
- 3) The participant will be asked to report all injuries that he develops.

This study may contribute in an important way to developing a strategy to help prevent injuries in Gaelic Football and Hurling. The study has been approved by the DCU Research Ethics Committee. This approval guarantees that all records in relation to every participant will be securely stored in DCU and that confidentiality of all participants will be strictly respected.

#### Appendix C. Informed Consent

**Project Title:** 

# The Epidemiology and Risk Factors Related to Injury in school aged and collegiate Gaelic Footballers and Hurlers.

The principal investigators are Dr Noel McCaffrey (017008187/ noel.mccaffrey@dcu.ie), Dr Kieran Moran (017008011/kieran.moran@dcu.ie) and Siobhán O Connor (0861639016/siobhan.oconnor27@mail.dcu.ie)

I have been asked to allow my son to participate in this research project. I am aware the project aims to investigate the patterns of injury and risk factors that cause injury in school aged children. I have read the Plain Language Statement which fully explains the project and have been given the opportunity to discuss the project with the investigators. I have also discussed it with my son. Based on this I am satisfied to allow him to participate in the study.

I understand that my son must take part in a once off session in school that assesses his ability to complete certain tasks. I understand that my son must document certain information about his participation in training every week. I understand that if my son recieves an injury he must report this injury and if necessary take part in a free assessment by a qualified medical individual (Sports Medicine Physician or Certified Athletic Therapist and Trainer).

I understand that my child's participation is entirely voluntary. He can withdraw from the study at any time without penalty. Within the provisions of Irish law his data will at all times be confidential. His name will not be revealed but the summary data may be presented and discussed at scientific meetings and may be published in a scientific journal

#### Signature:

The researchers have provided an opportunity for me to contact them with my questions and concerns, and I have a copy of this consent form. They have discussed the project with my child. My child understands what is involved and is willing to participate. Therefore, I (print name) ______ consent to allow my child (print name) ______ to take part in this research project.

Signature of Parent / Guardian: _		
Name of Parent / Guardian (Block	Capitals):	
Witness:		
Date:	A scort by Child	
	Assent by Child	4 1 4 1
I understand what is involved in thi	is project. It has been explained to me by	the research team and
by my parents. I agree to take part	t	
Name of Child	Witness	
Signature	Date	

#### <u>Project Title:</u> The Epidemiology and Risk Factors Related to Injury in school aged and collegiate Gaelic Footballers and Hurlers.

The principal investigators are Dr Noel McCaffrey (017008187/ noel.mccaffrey@dcu.ie), Dr Kieran Moran (017008011/ kieran.moran@dcu.ie) and Siobhán O Connor (0861639016/siobhan.oconnor27@mail.dcu.ie)

I have been asked to participate in this research project. I am aware the project aims to investigate the patterns of injury and risk factors that cause injury in collegiate Gaelic footballers and hurlers. I have read the Plain Language Statement which fully explains the project and have been given the opportunity to discuss the project with the investigators. Based on this I am satisfied to participate in the study.

I understand that I must take part in a once off session that assesses my ability to complete certain tasks. I understand that I must document certain information about my participation in training every week. I understand that if I recieve an injury I must report this injury and if necessary take part in a free assessment by a qualified medical individual (Sports Medicine Physician or Certified Athletic Therapist and Trainer).

I understand that my participation is entirely voluntary. I can withdraw from the study at any time without penalty. Within the provisions of Irish law my data will at all times be confidential. My name will not be revealed but the summary data may be presented and discussed at scientific meetings and may be published in a scientific journal

#### Signature:

The researchers have provided an opportunity for m	ne to contact them with my questions
and concerns, and I have a copy of this consent for	m. They have discussed the project
with my child. My child understands what is inv	volved and is willing to participate.
Therefore, I (print name)	consent to allow my child (print
name)to take part in this res	search project.

Signature:	

<u>Name (Block Capitals):</u>

Witness:

Date:

Appendix D. Scoring Sheet

Name:_____School/Team:_____

Dominant Foot/Hand:_____DOB:_____

Date of Testing:_____

Test	Results
Height (cm)	
Weight (kg)	
Foot Length (mm)	
Lower Limb (cm)	

Scapular Control Scoring System	None	Slight	Moderate	Severe
	(0)	(1)	(2)	(3)
Winging Right				
Winging Left				
Control of Scapula when lifting Right				
Control of Scapula when lifting Left				
Control of Scapula when lowering				
Right				
Control of Scapula when lowering Left				
Symmetry between both scapulae				

Alternative Push Up Test	Score from 0-4

#### Flexibility

Test	Trial 1	Trial 2	Trial 3
	(degrees)	(degrees)	(degrees)
Internal Rotation Right			
External Rotation Right			
Internal Rotation Left			
External Rotation Left			
Active Knee Extension			
Right			
Active Knee Extension Left			

#### **Overhead Squat**

Aspect	Normal (0)	Slight (1)	Moderate (2)	Severe (3)
Knee over toes				
Knee Valgus				
Knee Varus				
Toe out				
Toe in				
Hip Flexed				
Trunk Flexed				
Balance				
Overall	Pain (0)	Poor (1)	Average(2)	Excellent (3)

Impression		

#### Single Leg Squat RIGHT

Aspect	Normal (0)	Slight (1)	Moderate (2)	Severe (3)
Knee over toes				
Knee Valgus				
Knee Varus				
Toe out				
Toe in				
Hip Flexed				
Trunk Flexed				
Balance				
Overall	Pain (0)	Poor (1)	Average(2)	Excellent (3)
Impression				

#### Single Leg Squat LEFT

Aspect	Normal (0)	Slight (1)	Moderate (2)	Severe (3)
Knee over toes				
Knee Valgus				
Knee Varus				
Toe out				
Toe in				
Hip Flexed				
Trunk Flexed				
Balance				
Overall	<b>Pain</b> (0)	Poor (1)	Average(2)	Excellent (3)
Impression				

#### Navicular Drop in (mm)

Action	Navicular Level in mm
Sitting R	
Standing R	
Sitting L	
Standing L	
Difference R	
Difference L	

#### **Y** Balance Test

Action	Trial 1 (cm)	Trial 2 (cm)	Trail 3 (cm)
Anterior Right			
Posterior medial Right			
Posterior lateral Right			
Anterior Left			
Posterior Medial Left			
Posterior Lateral Left			

	Height
Equipment needed	Portable Stadiometer, scoring sheet, pen
Description of test	Participant removes shoes
_	Participant stands up straight with head, back, buttocks, calves and
	heels against the stadiometer
	Participant looks straight ahead while tester the head piece of the
	stadiometer is lowered onto the head until hair is pressed flat on the
	head
	Instruct the participant to breathe in deeply
Instructions	Remove shoes
	Stand up straight with head, back, buttocks, calves and heels against
	the stadiometer
	Look straight ahead
T . L	Breathe in deeply
	1 trial completed
Incomplete trial	Does not remove shoes
	Does not stand up straight with head, back, buttocks, calves and
	Leoka down when the measurement is taken
	Does not broothe in
Magguramant	The measurement is recorded to the nearest millimetre just before
Measurement	the participant breathes out
	Weight
Equipment needed	Calibrated scale, scoring sheet, pen
	Participant removes shoes
	Participant stands up straight with arms by sides on the the centre of
	the measuring scales with weight distributed evenly
	Instruct participant to look straight ahead and not look down
Instructions	Remove shoes
	Stand up straight with arms by sides on the centre of the measuring
	scales with weight distributed evenly
	Look straight ahead
Trials	1 trial completed
Incomplete trial	Does not remove shoes
	Does not stand fully on the scale (heels or toes off the scale)
	Looks down at weight dial
Measurement	The measurement is recorded to the nearest kilogram

Appendix E. Description of measurement of anthropometric data

	Active knee extension
Equipment	Plinth, straight vertical side bar, inclinometer, scoring sheet, pen
needed	
Practice	1 practice demonstration
session	
<b>Description</b> of	Subject lies on their back on a plinth
test	Place an object under the contralateral knee not being tested in order
	to ensure the knee is kept in 20° flexion
	A straight vertical side bar is placed alongside the plinth aligned with
	the greater trochanter of the leg being tested.
	The participant is asked to grasp the thigh immediately proximal to
	the knee being tested with both hands and bring the lateral epicondyle
	of the femur in line with the vertical bar at the side of the plinth and
	angn (i.e. offing the mp to 90° flexion).
	The knee is bent to 90° so that it is aligned parallel to the plinth and the participant is instructed to point their toos (i.e. only a plantar flowed)
	and keep their head flat on the plinth for the duration of the test
	The position of the hip and knee is monitored by the tester throughout
	the test
	The inclinometer is placed on a flat surface and the dial of the
	inclinometer is rotated so the "0" and arrow aligns with the surface of
	the fluid. The inclinometer is then placed on the on the tibia
	immediately below the tibial tuberosity.
	The participant is instructed to straighten their leg as far as possible
	until they feel a "strong but tolerable stretch" while keeping their
	ankle pointed and their thigh aligned to the vertical bar throughout the
	test. This position is held until the tester instructs the participant to
	relax back into the starting position.
Instructions	Lie on your back
	Bend your hip to 90° and keep it parallel to the straight side bar
	throughout the test by grasping your thigh with both hands
	Bend your knee to 90° and hold it there as the starting position of the
	test Straighton your log of for as possible until you feel a strong but
	straighten your leg as far as possible until you leef a strong but telerable stratch while keeping your ankle pointed
	Hold this position until tester tells you to relay
Trials	3 trials on each leg
Incomplete	The greater trochanter not aligned to vertical side bar throughout test
trial	The hip not flexed to $90^{\circ}$ throughout test
	The knee not bent to $90^{\circ}$ in starting position of test
	The ankle dorsiflexed at any point during the test
	The neck is flexed at any point during the test
	If the participant does not hold the end point for long enough for the
	tester to take a measurement.
Measurement	The measurement is recorded to the nearest degree

Appendix F. Description of Active knee extension test

	Internal range of motion
Equipment needed	Plinth, inclinometer, scoring sheet, pen
Practice session	1 practice demonstration
Description of test	Subject lies on their back with their right shoulder over the edge of
	the plinth
	Bring the arm to 90° abduction
	Bend the elbow to 90° flexion
	The inclinometer is placed on a flat surface and the dial of the
	inclinometer is rotated so the "0" and arrow aligns with the surface
	of the fluid. The inclinometer is then placed on the dorsal surface of
	the forearm.
	While holding the inclinometer in a steady position passively move
	the forearm forward to put the shoulder into internal rotation until
	the subject notes a strong but tolerable stretch or the tester feels
Instructions	I is on your back with your right shoulder over the adge of the plinth
Instructions	Held your arm and albow in the position the tester places it in
	throughout the test
	Report when you feel a strong but tolerable stretch
Trials	3 trials on each shoulder
Incomplete trial	Arm is not at 90° abduction throughout the test
meompiete that	Flow is not bent to 90° flexion throughout the test
Measurement	The measurement is recorded to the nearest degree
ivicusui ement	
	External range of motion
Equipment needed	Plinth, inclinometer, scoring sheet, pen
Equipment needed Practice session	External range of motion         Plinth, inclinometer, scoring sheet, pen         1 practice demonstration
Equipment needed Practice session Description of test	External range of motion         Plinth, inclinometer, scoring sheet, pen         1 practice demonstration         Subject lies on their back with their right shoulder over the edge of
Equipment needed Practice session Description of test	External range of motion         Plinth, inclinometer, scoring sheet, pen         1 practice demonstration         Subject lies on their back with their right shoulder over the edge of the plinth
Equipment needed Practice session Description of test	External range of motion         Plinth, inclinometer, scoring sheet, pen         1 practice demonstration         Subject lies on their back with their right shoulder over the edge of the plinth         Bring the arm to 90° abduction
Equipment needed Practice session Description of test	External range of motion         Plinth, inclinometer, scoring sheet, pen         1 practice demonstration         Subject lies on their back with their right shoulder over the edge of the plinth         Bring the arm to 90° abduction         Bend the elbow to 90° flexion
Equipment needed Practice session Description of test	External range of motion         Plinth, inclinometer, scoring sheet, pen         1 practice demonstration         Subject lies on their back with their right shoulder over the edge of the plinth         Bring the arm to 90° abduction         Bend the elbow to 90° flexion         The inclinometer is placed on a flat surface and the dial of the
Equipment needed Practice session Description of test	External range of motion         Plinth, inclinometer, scoring sheet, pen         1 practice demonstration         Subject lies on their back with their right shoulder over the edge of the plinth         Bring the arm to 90° abduction         Bend the elbow to 90° flexion         The inclinometer is placed on a flat surface and the dial of the inclinometer is rotated so the "0" and arrow aligns with the surface
Equipment needed Practice session Description of test	External range of motion         Plinth, inclinometer, scoring sheet, pen         1 practice demonstration         Subject lies on their back with their right shoulder over the edge of the plinth         Bring the arm to 90° abduction         Bend the elbow to 90° flexion         The inclinometer is placed on a flat surface and the dial of the inclinometer is rotated so the "0" and arrow aligns with the surface of the fluid. The inclinometer is then placed on the dorsal surface of
Equipment needed Practice session Description of test	External range of motion         Plinth, inclinometer, scoring sheet, pen         1 practice demonstration         Subject lies on their back with their right shoulder over the edge of the plinth         Bring the arm to 90° abduction         Bend the elbow to 90° flexion         The inclinometer is placed on a flat surface and the dial of the inclinometer is rotated so the "0" and arrow aligns with the surface of the fluid. The inclinometer is then placed on the dorsal surface of the forearm.
Equipment needed Practice session Description of test	External range of motion         Plinth, inclinometer, scoring sheet, pen         1 practice demonstration         Subject lies on their back with their right shoulder over the edge of the plinth         Bring the arm to 90° abduction         Bend the elbow to 90° flexion         The inclinometer is placed on a flat surface and the dial of the inclinometer is rotated so the "0" and arrow aligns with the surface of the fluid. The inclinometer is then placed on the dorsal surface of the forearm.         While holding the inclinometer in a steady position passively move
Equipment needed Practice session Description of test	External range of motion         Plinth, inclinometer, scoring sheet, pen         1 practice demonstration         Subject lies on their back with their right shoulder over the edge of the plinth         Bring the arm to 90° abduction         Bend the elbow to 90° flexion         The inclinometer is placed on a flat surface and the dial of the inclinometer is rotated so the "0" and arrow aligns with the surface of the fluid. The inclinometer is then placed on the dorsal surface of the forearm.         While holding the inclinometer in a steady position passively move the forearm forward to put the shoulder into external rotation until
Equipment needed Practice session Description of test	External range of motionPlinth, inclinometer, scoring sheet, pen1 practice demonstrationSubject lies on their back with their right shoulder over the edge of the plinthBring the arm to 90° abductionBend the elbow to 90° flexionThe inclinometer is placed on a flat surface and the dial of the inclinometer is rotated so the "0" and arrow aligns with the surface of the fluid. The inclinometer is then placed on the dorsal surface of the forearm.While holding the inclinometer in a steady position passively move the forearm forward to put the shoulder into external rotation until the subject notes a strong but tolerable stretch or the tester feels
Equipment needed Practice session Description of test	External range of motion         Plinth, inclinometer, scoring sheet, pen         1 practice demonstration         Subject lies on their back with their right shoulder over the edge of the plinth         Bring the arm to 90° abduction         Bend the elbow to 90° flexion         The inclinometer is placed on a flat surface and the dial of the inclinometer is rotated so the "0" and arrow aligns with the surface of the fluid. The inclinometer is then placed on the dorsal surface of the forearm.         While holding the inclinometer in a steady position passively move the forearm forward to put the shoulder into external rotation until the subject notes a strong but tolerable stretch or the tester feels resistance
Equipment needed Practice session Description of test	External range of motion         Plinth, inclinometer, scoring sheet, pen         1 practice demonstration         Subject lies on their back with their right shoulder over the edge of the plinth         Bring the arm to 90° abduction         Bend the elbow to 90° flexion         The inclinometer is placed on a flat surface and the dial of the inclinometer is rotated so the "0" and arrow aligns with the surface of the fluid. The inclinometer is then placed on the dorsal surface of the forearm.         While holding the inclinometer in a steady position passively move the forearm forward to put the shoulder into external rotation until the subject notes a strong but tolerable stretch or the tester feels resistance         Lie on your back with your right shoulder over the edge of the plinth
Equipment needed Practice session Description of test	External range of motionPlinth, inclinometer, scoring sheet, pen1 practice demonstrationSubject lies on their back with their right shoulder over the edge ofthe plinthBring the arm to 90° abductionBend the elbow to 90° flexionThe inclinometer is placed on a flat surface and the dial of theinclinometer is rotated so the "0" and arrow aligns with the surfaceof the fluid. The inclinometer is then placed on the dorsal surface ofthe forearm.While holding the inclinometer in a steady position passively movethe forearm forward to put the shoulder into external rotation untilthe subject notes a strong but tolerable stretch or the tester feelsresistanceLie on your back with your right shoulder over the edge of the plinthHold your arm and elbow in the position the tester places it in
Equipment needed Practice session Description of test	External range of motionPlinth, inclinometer, scoring sheet, pen1 practice demonstrationSubject lies on their back with their right shoulder over the edge ofthe plinthBring the arm to 90° abductionBend the elbow to 90° flexionThe inclinometer is placed on a flat surface and the dial of theinclinometer is rotated so the "0" and arrow aligns with the surfaceof the fluid. The inclinometer is then placed on the dorsal surface ofthe forearm.While holding the inclinometer in a steady position passively movethe forearm forward to put the shoulder into external rotation untilthe subject notes a strong but tolerable stretch or the tester feelsresistanceLie on your back with your right shoulder over the edge of the plinthHold your arm and elbow in the position the tester places it inthroughout the testReport when you feel a strong but tolerable stretch
Equipment needed Practice session Description of test	External range of motionPlinth, inclinometer, scoring sheet, pen1 practice demonstrationSubject lies on their back with their right shoulder over the edge of the plinthBring the arm to 90° abductionBend the elbow to 90° flexionThe inclinometer is placed on a flat surface and the dial of the inclinometer is rotated so the "0" and arrow aligns with the surface of the fluid. The inclinometer is then placed on the dorsal surface of the forearm.While holding the inclinometer in a steady position passively move the forearm forward to put the shoulder into external rotation until the subject notes a strong but tolerable stretch or the tester feels resistanceLie on your back with your right shoulder over the edge of the plinth Hold your arm and elbow in the position the tester places it in throughout the test Report when you feel a strong but tolerable stretch3 trials on each shoulder
Equipment needed Practice session Description of test	External range of motionPlinth, inclinometer, scoring sheet, pen1 practice demonstrationSubject lies on their back with their right shoulder over the edge of the plinthBring the arm to 90° abductionBend the elbow to 90° flexionThe inclinometer is placed on a flat surface and the dial of the inclinometer is rotated so the "0" and arrow aligns with the surface of the fluid. The inclinometer is then placed on the dorsal surface of the forearm.While holding the inclinometer in a steady position passively move the forearm forward to put the shoulder into external rotation until the subject notes a strong but tolerable stretch or the tester feels resistanceLie on your back with your right shoulder over the edge of the plinth Hold your arm and elbow in the position the tester places it in throughout the test Report when you feel a strong but tolerable stretch3 trials on each shoulderArm is not at 90° abduction throughout the test
Equipment needed         Practice session         Description of test         Instructions         Trials         Incomplete trial	External range of motionPlinth, inclinometer, scoring sheet, pen1 practice demonstrationSubject lies on their back with their right shoulder over the edge of the plinthBring the arm to 90° abductionBend the elbow to 90° flexionThe inclinometer is placed on a flat surface and the dial of the inclinometer is rotated so the "0" and arrow aligns with the surface of the fluid. The inclinometer is then placed on the dorsal surface of the forearm.While holding the inclinometer in a steady position passively move the forearm forward to put the shoulder into external rotation until the subject notes a strong but tolerable stretch or the tester feels resistanceLie on your back with your right shoulder over the edge of the plinth Hold your arm and elbow in the position the tester places it in throughout the test Report when you feel a strong but tolerable stretch 3 trials on each shoulderArm is not at 90° abduction throughout the test Elbow is not bent to 90° flexion throughout the test
Equipment needed Practice session Description of test	Plinth, inclinometer, scoring sheet, pen 1 practice demonstration Subject lies on their back with their right shoulder over the edge of the plinth Bring the arm to 90° abduction Bend the elbow to 90° flexion The inclinometer is placed on a flat surface and the dial of the inclinometer is rotated so the "0" and arrow aligns with the surface of the fluid. The inclinometer is then placed on the dorsal surface of the forearm. While holding the inclinometer in a steady position passively move the forearm forward to put the shoulder into external rotation until the subject notes a strong but tolerable stretch or the tester feels resistance Lie on your back with your right shoulder over the edge of the plinth Hold your arm and elbow in the position the tester places it in throughout the test Report when you feel a strong but tolerable stretch 3 trials on each shoulder Arm is not at 90° abduction throughout the test Elbow is not bent to 90° flexion throughout the test The measurement is recorded to the nearest degree

Appendix G. Description of the Internal and External range of motion tests

Navicular Drop Test			
Equipment needed	Fine-tipped, non-toxic, water soluble marker, ruler, chair, scoring		
	sheet, pen		
Practice session	1 practice demonstration		
Description of test	Mark the most prominent part of the navicular tuberosity using the		
	marker		
	While the participant is sitting with knees bent to 90°, no pressure on		
	their feet and feet shoulder distance apart, place the foot in subtalar		
	joint neutral by palpating medial and lateral talar depressions with		
	thumb and forefinger and invert and evert the foot until both talar		
	heads are equal		
	Using a ruler measure the level of the previously marked navicular		
	tuberosity from the ground and take note of this measurement in		
	milimeters		
	Participant stands without moving their feet into a relaxed stance		
	with equal weight on both legs		
	Measure and take note of the level of the navicular tuberosity in the		
	standing stance		
Instructions	Remove shoes		
	Sit with no weight on legs in a position where you can stand without		
	moving your feet		
	Allow tester to move your foot and hold your foot in the position the		
	testers places it in		
	Stand without moving your feet into a relaxed position as you		
	normally would with your weight equally distributed between both		
	feet		
Trials	3 trials on each foot		
Measurement	The difference between the sitting and standing navicular tuberosity		
	position is noted in mm		
	The difference between the navicular drop in left and right foot is		
	noted in mm		

Appendix H. Description of the navicular drop test

	Y balance test	
Equipment needed	Y balance test kit, scoring sheet, pen	
Practice session	4 trials in each of the 3 reach directions on both legs	
Instructions	Remove shoes	
	Stand on one leg in the centre of the platform	
	Reach with free leg pushing the target as far forward, to the side and	
	backward while maintaining single leg stance	
Trials	3 trials in anterior direction on right leg	
	3 trials in posteriomedial direction on right leg	
	3 trials in posteriolateral direction on right leg	
	Then swap legs and complete again	
Incomplete trial	Fail to maintain unilateral stance on the platform (e.g. touch down to	
	the floor with the reach foot)	
	Fail to maintain reach foot contact with the reach indicator on the	
	target area while it is in motion (e.g. kick the reach indicator)	
	Use the reach indicator for stance support (e.g. place foot on top of	
	reach indicator	
	Fail to return the reach foot to the starting position under control	
Measurement	Maximum reach distance was measured by observing the point	
	where the target stopped i.e. the maximum distance between the	
	most distal part of the foot to the most distal reach distance	

Appendix I. Description of the Y balance test

	Squat			
Equipment needed	Dowel, Pen, scoring sheet			
Practice session	1 practice demonstration			
<b>Description of test</b>	Subject stands with feet shoulder width apart and toes pointing			
	forwards			
	Grasp dowel in both hands and place it horizontally on top of your head			
	so snoulders and elbows are at 90°.			
	I ne subject maintains an upright torso, and keeps heels and dowel in			
	position and descends as deep as possible			
	Subject holds this position for a count of one and returns to the starting			
T	position Standarith fact describte mail the most			
Instructions	Stand with feet shoulder width apart			
	Assume the starting position by straightening your allows with the			
	Assume the starting position by straightening your endows with the			
	Slowly squat down as far as comfortable keeping heels on the floor			
	Hold this position for a count of one			
	Return to starting position			
Trials	3 trials			
Measurement	Assess the variables: knees over toes, knee valgus, knee varus, toe out,			
	toe in hip flexed, trunk flexed, balance and overall impression			
	0-3 rating for each variable			
	For overall impression:			
	0=pain, 1=poor, 2=average, 3=excellent			
	For all other variables:			
	0=none, 1=slight, 2=moderate, 3=severe			
	Single leg squat			
Equipment	Step, scoring sheet, pen			
Practice session	I practice demonstration			
Description of test	Participant stands on the left edge of a ster			
	Participant outstratches arms to 00° with allows straight and hands			
	classed together			
	Participant squats down as far as possible in a controlled manner			
	Participant holds this position for one second and returns to starting			
	position			
Instructions	Stand with your right foot on the left edge of a step			
	Outstretch your arms at $90^{\circ}$ to the body with your elbows straight and			
	clasp your hands together in front			
	Squat down on your right leg as far as is comfortable			
	Return to standing position in a controlled manner			
Trials	3 trials on each leg			
Measurement	Assess the variables: knees over toes, knee valgus, knee varus, toe out,			
	toe in hip flexed, trunk flexed, balance and overall impression in each			
	leg 0-3 rating for each variable			
	For overall impression:			
	U=pain, 1=poor, 2=average, 3=excellent			
	For all other variables:			
	0=none, 1=slight, 2=moderate, 3=severe			

Appendix J. Description of Squat and Single leg squat tests

Scapular Control							
Equipment needed	Scoring sheet, pen						
Practice session	None needed						
Description of test	Subject should remove t-shirt and face the wall with their arms by						
	their sides and palms facing their thighs						
	Stand 2-3m behind subject with a clear unobstructed view of						
	scapulae						
	Instruct subject to slowly abduct their arms to 180° and slowly lower						
	to starting position						
Instructions	Remove t-shirt						
	Stand facing the wall with arms relaxed by your sides						
	Slowly lift your arms outwards until your arms touch your ears						
	Slowly return them to the starting position						
Trials	3 trials						
Incomplete trial	Move their arms too fast through the movement						
	Do not lift their arms fully to their ears and back down to their sides						
Measurement	Assess the variables: winging (medial border of scapulae should be						
	flat on their ribs), control when lifting, control when lowering (must						
	lift and lower in a controlled manner with no shaking or abnormal						
	scapulae positioning) and symmetry of scapulae (scapulae must						
	move together throughout the full range of motion with no lagging						
	behind or speeding of a single scapula in relation to the						
	corresponding scapulae).						
	0-3 rating for each variable and the higher the rating the increased						
	severity of that particular component of scapular dyskinesis						
	0=none, 1=slight, 2=moderate, 3=severe						

Appendix K. Description of the Scapular Control test

Alternative push up test							
Equipment needed	Athletic tape, scoring sheet, pen						
Practice session	1 practice demonstration						
Description of test	A straight line of athletic tape is placed along the floor which is used to						
	indicate where subjects must place their hands						
	Subject lies with their face towards the floor with their feet together,						
	hands shoulder distance apart and forehead at the level of the athletic						
	tape.						
	The subject is asked to lift their right leg slightly off the ground to						
	The subject is asked to fit their right leg slightly off the ground to reduce their base of support. The subject is then required to complete a press up while lifting the body as a unit with a straight line between the shoulder hip and knee						
	The subject is then required to complete a press up while lifting the body as a unit with a straight line between the shoulder, hip and knew						
	body as a unit with a straight line between the shoulder, hip and knees with no lag or twisting of the spine or hips and keeping the right leg slightly up off the ground.						
	with no lag or twisting of the spine or hips and keeping the right leg slightly up off the ground. If the subject can complete this movement sufficiently they receive a						
	slightly up off the ground. If the subject can complete this movement sufficiently they receive a						
	If the subject can complete this movement sufficiently they receive a rating of 4 and the tasts finishes						
	rating of 4 and the tests finishes.						
	If they are unable to complete the test sufficiently they are required to						
	repeat the test again with both feet on the ground and their hands at the level of the forehead. If they are able to sufficiently do this they receive						
	repeat the test again with both feet on the ground and their hands at the level of the forehead. If they are able to sufficiently do this they receive a score of 3 and the test finishes.						
	a score of 3 and the test finishes.						
	If they are unable to complete the test sufficiently with their hands at						
	the level of the forehead, they must repeat the test with their hands at						
	the level of their chin. If they can adequately complete the test in this						
	position they receive a score of 2 and the tests finishes. If they are						
	unable they receive a score of 1.						
Instructions	Lie face down with your feet together and forehead at the level of the						
	athletic tape with hands shoulder distance apart						
	Lift your right leg slightly off the ground						
	Complete one push up and lift your body as a unit						
	If unable to do this complete the push up with hands at the level of the						
	forehead with feet together						
	If unable to do this complete the push up with hands at the level of the						
	chin with feet together						
Trials	1-3 trials depending on performance in the test						
Measurement	0-4 rating given:						
	4= Can complete a push up with their hands at the level of their						
	forehead and with their right leg slightly lifted off the ground without						
	lagging or twisting of the spine or hips						
	3=Can complete a push up with their hands at the level of their						
	forehead and both feet together on the ground. Unable to complete the						
	push up with the right leg lifted off the ground without lagging or						
	twisting of the spine or hips						
	2= Can complete a push up with hands at the level of the chin and both						
	feet together without lagging or twisting of the spine or hips						
	1=Unable to complete a push up with hands at the level of the chin with						
	both feet together without lagging or twisting of the spine or hips						
	0= Experiences pain during the test						

Appendix L. Description of the alternative push up test

# Appendix M. Quartile Results for Height, Weight and BMI in adolescent and collegiate participants

	Quartiles				
	25 th	50 th	75th		
Height (m)	1.71	1.76	1.80		
Weight (kg)	60.0	66.0	74.0		
BMI (kg/m ² )	19.8	21.2	23.1		

#### Height, Weight and BMI: Quartile results in adolescent participants

#### Height, Weight and BMI: Quartile results in collegiate participants

	Quartiles			
	25 th	50 th	75th	
Height (m)	1.77	1.81	1.85	
Weight (kg)	71.0	76.0	84.0	
BMI (kg/m ² )	22.3	23.5	24.8	

## Appendix N. Percentile results for flexibility tests in adolescent and collegiate

#### participants

v			_	-	-					
		10th	20 th	<b>30</b> th	<b>40th</b>	50th	60th	70th	80th	90th
Active knee extension	R	43	50	55	58	62	65	68	72.6	78.1
(°)	L	43.2	49.4	53	56	60	63	67	71	77.3
Internal rotation (°)	R	57.8	65	70	73	77	83	87	90	97.2
	L	65	73	81	86	91	94	98	103	108
External rotation (°)	R	65	71	75	80	84	88	93	98	105
	L	76	80	86	88.6	91.5	95	98	101	105

Flexibility tests: Percentile results in adolescent participants

#### Flexibility tests: Percentile results in collegiate participants

		10th	20 th	<b>30th</b>	<b>40</b> th	50th	60th	70th	80th	90th
Active knee	R	50	55	58	61.67	65	68	71.68	75	80
extension (°)	L	51.9	57	60	63.24	66.67	68.46	82	75	80
Internal	R	55	60	61.7	68.13	73	78	81.7	87	100
rotation (°)	L	56.33	61.7	66.7	70	78	85	91.67	97	102
External	R	61.67	68	71.67	78	83.3	89.6	93.8	97.94	105
rotation (°)	L	60	66.67	71	74.58	78	84	88.21	92.8	100

Appendix O.	Quartile results for Y balance test.
-------------	--------------------------------------

Variable	Leg	25th	50 th	75th		
Anter	ior					
Average reach distance (cm)	Right	61.4	67	73.5		
	Left	63	69	76		
Average reach difference (cm)		1.7	3.7	6.3		
Average reach (%LL)		63.2	69	76.5		
Posterior	nedial					
Average reach distance (cm)	Right	91	99	105.75		
	Left	93	101	108		
Average reach difference (cm)		2	4.3	8.7		
Average reach (%LL)		93.9	100.8	108.3		
Posteriol	lateral					
Average reach distance (cm)	Right	89.3	98	107		
	Left	90	99	106		
Average reach difference (cm)		2.3	5.3	8		
Average reach (%LL)		91.5	100	108		
Composite						
Composite score	Right	85	92	98		
	Left	87	93	99		
Average reach difference (cm)		1.4	3.5	5.6		

#### Y balance test: Quartile results for adolescent participants

Abbreviation: %LL, percentage of leg length.

#### Quartile results for the Y balance test

Variable	Leg	25th	50 th	75th		
Anteri	or					
Average reach distance (cm)	Right	62	67.3	75.7		
	Left	63	67	76		
Average reach difference (cm)		1.4	3.3	6.4		
Average reach (%LL)		61.7	65.8	70.2		
Posterion	edial					
Average reach distance (cm)	Right	97.5	104	112.7		
	Left	98	104.3	112.7		
Average reach difference (cm)		2	4	7.5		
Average reach (%LL)		96.6	102	108.2		
Posteriola	ıteral					
Average reach distance (cm)	Right	98	105	116.7		
	Left	98	105	117		
Average reach difference (cm)	N/A	2	4.3	8.3		
Average reach (%LL)	N/A	96.5	101.6	109.8		
Composite						
Composite score	Right	85	89.8	94.9		
	Left	85	90	95.7		
Average reach difference (cm)		1	2.5	5		

Abbreviation: %LL, percentage of leg length.

Appendix P. Injury Report Form

```
1. Name
                                                           16. Injury mechanism
Contact No
                             Team
                                                             contact with:
Assessed By
                                                             □ other player □ playing surface □ football
                                                             □ apparatus □ boundary
                                                                                               □ goal-post □ flag
                                                                            □ sliothar
                                                                                               □ helmet
2. Main Sport
                                                             □ hurley

    Gaelic Football

                             □ Hurling
                                                             □ other person (non-player)

    Camogie

                            □ Other
                                                                                      □ assault / violence
                                                             \square non contact
3. Usual position / role in team
                                                             □ gradual onset (overuse)
  □ goalkeeper
                                      □ full Back
                  corner back
                                                             □ equipment / clothing (e.g friction burn / blister)
  □ wing back
                  □ centre back
                                      □ midfield
                                                             other
  □ wing forward □ centre forward
                                      □ corner Forward
  □ full forward □ substitute
                                                           17. Activity during injury
4. Are you a dead ball kicker? 
□ Yes □ No
                                                                                  landing
                                                           □ jumping/catching
                                                                                                   🗆 turning
                                                           □ running/sprinting
                                                                                  □ short kick
                                                                                                   long kick
5. What sport were you playing / training for when the
                                                           □ hand pass
                                                                                  □ sudden stop
                                                                                                   □ falling
injury occurred
                                                                                  □ being tackled □ blocking
                                                           □ tackling
                                                           □ dead ball kick/puck □ punching ball □ hooking
  □ Gaelic Football
                           Hurling

    Camogie

                           □ Other (detail____
                                                           □ nil specific
6. Injury occurred with
 □ own age club team
                           □ older age club team
                                                           18. Were you wearing any of the following (tick)
 □ own age school team
                           □ older age school team
                                                           mouthguard strapping (details _
                                                           □ bracing (details
 \Box county team (GAA)
                           □ college team
  □ representative team
                           □ work team
                                                           □ other protective equipment (details _
   (if other sport)
 □ recreational team
                            □ individual activity
                                                           19. Referee's sanction
                                                           \Box no foul \Box opponent foul \Box own foul \Box tick
7. Injury occurred during
                                          □ off season
                                                           □ yellow card
                                                                             □ red card
                                                                                             □ N/A
 preseason
                   regular season
9. Onset of injury
                                                           20. Body part injured and type of injury/injuries
  □ gradual onset, no specific time
                                     □ sudden onset
10. Injury occurred during (pick one only)
                                                                (Orchard Classification)
  □ team outdoor training
                             □ team indoor training
  friendly game
                             □ competitive game
 □ dead ball kicking session □ specific skills session
                                                           21. Injury assessment
 □ individual activity
                             □ gradual onset
                                                               examination by
                                                               □ doctor
                                                                           □ chartered physiotherapist
11. Type of playing surface
                                                               \square ATT
                                                                           □ other _
              synthetic
  grass
                             □ indoor
                                          □ track
  □ road
              □ beach
                             □ other
                                                           22. Other tests done for current injury
12. Weather conditions
                                                               🗆 X-Ray 🛛 MRI
                                                                                         🗆 Ultra-sound
  Temp: 🗆 cold
                             □ 'normal'
                                               □ hot
                                                               □ other imaging
                                                                                          □ blood works/lab test
  Surface 1: 
wet / slippy
                             🗆 dry
                                               🗆 frozen
                                                               other
                                                                                           □ none
  Surface 2: □ firm / hard
                             □ soft / muddy
13. Time of injury
                                                           23. Did this injury require surgery?
  🗆 Warm up
                             \square Cool down
                                                               □ Yes during season □ Yes, post season
                                                                                                          🗆 No
  □ Minutes of match/training _
14. Type of injury
                                                           24. Dates
                       \Box early recurrence (<1 month)
    □ new injurv
                                                           date of injury
    □ late recurrence (2-12 months)
                                                           date of completing this form
     □ persistent / recurring
                                                           date of resuming light training
                                                           date full training (unable to play)
                                                           full fitness (able to play and train)
15. Side of injury
  🗆 Left
            Right
                         Bilateral
                                             □ N/A
```

Test	Purpose	Clinical Implications	Possible causes
Deep squat	Challenges total body mechanics	Requires closed kinetic chain dorsiflexion	Limited mobility in the upper torso can
	Assesses bilateral, symmetrical,	of the ankles	be attributed to poor glenohumeral and
	functional mobility of the hips, knees,	Flexion of the knees and hips	thoracic spine mobility
	and ankles.	Extension of the thoracic spine	Limited mobility in the lower extremity
	The dowel held overhead assesses	Flexion and abduction of the shoulders.	including poor closed-kinetic chain
	bilateral, symmetrical mobility of the		dorsiflexion of the ankles or poor flexion
	shoulders as well as the thoracic spine.		of the hips
Hurdle step	Challenges the body's proper stride	Requires stance-leg stability of the ankle,	Poor stability of the stance leg or poor
	mechanics during a stepping motion.	knee, and hip as well as maximal closed-	mobility of the step leg.
	Requires proper coordination and	kinetic chain extension of the hip.	Relative bilateral asymmetric hip
	stability between the hips and torso	Requires step-leg open-kinetic chain	mobility issues
	during the stepping motion as well as	dorsiflexion of the ankle and flexion of the	
	single leg stance stability.	knee and hip.	
	Assesses bilateral functional mobility	Adequate balance	
	and stability of the hips, knees, and		
<b>T</b> 1'	ankles.		*** 1.11. 1.1
In-line	Places the lower extremities in a scissor	Requires stance leg stability of the ankle,	Hip mobility may be inadequate in
lunge	style position challenging the body's	knee, and hip as well as apparent closed	either the stance leg or the step leg
		kinetic-chain hip abduction	The stance leg knee or ankle may not
	and extremities to resist rotation and	Requires step-leg mobility of hip	have the required stability
	maintain proper alignment	abduction, ankle dorsification	Imbalance between relative adductor
	Assesses mp and ankle mobility and	A dequate helence	weakness and adductor tightness in one
	Knog stability	Adequate balance	or boun mps
	Knee stability.		Limitations may also exist in the thoracic
			spine region which may minor the athlete
Shouldon	Assesses bilatoral shouldan range of	<b>D</b> aguing shouldon mahility in a	External rotation gained at the expanse of
Shoulder	Assesses bilateral shoulder range of	acombination of movementa:	internal rotation in overhead throwing
moonity	with adduction and external rotation	Abduction avtornal rotation	athlatas
	with abduction	Flavion/avtension	auncus Excessive development and shortoning of
	Will adduction. Requires normal scapular mobility and	Aduction/internal rotation	the pectoralis minor or latissmuss dorsi
	incountes normal scapular mobility and		the pectoralis minor of fatissinuss dorsi

Appendix Q. FMS Tests: Purpose, Clinical Implications and Possible Causes

	thoracic spine extension	Requires scapular mobility	muscle can cause postural alterations
		Requires thoracic spine mobility	Scapulothoracic dysfunction resulting in
			decreased glenohumeral mobility
			secondary to poor scapulothoracic
			mobility or stability
Active	Tests ability to disassociate the lower	Requires functional hamstring flexibility	Poor functional hamstring flexibility
straight leg	extremity from the trunk while	Adequate hip mobility of the opposite leg	Inadequate mobility of the opposite hip,
raise	maintaining stability in the torso.	Lower abdominal stability	stemming from iliopsoas inflexibility
	Assesses active hamstring and gastro-		associated with an anteriorly tilted pelvis
	soleus flexibility while maintaining a		
	stable pelvis and active extension of the		
	opposite leg		
Trunk	Tests ability to stabilise the spine in an	Requires symmetric trunk stability in the	Poor stability of the trunk stabilisers
stability	anterior and posterior plane during a	sagittal plane during a symmetric upper	
push up	closed-chain upper body movement.	extremity movement	
	Assesses trunk stability in the sagittal		
	plane while a symmetrical upper-		
	extremity motion is performed		
Rotatory	Assesses multi-plane trunk stability	Asymmetric trunk stability in both sagittal	Poor asymmetric stability of the trunk
stability	during a combined upper and lower	and transverse planes during asymmetric	stabilizers
	extremity motion	upper and lower extremity movement	

Adapted from Cook et al. (2006)

Test	Tester level	Study	Inter-tester reliability	Intra-tester reliability
Deep squat	Trained	Schneiders et al. (2011)	к=1.00	NT
			100% agreement	
	Expert	Minick et al. (2010)	к=0.64	NT
			76.9% agreement	
	Novice	Minick et al. (2010)	к=0.80	NT
			87.2% agreement	
	Trained	Schultz et al. (2013)	Κα=0.41	NT
	Novice	Teyhen et al. (2012)	к=0.68	к=0.76
	Novice & Trained	Smith et al. (2013)	NT	ICC=0.82-0.90
Hurdle step	Trained	Schneiders et al. (2011)	к=0.80	NT
			93% agreement	
	Expert	Minick et al. (2010)	к=0.65	NT
			92.3% agreement	
	Novice	Minick et al. (2010)	к=0.65	NT
			92.3% agreement	
	Trained	Schultz et al. (2013)	Κα=0.95	NT
	Novice	Teyhen et al. (2012)	к=0.67	к=0.59
	Novice & Trained	Smith et al. (2013)	NT	ICC=0.30-0.35
In-line lunge	Trained	Schneiders et al. (2011)	к=0.86	NT
			93% agreement	
	Expert	Minick et al. (2010)	к=0.53	NT
			79.5% agreement	
	Novice	Minick et al. (2010)	к=0.74	NT
			89.7% agreement	
	Trained	Schultz et al. (2013)	Κα=0.10	NT
	Novice	Teyhen et al. (2012)	к=0.45	к=0.69
	Novice & Trained	Smith et al. (2013)	NT	ICC=0.69-0.78
Shoulder mobility	Trained	Schneiders et al. (2011)	к=0.94	NT
			97% agreement	
	Expert	Minick et al. (2010)	к=0.95	NT
			97.4% agreement	
	Novice	Minick et al. (2010)	к=1.00	NT
			100% agreement	
	Trained	Schultz et al. (2013)	Κα=0.64	NT

## Appendix R. Reliability of Individual FMS tests

	Novice	Teyhen et al. (2012)	к=0.73	к=0.68
	Novice & Trained	Smith et al. (2013)	NT	ICC=0.96-0.98
Active straight leg raise	Trained	Schneiders et al. (2011)	к=0.94	NT
			97% agreement	
	Expert	Minick et al. (2010)	к=0.84	NT
			92.3% agreement	
	Novice	Minick et al. (2010)	к=0.84	NT
			92.3% agreement	
	Trained	Schultz et al. (2013)	Κα=0.63	NT
	Novice	Teyhen et al. (2012)	к=0.69	к=0.60
	Novice & Trained	Smith et al. (2013)	NT	ICC=0.92-0.95
Trunk stability push up	Trained	Schneiders et al. (2011)	к=1.00	NT
			100% agreement	
	Expert	Minick et al. (2010)	к=0.78	NT
			87.2% agreement	
	Novice	Minick et al. (2010)	к=0.87	NT
			92.3% agreement	
	Trained	Schultz et al. (2013)	Κα=0.31	NT
	Novice	Teyhen et al. (2012)	к=0.82	к=0.68
	Novice & Trained	Smith et al. (2013)	NT	ICC=0.88-0.95
<b>Rotatory stability</b>	Trained	Schneiders et al. (2011)	к=1.00	NT
			100% agreement	
	Expert	Minick et al. (2010)	к=0.43	NT
			82.1% agreement	
	Novice	Minick et al. (2010)	к=0.54	NT
			84.6% agreement	
	Trained	Schultz et al. (2013)	Κα=0.25	NT
	Novice	Teyhen et al. (2012)	к=0.82	к=0.68
	Novice & Trained	Smith et al. (2013)	NT	ICC=0.62-0.84

NT: Not tested.  $\kappa$ =kappa coefficient used to measure agreement in categorical data K $\alpha$ = Krippendorff alpha used as an alternative method to measure agreement if there are more than 2 raters and can assess different types of data (interval, ordinal)

Kα requires a value of .8 to be considered acceptable or .65 if tentative conclusions are deemed acceptable

Test	Specific Criteria	Sta	Standard (21)		Research (100)			Modified (100)		
		3	2	1	W1	W2	W3	Obj	Comp	W
Deep squat	Performed without a board	~			~				~	
	Hips parallel	1	✓		<ul> <li>Image: A set of the set of the</li></ul>	2		✓		7
	Tibia/torso parallel	1	✓		6	2			<ul> <li>Image: A set of the set of the</li></ul>	1
	Knees aligned over toes	1	✓		4	2			<ul> <li>Image: A set of the set of the</li></ul>	1
	Symmetrical & weight bearing	✓	✓		2				✓	1
	Dowel behind toes	~	~		2	2			<ul> <li>✓</li> </ul>	1
	No lumbar flexion		✓						<ul> <li>Image: A set of the set of the</li></ul>	1
	No external rotation of feet	1	✓						<ul> <li>Image: A set of the set of the</li></ul>	1
	Heels do not come off floor	✓			~				1	1
	Perform without pain	1	✓	1	<ul> <li>Image: A set of the set of the</li></ul>	✓	1			
Hurdle Step	Clears Cord	✓	✓		5					
	Hip/knee/ankle aligned	1			2				1	1
	Lumbar flexion not noted	1			1			✓		4
	Dowel stays parallel to ground	1			1				<ul> <li>✓</li> </ul>	1
	Ankle remains dorsiflexed	1							<ul> <li>Image: A second s</li></ul>	1
	No contact between foot and hurdle	~	~		~					
	Maintains balance	✓	✓		1					
	Performs without pain	~	~	$\checkmark$	~		1			
In line lunge	Dowel contacts head/back/sacrum	✓			2					
	Dowel remains in sagittal plane	✓			2					
	No torso movement noted	✓			2				1	1
	Knee contacts ground behind the heel	1			2				<ul> <li>Image: A second s</li></ul>	1
	Rear foot does not externally rotate	~			2				<ul> <li>✓</li> </ul>	1
	Lumbar spine remains neutral	1			2				1	1
	No forward lean noted	1			2			✓		6
	Maintains balance	1	✓		$\checkmark$					
	Places hands appropriately	1	✓		<ul> <li>Image: A start of the start of</li></ul>	I	I	Ī		

Appendix S. Weightings and scoring system of the standard 21 point scale, 100 point research scale and 100 point modified scale in the FMS

	Front heel remains on the ground				2				1	1
	Performs without pain		✓	✓	✓		1			
Shoulder Mobility	Fists are within 1 hand length	✓			4			✓		1
	Fists are within 1.5 hand length		✓			2			✓	1
	Fists not within 1.5 hands length Performs without pain			$\checkmark$						
			✓	✓	✓	✓	1			
	No pain with impingement test	✓	✓	✓	✓	✓	1			
Straight leg raise	Malleolus between midthigh/ASIS				6			✓		3
	Malleolus between/knee		<ul> <li>Image: A set of the set of the</li></ul>			3				
	Malleolus below knee			✓						
	Opposite hip remains neutral	✓	<ul> <li>Image: A set of the set of the</li></ul>		1	✓				
	Toes remain pointed up	✓	<ul> <li>Image: A set of the set of the</li></ul>		1	✓			1	1
	Knee maintains contact with the board	✓	<ul> <li>Image: A start of the start of</li></ul>		$\checkmark$	✓			1	1
	Performs without pain	✓	<ul> <li>Image: A set of the set of the</li></ul>	<ul> <li>Image: A start of the start of</li></ul>	1	✓	1			
Trunk stability push up test	Performs with hands at forehead	✓			12				1	1
	Performs with hands at chin		<ul> <li>Image: A set of the set of the</li></ul>			6				
	Body is lifted as one unit	✓	✓		✓	✓		✓		2
	Ankles remain dorsiflexed	<ul> <li>Image: A start of the start of</li></ul>	✓		✓	<b>√</b>			✓	1
	Performs without pain	~	~	~	✓	~	1			
	No pain with extension test	~	~	~	✓	~	1			
Rotatory stability	Balanced ipsilateral	✓			6			✓		5
	Balanced contralateral		✓			3				
	Spine parallel to board	✓	<ul> <li>Image: A set of the set of the</li></ul>		1	<ul> <li>Image: A set of the set of the</li></ul>			1	1
	Hips parallel to floor								✓	1
	Knee/elbow in line with the board	~	~		✓	✓			✓	1
	Support ankle is dorsiflexed								✓	1
	Knee and elbow touch	~	~		<b>√</b>	~				
	Minimal trunk flexion is noted		~			~				
	Performs without pain	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	1			
	No pain with flexion test	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	<ul> <li>Image: A start of the start of</li></ul>	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	1			

Table based on Frost et al. (2012)



### Appendix T. Training Diary